# Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* colonisation of the human colonic epithelium and the innate immune response to infection

by Steven Lewis, B.Sc. (Hons), M.Res.

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the University of East Anglia for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

> Norwich Medical School University of East Anglia

> > September 2015



© This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived there from must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

#### Abstract

Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC) are of great public health importance, causing diarrhoea, haemorrhagic colitis and haemolytic uraemic syndrome. A wealth of evidence from cell line and animal studies has linked colonic pathogenesis with EHEC induction of mucosal attaching/effacing (A/E) lesions, which are characterised by intimate bacterial attachment to intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), microvillous effacement and actin polymerisation. However, the clinical relevance of A/E lesions has been called into question by the fact that adherent bacteria have not been located on colonic biopsies taken from EHEC-infected patients. In addition, in vitro organ culture (IVOC) of human intestinal biopsies with EHEC has not yielded signs of bacterial colonisation or A/E lesion formation. In this study, we have reevaluated the colonic IVOC model and demonstrated for the first time that EHEC colonise the colonic epithelium ex vivo and induce A/E lesion formation. High levels of oxygen, as used in previous IVOC studies, were found to inhibit EHEC-IEC interactions. Adherence was dependent on expression of the bacterial adhesin intimin and the type III secretion system (T3SS). In contrast, EHEC adherence to the widelyused T84 colonic carcinoma cell line was associated with microvillous effacement but not actin polymerisation, and was not dependent on intimin or the T3SS, highlighting the importance of using physiologically relevant intestinal models when conducting EHEC research.

EHEC pathogenesis has also been linked to induction of an inflammatory response in the colonic mucosa, characterised by recruitment of neutrophils to the epithelium. This process has been associated with expression of the neutrophil chemokine interleukin-8 (IL-8) by cultured IECs following exposure to EHEC flagellin. However, other aspects of the innate immune system, such as expression of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), have been neglected. We have demonstrated that EHEC induces expression of the AMP human  $\beta$ -defensin-2 (hBD2) and IL-8 in human colonic IECs both *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. Induction was dependent on exposure of IECs to flagellin, and was mediated by mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling. Furthermore, we present evidence that IL-8 is secreted apically in polarised T84 cells following apical stimulation, suggesting that this cytokine may be secreted into the lumen during infection. Put together, this PhD project has shed new light on EHEC-IEC interactions and has re-established the IVOC model as an important tool for future EHEC research.

## Table of contents

Abstract	2
Table of contents	
List of figures	
List of tables	
List of abbreviations	
Acknowledgements	
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction	20
1.1   Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli	
1.2   Emergence and evolutionary origin	
1.3   Epidemiology	
1.4   Disease symptoms and treatment	
1.5   Virulence	30
1.5.1   A/E lesion formation	
1.5.1.1   Initial attachment	
1.5.1.2   Intimate attachment	
1.5.1.3   Pedestal formation	
1.5.1.4   Microvillous effacement	
1.5.1.5   Disruption of IEC function	
1.5.1.5.1   Epithelial barrier function	
1.5.1.5.2   Ion transport	
1.5.1.5.3   Water transport	
1.5.1.6   Regulation of A/E gene expression	
1.5.1.6.1   Acid stress	47
1.5.1.6.2   Butyrate	
1.5.1.6.3   Quorum-sensing signalling molecules	49
1.5.1.6.4   Fucose	50
1.5.1.6.5   Biotin	51
1.5.1.6.6   Oxygen	51
1.5.1.6.7   Contact with IECs	
1.5.1.7   Clinical relevance of A/E lesion formation	

1.5.2   Shiga toxin production
1.5.2.1   Regulation of Stx expression and release
1.5.2.1.1   Iron
1.5.2.1.2   DNA damage
1.5.2.1.3   QS signalling ligands
1.5.2.1.4   Hydrogen peroxide and NO
1.5.2.1.5   Regulation of Stx expression levels
1.5.2.2   Stx interaction with the human intestinal epithelium
1.5.2.2.1   Internalisation of Stx into IECs
1.5.2.2.2   Stx and EHEC adherence
1.5.2.2.3   Stx and the innate immune response
1.5.2.3   Role of Stx outside the human host
1.6   Interaction with the innate immune system
1.6.1   Innate immune response to EHEC infection
1.6.1.1   Flagellin
1.6.1.2   Stx
1.6.1.3   Fimbriae
1.6.2   Immune evasion mechanisms72
1.6.3   Antimicrobial peptides
1.6.3.1   Lysozyme
1.6.3.2   Defensins
1.6.3.2.1   hBD1
1.6.3.2.2   hBD2
1.6.3.2.3   hBD3
1.6.3.2.4   hBD4
1.6.3.3   LL-37
1.7   Models used to study EHEC-IEC interactions
1.8   Summary
1.9   Aims and objectives
CHAPTER TWO: Materials and methods82

2.1   Bacterial strains and growth conditions	83
2.2   Cell culture and infection	83

2.2.1   General cell culture methods	83
2.2.2   Cryopreservation of cell lines	85
2.2.3   Seeding cells for infection assays	86
2.2.4   T84 cell infection	86
2.2.5   Vero cell infection	88
2.2.6   Caco-2 cell infection	88
2.3   In vitro organ culture (IVOC) of intestinal biopsies	88
2.3.1   Preparation of IVOC medium	88
2.3.2   Collection of intestinal biopsies	89
2.3.3   IVOC	89
2.3.4   Polarised IVOC of colonic biopsies	90
2.4   Quantification of bacterial colonisation	90
2.5   Immunofluorescence staining	91
2.5.1   Cell monolayers and whole biopsies	91
2.5.2   Biopsy cryosections	93
2.6   Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)	93
2.7   Transmission electron microscopy	94
2.8   Gene expression analysis	95
2.8.1   RNA isolation and DNase treatment	95
2.8.2   cDNA synthesis	96
2.8.3   Quantitative PCR	96
2.8.4   Primer design and validation	97
2.8.5   Relative quantification	99
2.9   Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	99
2.9.1   Sample collection	100
2.9.2   ELISA for Shiga toxin 2 (Stx2)	100
2.9.3   ELISA for IL-8 and hBD2	101
2.10   Statistical analyses	101
CHAPTER THREE: EHEC colonisation and A/E lesion formation	102

<b>CHAPTER THREE: EHEC colonisation and A/E lesion formation</b>	102
3.1   Introduction	103
3.2   <b>Results</b>	105

 $3.2.1 \mid EHEC$  adherence phenotype on T84 human colon carcinoma

cells is dependent on polarisation status10	05
3.2.2   Establishment of fully polarised T84 cell culture	08
3.2.3   EHEC do not induce typical A/E lesions on polarised T84 cells	10
3.2.4   EHEC colonise human colonic biopsies and induce A/E lesions	12
3.2.5   EHEC colonisation of the human colonic epithelium is not affected by	
Stx production	15
3.2.6   Intimin and the T3SS are essential for EHEC colonisation of human	
colonic biopsies but not T84 cells1	17
3.2.7   EHEC colonise human paediatric colonic biopsies	19
3.2.8   High oxygen levels suppress EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies 12	20
3.3   <b>Discussion</b>	22
3.3.1   A/E lesion formation <i>in vitro</i>	22
3.3.2   A/E lesion formation <i>ex vivo</i>	25
3.3.3   Role of bacterial proteins in colonisation	27
3.3.4   Role of host age and oxygen on colonisation	29
3.3.5   Summary	31

CHAPTER FOUR: Innate immune response to EHEC infection	132
4.1   Introduction	133
4.2   <b>Results</b>	135
4.2.1   Selection of EHEC strains	135
4.2.2   Apical EHEC infection of polarised T84 cells induces hBD2 and IL-8	3
gene expression	139
4.2.3   Development of human colonic polarised IVOC	143
4.2.4   Apical EHEC infection of human colonic biopsies results in increased	1
hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression	145
4.2.5   EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in human colonic	2
IECs is dependent on flagellin	147
4.2.6   Purified EHEC flagellin induces hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in	
human colonic IECs	151
4.2.7   Involvement of NF-κB and MAPK signalling pathways in the hBD2 a	and
IL-8 response to EHEC	153
4.2.8   Effect of EHEC on IL-8 protein expression in T84 cells	155

4.2.9   Effect of EHEC on hBD2 protein expression in T84 cells	157
4.2.10   Effect of EHEC on hBD2 and IL-8 protein expression in human of	colonic
biopsies	160
4.3   Discussion	163
4.3.1   Influence of EHEC infection on AMP expression	163
4.3.2   Influence of EHEC infection on IL-8 expression	165
4.3.3   Role of bacterial proteins in EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8	166
4.3.4   Flagellin recognition by IECs	169
4.3.5   Regulation of the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC infection	170
4.3.6   Vectorial IL-8 secretion	171
4.3.7   Summary	172
CHAPTER FIVE: Conclusion	174
5.1   EHEC colonisation and A/E lesion formation	175
5.2   Innate immune response to EHEC infection	177
5.3   Evaluation of the IVOC model	179
5.4   Summary	180
References	181
Appendix 1: Partners in Cancer Research Human Tissue Bank consent f	orm 221
Appendix 2: Publication containing work from Chapter 3	229
Annandix 3. Publication containing work from Chapter 4	228

## List of figures

Figure 1.1. Sites of pathogenic E. coli colonisation
Figure 1.2. Incidence of EHEC infections in the EEA
Figure 1.3. Progression of clinical symptoms over time following EHEC infection 29
Figure 1.4. A/E lesion formation on IECs
Figure 1.5. Structure of T3SS in A/E pathogens
Figure 1.6. Actin pedestals in EPEC-infected Caco-2 cells
Figure 1.7. Actin recruitment pathways employed by EPEC and EHEC
Figure 1.8. Mechanisms contributing to diarrhoea during EPEC/EHEC infection 44
Figure 1.9. Regulation of the LEE in EHEC
Figure 1.10. Intracellular Stx transport within Gb3-positive cells
Figure 1.11. Regulation of Stx expression
Figure 1.12. Innate immune defence in the colon
Figure 1.13. Flagellin domain organisation and TLR5 binding region
<b>Figure 1.14.</b> NF-κB and MAPK signalling pathways
Figure 2.1. Layout of a Neubauer cell counting chamber
Figure 2.2. pIVOC system
Figure 2.3. Representative image of in-tact RNA
Figure 3.1. EHEC adherence phenotype differs on polarised vs. non-polarised T84
cells 106
Figure 3.2. EPEC induce actin recruitment in polarised and non-polarised T84 cells
Figure 3.3. T84 cells exhibiting hallmarks of polarisation 109
Figure 3.4. EHEC do not induce actin recruitment in polarised T84 cells

Figure 3.5. EHEC adhered to polarised T84 cells do not associate with translocated
Tir
Figure 3.6. EHEC colonise human ileal and colonic biopsies
Figure 3.7. EHEC form A/E lesions on human colonic biopsies
Figure 3.8. Stx-negative EHEC colonise human colonic biopsies
Figure 3.9. Stx production does not affect EHEC colonisation of human colonic
epithelial cells
Figure 3.10. EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies is dependent on intimin
and the T3SS
Figure 3.11. EHEC colonisation of polarised T84 cells is not dependent on intimin
or the T3SS 119
Figure 3.12. EHEC colonise human paediatric colonic biopsies 120
Figure 3.13. EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies is inhibited in oxygen-
rich conditions
Figure 4.1. Level of Stx2 produced by EHEC differs between strains during
infection of Vero cells
Figure 4.2. EHEC colonisation of Vero cells
Figure 4.3. Stx production and colonisation by EHEC strains during infection of
polarised T84 cells
Figure 4.4. Validation of primer specificity and amplification efficiency
Figure 4.5. Innate immune gene expression in polarised T84 cells following EHEC
infection
Figure 4.6. Kinetics of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in EHEC-infected T84 cells
Figure 4.7. Development of colonic pIVOC

Figure 4.8. Innate immune gene expression in human colonic biopsies following
apical EHEC infection146
Figure 4.9. EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in T84 cells is
dependent on flagellin
Figure 4.10. Flagellin is required for EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene
expression in human colonic biopsies149
Figure 4.11. Lpf and HCP are not required for EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8
gene expression in T84 cells 150
Figure 4.12. Purified flagellin is sufficient to induce hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression
in T84 cells
Figure 4.13. Purified flagellin induces hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in human
colonic biopsies
<b>Figure 4.14.</b> Involvement of NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK signalling pathways in EHEC
induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in T84 cells 154
Figure 4.15. IL-8 protein secretion in T84 cells following EHEC infection 156
Figure 4.16. hBD2 peptide secretion in Caco-2 cells
Figure 4.17. hBD2 peptide expression in T84 cells is unaffected by EHEC infection
Figure 4.18. hBD2 peptide expression in Caco-2 cells
Figure 4.19. hBD2 peptide expression in human colonic biopsies is up-regulated
during EHEC infection
Figure 4.20 II. 8 protain expression in human colonic highering 162

## List of tables

Table 1.1. List of putative adhesion factors expressed by EHEC	
Table 1.2. Function of EHEC-secreted effectors	
Table 1.3. List of Stx subtypes	55
<b>Table 2.1.</b> List of <i>E. coli</i> strains used in this study	
Table 2.2. List of primary antibodies used for fluorescence microscopy in the second	nis study
<b>Table 2.3.</b> List of primers used in this study	
Table 4.1. EHEC colonisation of Vero cells differs between strains	138

#### List of abbreviations

- Ab antibody
- AE-aerobic
- A/E attaching and effacing
- $\mathbf{AI}-\mathrm{autoinducer}$
- AMP antimicrobial peptide
- AP-1 activator protein-1
- AQP aquaporin
- **AR** acid resistance
- Bfp bundle-forming pili
- **bp** base pairs
- **BSA** bovine serum albumin
- Cah calcium-binding antigen 43 homologue
- CCR CC-chemokine receptor
- CD Crohn's disease
- CDC Centres for Disease Control and Prevention
- CFU colony-forming units
- **CL** containment level
- Ct cycle threshold
- DC dendritic cell
- ddH<sub>2</sub>O diluted and deionised water
- DAEC Diffusely-adherent E. coli
- DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- DMSO dimethyl sulphoxide
- DMEM Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
- DRA downregulated in adenoma
- EA ethanolamine

- **EAEC** Enteroaggregative *E. coli*
- EAF EPEC adherence factor
- ECDC European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
- **ECM** extracellular matrix
- ECP E. coli common pilus
- **EEA** European Economic Area
- Eha Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli autotransporter
- EHEC Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli
- EIEC Enteroinvasive E. coli
- **ELF** *E. coli* YcbQ laminin-binding fimbriae
- **EPEC** Enteropathogenic *E. coli*
- $\mathbf{ER}$  endoplasmic reticulum
- ERAD endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation
- Esp E. coli secreted protein
- ETEC Enterotoxigenic E. coli
- FAE follicular-associated epithelium
- FAS fluorescent actin stain
- **FBS** foetal bovine serum
- FITC fluorescein isothiocyanate
- GAPDH glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- Gb3 globotriaosylceramide
- GI gastrointestinal
- Grl global regulator of Ler (LEE-encoded regulator)
- hBD human beta-defensin
- HC haemorrhagic colitis
- HCP haemorrhagic coli pilus
- HGT horizontal gene transfer

- HN-S histone-like nucleoid structuring
- HUS haemolytic uraemic syndrome
- $H_2O_2$  hydrogen peroxide
- **IBD** inflammatory bowel disease
- **IEC** intestinal epithelial cell
- IFN-interferon
- Iha Vibrio cholerae iron-regulated gene A homologue adhesin
- IKK IkB kinase
- IL-interleukin
- **IVOC** *in vitro* organ culture
- LB Luria Bertani
- LEE locus of enterocyte effacement
- Ler LEE-encoded regulator
- Lpf long polar fimbriae
- LPS lipopolysaccharide
- Lrp leucine-responsive regulatory protein
- MA microaerobic
- MAMP microbe-associated molecular pattern
- MAPK mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MIP3 $\alpha$  macrophage inflammatory protein 3 $\alpha$
- ND none detected
- NF- $\kappa B$  nuclear factor  $\kappa B$
- $\mathbf{NHE} \mathbf{Na}^{+}/\mathbf{H}^{+}$  exchanger
- NI-non-infected
- $Nle-{\tt non-LEE}{\rm -encoded\ effector}$
- NMEC Neonatal meningitis E. coli
- NO nitric oxide

- NT no template
- N-WASP neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
- **OD** optical density
- **Omp** outer membrane protein
- PAI pathogenicity island
- PE phosphatidylethanolamine
- **PI** post-infection
- PCR polymerase chain reaction
- **pIVOC** polarised *in vitro* organ culture
- POL2A RNA Polymerase II polypeptide A
- **PRR** pattern recognition receptor
- qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- Qse quorum-sensing E. coli regulator
- **RPM** revolutions per minute
- **RPS3** ribosomal protein S3
- RT-PCR reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
- **SCID** severe-combined immuno-deficient
- **SCFA** short-chain fatty acids
- SE standard error of the mean
- **SEM** scanning electron microscopy
- SGLT sodium-dependent glucose transporter
- **SNP** single nucleotide polymorphism
- **SPATE** serine protease autotransporters of *Enterobacteriaceae*
- **sRNA** small RNAs
- STEC Shiga toxin-producing E. coli
- Stx Shiga toxin
- TBE Tris-borate-EDTA

- TccP Tir-cytoskeleton coupling protein
- $\ensuremath{\textbf{TER}}\xspace \ensuremath{\textbf{transepithelial}}\xspace$  electrical resistance
- **TEM** transmission electron microscopy
- Tir translocated intimin receptor
- **TJ** tight junction
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TNF tumour necrosis factor
- T3S(S) type III secretion (system)
- UC ulcerative colitis
- UK United Kingdom
- UPEC Uropathogenic E. coli
- USA United States of America
- USDA US Department of Agriculture
- VDC vertical diffusion chamber

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my primary supervisor Stephanie Schüller for her support, guidance and generosity. I feel privileged to have been your first PhD student and look forward to many more collaborations in the future. I am also indebted to the other members of my supervisory team – Simon Carding, Sacha Lucchini and Isabelle Hautefort – for their comments and advice.

Thanks in advance to my *viva voce* examiners David Gally and Nathalie Juge for taking the time to read my thesis. I am also grateful to my transfer examiners Tom Wileman and Kevin Tyler for their input during the early stages of this project. An additional thank you goes to all those at IFR who taught me how to use a piece of lab equipment or gave me feedback on one of my presentations.

A warm thanks to the 53 endoscopy patients who kindly donated a small part of themselves to me and my project, and to the Gastroenterology staff at NNUH who patiently tolerated me asking questions and getting in the way. I am particularly grateful to endoscopist nurse Vivienne (Jane) Cook for her help with obtaining samples and for making us researchers feel welcome at the unit.

To *Infection and Immunity* editor, Beth McCormick: thank you for considering my PhD research for publication.

Thanks to the following people for all the memorable lunch-time gibberish, Christmas/Summer parties, boardgame evenings, running & tennis sessions, and for reminding me that life exists outside of the PhD: Jasmine Buck, Isabelle Piec, Matthew Mayhew, Sandra Bednar, Sorina Armeanca, Meghan Betts, Seav-Ly Tran, Alistair Walsham, Sam Ellis, Claire Hews, Laura Searle, Helen Brown, Olivia Kober, MyThanh Le, Sabrina Etzold, Lizzie Thursby, Rebecca Edwards, Emily Jones, Pinar Blowers, Sarah Clements, Nadia Gicheva, Amanda Chidlaw, Jessica Garnett, Tom Vincent, Umberto Binetti and Mark Ashwood. A special thanks to Audrey Dubourg for our weekly lunches and for guiding me through the thesis writing process, chapter by chapter!

Thank you to my family –Susan Beynon, Freddie Lewis, Helen Lewis, Alan Beynon, Katie Lewis, Charlie Beynon and Shane Sparks – for clinging on to the hope that one day I might finally leave university and get a job. Fingers crossed for the latter, at least!

To my honorary family – Roxanne Cottrell, Helen Lewis, Red Newsom and the late David Stier – thanks for being my diamonds.

Last but not least, I dedicate this thesis to my partner, David Thurkettle, in recognition of his unfailing support in every aspect of my life and for always believing in me.

**CHAPTER ONE** 

# **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 | Enterohaemorrhagic E. coli

The life of humans would be very different without the existence of *Escherichia coli*. E. coli bacteria colonise the gastrointestinal (GI) tract within hours of birth and establish themselves as the predominant facultative anaerobe of the microbiota. The majority of *E. coli* strains engage in a mutually beneficial relationship with the host that provides a stable environment for the bacteria and improved digestion and protection from pathogenic infection for the host (Bentley and Meganathan, 1982; Reid et al., 2001). However, a number of strains have acquired genes that confer the ability to cause disease in humans. Since the isolation of the first pathogenic E. coli type in 1945 (Bray, 1945), the species has emerged as one of the largest contributors to food-borne illness worldwide. E. coli strains are genetically diverse and confer a range of diseases including diarrhoea, meningitis, urinary tract infections and haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS). Hundreds of millions of people are now estimated to be affected by pathogenic E. coli every year (Croxen and Finlay, 2010). Thus, in the past seventy years, our regard for this species has shifted from harmless commensal to dangerous pathogen that constitutes a huge public health and economic burden worldwide.

Pathogenic *E. coli* strains are broadly classified into nine pathotypes, each colonising a specific niche in the human body (Figure 1.1). Five of these pathotypes – Enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC), Enteropathogenic *E coli* (EPEC), Enteroaggregative *E. coli* (EAEC), Enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC), and Diffuselyadherent *E. coli* (DAEC) – colonise the GI tract and induce diarrhoea. Uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) and Neonatal meningitis *E. coli* (NMEC) are extra-intestinal pathotypes that are the leading cause of urinary tract infections and neonatal meningitis, respectively. Finally, adherent-invasive *E. coli* (AIEC) colonise the small intestine and are thought to play a role in Crohn's Disease (CD) pathogenesis (Strober, 2011).

Of the hundreds of pathogenic *E. coli* strains that affect humans, those belonging to the EHEC pathotype pose the largest public health threat in the developed world. EHEC are the fourth most commonly reported bacterial cause of enteric infection in the UK (ECDC, 2014). It is considered a colonic pathogen that causes diarrhoea by



**Figure 1.1. Sites of pathogenic** *E. coli* **colonisation.** Modified from Croxen and Finlay, 2010.

forming attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions on intestinal epithelial cells (IECs). EHEC bacteria also produce Shiga toxins (Stxs), which damage cells of the colonic and renal microvasculature to induce haemorrhagic colitis (HC) and HUS, respectively. EHEC-associated HUS is the leading cause of acute kidney failure in children in the United Kingdom (UK), and can be fatal (Lynn *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, there is no treatment for EHEC infection or HUS, and the use of antibiotics is contraindicated (Goldwater and Bettelheim, 2012). Therefore, EHEC research is crucial in order to develop an effective means to combat infection. This chapter provides an overview of our current understanding of EHEC infection biology, with emphasis on intestinal pathogenesis and the innate immune response to infection.

### 1.2 | Emergence and evolutionary origin

In 1983, Riley and colleagues investigated a large food-poisoning outbreak in the United States of America (USA) that was associated with an unusual form of gastrointestinal illness, characterised by severe abdominal pain and HC (Riley et al., 1983). They identified the causative agent as an E. coli strain belonging to the serotype O157:H7, which had only once before been isolated from a case of HC in 1975. Retrospective analysis of historical isolates did not implicate E. coli O157:H7 in any other past cases (Day et al., 1983; Johnson et al., 1983), indicating that this serotype was an emerging pathogen. Konowalchuk and co-workers reported that EHEC O157:H7 produced a substance that had a cytotoxic effect on Vero African Monkey kidney cells, which they termed verotoxin (Konowalchuk et al., 1977). O'Brien et al. also discovered this toxin and demonstrated that it showed sequence homology to Shiga toxin (Stx), which is produced by *Shigella dysenteriae* type 1, and thus named it Shiga-like toxin (O'Brien et al., 1983). Both verotoxin and Shiga toxin are still used to describe this particular type of EHEC toxin, but only the latter term will be used in this thesis. Later that same year, Karmali et al., reported an association between HUS and the presence of Stx and Stx-producing *E*.coli (STEC) in the stools of sufferers (Karmali et al., 1983), providing the first indication of a causal role for Stx in development of HUS.

Since the discovery of *E. coli* O157:H7, more than 500 other STEC serotypes have been identified (Blanco *et al.*, 2004). However, not all STEC serotypes are capable of causing disease in humans; only those which harbour additional virulence determinants are considered pathogenic (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). The most important of these is the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE), a large genetic region that encodes most of the genes necessary for the A/E phenotype (McDaniel *et al.*, 1995). This has led to the use of the term STEC to denote any *E. coli* strain containing *stx* genes and EHEC for those that harbour both *stx* and the LEE (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). EHEC appears to have evolved from EPEC, since phylogenetic data shows that EHEC O157:H7 and EPEC O55:H7 share a recent common ancestor (Whittam *et al.*, 1993). EPEC also possesses the LEE and triggers A/E lesion formation upon infection of IECs (McDaniel *et al.*, 1995), but does not harbour *stx* genes. Stxs are encoded on lambdoid prophages incorporated into the bacterial chromosome (Makino *et al.*, 1999; Yokoyama *et al.*, 2000), indicating that evolution from EPEC to EHEC likely resulted from horizontal gene transfer (HGT) of *stx* following prophage infection. Interestingly, acquisition of *stx* appears to have occurred several times in evolutionary history, as EHEC strains do not fall into a single phylogenetic group (Reid *et al.*, 2000). This indicates that the EHEC pathotype represents a collection of genetically diverse strains that confer a similar virulence phenotype.

The acquisition of *stx* is not the only example of EHEC gaining virulence through HGT. Indeed, the genomes of pathogenic *E. coli* are striking in that many virulence-associated genes are located in regions of DNA originating from other organisms, termed pathogenicity islands (PAIs). PAIs, such as the LEE in EHEC, are discernible from native genetic material in that they harbour markedly different G+C contents and are found in association with mobile genetic elements (e.g. bacteriophages, plasmids, transposons, insertion sequences). The high level of HGT in *E. coli* drives the continuous emergence of new strains, each harbouring a unique repertoire of virulence genes (Bugarel *et al.*, 2010). This diversity between strains complicates the study of EHEC virulence as it is difficult to infer meaning from analysis of a small number of isolates. Researchers therefore tend to focus their attention on O157:H7 strains (e.g. EDL933, 86-24) as this serotype is most associated with disease in humans. As a result, non-O157:H7 strains are less well-characterised.

The O157:H7 serogroup comprises hundreds of genetically distinct strains, and studies have shown that certain strain types are more associated with disease in humans. In their phylogenetic study, Manning *et al.* developed a system for classifying O157 strains based on detection of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in 96 loci in 83 genes (Manning *et al.*, 2008). Using this method, they classified over 500 strains isolated from clinical cases in the USA into a total of 9 clades, and found that strains belonging to clade 8 were significantly associated with severe disease presentation (i.e. development of HUS). These clades also differed in

the frequency and distribution of *stx* genes: 100% and 57.6% of clade 8 strains harboured the *stx2* and *stx2c* genes, respectively (Manning *et al.*, 2008), which encode the Stx subtypes most associated with severe disease (Karch *et al.*, 2006; Orth *et al.*, 2007).

Analysis of EHEC O157:H7 isolates from cases in Europe has revealed an association between virulence and bacterial phage type (PT). Phage typing has been used since the late eighties as a method of distinguishing between individual EHEC strains, and is based on characterising the susceptibility profile of an isolate to a panel of 16 bacteriophages (Ahmed et al., 1987; Khakhria et al., 1990). In the UK and Ireland, the chance of developing infantile HUS is significantly greater if the patient is infected with a strain belonging to PT21/28 compared with other PTs (Lynn et al., 2005). Furthermore, PT21/28 accounts for more cases of human illness in Scotland compared with other PTs (57% of all cases between 1998 and 2008) (Health Protection Scotland, 2009). It has been suggested that the increased virulence of PT21/28 is attributable to the fact that this PT is shed from cattle at higher levels than other PTs (a so-called 'supershedder'), which would lead to higher levels of these strains in the environment and therefore increased chances of transmission to humans (Chase-Topping et al., 2007; 2008). In addition, the number of PT21/28 strains harbouring both stx2 and stx2c is relatively high compared with PT32, the second-most prevalent PT (90% and 28%, respectively) (Xu et al., 2012), which may explain the increased disease severity in patients infected with PT21/28.

### 1.3 | Epidemiology

EHEC is one of the most common food-borne pathogens in the developed world. It is estimated that approximately 265,000 EHEC infections occur every year in the USA (CDC, 2015), whilst around 3,500 confirmed cases are reported annually in the European Economic Area (EEA) (ECDC, 2014). The actual number of cases in the EEA is likely to be higher, since not all cases are reported and therefore cannot be included in epidemiological analyses (ECDC, 2014). EHEC is the fourth most reported bacterial cause of food- and water-borne zoonosis in the EEA, after *Campylobacter* spp., *Salmonella enterica* and *Shigella* spp. (ECDC, 2014).



**Figure 1.2. Incidence of EHEC infections in the EEA. (A)** Proportion of total cases reported by individual countries between 2008 and 2012. **(B)** Median annual notification rates for the years 2008-2012. Some EEA countries are excluded due to insufficient data. Based on data from ECDC, 2014.

Interestingly, the UK accounts for approximately 25% of the total number of EHEC cases reported in the EEA (6,448 of 25,864 cases reported between 2008 and 2012) and has one of the highest notification rates of all EEA countries (Figure 1.2). This suggests that EHEC infection is particularly prevalent in the UK, although it should be noted that differences in diagnostic methods between countries may influence this data (ECDC, 2014). EHEC is common in other developed countries including Canada, Japan and Australia, as well as in developing countries such as Argentina

(Croxen *et al.*, 2013). Sporadic infection accounts for the majority of EHEC cases, although epidemic infections also occur (Byrne *et al.*, 2015).

Public Health England (PHE) recently published an epidemiological report on EHEC infections in England based on data collected since the introduction of the National Enhanced Surveillance System for STEC (NESSS) in 2009 (Byrne et al., 2015). The NESSS is designed to collate microbiological, demographic, clinical and exposure data in order to inform epidemiology and improve outbreak detection. The NESSS report shows that more than 40% of the total confirmed EHEC cases occurred in children <15 years of age, with the highest incidence observed in 1-4 year olds. This age group was not found to be disproportionately affected by Campylobacter or Salmonella (7.0 and 17.8% of total cases, respectively), indicating that the trend does not apply to all food-borne illnesses. The high rate of infantile EHEC illnesses was attributed to the infectious nature of EHEC, which is thought to facilitate transmission among children via person to person contact at schools and childcare facilities. Serogroup O157 was responsible for 98.8% of EHEC cases in England (Byrne et al., 2015), which is notably high when compared with figures reported for the EEA as a whole (34%) and the USA (36%) (CDC, 2015; ECDC, 2014). However, standard diagnostic testing for STEC in England often does not include screening for non-O157 strains (Byrne et al., 2015), and so it is possible that non-O157 cases are under-represented. As mentioned in the previous section, the most common O157:H7 phage type is PT21/28 (50% of all cases in Scotland in 2008), followed by PT8 and PT32 (both 11%) (Health Protection Scotland, 2009). According to the ECDC (2014), the most commonly isolated non-O157 serogroups in the EEA are O26, O91, O103 and O145; whilst the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) has named O26, O45, O103, O111, O121 and O145 as the most important non-O157 disease-causing serogroups in the USA (USDA, 2012).

The transmission route of EHEC is faecal-oral, with an estimated infectious dose of <100 organisms (Tuttle *et al.*, 1999). Cattle and other farm animals often serve as a reservoir host for EHEC. Accordingly, the most common route of human exposure to EHEC is through consumption of food products contaminated with infectious livestock faeces. Foods that have been implicated in EHEC transmission include ground beef, sausage, unpasteurised milk and apple juice, and a variety of vegetables

(Chauret, 2011). Exposure by direct contact with reservoir hosts in petting zoos, agricultural shows and farm settings is also an important mode of transmission, accounting for 34.8% of EHEC cases in England between 2009 and 2012 (Byrne *et al.*, 2015). As mentioned above, person to person transmission is also common, particularly during outbreaks.

#### 1.4 | Disease symptoms and treatment

The progression of EHEC-associated disease from ingestion to clinical outcome is summarised in Figure 1.3. Diarrhoea is reported in most cases (92.8% in England between 2009 and 2012), and is often accompanied by other complaints such as abdominal cramps, fever and vomiting (79.2, 32 and 37.3%, respectively) (Byrne et al., 2015). These symptoms typically ensue within 3-4 days of ingesting the infective dose. Bloody diarrhoea, a sign of HC, develops in around 61% of cases around 3 days later. It is the detection of blood in the stool that causes most patients to seek medical attention. In most cases, symptoms will begin to improve 4-10 days after the onset of illness. However, in 5-15 of cases, alleviation of gastrointestinal symptoms is followed by development of HUS (Byrne et al., 2015; Trachtman et al., 2012). HUS is characterised by haemolytic anaemia, thrombocytopaenia, and acute kidney failure. The syndrome is more likely to develop in children, and is the leading cause of acute infantile kidney dysfunction. There is no treatment for HUS other than dialysis, which is performed in 30-40% of cases for approximately 10 days (Trachtman et al., 2012). Approximately 1 in 4 HUS sufferers also develop neurological dysfunction leading to apnoea, coma, seizures, cortical blindness and haemiparesis (Trachtman et al., 2012). Additional sequelae of HUS include chronic renal dysfunction, colonic strictures, hypertension, stroke, gallstones and diabetes mellitus. (Byrne et al., 2015; ECDC, 2014; Lynn et al., 2005; Spinale et al., 2013; Tarr et al., 2005). HUS carries a mortality rate of up to 5%, with death usually resulting from the aforementioned neurological complications (Kavanagh et al., 2014; Trachtman et al., 2012).

There is currently no effective treatment for EHEC infection. The use of antibiotics is not recommended, as some clinical studies have indicated that antibiotic treatment



**Figure 1.3. Progression of clinical symptoms over time (days) following EHEC infection.** Adapted from Tarr *et al.* (2005). Percentages represent proportion of individuals presenting symptom relative to total number of cases (Byrne *et al.*, 2015).

is a risk factor for HUS (Smith *et al.*, 2012; Wong *et al.*, 2000). This has been attributed to antibiotics triggering the expression and release of Stx in bacteria *via* activation of the stress-induced Stx phage lytic cycle (Tarr *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2000). However, other studies show no negative correlation between antibiotic therapy and HUS (Bielaszewska *et al.*, 2012; Safdar *et al.*, 2002), and so the use of antibiotics to treat STEC infection remains controversial. Much effort has been applied to developing a vaccine against EHEC, and several candidates have performed well in animal studies (Bentancor *et al.*, 2009; Gu *et al.*, 2009). Vaccination of cattle has also been explored as a method of preventing transmission to humans (McNeilly *et al.*, 2010; McNeilly *et al.*, 2008; Potter *et al.*, 2004; Tahoun *et al.*, 2015). Many vaccine candidates target Stx and/or bovine IEC adherence factors such as intimin, translocated intimin receptor (Tir), *E. coli* secreted protein A (EspA) and flagellin; or a combination of the above. The economic cost of producing any successful vaccine is likely to influence the extent of its use.

Many alternative therapies are being investigated, which have recently been reviewed by Goldwater and Bettelheim (2012). Several studies have focussed on development of antibodies or synthetic molecules that bind to Stx and prevent it from binding to host cells, thereby inhibiting its pathological effects (Islam and Stimson, 1990; Trachtman *et al.*, 2003; Watanabe-Takahashi *et al.*, 2010). Others have identified molecules, such as manganese and compound 75, which inhibit intracellular transport of Stx and cytotoxicity in host cells (Mukhopadhyay and Linstedt, 2012; Saenz *et al.*, 2007). Another strategy being investigated is the use of probiotic bacteria such as *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* spp. to prevent EHEC growth or interaction with the intestinal epithelium (Medellin-Pena and Griffiths, 2009; Mogna *et al.*, 2012; Sherman *et al.*, 2005). Research into these potential therapies is still rudimentary, with few having progressed to clinical trials and none demonstrating a protective effect in humans.

#### 1.5 | Virulence

EHEC possesses two main virulence traits: A/E lesion formation and Stx production. Our current understanding of the mechanisms underlying each of these is reviewed in this section.

#### **1.5.1 | A/E lesion formation**

EHEC belongs to a family of pathogens, referred to as attaching and effacing (A/E) bacteria, that forms distinctive histopathological A/E lesions on IECs. Other members of the family include the closely-related human pathogen enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC), rabbit diarrhoeagenic *E. coli* (RDEC-1), and the murine pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium*. A/E lesions were first described by Staley and colleagues following infection of newborn piglets with EPEC (Staley *et al.*, 1969), and are distinguishable on IECs by the presence of intimately adherent bacteria and loss of microvilli around the attachment site. However, our understanding of the mechanisms underlying A/E lesion formation was minimal until the late eighties, when Knutton and colleagues developed a simple *in vitro* test for detecting A/E lesions. Using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) to visualise bacteria adhered



Figure 1.4. A/E lesion formation on IECs.

to cultured cell lines, the authors showed that A/E lesions were associated with polymerised actin beneath the site of bacterial attachment (Knutton *et al.*, 1987). Soon afterwards, the same group introduced the fluorescent actin stain (FAS) as a new method for detecting polymerised actin that was less labour-some than TEM. (Knutton *et al.*, 1989). The FAS test subsequently became the standard diagnostic test for A/E bacteria and provided researchers with a tool with which to identify the virulence factors necessary for A/E pathogenesis *in vitro*.

The events leading to A/E lesion formation have been well-characterised using cultured cell lines (Nataro and Kaper, 1998), and are outlined in Figure 1.4. First, EHEC forms an initial attachment to an IEC *via* one or more adhesins (1). The bacterium then inserts its type III secretion system (T3SS) into the host cell, which is used to inject a barrage of 'effector' proteins into the cytosol. These effectors subvert host cell processes resulting in several morphological changes, which include the

localised effacement of microvilli (2). Microvillous effacement likely facilitates bacterial adhesion to the IEC surface, and also plays a role in induction of diarrhoea by reducing the absorptive surface area of the epithelium (Viswanathan *et al.*, 2009). EHEC also secretes its own receptor, the translocated intimin receptor (Tir), into the host cell. Tir inserts into the IEC plasma membrane, where it binds to intimin on the bacterial outer membrane to form an intimate attachment (3). Tir then works with other effector proteins to recruit polymerised actin (4), which elevates the bacterium on an actin-rich pedestal-like structure. Several effector proteins also disrupt epithelial barrier function and subvert the transport of ion and water across the epithelium, which also contributes to the onset of diarrhoea (Viswanathan *et al.*, 2009).

Most of the proteins involved in T3S and A/E lesion formation are encoded on the LEE (Mellies *et al.*, 2007). Several effector proteins are also encoded on this PAI, although an increasing number of non-LEE-encoded effectors (Nle) are being discovered (Wong *et al.*, 2011). The role of these virulence factors in each stage of A/E lesion formation on human model epithelia is reviewed below.

#### 1.5.1.1 | Initial attachment

The mechanisms of EHEC initial attachment to IECs are poorly defined. In EPEC, adherence is thought to be primarily mediated by binding of the bundle-forming pilus (Bfp), a class of type-IV pilus, to an unidentified host receptor (Cleary *et al.*, 2004; Giron *et al.*, 1991). However, EHEC does not possess the plasmid encoding Bfp and must therefore associate with IECs *via* a different mechanism. A whole host of putative adhesins has been described (Table 1.1), many of which were identified by screening the sequenced genome of EHEC O157:H7 for homologues to known adherence factors. Two long polar fimbriae genes (*lpfA1* and *lpfA2*), showing sequence homology to the Lpf operon in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium (Perna *et al.*, 2001), have been characterised in some detail. Double deletion of *lpfA1* and *lpfA2* leads to partially reduced EHEC adherence to HeLa cervical carcinoma cells, but only when the regulators histone-like nucleoid structuring protein (HN-S) and Ler are also deleted (Torres *et al.*, 2008). Significantly reduced EHEC adherence to T84 cells was also observed following deletion of *lpf1* or *lpf2* in a later study

32

Iha ToxB	OmpA	flagellin	Cah	EspP	EspA	EhaJ	EhaB	EhaA		intimin	F9	ELF	ECP	НСР	<b>Bacterial fact</b> o Lpf
	outer membrane protein	involved in motility	autotransporter	Serine protease autotransporter	T3SS apparatus	autotransporter	autotransporter	autotransporter	intimate attachment	adhesin mediating	type I pili	fimbriae	type I fimbriae	type IV pili	r Description
unknown unknown	unknown	mucin I and II	unknown	unknown	unknown	collagen I, II, III and V, fibronectin, fibrinogen, laminin (not collagen IV, elastin, heparin)	laminin, collagen I (not collagen III, collagen IV, fibronectin)	unknown		β1-integrins, nucleolin	۱۷) fibronectin (not fibrinogen, elastin or hyaluronic acid)	laminin (not fibronectin or collagen	unknown	fibronectin, laminin	<b>Host binding partners</b> fibronectin, laminin, collagen IV
adherence to HeLa cells adherence to Caco-2 cells	adherence to HeLa and Caco-2 cells	adherence to bovine IECs	biofilm formation (inhibits adherence to HeLa cells)	biofilm formation, adherence to T84 cells and bovine rectal IECs	adherence to HeLa cells	biofilm formation	biofilm formation	biofilm formation, adherence to bovine rectal IECs		adherence to HeLa cells	adherence to bovine IECs	adherence to HeLa cells	adherence to HeLa cells	biofilm formation, adherence to T84, Caco-2, HT-29 and HeLa cells	<b>Role in adherence</b> adherence to HeLa cells (inhibits adherence to human small intestinal tissue)
Tarr <i>et al.</i> , 2000 Tatsuno <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Stevens <i>et al.</i> , 2004	Torres <i>et al.</i> , 2005a; Torres and Kaper, 2003	Erdem <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Mahajan <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Sherman and Soni, 1988	Torres et al., 2002; 2005a	Dziva <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Puttamreddy <i>et al.</i> , 2010	Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 1998	Easton <i>et al.</i> , 2011	Wells et al., 2009	Wells <i>et al.</i> , 2008	and O'Brien, 2002; Sinclair <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006	Frankel et al., 1996; Sinclair	Low <i>et al.</i> , 2006	Samadder et al., 2009	Rendón <i>et al.</i> , 2007	Xicohtencatl-Cortes <i>et al.</i> , 2007; 2009	<b>Reference(s)</b> Torres <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Fitzhenry <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Farfan <i>et al.</i> , 2011

Table 1.1. List of putative adhesion factors expressed by EHEC.

(Farfan *et al.*, 2013). It has been proposed that Lpf may confer bacterial adherence to IECs by binding to extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, as EHEC has been shown to attach to surfaces coated with fibronectin, laminin and collagen IV in an Lpf-dependent manner (Farfan *et al.*, 2011). However, EHEC adherence to human small intestinal biopsies during *in vitro* organ culture (IVOC) was actually enhanced in *lpf*-deficient mutants compared with wild-type (Fitzhenry *et al.*, 2006), and so the role of these fimbriae in adherence to IECs remains unclear.

Several other fimbrial adhesins have been identified in EHEC. The haemorrhagic coli pilus (HCP) is a type IV pilus that binds to ECM proteins and has been shown to facilitate EHEC biofilm formation and adherence to several human epithelial cell lines (Xicohtencatl-Cortes *et al.*, 2009; Xicohtencatl-Cortes *et al.*, 2007). The *E. coli* common pilus (ECP) is a type I pilus found in both commensal and pathogenic bacteria, and has been shown to play a role in EHEC O157:H7 adherence to HeLa cells (Rendón *et al.*, 2007). *E. coli* YcbQ laminin-binding fimbriae (ELF) bind to laminin (but not fibronectin or collagen IV) and are also involved in EHEC adherence to HeLa cells (Samadder *et al.*, 2009). Finally, signature-tagged mutagenesis screening for bovine colonisation factors has led to discovery of novel 'F9' fimbrial adhesins in EHEC serotypes O157:H7 (Dziva *et al.*, 2004) and O26:H-(van Diemen *et al.*, 2005). F9 was found to bind fibronectin (but not fibrinogen, elastin or hyaluronic acid) and promote adherence to bovine epithelial cells (Low *et al.*, 2006); however, the role of F9 fimbriae in adherence to human IECs has not been reported.

Many non-fimbrial bacterial factors have also been linked to initial attachment of EHEC to human IECs. The outer membrane protein intimin serves as an essential mediator of intimate attachment (see section 1.5.1.2), providing a ligand for the bacterial receptor Tir. However, this adhesin has also been shown to interact with host proteins. The IEC surface molecule  $\beta$ 1-integrin anchors the intestinal epithelium to the underlying basement membrane (Humphries *et al.*, 1993). Solid-phase binding analysis of EPEC intimin has revealed an interaction between its cell-binding domain and  $\beta$ 1-integrins (Frankel *et al.*, 1996). In addition, it has been demonstrated that EPEC infection of T84 human colonic carcinoma cells triggers a disruption of cell polarity, resulting in redistribution of basolaterally-localised  $\beta$ 1-integrin to the apical

membrane, allowing bacterial access (Muza-Moons *et al.*, 2003). *In vitro* binding of EHEC O157:H7 intimin to the host laminin receptor, nucleolin, has also been demonstrated (Sinclair and O'Brien, 2002). Antibodies raised against nucleolin inhibited EHEC adherence to HeLa cells (Sinclair and O'Brien, 2002), and nucleolin was detected beneath EHEC adhered to intestinal epithelium of piglets, neonatal calves and mice (Sinclair *et al.*, 2006). Exposure of HeLa cells to Stx increased surface expression of nucleolin, which resulted in increased EHEC adherence (Robinson *et al.*, 2006). These studies suggest that intimin may mediate the initial attachment of EHEC to IECs *via* binding to  $\beta$ 1-integrin and/or nucleolin. Further studies using human intestinal cell lines and/or tissue are necessary to confirm a role for these interactions during intestinal EHEC infection.

*E. coli* secreted protein A (EspA) is the main constituent of the T3SS translocation filament, which is fundamental for intimate attachment (section 1.5.1.2) and may also play a role in initial attachment. Ebel and colleagues (1998) showed that deletion of *espA* completely abrogated adherence of EHEC O26:H<sup>-</sup> to HeLa cells. Furthermore, microscopic analysis of wild type EHEC revealed the presence of vast numbers of EspA-rich filaments connecting the bacteria to the brush border surface. Importantly, these filaments were particularly numerous on bacteria that had not yet induced actin pedestal formation, which suggests that EspA-rich filaments are involved in the early stages of attachment (Ebel *et al.*, 1998). However, a definitive role for the EspA filament in initial attachment has not been demonstrated, although this could be due to the difficulty in distinguishing between events leading to initial and intimate attachment.

Autotransporters are a group of proteins found on the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria (Henderson *et al.*, 2004). Enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* autotransporters (Eha) A, B and J promote biofilm formation and bind to ECM proteins. However, although EhaA may play a role in EHEC adherence to bovine rectal IECs, all three Eha proteins have failed to mediate adherence to human epithelial cells. (Easton *et al.*, 2011; Wells *et al.*, 2009; Wells *et al.*, 2008). *E. coli* secreted protein P (EspP) is a serine protease autotransporter that promotes biofilm formation by EHEC and mediates adherence to T84 cells and bovine IECs (Dziva *et al.*, 2007; Puttamreddy *et al.*, 2010). Finally, the calcium-binding antigen 43

35

homologue (Cah) autotransporter expressed by EHEC O157:H7 promotes cell-to-cell aggregation and biofilm formation but confers a decrease in adherence to HeLa cells (Torres *et al.*, 2002). Cah also failed to influence EHEC adherence to Caco-2 cells (Torres *et al.*, 2005a), suggesting that this autotransporter does not play a role in initial attachment.

Other putative adhesins include flagellin, outer membrane protein A (OmpA), *Vibrio cholerae* iron-regulated gene A homologue adhesin (Iha), and ToxB. Whilst EPEC (H6) flagellin mediates adherence of EPEC to HeLa cells (Girón *et al.*, 2002), EHEC adherence was not influenced by antibody-mediated blocking of H7 flagellin (Sherman and Soni, 1988). Conversely, a role for H7 flagellin in EHEC adherence to bovine IECs and mucus has been demonstrated in several studies (Erdem *et al.*, 2007; Mahajan *et al.*, 2009). Both OmpA and Iha enhance EHEC adherence to HeLa cells (Tarr *et al.*, 2000; Torres *et al.*, 2005a; Torres and Kaper, 2003). ToxB contributes to EHEC O157:H7 adherence to Caco-2 cells, although this appears to occur indirectly through enhancement of T3S (Tatsuno *et al.*, 2001), which is essential for the intimate adherence phenotype (see section 1.5.1.2). ToxB is not required for EHEC intestinal colonisation of cattle or sheep (Stevens *et al.*, 2004).

Interestingly, the host cell membrane phospholipid, phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), has been shown to play a role in EHEC adherence to human epithelial cells. Using solid phase and liposome aggregation assays, Barnett-Foster and colleagues (1999) demonstrated that EHEC and EPEC preferentially bind to PE on the surface of HeLa cells. The same research group later showed that EHEC adherence triggered an increase in surface expression of PE *via* induction of apoptosis (Barnett Foster *et al.*, 2000). This data suggests that EHEC may use PE as a receptor for attaching to human epithelial cells. It remains to be determined whether EHEC interacts with PE on intestinal epithelial cells. Whilst EPEC binding to PE appears to involve Bfp (Barnett Foster *et al.*, 1999), no PE binding partners have thus far been described in EHEC.

Despite the large number of bacterial factors implicated in EHEC initial attachment to host cells, none except intimin and EspA (which are also involved in intimate attachment) have proven to be essential for adherence. One possible explanation for this could be that EHEC uses several adhesins that together confer a cumulative
effect on adherence. In addition, the majority of functional EHEC adhesin studies have been performed using non-intestinal cell lines (i.e. HeLa cells), so the potential influence of host intestinal factors has not been taken into account. More research using physiological IEC models is needed in order to elucidate the role of these adhesins during infection, as well as the factors influencing their expression and function.

## 1.5.1.2 | Intimate attachment

Intimin was the first bacterial protein found to be involved in EPEC-mediated A/E lesion formation (Jerse *et al.*, 1990), and an EHEC homologue was identified soon after (Yu and Kaper, 1992). This 102 kDa protein consists of an N-terminus that is conserved across EHEC and EPEC strains, and a variable C-terminus that confers receptor binding activity (Batchelor *et al.*, 2000). Five intimin types have been described ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\varepsilon$ ), based on antigenic differences in the C-terminus region. The most common subtypes found in EHEC are  $\gamma$ , expressed by EHEC O157; and  $\beta$ , expressed by some non-O157 serogroups including O26 (McGraw *et al.*, 1999). Intimin is essential for EHEC A/E lesion formation on HeLa cells (McKee *et al.*, 1995) and for *in vivo* colonisation of infant rabbits, gnotobiotic piglets and neonatal calves (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1998b; Donnenberg *et al.*, 1993; Ritchie *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, IVOC experiments using human intestinal tissue have shown that intimin is required for EHEC A/E lesion formation on small intestinal epithelium (Fitzhenry *et al.*, 2002), although no adherence to colonic epithelium (the site of EHEC-associated pathology) was observed using this model (Phillips *et al.*, 2000).

Initially, it was assumed that intimin mediated intimate attachment of A/E bacteria by interacting with a host cell receptor. Rosenshine and colleagues were the first to identify a 90 kDa protein on the host epithelial cell surface, which they termed Hp90, interacting with intimin during EPEC infection of HeLa cells (Rosenshine *et al.*, 1992; Rosenshine *et al.*, 1996). However, in 1997, Kenny *et al.* discovered that Hp90 was not a host derived-receptor but a bacterial protein translocated into the host cell *via* the T3SS, and thus renamed the protein translocated intimin receptor (Tir) (Kenny *et al.*, 1997). This was the first recorded example of a bacterium injecting its own receptor into a host cell to mediate adherence. Tir has since been described in



**Figure 1.5. Structure of T3SS in A/E pathogens.** Based on Pallen *et al.* (2005) and Garmendia *et al.* (2005)

EHEC (Deibel *et al.*, 1998), and the protein is essential for A/E lesion formation during infection of HeLa cells (DeVinney *et al.*, 1999) and IVOC of human small intestinal tissue (Schüller *et al.*, 2007). Following translocation into the host cytosol, Tir inserts into the host plasma membrane in a hairpin loop topology, such that the N- and C-terminal portions are cytosolic whilst the central region traverses the membrane for intimin binding (Luo *et al.*, 2000). Binding of Tir to intimin mediates intimate attachment of the bacterium to within 10 nm of the host cell membrane (Frankel *et al.*, 2001).

The T3SS is a 3.5 MDa complex found in many Gram-negative bacterial species. It is comprised of approximately 25 proteins that span the inner and outer membrane and mediate secretion of proteins out of the organism (Puhar and Sansonetti, 2014). The structure comprises a cytoplasmic domain containing an ATPase known as EscN; a trans-membrane 'needle' complex made from many proteins such as EscF, EscC, EscJ and EscD; and an extracellular translocon consisting of a hollow EspA-

Effector	Function	Reference(s)
LEE-encoded		
EspB	translocation pore component, disrupts phagocytosis	Hamaguchi et al., 2008; Iizumi et al., 2007 Visuanathan et al. 2007: Hodges et al. 2008:
	disrupts AQP channelling, disrupts mitochondria function, promotes apoptosis, disrupts phagocytosis	Guttman et al., 2007; Nougayrede and Donnenberg, 2004; Quitard et al., 2006
EspG FsnH	Disrupts DRA channelling, disrupts AQP channelling	Gill et al., 2007; Guttman et al., 2007 Tu et al. 2003: Dong et al. 2010: Wong et al. 2012
, EspZ	promotes apoptosis Inhibits T3SS effector translocation and apoptosis signalling	Berger <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Shames <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Map	suppresses pedestal formation, disrupts TJ activity, disrupts SGLT1 channelling, disrupts mitochondria function,	Kenny et al., 2002; Thanabalasuriar et al., 2010; Dean et al., 2006
Tir	promotes apoptosis intimate attachment, involved in pedestal formation, disrupts SGLT1 channelling	DeVinney et al., 1999; Kenny et al., 1999; Dean et al., 2006
Non-LEE-encoded		
EspJ	disrupts phagocytosis	Marches et al., 2008; Kurushima et al., 2010
EspM	involved in stress fibre formation, suppresses pedestal formation, disrupts TJ activity, suppresses apoptosis	Simovitch <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Arbeloa <i>et al.</i> , 2008; 2010; Wong <i>et al.</i> , 2012
EspV	disrupts cytoskeleton	Arbeloa et al., 2011
NleA/Espl	disrupts TJ activity and COPII-dependent protein trafficking	Thanabalasuriar <i>et al.</i> , 2010
NleB	disrupts NF-kB activity, suppresses apoptosis signalling	Li <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Newton <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Pearson <i>et al.</i> , 2013
NleC	disrupts NF-kB activity, disrupts MAPK signalling	Baruch <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Pearson <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Yen <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Mühlen <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Sham <i>et al.</i> , 2011
NleD	suppresses MAPK signalling, suppresses apoptosis signalling	Baruch et al., 2011; Marchés et al., 2005
NIeE	disrupts NF-kB activity	Nadler <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Newton <i>et al.</i> , 2010
NleH1	suppresses apoptosis signating disrupts NF-kB activity, suppresses apoptosis signalling	Gao et al., 2009: Pham et al., 2012: Hemraiani et al.,
		2010
NleH2	promotes NF-kB activity, promotes MAPK signalling, suppresses apoptosis signalling	Gao et al., 2009; Pham et al., 2012; Hemrajani et al., 2010
TccP	involved in pedestal formation, disrupts TJ activity	Campellone <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Garmendia <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Viswanathan <i>et al.</i> , 2004

**Table 1.2. Function of EHEC-secreted effectors.** Only effectors with known

 functions in EPEC or EHEC are included.



**Figure 1.6. Actin pedestals in EPEC-infected Caco-2 cells.** Taken from Knutton *et al.* (1989).

rich filament and a terminal EspB-EspD pore (Figure 1.5). The translocation pore inserts into the host plasma membrane and bacterial proteins are passed through the translocon into the cytosol. In addition to Tir, the T3SS secretes a barrage of effector proteins, which have a wide range of effects on the host cell (Table 1.2).

# 1.5.1.3 | Pedestal formation

TEM analysis of EPEC- and EHEC-infected IECs reveals a dense actin-rich region beneath the site of bacterial attachment (Knutton *et al.*, 1989; Knutton *et al.*, 1987). This actin-rich region often extends out of the cell by up to 10  $\mu$ m, elevating the bacterium on a pedestal-like structure (Figure 1.6). Using HeLa cells as an *in vitro* model, scientists discovered that actin recruitment was mediated by the action of Tir (Kenny, 1999). Tir indirectly recruits host-derived neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) to the site of adherence, which in turn recruits actinrelated protein-2/3 (Arp2/3) complex to nucleate actin polymerisation (Campellone *et al.*, 2004; Garmendia *et al.*, 2004). EPEC and EHEC Tir recruit N-WASP *via* different signalling pathways. EPEC O127:H6 Tir is phosphorylated and binds to the host adaptor protein, Nck, to mediate activation of N-WASP (Kenny, 1999). In contrast, EHEC O157:H7 Tir stimulates a second secreted bacterial effector protein, Tir-cytoskeleton coupling protein (TccP), also known as EspF<sub>U</sub>, to recruit N-WASP (Campellone *et al.*, 2004; Garmendia *et al.*, 2004). Activation of TccP by EHEC Tir



Figure 1.7. Actin recruitment pathways employed by EPEC and EHEC

also occurs indirectly *via* a host linker protein known as insulin receptor tyrosine kinase substrate (IRTKS) (Vingadassalom *et al.*, 2009; Weiss *et al.*, 2009) (Figure 1.7). TccP is the only EHEC effector protein other than Tir that is essential for actin recruitment. Since these initial studies, it has emerged that most non-O157 EHEC strains are able to utilise both the Nck and TccP pathways to recruit N-WASP and induce actin pedestal formation (Frankel and Phillips, 2008; Ogura *et al.*, 2007). The existence of several mechanisms for actin recruitment in A/E pathogens suggests that strong selective pressure is exerted on expression of this phenotype.

Several effector proteins have been shown to influence pedestal formation. Overexpression of *espH* in EHEC results in dramatic elongation of pedestals during infection of HeLa cells, and deletion of *espH* in EPEC inhibits pedestal formation (Tu *et al.*, 2003). Conversely,  $\Delta espM$  EHEC and  $\Delta map$  EPEC form elongated actin pedestals on HeLa cells (Kenny *et al.*, 2002; Simovitch *et al.*, 2010), suggesting that these two effectors may attenuate pedestal formation. The relevance of effectormediated control of pedestal formation is yet to be elucidated.

Since the discovery of EHEC/EPEC-associated actin pedestals (Knutton *et al.*, 1989), this phenotype has served as the primary marker for A/E lesions. However, data from studies using human small intestinal IVOC has put into question the importance of actin pedestals in A/E lesion formation. In 2004, Garmendia *et al.* reported that, although infection of small intestinal biopsies with EHEC O157:H7  $\Delta tccP$  resulted in

impaired recruitment of N-WASP and  $\alpha$ -actinin (another constituent of actin pedestals), mutants were still capable of forming intimate attachments and inducing microvillous effacement (Garmendia et al., 2004). Furthermore, it has been shown that atypical EPEC serotype O125:H6, which is unable to recruit actin, is able to form A/E lesions that are indistinguishable from those induced by EHEC O157:H7 during small intestinal IVOC (Bai et al., 2008). Moreover, T84 human colonic carcinoma cells infected with EHEC show signs of intimate attachment but not pedestal formation (Ismaili et al., 1995). These studies indicate that actin recruitment is not required for formation of A/E lesions. However, inhibition of Tir phosphorylation (i.e. actin recruitment) in C. rodentium resulted in impaired colonisation and mucosal attachment during infection of mice (Mallick et al., 2014). In addition, TccP/EspF<sub>U</sub> EHEC mutants demonstrated attenuated colonisation and expansion at later stages of infection of rabbits and gnotobiotic piglets (Ritchie et al., 2008). These data suggest that actin pedestal formation, whilst not essential for A/E lesion formation, may stabilise adherence to the intestinal epithelium and promote expansion of bacterial colonisation. Another hypothesis is that actin pedestals serve as a localised signalling hub that coordinates spatial and temporal control of effector protein activity (Lai et al., 2013), since many effectors are known to congregate at this site following translocation (Munera et al., 2012). More studies are warranted in order to fully elucidate the role of actin pedestal formation during EHEC infection.

## 1.5.1.4 | Microvillous effacement

Micovillous effacement on IECs is thought to contribute to diarrhoea by reducing the surface area available for nutrient absorption and thereby increasing the osmolarity of the intestinal lumen (Hodges and Gill, 2010). Despite its important role in A/E pathogenesis, the cause of microvillous effacement has not been elucidated. EPEC-induced microvillous effacement on human small intestinal mucosa appears to be dependent on expression of the T3SS (Shaw *et al.*, 2005), suggesting that one or more effectors are involved. EPEC Tir has been implicated, although conflicting data exists depending on model system used: Tir was found to be essential for microvillous effacement in Caco-2 cells (Dean *et al.*, 2006; Dean *et al.*, 2013) but not during human or porcine IVOC (Girard *et al.*, 2005; Shaw *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore,

whilst EPEC-associated microvillous effacement on Caco-2 cells has been attributed to concerted action of Tir, Map and EspF (Dean *et al.*, 2006), induction of the same phenotype on human small intestinal mucosa was attenuated by deletion of *espF* and *espH* but not not *tir* or *map* (Shaw et al., 2005). To the best of our knowledge, the cause of microvillous effacement by EHEC has yet to be investigated.

## 1.5.1.5 | Disruption of IEC function

In addition to microvillous effacement, EHEC and EPEC employ other strategies to induce diarrhoea such as disruption of epithelial barrier function, ion transport and water transport (Figure 1.8). Induction of diarrhoea is likely to benefit EHEC colonisation by displacement of resident microflora and also facilitates host transmission (Lupp *et al.*, 2007). These interferences with host cell processes are mediated by the action of effector proteins and require a functional T3SS (Gill *et al.*, 2007), and so the ability to induce diarrhoea is inexorably linked to A/E lesion formation. Most of the data on effector function are based on EPEC studies, with relatively little experimental work conducted using EHEC strains. Although all A/E pathogens share a core repertoire of 21 effectors, the number expressed by EHEC is thought to be almost three times that of EPEC (Tobe *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, it is difficult to ascertain how much of the data on EPEC can be applied to EHEC. Moreover, few studies have been verified *ex vivo* or *in vivo* using human intestinal tissue or animal models, respectively.

### **1.5.1.5.1 | Epithelial barrier function**

The intestinal epithelium acts as a physical barrier between the external environment and the internal tissues. The selective permeability of this cell-thick layer is mediated by tight junctions (TJ), intercellular complexes formed by interaction of transmembrane proteins (i.e. occludins, claudins and zonula occludens proteins) with the actin cytoskeleton. TJs serve a dual purpose; they seal the intercellular space and selectively permit migration of lymphocytes and solutes across the epithelium, and they also maintain the spatial segregation of apical and basolateral membrane-bound



Figure 1.8. Mechanisms contributing to diarrhoea during EPEC/EHEC infection.

molecules (Turner, 2009). Thus, TJs play an essential role in host defence against enteric infection. Several studies have reported that EHEC impairs epithelial barrier function, determined by a reduction in transpithelial electrical resistance (TER), during infection of polarised T84 and Caco-2 cells (Li et al., 1999; Philpott et al., 1997; Viswanathan et al., 2004). Interestingly, whilst EPEC-mediated disruption of barrier function has been attributed solely to the action of the effector protein EspF, EHEC employs TccP/EspF<sub>U</sub> as well as EspF to induce this effect in both cell lines (Viswanathan et al., 2004). Barrier function is impaired by EspF- and TccP-mediated redistribution of occludin away from TJs (Viswanathan et al., 2004). EspM, found in EHEC but not EPEC, induced loss of zonula occludens protein 1 (ZO-1) from TJs in HeLa cells but did not influence TER in MDCK canine kidney cells (Simovitch et al., 2010). In EPEC, NIeA and Map contribute to TJ disfunction in T84 and Caco-2 cells by interfering with COPII-dependent cell protein trafficking pathways (Thanabalasuriar et al., 2010). Furthermore, EPEC interferes with the actomyosin ring that controls TJ activity (Yuhan et al., 1997). These additional mechanisms for altering barrier function have yet to be investigated in EHEC.

### 1.5.1.5.2 | Ion transport

Secreted EPEC effectors impair the activity of both chloride and sodium exchangers. This results in a rise in luminal ion concentrations, which hinders water uptake by the epithelium. Sodium ions typically enter IECs via one of two membrane-bound exchangers: Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers (NHEs) or sodium-dependent glucose transporter 1 (SGLT1). Hecht and colleagues (2004) have demonstrated that infection of Caco-2, T84 and HT-29 cells with EPEC results in varying effects on NHE channelling; reporting enhanced activity for NHEs 1 and 2 and reduced activity for NHE3. This reduction in NHE3 activity is mediated by EspF (Hodges et al., 2008). SGLT1 channelling in Caco-2 cells is reduced during EPEC infection via an unknown mechanism that requires expression of Tir, Map, EspF and intimin (Dean et al., 2006). Choride uptake in Caco-2 and T84 cells is also inhibited by EPEC infection via EspG-mediated internalisation of the Cl<sup>-</sup>/OH<sup>-</sup> exchanger, downregulated in adenoma (DRA), into the cytoplasm (Gill et al., 2007). Disruption of anion secretion has been reported in T84 cells during infection with EHEC O157:H7, as assessed by voltage clamp analysis (Li et al., 1999). Aside from this study, EHEC-mediated subversion of ion channel activity has not been investigated.

#### 1.5.1.5.3 | Water transport

Aquaporins (AQPs) are membrane-bound protein channels that transport water across epithelia. At least thirteen AQPs are present in mammals, with AQP1, 3, 4 and 7 known to be expressed in the human colon (Abascal *et al.*, 2014). At present, little is known about regulation of aquaporins during enteric infection. However, infection of mice with *C. rodentium* triggered redistribution of AQP2 and 3 from the plasma membrane to the cytoplasm of colonocytes (Guttman *et al.*, 2007). Surface expression of AQPs was re-established in mice that recovered from infection. This redistribution of AQPs was partially dependent on expression of EspF and EspG, since AQP2 and 3 remained on the surface of colonocytes following infection with  $\Delta espF$  and  $\Delta espG$  mutant strains. It is yet to be established whether EHEC infection affects water transport by aquaporins in humans.

## **1.5.1.6** | Regulation of A/E gene expression

Most of the genes involved in A/E lesion formation are located in the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE). The LEE consists of 41 genes arranged across five transcriptional units (LEE1-5); with LEE1, LEE2 and LEE3 encoding structural components of the T3SS, LEE4 encoding the translocation pore, and LEE5 encoding intimin and Tir (Elliott et al., 1998). Transcriptional regulation of the LEE is orchestrated by three self-encoded core regulators and an array of non-LEE-encoded proteins (Figure 1.9) (reviewed in Connolly et al., 2015; Mellies et al., 2007). The LEE-encoded regulator (Ler) is found on LEE1 and is the master regulator of LEE2-5 transcription. Deletion of *ler* compromises EHEC virulence, demonstrated by reduced effector secretion and actin pedestal formation during infection of HeLa cells (Elliott et al., 2000). Ler activates LEE transcription by antagonising the activities of the global gene repressor, HN-S (Bustamante et al., 2001). Also encoded on the LEE are the global regulators of Ler, GrlA and GrlR, which activate and repress *ler* activity, respectively (Iyoda *et al.*, 2006). Non-LEE encoded regulators of LEE transcription include the Pch proteins (Iyoda and Watanabe, 2004), quorumsensing in E. coli (Qse) signalling proteins (Reading et al., 2007; Sperandio et al., 2002), and GadE, a regulator involved in resistance to acid stress (Kailasan Vanaja et al., 2009). Interestingly, bacteriophage-derived proteins have also been shown to influence LEE expression. Xu and colleagues (2012) have reported that the Stx2 prophage regulator cII, found in most virulent EHEC strains, is capable of inhibiting *ler* activity and expression of *LEE*-encoded effectors, suggesting that Stx2 lysogeny may suppress A/E lesion formation in EHEC. Thus, the mechanisms controlling the A/E phenotype are manifold.

In recent years, it has become increasingly clear that a vast array of external cues influences A/E gene expression in EHEC. Many of these cues have been shown to interact with the regulatory mechanisms described above to promote or repress transcription of A/E genes. These interactions are summarised in Figure 1.9B and discussed in more detail below.





## 1.5.1.6.1 | Acid stress

EHEC are exposed to rapidly increasing and decreasing acidity as they enter and leave the stomach. House and colleagues (2009) have postulated that acid stress triggers virulence gene expression in EHEC O157:H7. The authors reported that exposure to buffered-adaptive acid stress (incubation for a brief period at pH 5.0 followed by pH 3.0 for 30 minutes) significantly enhanced the ability of EHEC to adhere to Caco-2 and HeLa cells. However, this adherence was not intimin-dependent, and microarray analysis revealed variable effects on *LEE*-encoded T3SS genes, suggesting that acid stress did not induce A/E-associated virulence.

Conversely, several other research groups have demonstrated that acid stress negatively regulates A/E lesion gene expression. It has been shown that inactivation of GadE, one of the two main proteins known to mediate acid resistance (AR) in response to acidic conditions, results in up-regulation of many LEE-encoded genes and enhanced adherence to Caco-2 cells (Kailasan Vanaja *et al.*, 2009; Tatsuno *et al.*, 2003). GadE-mediated inhibition of LEE gene expression was dependent on Ler (Kailasan Vanaja *et al.*, 2009), and a later study confirmed that GadE binds to promoter regions on both *LEE1* and *LEE2* (Tree *et al.*, 2011). This data suggests that GadE inversely coordinates AR and LEE gene expression depending on environmental pH levels; acting to inhibit LEE expression in favour of AR during acid stress, and vice versa in times of low acid stress (Kailasan Vanaja *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, a recent study has demonstrated that EHEC activates GadE-mediated repression of *LEE* expression in response to nitric oxide (NO) (Branchu *et al.*, 2014), which is found in gastric juices, further highlighting the important role of GadE in regulation of A/E pathogenesis.

#### 1.5.1.6.2 | Butyrate

During passage through the intestine, EHEC encounters a vast array of molecules produced by the resident microflora and the host. Bacterial metabolites include the short chain fatty acids (SCFA); of which acetate, propionate and butyrate are most abundant in the GI tract (Cummings *et al.*, 1987). SCFAs are utilised by the host to promote normal bowel function; in particular, butyrate is the preferred energy source for colonocytes and is thought to be protective against colitis and colorectal cancer (Hamer *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, Nakanishi and colleagues (2009) have shown that EHEC uses butyrate to stimulate virulence gene expression. EHEC exposure to butyrate at levels comparable to those found in the terminal ileum (1.25 to 40 mM) resulted in enhanced adherence to Caco-2 cells and increased expression of LEE-encoded genes *tir* and *espB*. Induction of these genes by butyrate was dependent on expression of *ler*, as well as the gene encoding PchA. PchA is a known positive regulator of *ler* expression (Iyoda and Watanabe, 2004) and shares sequence homology to the Per regulators of LEE transcription found in EPEC (Porter *et al.*, 2004). In addition, the protein responsible for sensing butyrate in EHEC has been

identified as the global regulator, leucine-responsive regulatory protein (Lrp) (Nakanishi *et al.*, 2009). As no recognition site for Lrp could be identified in or around the *pchA* gene sequence, the authors concluded that Lrp must induce *LEE* expression *via* indirect regulation of *pchA*. Butyrate has also been shown to induce EHEC production of flagella (Tobe *et al.*, 2011).

### 1.5.1.6.3 | Quorum-sensing signalling molecules

The idea that quorum-sensing (QS) plays a role in A/E virulence gene regulation was first proposed by Sperandio and colleagues, who found that exposure of EHEC to preconditioned medium containing EHEC secreted products resulted in induction of ler and other LEE-encoded genes. (Sperandio et al., 2002; Sperandio et al., 1999). This effect was mediated by the action of a novel regulatory protein, which the authors named quorum-sensing E. coli regulator A (QseA). This discovery stimulated a wave of research into QS-mediated control of EHEC virulence, and several additional regulatory cascades have been discovered. A two-component system, involving the sensory kinase QseE and the response regulator QseF, induces expression of the non-LEE-encoded gene *tccP* (Reading *et al.*, 2007); whilst a second two component system, involving QseC and QseB, triggers expression of genes encoding Ler, flagellin, and other motility factors (Clarke and Sperandio, 2005; Hughes et al., 2009). These two regulatory systems appear to be linked, since stimulation of QseC results in activation of QseE (Reading et al., 2007). Furthermore, both systems are triggered upon detection of the host hormones adrenaline and noradrenaline, and the QseCB pathway is also responsive to the bacterial signalling molecule, autoinducer-3 (AI-3) (Clarke et al., 2006; Reading et al., 2007). AI-3 is abundant in the intestines, as it is secreted by the resident microflora (Sperandio et al., 2003; Walters et al., 2006). Both adrenaline and noradrenaline are also found in the GI tract, where they modulate smooth muscle contraction, submucosal blood flow, and ion secretion (Furness, 2000; Horger et al., 1998). Based on these data, it appears that EHEC uses host hormones and/or secreted bacterial signalling molecules as a spatial cue to stimulate expression of the LEE, *tccP* and flagella genes upon entry into the intestine. At present, the external cue(s) responsible for QseA-mediated regulation of the LEE have not been resolved.

Recently, ethanolamine (EA) has been highlighted as another stimulus for A/E gene regulation *via* the QS pathways. EA, the breakdown product of phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), is an essential constituent of all cell membranes and is abundant in the intestinal lumen due to the constant shedding of IECs (Cotton, 1972). EHEC possesses an operon (the *eut* operon) that allows it to utilise EA as a nitrogen source, which gives it a competitive advantage over other bacterial species (Bertin *et al.*, 2011). In a study by Kendall *et al.* (2012), EHEC exposure to EA triggered expression of *ler*, *eae*, and *espA*; as well as enhanced actin pedestal formation on HeLa cells. EA exposure was also associated with higher transcript levels of *qseA*, *qseE* and *qseC*, suggesting that EA induces the A/E phenotype *via* QS. Deletion of the *eutB* gene did not affect EA-mediated induction of *ler* expression is not the indirect result of EA metabolism.

### 1.5.1.6.4 | Fucose

Fucose is one of the preferred carbon sources for *E. coli* in the human gut (Fabich *et al.*, 2008). It is made abundantly available in the intestinal mucus by the commensal bacterium *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron*, due to its ability to cleave fucose from mucin glycoproteins (Fischbach and Sonnenburg, 2011). In a recent study, Pacheco *et al.* (2012) reported that EHEC exposure to fucose at levels found in the mucus layer resulted in direct suppression of *ler* transcription *via* the action of a novel two-component signalling system, termed FusKR. In the same study, FusKR activity was inhibited by the aforementioned QseBC and QseEF regulatory pathways, thereby demonstrating another mechanism for QS-mediated induction of A/E genes. Based on this data, the authors proposed a model whereby EHEC uses fucose as a cue to suppress A/E gene expression whilst in the mucus *via* FusKR; once at the intestinal epithelium, exposure to reduced fucose levels and/or induction of Qse signalling results in the lifting of FusKR-mediated repression of *LEE* transcription, allowing expression of A/E genes to ensue.

### 1.5.1.6.5 | Biotin

Biotin is an essential nutrient for maintaining cellular function in all living organisms. Bacteria are able to obtain biotin either from the environment or by synthesising it themselves, whereas humans lack the biotin synthesis machinery and must therefore rely on intestinal absorption (Said, 2009). The extent of biotin absorption in the small intestine leads to relatively low levels of biotin present in the colon (Yang et al., 2015). In a recent study by Yang and colleagues (2015), the role of biotin in EHEC virulence gene expression was examined. The study showed that exposure of EHEC to high levels of biotin abrogated adherence to HeLa and Caco-2 cells, colonisation of mice, and expression of ler, eae, tir, and genes encoding T3S apparatus proteins. This effect was dependent on bacterial expression of *birA*, a regulatory protein that represses biotin synthesis when the nutrient is abundant in the environment. BirA was found to negatively regulate the global regulator protein, Fur, which in turn was shown to stimulate LEE gene expression. The authors proposed a model whereby EHEC exposure to reduced biotin levels in the colon leads to a reduction in BirA-mediated repression of Fur, enabling Fur to stimulate expression of LEE genes encoding A/E lesion formation. Interestingly, A/E gene expression in EPEC was unaffected by biotin, and it was suggested by the authors that this may account for the difference in tissue tropism exhibited between EPEC and EHEC (Yang et al., 2015). No evidence for Fur binding to promoter regions on the LEE, nor to those on regulatory genes such as GrlA/R or QseA, was observed; indicating that Fur likely induces *LEE* expression indirectly *via* an unidentified regulator.

## 1.5.1.6.6 | Oxygen

Upon entry into the GI tract, EHEC is exposed to rapidly decreasing oxygen concentrations. Non-invasive imaging of oxygen in mice suggests that colonic oxygen concentrations are around 1.4% of atmospheric pressure, which is considered microaerobic (MA) (He *et al.*, 1999). To investigate the effect of microaerobiosis on EHEC expression of A/E lesion genes, Schüller and Philips (2010) developed a vertical diffusion chamber (VDC) system to perform infections under MA conditions. The authors found that EHEC displayed enhanced adherence to polarised T84 cells and production of Tir, EspA and EspB in MA conditions compared with

51

aerobic (AE) conditions. Increased Tir translocation into the host membrane, a marker for intimate attachment and A/E lesion formation, was also observed during MA infection of Caco-2 cells. Adherence of an *espA* mutant was not affected by microaerobiosis, suggesting that oxygen regulates expression of *LEE*-encoded genes. Girard and colleagues (2007) also reported a positive effect of reduced oxygen levels on EHEC adherence during bovine intestinal IVOC. Put together, it appears that the reduction in environmental oxygen concentration experienced upon entry into the intestine triggers expression of the A/E phenotype by EHEC. To date, the mechanisms underlying this effect are yet to be explored.

### 1.5.1.6.7 | Contact with IECs

During their study of oxygen-mediated effects on the A/E lesion phenotype, Schüller and Phillips (2010) noted that EHEC expression of the T3S proteins Tir, EspA and EspB was induced only in the presence of an IEC monolayer. Moreover, incubation with preconditioned T84 cell medium was not sufficient to induce T3SS activity, suggesting that physical contact with host IECs was required. In agreement with these findings, Roe et al. (2004) have shown that centrifugation of EHEC bacteria onto embryonic bovine lung (EBL) epithelial cells is sufficient to induce bacterial expression of Tir in an environment where T3SS expression is usually repressed (i.e. during incubation in M9 medium). The impact of host cell contact on A/E virulence gene expression has recently been studied in detail by Alsharif and colleagues (2015), who reported that EHEC exhibited higher levels of LEE1 promoter activity when adhered to HeLa cells compared with glass slides. Induction of *LEE1* expression and actin pedestal formation was dependent on GrlA, and was not affected by inhibition of host cell signalling. In addition, the authors demonstrated that exposure of EHEC to fluid shear, at levels comparable to those found at the exposed brush border (up to 5 dynes/cm<sup>3</sup>), further induced *LEE1* activation. These data suggest that EHEC are able to sense physical contact with IECs and mechanical fluctuations associated with peristalsis as a cue for enhancing expression of genes responsible for A/E lesion formation. At present, it is not known how GrlA is activated in response to these cues, although it has been established that GrlR is not involved.

It is clear from the available data that regulation of A/E lesion formation in EHEC is a complex process that involves sensing of a variety of environmental cues using several regulatory pathways. The challenge remains to unravel how these pathways interact to coordinate spatial and temporal expression of the A/E lesion phenotype as EHEC travels through the GI tract.

## **1.5.1.7** | Clinical relevance of A/E lesion formation

Although A/E lesion formation has been well-characterised using human carcinoma cell lines such as HeLa, very few studies have examined EHEC pathogenesis on human intestinal tissue. In 2000, Phillips et al. employed the IVOC model to investigate A/E lesion formation by EHEC strain 85-170 and EPEC strain E2348/69 at various human intestinal sites (Phillips et al., 2000). The authors reported that, whilst EPEC triggered A/E lesion formation on biopsies from the proximal and distal small intestine, EHEC-induced A/E lesions were restricted to the follicularassociated epithelium (FAE) of Peyer's patches in small intestinal biopsies. No EHEC adherence to colonic biopsies was observed, which is striking as EHECinduced intestinal damage is localised to the transverse colon (Griffin et al., 1990; Kelly et al., 1987; Malyukova et al., 2009; Shigeno et al., 2002). To address this discrepancy, the same research group extended the scope of their initial study by performing IVOC on biopsies from a wider range of colonic sites (caecum to rectum) and using several different EHEC strains. However, A/E lesions were observed in only 4 out of 113 colonic IVOCs (Chong et al., 2007). To determine whether adherence to FAE was required to prime EHEC for colonic colonisation, a two-step IVOC experiment was performed in which FAE-containing terminal ileal biopsies were infected with EHEC and then co-cultured with colonic biopsies. Results showed that priming of EHEC on FAE enhanced colonic colonisation. However, bacteria bound to colonic biopsies exhibited a non-intimate adherence phenotype inconsistent with A/E lesions (Chong et al., 2007). Put together, these data indicate that EHEC do not form A/E lesions on human colonic epithelium ex vivo, and therefore cast doubt on their role in colonic pathogenesis in vivo.

Several limitations to the aforementioned studies exist, which may have affected the ability of EHEC to form A/E lesions on colonic biopsies. Firstly, all of the EHEC

strains tested were Stx-negative, which may be relevant as Stx has been shown to enhance EHEC adherence to HeLa cells and colonisation of mice (Robinson *et al.*, 2006; section 1.5.2.3). Secondly, these IVOC experiments were performed under 95% oxygen in order to maintain oxygenation of the explanted intestinal tissue, which may have inhibited expression of A/E genes (section 1.5.1.6.6). Thirdly, only biopsies derived from paediatric donors have been used for IVOC, and so it is currently undetermined whether EHEC colonise intestinal biopsies isolated from adults. To date, the effect of age on EHEC adherence has not been studied.

*In vivo* animal studies have shown that EHEC forms colonic A/E lesions following infection of gnotobiotic piglets, infant rabbits and neonatal calves (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1997; Francis *et al.*, 1986; Pai *et al.*, 1986; Tzipori *et al.*, 1986). These studies were performed using young animals, which lack an intestinal microbiota, in order to avoid the effects of colonisation resistance. In contrast, clinical examination of human intestinal samples from EHEC-infected patients has not yielded evidence of adherent bacteria (Kelly *et al.*, 1987; Malyukova *et al.*, 2009), although it should be noted that samples are generally taken at a progressed stage of disease when colonisation may have diminished or be obscured. More *ex vivo* human tissue studies are needed in order to clarify whether A/E lesions have clinical relevance to human disease during EHEC infection.

## 1.5.2 | Shiga toxin production

Shiga toxin (Stx) production distinguishes EHEC from all other A/E pathogens. Stxs are a family of exotoxins whose name derives from the first bacterial species found to produce the toxin, *Shigella dysenteriae* type I (Olitsky and Kligler, 1920). Whilst Stx from *Shigella* is considered the prototype, EHEC produce two antigenically and structurally distinct toxins termed Stx1 and Stx2 (Bergan *et al.*, 2012). Stx1 exhibits 99% sequence homology to Stx produced by *S. dysenteriae*, whereas Stx2 shares approximately 56% homology (Jackson *et al.*, 1987a; Jackson *et al.*, 1987b; Strockbine *et al.*, 1986). Several Stx1 and Stx2 subtypes exist (see Table 1.3), and EHEC are capable of harbouring one or several of these subtypes. Stx2 is more closely associated with disease in humans compared with Stx1 (Boerlin *et al.*, 1999; Werber *et al.*, 2003). Whilst the characteristics of each individual subtype are yet to

Subtype	Source	A subunit homology	B subunit homology	Reference(s)
Stx	S. dysenteriae Type 1	prototype	prototype	Strockbine et al., 1988
Stx1(a)	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	99%	100%	Calderwood <i>et al.</i> , 1987; Jackson <i>et al.</i> , 1987b
Stx1c	<i>E. coli</i> O128:H2	97%	97%	Zhang et al., 2002
Stx1d	E. coli ONT:H19	94%	92%	Bürk et al., 2003
Stx2(a)	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	prototype	prototype	Jackson et al., 1987a
Stx2b	E. coli O118:H12	94%	89%	Piérard et al., 1998
Stx2c	<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	100%	97%	Schmitt et al., 1991
Stx2d	E. coli O91:H21	99%	97%	Teel et al., 2002
Stx2e	<i>E. coli</i> O139	94%	87%	Gyles et al., 1988; Weinstein et al., 1988
Stx2f	<i>E. coli</i> O128:H2	71%	83%	Schmidt et al., 2000
Stx2g	<i>E. coli</i> O2:H25	96%	94%	Leung et al., 2003

Table 1.3. List of Stx subtypes. Adapted from Bergan et al. (2012)

be elucidated in detail, all Stx2 subtypes have been found in human EHEC isolates except for Stx2g, which was derived from a cattle isolate (Bergan *et al.*, 2012; Leung *et al.*, 2003). Stx2a- and Stx2c-producing strains are most often associated with HUS compared with strains producing other Stx subtypes (Karch *et al.*, 2006; Orth *et al.*, 2007). Stx2e has been linked to oedema disease in pigs (Weinstein *et al.*, 1988). Interestingly, Stx2d cytotoxicity is enhanced by exposure to human and mouse intestinal mucus (Melton-Celsa *et al.*, 1996) suggesting that Stx activity may be modulated by external cues.

Stx is a holotoxin with an AB<sub>5</sub> molecular structure. The 32-kDa A subunit is located in the centre of a doughnut-shaped ring of five identical 7.7-kDa B subunits (Fraser *et al.*, 1994). The A subunit is responsible for the toxin's enzymatic activity, whilst the B subunits mediate binding to the host cell surface glycolipid, globotriaosylceramide (Gb3; also known as CD77) (Lindberg *et al.*, 1987). Stx binding to Gb3 triggers internalisation of the toxin, retrograde transport through the cell, and inhibition of protein synthesis and apoptosis (Figure 1.10). Gb3 is highly expressed in the microvasculature of the colon and the kidney, and it is thought that



**Figure 1.10. Intracellular Stx transport within Gb3-positive cells. (1)** The B subunits (blue) of Stx bind to host cell receptor Gb3; (2) the B subunits trigger membrane invagination leading to internalisation of the toxin into an early endosome; (3) Stx is transferred from the endosome to the Golgi apparatus, where it begins its migration to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) *via* the retrograde transport pathway; (4) once in the ER, the A subunit (red) dissociates from the B subunits and is targeted for ER-associated degradation (ERAD); (5) the ERAD pathway releases the A subunit into the cytosol, at which point the subunit refolds, thus preventing proteasomal degradation. This is followed by ribosomal binding and cleavage of a single adenine residue of the 28S rRNA by N-glycosidase activity. Disruption of protein synthesis leads to activation of a ribotoxic response and subsequent apoptosis (Johannes and Romer, 2010; Pacheco and Sperandio, 2012).

Stx-mediated cytotoxic action at these sites is responsible for the onset of HC and HUS, respectively (Tarr *et al.*, 2005). Stx2 exhibits 400 times greater renal toxicity in mice compared with Stx1 (Tesh *et al.*, 1993), which may explain the closer association of Stx2-producing strains with HUS.

## 1.5.2.1 | Regulation of Stx expression and release

Stx is encoded within the late genes of lambdoid prophages integrated into the EHEC chromosome (Johansen et al., 2001). Expression of stx is controlled by phageencoded promoters: the  $p_{stx}$  promoter induces expression of stx genes only, whereas  $P_R$  and  $P_R$ ' control expression of all phage genes including stx and the genes involved in bacterial cell lysis (Figure 1.11). Induction of *stx1* expression is mainly mediated by  $p_{stx}$ , which is subject to negative regulation by the global regulator protein Fur (Calderwood and Mekalanos, 1987). In contrast, stx2 expression is regulated by  $P_R$ and  $P_R$  without the involvement of  $p_{stx}$  (Wagner *et al.*, 2001b).  $P_R$  and  $P_R$  expression are repressed in homeostatic conditions by the regulatory protein cI, which binds to an 'operator site'  $(O_R)$  upstream of the promoters (Waldor and Friedman, 2005). Removal of *c*I-mediated repression results in activation of  $P_R$  and  $P_R$ ', which in turn induce expression of stx2 (Tyler et al., 2004). This process also leads to expression of genes involved in the phage lytic cycle, meaning that induction of stx2 is inexorably linked to bacterial cell lysis (Neely and Friedman, 1998; Wagner et al., 2001b). This differential regulation of *stx1* and *stx2* expression results in different cellular localisation: whereas Stx1 remains predominantly intracellular within the periplasmic space, Stx2 is mainly found extracellularly in bacterial supernatants (Shimizu et al., 2009; Strockbine et al., 1986). However, both Stx1 and Stx2 have been identified within outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) secreted by EHEC (Kolling and Matthews, 1999), indicating an alternative pathway of toxin release to cell lysis. Once released into the intestinal lumen, Stx traverses the epithelium by one or more putative mechanisms (reviewed in Schüller, 2011) and interacts with Gb3-positive cells in the colon and kidney, leading to systemic disease.

Bacterial expression of stx1 and stx2 is induced a by a number of external cues, which are discussed below.

## 1.5.2.1.1 | Iron

Iron is an essential nutrient for all living organisms, and enteric pathogens must acquire iron from the external GI environment in order to survive (Skaar, 2010). In 1982, O'Brien and colleagues reported that incubation of certain *E. coli* strains in iron-depleted broth resulted in production of a toxin that could be neutralised with



**Figure 1.11. Regulation of Stx expression.** (**A**) Repression of Stx phage during lysogeny (**B**) Induction of *stx1* expression (based on Wagner *et al.*, 2002) (**C**) Induction of *stx2* expression (based on Pacheco and Sperandio *et al.*, 2012). Phage encoded and native regulators are shown in red and grey, respectively. Pointed and blunt arrows denote positive and negative regulation, respectively.

antibodies raised against the *Shigella dysenteriae* type I toxin (O'Brien *et al.*, 1982). Following the subsequent discovery of the EHEC pathotype, it was demonstrated that low iron concentrations induces expression of *stx1* in EHEC by releasing Furmediated repression of  $p_{stx}$  (Calderwood and Mekalanos, 1987). As Stx-mediated damage to the colonic microvasculature is thought to cause HC, it is possible that EHEC produces Stx1 under low iron conditions as a means of triggering the migration of iron-rich blood into the lumen. However, this strategy would require a mechanism for Stx1 release from the bacteria, which is yet to be presented. Iron does not appear to play a role in regulation of Stx2 expression (Sung *et al.*, 1990).

### 1.5.2.1.2 | DNA damage

In the years following the discovery of EHEC, several research groups noted that EHEC production of Stx2 was enhanced by DNA-damaging agents such as UV radiation, mitomycin C and antibiotics (Acheson and Donohue-Rolfe, 1989; Al-Jumaili *et al.*, 1992; Muhldorfer *et al.*, 1996). Mühldorfer and colleagues (1996) demonstrated that mitomycin C-mediated induction of *stx2* expression was dependent on RecA, a protein involved in the SOS response. The SOS response is a conserved bacterial mechanism for coping with conditions that cause DNA damage, and mediates DNA repair, inhibition of cell division and induction of prophages (Little and Mount, 1982). Upon induction of *stx2* and the rest of the phage genome (Koudelka *et al.*, 2004). This association between the SOS response and *stx2* expression is thought to explain why treatment of EHEC infections with certain antibiotics increases the risk of developing HUS (Pacheco and Sperandio, 2012).

## 1.5.2.1.3 | QS signalling ligands

In addition to its effect on LEE and flagellar gene expression (section 1.5.1.6.3), adrenergic QS signalling has been shown to regulate *stx2* expression. In 2001, Sperandio and colleagues reported that inhibition of QS pathways in EHEC results in reduced expression of *stx2*, as well as *recA* and other SOS response regulators (Sperandio *et al.*, 2001). Hughes *et al.* (2009) later confirmed the role for QS in *stx2* regulation by showing that exposure to adrenaline or AI-3 results in expression of *stx2* in wild-type but not  $\Delta qseC$  EHEC. The authors also found that QseC-mediated induction of *stx2* expression occurs *via* QseF. In addition, EA triggers expression of *stx2*, together with *qseC*, *qseF* and *qseA* (Kendall *et al.*, 2012). Put together, these studies indicate that EHEC detection of adrenaline, AI-3 and EA by QS results in induction of SOS response proteins, which in turn trigger production of Stx2. It is currently unclear whether detection of these external stimuli leads to induction of other SOS response-associated effects.

#### 1.5.2.1.4 | Hydrogen peroxide and NO

Neutrophils produce DNA damaging agents such as hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and NO (Carreras *et al.*, 1996), and so investigators have examined the role of these molecules in Stx regulation. Wagner and colleagues (2001a) showed that incubation of EHEC with human neutrophils or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> resulted in enhanced *stx2* expression. This effect has since been corroborated by Los *et al.* (2010), who suggested that oxidative stress conditions in the GI tract may contribute to Stx production by EHEC. In contrast, NO has been shown to inhibit *stx2* expression in EHEC exposed to mitomycin C. This effect was associated with a reduction in *recA* expression, indicating that NO negatively affects *stx2* expression by repressing the SOS response (Vareille *et al.*, 2007). Put together, this data suggests that neutrophils can modulate *stx2* expression during EHEC infection by secretion of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or NO, respectively. However, a role for neutrophils or secreted factors on Stx production during *in vivo* infection has not been demonstrated.

### 1.5.2.1.5 | Regulation of Stx expression levels

A seminal paper by Wagner *et al.* has shed light on possible mechanisms by which the Stx-encoding bacteriophage itself may influence the level of Stx expressed in the bacterial host (Wagner et al., 2002). By constructing lysogens containing mutant H-19B prophages (a Stx1-encoding prophage isolated from O26:H11 strain H19), the authors demonstrated several key findings. One of these was that mutation of the Pgene, which is essential for prophage replication, resulted in a significant reduction in Stx1 production following mitomycin C-mediated induction. This indicated that prophage replication is a major contributor to phage-regulated Stx1 production, likely by increasing the copy number of stx1 and therefore the amount expressed following induction. This was corroborated by the observation that prophage induction by mitomycin C results in increased detection of *stx1A* by Southern hybridisation in wt but not  $\Delta P$  H19. More recently, a study by Fogg *et al.* confirmed a cumulative effect of prophage burden on Stx production in EHEC by comparing stx transcription and translation in E. coli K12 single and double isogenic lysogens of Stx phage  $\varphi 24_B$  (Fogg *et al.*, 2012). Not only did the double lysogen express higher levels of toxin compared with the single lysogen, but they were also more sensitive

to induction by the antibiotic norfloxacin. These data indicate that prophage/*stx* copy number is likely to influence both the degree of induction and the level of Stx produced by induced bacteria.

A second key finding from the study by Wagner and colleagues was that deletion of the *S* gene involved in phage-mediated lysis resulted in prolonged accumulation of Stx1 relative to wt cells, indicating that the timing of cell lysis (and therefore Stx release) is also likely to influence the quantity of Stx produced (Wagner *et al.*, 2002). In many lambdoid phages, the *S* gene can be translated in one of two methionine start sites, yielding either a short product that induces lysis or a longer product that inhibits lysis (Neely and Friedman, 1998). It is thought that the relative concentration of these two products dictates the time of bacterial lysis, which would in turn affect the amount of Stx produced before lysis. However, genetic analysis of the *S* gene located on the H19B prophage did not reveal the same conserved dual translational start site found in the *S* gene of other start sites (Neely and Friedman, 1998), and it remains to be determined whether this prophage possesses another mechanism for *S*-mediated control of cell lysis.

Further investigation into how prophage-mediated control of *stx* expression and cell lysis may influence Stx expression levels is of great interest in that it may yield knowledge of prophage-specific molecular interactions that can be exploited for therapeutic inhibition of Stx expression. In this regard, it would prove particularly useful to shed light on how this phenomenon is influenced by external stimulatory or inhibitory factors.

# 1.5.2.2 | Stx interaction with the human intestinal epithelium

Most functional Stx research has focussed on its effect on Gb3-expressing cells, as Stx-mediated damage to these cells is linked to development of HC and HUS (Johannes and Römer, 2010). However, Gb3-negative IECs represent the first point of contact between Stx and the host, and so may play an equally important role in EHEC pathogenesis.

#### 1.5.2.2.1 | Internalisation of Stx into IECs

Analysis of human intestinal tissue has revealed that IECs do not express Gb3 on their surface (Björk *et al.*, 1987; Holgersson *et al.*, 1991; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006; Schüller *et al.*, 2004). This lies in contrast to most commonly-used colonic carcinoma cell lines (e.g. Caco-2, HT-29), which express Gb3 and are susceptible to Stx cytotoxicity (Jacewicz *et al.*, 1995; Schüller *et al.*, 2004). On the other hand, T84 colonic carcinoma cells do not express Gb3 (Jacewicz *et al.*, 1995; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006; Schüller *et al.*, 2004), which makes them the most physiologically accurate *in vitro* model with which to study Stx interactions with the human intestinal epithelium.

Interestingly, it has been reported that incubation of T84 cells with Stx results in internalisation of the toxin, despite the absence of the Gb3 receptor (Philpott et al., 1997; Schüller et al., 2004). Intracellular Stx was visualised in association with the Golgi apparatus and the ER, suggesting intracellular toxin trafficking via retrograde transport (Philpott et al., 1997) similar to that described in Gb3-positive cells (Figure 1.10; Johannes and Römer, 2010). However, T84 cells do not show reduced protein synthesis or apoptosis following Stx internalisation, indicating that ERAD retrotranslocation of the toxin from the ER to the cytosol is likely disrupted (Schüller et al., 2004). Importantly, addition of Stx to the apical side of polarised T84 cell monolayers results in translocation to the basolateral compartment without affecting epithelial barrier function (Maluykova et al., 2008; Philpott et al., 1997; Tran et al., 2014). Further characterisation of Stx internalisation in these cells has implicated a role for a clathrin-independent endocytosis pathway resembling macropinocytosis (MPC), a non-receptor-mediated method of taking up extracellular solute macromolecules within large actin-coated vesicles (Malyukova et al., 2009). Toxin uptake was significantly reduced by known inhibitors of MPC during incubation of T84 cells with purified Stx and Stx-negative EHEC, and the bacterial serine protease EspP was found to be sufficient to stimulate toxin internalisation *via* this route (Malyukova et al., 2009; In et al., 2013). However, a recent study of Stx translocation using a wild-type EHEC infection model reported no effect of MPC inhibition on toxin transport through T84 cells (Tran et al., 2014), thereby casting uncertainty about the physiological relevance of this transport route. Nevertheless, it is clear that Gb3-independent Stx translocation through IECs is a reproducible

phenomenon *in vitro*, which may explain how Stx traverses the epithelium and causes systemic pathology during infection (Schüller, 2011).

### 1.5.2.2.2 | Stx and EHEC adherence

A role for Stx in EHEC adherence to epithelial cells has been postulated by Robinson and colleagues (2006), who showed that infection of HeLa cells with Stx-negative EHEC strain TUV 89-2 resulted in reduced adherence compared with the Stxproducing 86-24 wild-type strain. In the same study, TUV 89-2 colonisation of mice was also significantly lower than that of 86-24. The authors hypothesised that host cell exposure to Stx induced surface expression of the putative intimin receptor nucleolin, which in turn promoted bacterial adherence. This theory was supported by data showing that incubation of HeLa cells with Stx resulted in increased surface expression of nucleolin (Robinson *et al.*, 2006). Stx-enhanced EHEC adherence has also been demonstrated in HT-29 cells (Xicohtencatl-Cortes *et al.*, 2007). However, infection of infant rabbits with an  $\Delta stx2$  mutant of EHEC 905 resulted in similar levels of intestinal colonisation to the wild type, suggesting that Stx2 does not influence EHEC adherence to the intestinal epithelium in this model (Ritchie *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, the role of Stx in EHEC adherence remains controversial.

### 1.5.2.2.3 | Stx and the innate immune response

Many studies have examined the role of Stx in regulation of the innate immune response by IECs, with data supporting both stimulatory and inhibitory effects. This data is discussed in more detail in section 1.6.1.2.

## 1.5.2.3 | Role of Stx outside the human host

Despite a wealth of research into the role of Stx during EHEC infection of humans, there is very little evidence from these studies to suggest where the evolutionary advantage for Stx prophage carriage actually lies. EHEC infection of humans is a relatively rare occurrence compared to infection of cattle. Indeed, it is generally accepted that ruminants represent the primary hosts for EHEC and that infection of humans is an incidental occurrence (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1998a; Hancock *et al.*,

1998). Therefore, the role of Stx prophage carriage in EHEC survival is most likely related to life within the ruminant host or in the external environment. Interestingly, EHEC infection of cattle is generally asymptomatic and does not result in the Stx-associated pathology (i.e. HC, HUS) that arises during human infection (reviewed in Smith *et al.*, 2002), despite the fact that Stx is present in cow pats at detectable levels (Ball *et al.*, 1994; Hyatt *et al.*, 2001) and that Stx expression in EHEC O157:H7 has been linked with increased faecal shedding in cattle (Hoffman *et al.*, 2006). This suggests that Stx interacts differently with cattle compared with humans, perhaps in a way that confers a selective advantage to the host bacterium.

One hypothesis for the selective advantage of the Stx prophage is that it facilitates EHEC transmission, colonisation and/or survival within the ruminant host. As previously mentioned in section 1.5.2.2.2, Stx has been shown to promote colonisation of mice and adherence to immortalised epithelial cells (Robinson et al., 2006), and so it is possible that Stx may also facilitate colonisation of the lower intestinal epithelium in ruminants. In addition, Stx has been shown to modulate various aspects of the bovine immune system. Menge et al. reported that purified Stx1 induced apoptosis in stimulated immortalised bovine B cells and hindered activation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells isolated from bovine blood (Menge et al., 1999). In a later study, the same group demonstrated that ileal intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) were also affected by Stx: exposure to purified Stx1 resulted in significant loss of the Gb3<sup>+</sup> subset of IELs and reduced mitogen-mediated activation in the remaining cells (Menge et al., 2004). Ileal IELs have also been shown to exhibit elevated expression of interleukin 4 (IL-4) in the presence of Stx1 (Moussay et al., 2006), and primary bovine mucosal macrophages show reduced surface expression of CD14 and CD172a and elevated expression of a range of cytokines (Menge et al., 2015). All of these cell types have been shown to express Gb3 on their surface and bind Stx1 (Stamm et al., 2002; Menge et al., 2004; 2015). Put together, these findings suggest that Stx1 impairs the initiation of the adaptive and/or inflammatory response in cattle by targeting a range of immune cells including lymphocytes and macrophages. This likely benefits EHEC by preventing immunemediate killing, and therefore may represent the selective force behind EHEC retention of the Stx prophage.

Aside from the advantages conferred by direct interactions with the ruminant host, it has been suggested that the Stx prophage may confer protection against predation by other inhabitants of the GI tract. For example, the rumen is populated by a range of protozoan species that graze on bacteria, including those from the genera Eudiplodinium, Metadinium, Polyplastron, Isotrichia, Entodinium and Diplodinium (Rasmussen et al., 2005). Interestingly, Steinberg and Levin reported that lysogeny of E. coli K12 with a Stx2-producing prophage resulted in augmented survival within the food vacuoles of the ciliated protozoan, Tetrahymena pyriformis (Steinberg and Levin, 2007). In addition, intracellular survival of EHEC O157:H7 harbouring stx1 and stx2 was higher compared with K12, but O157:H7 strains containing stx1 alone or no stx genes showed no observable fitness advantage over K12 following ingestion by the ciliate. Lysogeny of K12 with a Stx2 prophage encoding a nonfunctional stx2 gene resulted in enhanced survival compared with K12 but to a lesser extent than that observed with the lysogen containing functional *stx2*. Further to this study, Stoffa and Koudelka showed that Stx2 produced by EHEC EDL933 whilst encapsulated within Tetrahymena thermophila phagocytic vesicles resulted in killing of the protozoan cell by inhibition of protein synthesis (similar to its effect on mammalian cells), but only when the toxin was released via prophage-mediated lysis of the bacterium and not as a result of bacterial digestion by the host (2012). This suggests a possible explanation as to why *stx* is almost exclusively retained within a lytic prophage in EHEC, since phage-mediated lysis appears to be essential for toxinmediated attack on bacteriophagic protozoa (Stoffa and Kouldelka, 2012).

This data suggests that possession of Stx-producing prophages confers protection against bacteriophagic protozoa, which could lead to increased success within the ruminant host (Steinberg and Levin, 2007). Furthermore, residing within protozoa could also result in sheltering from other hazards associated with the GI tract (e.g. predation, microbial toxins, host immune response) or the external environment (e.g. desiccation, predation, biocides) (Brandl, 2006). Thus, it seems that the selective advantage of harbouring the Stx prophage may be driven by its ability to enhance survival in environments other than the human host.

# **1.6** | Interaction with the innate immune system

Enteric innate immune defences play a pivotal role in protecting humans from microbial infection, and many of these defences are orchestrated by the intestinal epithelium (Figure 1.12A). Specialised goblet cells secrete heavily-glycosylated proteins, called mucins, into the lumen, which form a dense layer of gel-like mucus that lines the epithelium (Linden *et al.*, 2008). The mucus layer serves the dual purpose of providing a niche for the commensal microflora and forming a physical barrier between luminal microbes and the intestinal epithelium (Birchenough *et al.*, 2015; Juge, 2012). Intestinal epithelial enterocytes secrete a range of microbicidal molecules, called antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), into the lumen. Some of these AMPs (e.g. human  $\beta$ -defensin (hBD)-1) are constitutively produced and retained in the mucus layer, forming a biochemical barrier (Dommett *et al.*, 2005; Mukherjee and Hooper, 2015). These preventative measures represent the front line of defence against infection by pathogenic microbes.

The intestinal epithelium is also capable of mounting further innate immune defence mechanisms in the event of microbial attack (Figure 1.12B). IECs express pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs), which recognise microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) associated with bacterial cell walls or membranes (e.g. lipopolysaccharide (LPS), peptidoglycan, flagella or nucleic acids). Stimulation of PRRs by MAMPs triggers a cascade of pro-inflammatory signal transduction pathways. These include the nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways, which lead to activation of the transcription factors activator protein-1 (AP-1) and NF- $\kappa$ B, respectively (Li and Verma, 2002; Morrison, 2012). These transcription factors stimulate expression of a range of genes such as those encoding cytokines (e.g. interleukin (IL)-8, interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ ) and inducible AMPs (e.g. hBD2, LL-37). AMP production results in direct microbial killing via cell lysis, whilst secretion of cytokines leads to recruitment of specialised innate immune cells (e.g. dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils, macrophages) that phagocytose microbes and secrete DNA-damaging agents (e.g. NO, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). These immune cells migrate across the epithelium through TJs and attack invading microbes in the



**Figure 1.12. Innate immune defence in the colon.** (**A**) Mechanisms employed during homeostasis. IECs secrete mucins and AMPs to form a dense sterile inner mucus layer and a loose microbiota-rich outer layer. (**B**) Mechanisms employed during microbial attack. Detection of MAMPs by PRRs induces an inflammatory response characterised by production of inducible AMPs and recruitment of lymphocytes.

lumen. These defence measures are collectively termed the inflammatory response (Bergstrom *et al.*, 2012; Brown *et al.*, 2013).

In addition to inducing inflammation, infected IECs are capable of undergoing cell death *via* apoptosis as a mechanism of killing and/or displacing invading bacteria. Apoptosis is induced following microbial stimulation of 'death receptors' on the IEC membrane (Wong Fok Lung *et al.*, 2014).

The multitude of antimicrobial defence mechanisms at the disposal of IECs highlights the importance of the intestinal epithelium in preventing and fighting enteric infection. As the intestinal epithelium also serves as the target site for EHEC colonisation, innate immune interactions between IECs and EHEC are likely to play a key role in the outcome of infection. The rest of this section summarises our current knowledge of these interactions.

## **1.6.1** | Innate immune response to EHEC infection

Intestinal biopsies from EHEC-infected patients display signs of moderate inflammation, characterised by neutrophil infiltration into the lamina propria (Griffin et al., 1990; Kelly et al., 1990). Using an in vitro model system involving polarised T84 cells and isolated human neutrophils, Savkovic and colleagues (1996) showed that EPEC-associated neutrophil transmigration across the epithelium is mediated by the chemokine, IL-8. Since then, many studies have reported elevated IL-8 expression levels in human IEC lines (i.e. T84, Caco-2, HT-29) following infection with both EPEC (Khan et al., 2008; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007; Sharma et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2003) and EHEC (Bellmeyer et al., 2009; Berin et al., 2002; Dahan et al., 2002; Farfan et al., 2013; Gobert et al., 2008; Ledesma et al., 2010; Miyamoto et al., 2006). EHEC-induced IL-8 expression in T84 cells is dependent on both MAPK and NF-KB signalling pathways (Dahan et al., 2002). In addition, IL-8 has been detected in the blood of EHEC-infected patients suffering from HUS (Fitzpatrick et al., 1992; Murata et al., 1998). These data highlight IL-8 as an important mediator of the innate immune response to EHEC. As such, many researchers use this cytokine as a marker for inflammation when examining EHEC-IEC interactions. To date, EHEC-IEC innate immune interactions have only been

investigated using cultured epithelial cell lines, although EPEC induction of IL-8 in human small intestinal biopsies has been demonstrated (Schüller *et al.*, 2009).

Several bacterial factors have been implicated in stimulating the innate immune response during EHEC infection, as discussed below.

## 1.6.1.1 | Flagellin

Flagellin, a protein that forms part of the flagellum, is considered the primary inducer of the innate immune response during EHEC infection. The flagellum itself is comprised of a long extracellular flagellin-rich filament attached to a molecular motor that is embedded in the bacterial outer membrane(s) (Jarrel and McBride, 2008). This filament is composed of 11 protofilaments, which wrap together to form the final structure. Each protofilament is almost entirely composed of stacked flagellin monomers. Flagellin consists of four linearly connected domains (termed D0-D4) which together form a structure that resembles an upper case greek gamma ( $\Gamma$ ) (Yonekura *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 1.13). The first two of these domains (D0 and D1) are highly conserved and are embedded within the filament structure, whilst D3 and D4 are more variable and form the external part of the filament (Bardoel and Strijp, 2011). Flagellin is detected exclusively by TLR5, which recognises a discrete conserved site on the D1 domain (Smith et al., 2003). As the D1 domain of flagellin is buried within the filament core and therefore inaccessible to TLR5 when in its polymeric state, it is assumed that TLR5 is only capable of recognising monomeric flagellin (Smith et al., 2003).

Purified H7 flagellin is capable of inducing IL-8 expression in T84 and Caco-2 cells, as well as in human colonic xenografts (Berin *et al.*, 2002; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006; Zhou *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, deletion of *fliC*, the gene encoding flagellin, significantly attenuated the IL-8 response to EHEC in T84 and Caco-2 cells (Bellmeyer *et al.*, 2009; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006). However, it should be noted that deletion of *fliC* did not completely abolish the IL-8 response in T84 cells (Bellmeyer *et al.*, 2009), suggesting that other factors may also play a role. Partial abrogation of the IL-8 response by deletion of *fliC* has also been reported for EPEC (Khan *et al.*, 2008; Schüller *et al.*, 2009). Bocking TLR5 activity in intestinal cell lines inhibited





http://www.rcsb.org/pdb/results/results.do?outformat=&qrid=8FB40A8F&tabtoshow =Current).

the inflammatory response to flagellin from *Salmonella dublin* and *E. coli* K12 (Bambou *et al.*, 2004; Eaves-Pyles *et al.*, 2011). It is therefore assumed that stimulation of IL-8 by EHEC flagellin is also mediated by TLR5, although this has not been confirmed experimentally.

### 1.6.1.2 | Stx

Yamasaki and colleagues (1999) were the first to implicate Stx in innate immune gene regulation, showing that recombinant Stx1 induced IL-8 expression in Caco-2 cells. Although a stimulatory effect of purified Stx1 and Stx2 has since been demonstrated on HCT-8 and T84 cells (Bellmeyer et al., 2009; Thorpe et al., 2001), this was not confirmed by other studies on Caco-2 cells (Berin et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2006). Similarly, whilst deletion of stx in EHEC resulted in reduced IL-8 and NF-kB expression in T84 cells (Bellmeyer et al., 2009), other studies on Caco-2 cells reported no effect of stx deletion on the IL-8 response (Berin et al., 2002; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006). Moreover,  $\Delta stx$  mutants have even been shown to enhance IL-8 and MIP3 $\alpha$  expression in T84 cells relative to wild-type bacteria (Gobert et al., 2007). It is difficult to determine the cause of the varying effects of Stx, since contrasting results have been observed from studies using the same cell line and similar Stx concentrations. It is possible that different cell culture methods may lead to differences in internalisation of Stx and/or expression of any Stxresponsive innate immune receptors, which would likely affect the IL-8 response to the toxin. However, the influence of cell culture methods on Stx-IEC interactions has not been examined. Thus, the role of Stx in innate immune gene regulation remains unclear.

### 1.6.1.3 | Fimbriae

Two EHEC fimbriae, HCP and Lpf, have been associated with the innate immune response to EHEC. Ledesma and colleagues (2010) have shown that purified HCP and recombinant HcpA (the main constituent of HCP) induce expression of IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  in T84 and HT-29 cells *via* activation of MAPK signalling proteins p38, ERK1/2 and JNK. However, deletion of *hcpA* did not significantly affect IL-8 expression in HT-29 cells compared with the wild-type strain. In a recent study by Farfan *et al.* (2013), double deletion of the genes encoding Lpf1 and Lpf2 resulted in significantly lower T84 cell expression of IL-8, as well as several other cytokines (IL-6, IL-15. FGF, GM-CSF and IP-10).

### **1.6.2** | Immune evasion mechanisms

The innate immune response creates a hostile environment in which EHEC must survive and proliferate. The concept that EHEC might secrete effector proteins that subvert the innate immune response first arose from reports stating that inhibition of T3S in EHEC and EPEC resulted in an enhanced IL-8 response to infection (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Khan *et al.*, 2008; Ruchaud-Sparagano *et al.*, 2007). Since then, many effectors have been discovered that interfere with host cell control of inflammation, apoptosis and phagocytosis (Table 1.2) (Santos and Finlay, 2015). Those effectors targeting inflammatory signalling are discussed in more detail below.

EPEC and EHEC effectors repress the inflammatory response by targeting both the NF-κB and MAPK signalling pathways. NF-κB is a transcription factor that comprises a dimer of two Rel homology protein subunits, p50 and p65, together with one or more non-Rel homology proteins. In its inactivated state, NF-kB resides in the cytoplasm bound to the inhibitory protein, IkB. Upon stimulation of the NF-kB proinflammatory signalling cascade, the enzyme IkB kinase (IKK) is activated, which in turn acts to dissociate I $\kappa$ B from NF- $\kappa$ B. The de-repressed NF- $\kappa$ B then translocates to the nucleus, where it binds DNA sequences called response elements to induce transcription of inflammatory genes such as IL-8 (Figure 1.14) (Lawrence, 2009). NleE has been shown to suppress the IL-8 response to EPEC and EHEC in several cell lines by preventing degradation of IkB, thereby inhibiting NF-kB activation (Nadler et al., 2010; Newton et al., 2010; Yen et al., 2010). NleB has the same effect during EPEC infection of HeLa and Caco-2 cells, although this effector is thought to play a lesser role compared with NleE (Li et al., 2013; Newton et al., 2010; Pearson et al., 2013). NleH1 and NleH2 both interact with ribosomal protein S3 (RPS3), a non-Rel homology subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B that confers gene regulation specificity. Whilst NleH1 inhibits translocation of RPS3 into the nucleus, NleH2 increases translocation of the subunit (Gao et al., 2009; Pham et al., 2012). Furthermore, these two effectors interact with each other, with relative levels of each determining the overall net effect on RPS3 translocation (Pham et al., 2012). Infection of gnotobiotic piglets with a  $\Delta n leH1$  EHEC mutant resulted in greater disease severity, whilst no effect was observed with the  $\Delta nleH2$  mutant (Gao *et al.*, 2009). Finally, EPEC and EHEC NleC have been shown to cleave the p65 subunit of NF-KB, leading to degradation of NF-


**Figure 1.14.** NF-κB and MAPK signalling pathways. Transcription factors are shown in green ovals. Positive and negative regulatory proteins are shown in purple and grey ovals, respectively. MAPK pathway based on Morrison *et al.* (2012).

2011; Yen *et al.*, 2010). Ectopically-expressed NleC also targets the p50 and c-Rel subunits in HeLa cells, conferring the same effect on IL-8 expression (Mühlen *et al.*, 2011).

Several different MAPK pathways regulate gene transcription in humans, and two of these – the p38 and JNK pathways – are pro-inflammatory. PRR stimulation initiates the activation of a phosphorylation cascade involving various kinases, beginning with a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK). The activated MAPKKK phosphorylates a MAPK kinase (MAPKK), which in turn phosphorylates either the p38 or JNK

MAPKs (Morrison, 2012). Both of these MAPKs stimulate transcription factors such as AP-1 to induce transcription of pro-inflammatory genes including IL-8 (Figure 1.14) (Pramanik *et al.*, 2003). Baruch and colleagues (2011) have demonstrated that EPEC NleD cleaves both p38 and JNK, which prevents activation of AP-1 during infection of HeLa cells. However, deletion of *nleD* did not reduce the ability of EPEC to repress IL-8 expression. EPEC NleC is capable of inhibiting phosphorylation of p38 in Caco-2 and HT-29 cells, leading to reduced IL-8 production (Sham *et al.*, 2011). Conversely, ectopically-expressed NleH2 has been shown to enhance AP-1-dependent transcription in HeLa cells (Gao *et al.*, 2009), although the mechanism underlying this effect has not been investigated.

#### 1.6.3 | Antimicrobial peptides

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are important components of the enteric innate immune system. These small cationic peptides are capable of directly killing microorganisms by attacking their cell membrane and/or wall (Mukherjee and Hooper, 2015). AMPs are also becoming increasingly recognised as important inflammatory signalling molecules (Yang *et al.*, 2004), and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) has been associated with enhanced AMP production (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010). Whilst some AMPs are constitutively expressed by IECs, others are induced by the presence of microbes or inflammatory stimuli (Dommett *et al.*, 2005). Infection of IECs with a range of pathogens leads to production of inducible AMPs, suggesting that they play an important role in resisting pathogen attack. Despite this, the effect of EHEC infection on AMP production in IECs has not been investigated.

Several AMPs are expressed by IECs in the human colon: lysozyme, human  $\beta$ -defensins (hBDs) 1-4, and LL-37. The mode of action and expression pattern of each of these is summarised below.

#### 1.6.3.1 | Lysozyme

Lysozyme is a glycosidase that damages bacterial cell walls by hydrolysis of peptidoglycans (Callewaert and Michiels, 2010). It is more effective at killing Gram-

positive than Gram-negative bacteria, as peptidoglycans are shielded by the outer cell membrane of the latter (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2008). However, *E. coli* susceptibility to lysozyme-mediated lysis has been demonstrated (Sedov *et al.*, 2011). Lysozyme is expressed in large amounts by specialised Paneth cells found at the base of small intestinal crypts (Peeters and Vantrappen, 1975). Colonic expression of lysozyme is thought to be generally low but elevated levels are found in individuals suffering from CD-associated colitis (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003). To the best of our knowledge, no data showing an effect of microbial infection on lysozyme production has been published (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2008).

#### 1.6.3.2 | Defensins

Defensins are small peptides (2-6 kDa) that kill bacteria by forming pores across plasma membranes, leading to a loss of membrane potential and cell lysis (Mukherjee and Hooper, 2015). Human defensins are classified into  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ defensins based on differences in disulphide bond arrangements and spacing of cysteine residues (Selsted and Ouellette, 2005). Whilst enteric  $\alpha$ -defensin expression is restricted to Paneth cells (Putsep *et al.*, 2000),  $\beta$ -defensins (hBDs) are expressed by IECs in the small intestine and the colon. Four types of hBDs (hBD1-4) have been identified in colonic IECs, all of which exert microbicidal activity against a range of bacterial species including *E. coli* (Dhople *et al.*, 2006; Estrela *et al.*, 2013; Pazgier *et al.*, 2006).

#### 1.6.3.2.1 | hBD1

hBD1 is constitutively expressed in the small intestine and the colon (Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010) and is not responsive to pro-inflammatory stimuli (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003). No changes in hBD1 expression have been reported in IECs following infection with *Salmonella* spp., EIEC, *Campylobacter jejuni*, and *Helicobacter pylori* (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008; Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; O'Neil *et al.*, 1999; Ou *et al.*, 2009; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2005). However, *Shigella* infection resulted in down-regulation of hBD1 expression in human intestinal biopsies, xenografts and HT-29 cells (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008; Islam *et al.*, 2001; Sperandio *et al.*, 2008). The same effect has also been observed

following *Vibrio cholerae* and ETEC infection of HT-29 cells (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008). This likely represents a bacterial survival strategy to avoid hBD1-mediated lysis or immune detection.

#### 1.6.3.2.2 | hBD2

hBD2 is not detected in the intestine of healthy individuals but is expressed in the colonic epithelium of CD and ulcerative colitis (UC) patients (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010). Accordingly, hBD2 expression is enhanced by proinflammatory stimuli (IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ ) in Caco-2 and HT-29 cells (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; O'Neil *et al.*, 1999; Schlee *et al.*, 2007). hBD2 is also expressed during *in vitro* infection with pathogenic bacteria including EPEC, EIEC, *Salmonella* spp., *Shigella* spp., and *Campylobacter jejuni* (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; Hase *et al.*, 2002; Khan *et al.*, 2008; O'Neil *et al.*, 1999; Ogushi *et al.*, 2001; Ou *et al.*, 2009; Sperandio *et al.*, 2008; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, commensal bacteria such as *E. coli* Nissle 1917 also trigger an hBD2 response in IECs *in vitro* (Schlee *et al.*, 2007; Wehkamp *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.6.3.2.3 | hBD3

Similarly to hBD2, hBD3 is expressed in the colonic epithelium of IBD patients but not in healthy individuals (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010). The proinflammatory cytokines IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-1 $\beta$  enhance hBD3 expression in LS174T human colonic cells (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2004). Little is known about bacterial regulation of hBD3: whilst *Campylobacter jejuni* induced hBD3 expression in Caco-2 and HT-29 cells (Zilbauer *et al.*, 2005), *Shigella flexneri* triggered both up- and downregulation depending on the IEC model used (Sperandio *et al.*, 2008). On the other hand, *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium infection conferred no effect on hBD3 expression in T84 and Caco-2 cells (Ou *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.6.3.2.4 | hBD4

hBD4 is expressed in the small intestine and the colon at a relatively low level compared with other defensins (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2004). There is currently no evidence for microbial regulation of hBD4 in the intestine, although expression in lung epithelial cells is induced by infection with *Pseudomonas aeriginosa* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (Conejo García *et al.*, 2001). hBD4 does not appear to be responsive to inflammatory stimuli (Conejo García *et al.*, 2001; Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.6.3.3 | LL-37

LL-37 belongs to the cathelicidin family of AMPs, a structurally heterogeneous group that associates with a 'cathelicidin domain' during intracellular storage (Zanetti, 2004). It is the only cathelicidin currently described in humans, and expression has been localised to the colon but not the small intestine (Hase *et al.*, 2002). LL-37 expression in human colonic cell lines is enhanced upon infection with *Salmonella* spp. and EIEC (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008; Hase *et al.*, 2002). As with hBD1, LL-37 production is repressed during *Shigella*-infection of human intestinal tissue (Islam *et al.*, 2001; Sperandio *et al.*, 2008) and in cell lines infected with *Vibrio cholerae* and ETEC (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008). However, it should be noted that the inhibitory effect of *Shigella* spp. on LL-37 expression is not reproduced *in vitro* using cell lines (Hase *et al.*, 2002; Sperandio *et al.*, 2008). LL-37 exerts bactericidal activity against *E. coli*, as well as many other bacterial species (Turner *et al.*, 1998; Yan and Hancock, 2001). Although the mechanism for LL-37-mediated bacterial killing has not been completely defined (Ho *et al.*, 2013), it is known that the peptide can form pores in bacterial membranes (Lee *et al.*, 2011).

## **1.7 | Models used to study EHEC-IEC interactions**

Cultured epithelial cell lines have been widely applied in the study of EHEC infection biology and have played an indispensable role in some of the most seminal

discoveries in the field. In particular, the HeLa cell model has contributed greatly to our understanding of the mechanisms underlying actin pedestal formation during EHEC and EPEC infection. Furthermore, polarised intestinal epithelial cell lines such as T84 and Caco-2 cells have enabled *in vitro* analysis of the innate immune response to infection. However, it is well established that pathogen interactions with cancer-derived cell lines often differ from those taking place on native host tissue (Law *et al.*, 2013). This is due to the fact that cancer-derived cells often carry mutations which change their properties. Cultured IEC monolayers also lack several important factors compared with their *in vivo* counterparts: cross-talk with cells of the surrounding tissue and the immune system, resident microflora, and other specific environmental stimuli that may influence gene regulation. Therefore, it is desirable to confirm results obtained from cell lines by using more physiologically accurate infection models.

One major obstacle in the progression of EHEC research is the lack of a suitable in vivo host model. Human infection studies are unethical due to the severity of disease caused by EHEC, and intestinal biopsy samples should not be taken from naturallyinfected individuals due to the high risk of perforation (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). Critically, EHEC infection of standard mice leads to low levels of intestinal colonisation and no disease symptoms (Mundy et al., 2006). Germ-free (i.e. no indigenous microflora) and streptomycin-treated (i.e. reduced microflora) are amenable to colonisation by EHEC, although extremely high infectious doses are required to generate disease-like symptoms in these animals (Mohawk and O'Brien, 2011). Furthermore, investigation of EHEC colonisation patterns using these models has yielded conflicting data: whilst infection of streptomycin-treated mice leads to predominantly colonic colonisation (Wadolkowski et al., 1990), infected germ-free mice show signs of colonisation in the ileum and caecum but not the colon (Eaton et al., 2008). Some research has been performed on the natural murine A/E pathogen, C. rodentium. Citrobacter infection of mice results in loose stools, intestinal inflammation and colonic hyperplasia but does not fully resemble the spectrum of disease caused by EHEC in humans, mainly due to the lack of Stx production (Mohawk and O'Brien, 2011). Mallick and colleagues (2014) have recently constructed an Stxd-producing strain of C. rodentium, which induces A/E lesions and Stx-mediated intestinal and kidney damage in mice, and therefore may represent a

more physiologically relevant model of infection than conventional *C. rodentium*. Other investigators have utilised gnotobiotic piglets and infant rabbits as *in vivo* host models for EHEC (Pai *et al.*, 1986; Ritchie *et al.*, 2003; Tzipori *et al.*, 1986). Both animals develop A/E lesions, watery diarrhoea and inflammation upon infection with EHEC. Gnotobiotic piglets also develop neurological HUS-like symptoms, and are therefore currently the best animal model for EHEC infection. However, it is generally difficult to ascertain whether animal infections simulate human infection due to the chance that species-specific interactions may generate confounding data (Fang *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, the routine use of larger animals is limited by high maintenance requirements and low genetic tractability.

The absence of a suitable in vivo model has led to the development of innovative alternatives. In vitro organ culture (IVOC) was developed as a means of maintaining human intestinal tissue biopsies in the laboratory, and has also been used for infection studies (Fang et al., 2013). IVOC has a major advantage over cell line models in that the former uses healthy native epithelium that consists of all the major cell types, together with an in-tact mucus layer and microbiota. As such, IVOC has become the gold-standard model for studying EPEC/EHEC-IEC interactions, having contributed to re-evaluation of the role of actin pedestals in A/E pathogenesis (section 1.5.1.3) (Bai et al., 2008; Garmendia et al., 2004; Schüller et al., 2007). A polarised version of the IVOC model (pIVOC) has also been effectively applied to characterise the innate immune response to EPEC infection (Schüller et al., 2009). However, the apparent tissue tropism of EHEC for the distal small intestine and lack of colonic colonisation has been puzzling (Chong et al., 2007; Phillips et al., 2000), and it remains unclear whether this represents the genuine in vivo situation (in contrast to data obtained from certain animal studies) or is an artefact arising from experimental factors.

An alternative *ex vivo* model system involves implantation of human foetal intestinal tissue into severe-combined immuno-deficient (SCID) mice. This murine xenograft model has been employed to study EHEC A/E lesion formation (Golan *et al.*, 2011), as well as the role of EHEC flagellin in regulation of IL-8 expression (Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006). Although this model has the potential to greatly contribute to the field, it is currently unclear whether EHEC-xenograft interactions are confounded by murine

factors. Furthermore, this model system lacks resident microbiota and, as with the IVOC model, a functional adaptive immune system. Both IVOC and xenograft models are not suitable for routine laboratory use due to high technical standards and access limitations to human tissues.

## 1.8 | Summary

EHEC is regarded as a pathogen of great public health importance, causing debilitating and potentially fatal disease for which there is currently no effective treatment. Since its discovery in 1983, great advances in our understanding of EHEC infection biology have been made. The intestinal epithelium plays a crucial role in the events leading to pathogenesis: IECs are the site of EHEC colonisation and A/E lesion pathology; EHEC modulation of IEC signalling leads to diarrhoea; IECs trigger inflammation in response to EHEC proteins, and IECs mediate Stx access to host internal tissue, leading to HC and HUS. Despite a wealth of research in these areas, several of the underlying molecular mechanisms involved in EHEC-IEC interactions remain unclear. Examples include the role of Stx in EHEC adherence and the innate immune reponse, the role of adhesins in initial attachment, and the role of effectors in microvillous effacement. In many cases, our understanding is clouded by the generation of conflicting data, which is a result of the use of artificial experimental model systems. In addition, ex vivo analysis of EHEC adherence to IECs using IVOC has thrown into question the clinical relevance of A/E lesions, further prompting the need for new or improved models that allow a closer simulation of the in vivo situation. Finally, whilst the discovery of numerous EHEC mechanisms for innate immune suppression has highlighted the importance of immune responses during EHEC infection, the breadth of our knowledge in this area does not extend further than the expression of a few select cytokines. Therefore, it would be beneficial for future EHEC research to focus on (1) further elucidation of processes underlying A/E lesion formation using physiologically relevant infection models and (2) expansion of our knowledge of the innate immune response to EHEC infection.

## 1.9 | Aims and objectives

The overarching aim of this PhD project was to characterise EHEC interactions with the human colonic epithelium by using physiologically relevant IEC models: human intestinal IVOC and polarised T84 cells. The objectives were to:

- Determine whether EHEC colonises human colonic IECs and produces A/E lesions
- 2. Characterise the innate immune response to EHEC infection in human colonic IECs
- 3. Identify the bacterial factors involved in the interactions specified in objective 1 and 2

**CHAPTER TWO** 

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

All reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, unless otherwise stated. Incubations were conducted at 19-23°C (room temperature), unless indicated otherwise.

## 2.1 | Bacterial strains and growth conditions

A list of *E. coli* strains used in this study is presented in Table 2.1. All work involving Shiga toxin-producing EHEC strains was conducted at containment level (CL) 3, whilst Stx-negative EHEC and EPEC were handled at CL2. Bacterial stocks were generated from standing overnight cultures grown in 2 mL Luria Bertani Lennox (LB) broth at 37°C. Cryotubes (Sarstedt) were loaded with 700 µL overnight culture and 300 µL autoclaved 50% glycerol (in distilled deionised water (ddH<sub>2</sub>0), Thermo Fisher Scientific) and stored at -80°C. To initiate a culture, cryotubes were placed on dry ice until a thin upper layer of stock (approximately 1 mm) had thawed. A pipette tip was used to transfer some of the liquid stock onto an LB-agar (Formedium) plate, which was then incubated overnight at 37°C and stored at 4°C for up to 1 month. LB-agar plates were prepared by mixing LB and 1.5% w/v agar with ddH<sub>2</sub>0. Once autoclaved, approximately 20 mL LB-agar solution was poured into petri dishes and left at room temperature to set and dry. For infection assays, bacteria from several colonies were taken from an agar plate and grown overnight without agitation in 2 mL LB broth at 37°C. Deletion mutants (except EDL933  $\Delta espA$ ) were selected in 50 µg/mL kanamycin or 30 µg/mL chloramphenicol (see Table 2.1). Overnight cultures were spun down at 18,000 x g for 5 minutes and resuspended in serum-free culture medium before inoculation.

## 2.2 | Cell culture and infection

## 2.2.1 | General cell culture methods

Cell lines were cultured in 25 cm<sup>2</sup> or 75 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks (Sarstedt) at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Vero African Green Monkey kidney cells (ATCC CCL-81) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 4500 mg/L glucose and sodium bicarbonate, supplemented with 4 mM L-glutamine (20 mL/L of 200 mM stock solution) and 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS; non-US origin). Caco-2

<b>Strain</b> EHEC	Serotype	Source or reference	Description
EDL933	0157	Riley et al., 1983	isolate from 1982 US outbreak; prototype strain
EDL933 ∆eae	0157	Gobert et al., 2008	no expression of intimin, resistant to kanamycin
EDL933 $\Delta escN$	0157	Jarvis <i>et al.</i> , 1996	no functional T3SS, resistant to kanamycin
EDL933 $\Delta espA$	O157	Beltrametti et al., 1999	no functional T3SS
EDL933 ∆ <i>fliC</i>	O157	Gobert et al., 2008	no expression of flagella, resistant to kanamycin
EDL933 $\Delta stx$	O157	Gobert et al., 2007	no expression of Stx, resistant to kanamycin
E135309	026	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from UK
H071840336	O157	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from UK
H074620462	0113	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from UK
H093740759	0157	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from UK
H103540554	0145	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from UK
H112180280	0104	G. Smith, Public Health England	isolate from 2011 German outbreak
TUV 93-0	0157	A. Donohue-Rolfe, Tufts University, US	Stx-negative derivative of EDL933
Walla-1	O157	Ostroff et al., 1990	isolate from 1986 US outbreak; prototype strain
85-170	O157	Tzipori et al., 1987	Stx-negative derivative of 84-289
85-170 ∆hcpA	O157	Xicohtencatl-Cortes et al., 2007	no expression of HCPA, resistant to kanamycin
85-170 ∆ <i>lpfA1</i>	0157	Fitzhenry et al., 2006	no expression of LpfA1, resistant to chloramphenicol
EPEC			
E2348/69	0127	Levine et al., 1978	isolate from UK; prototype strain

 Table 2.1 | List of *E. coli* strains used in this study. All EHEC strains are Stx-positive unless stated otherwise.

human colonic carcinoma cells (ATCC HTB-37) were cultured in DMEM supplemented with L-glutamine and FBS as described above but with the additional supplement of 1x non-essential amino acids (10 mL/L of 100x stock solution). T84 human colonic carcinoma cells (ATCC CCL-248) were cultured in DMEM/Nutrient F12 Ham medium (1:1 mixture) containing 15mM HEPES and sodium bicarbonate, supplemented with 2.5 mM L-glutamine (12.4 mL/L of 200 mM stock solution) and 10% FBS. Cells cultured in 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks were provided with 5 mL culture medium, whilst those in 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks were cultured in 15 mL medium. Cells were passaged approximately every 7 days. Culture medium was aspirated from the flask and cells were rinsed with PBS to remove residual medium. Cells were then incubated in 0.5-1 mL 0.25% trypsin-0.02% EDTA at 37°C until they had detached from the base of the culture flask. After vigorous resuspension of cells in culture medium (at least 5 mL to neutralise trypsin activity), cells were transferred into new culture flasks at a dilution ratio of 1:10 (Caco-2), 1:20 (Vero) or 1:5 (T84) relative to the concentration before passage.

#### 2.2.2 | Cryopreservation of cell lines

For long-term storage, cells were cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen. Cells were suspended at a high density (2-4 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells) in 1 mL culture medium containing dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO, 5% v/v for T84 cells and 10% for all other cell lines) and transferred into cryotubes. To avoid cell damage by formation of ice crystals, cryotubes were placed in a Mr Frosty Freezing Container (Nalgene) containing isopropanol and frozen to -80°C overnight before being transferred to liquid nitrogen storage (vapour phase). To initiate a culture from frozen stocks, cells were thawed at 37°C, diluted in 9 mL warm culture medium and spun at 100 x g for 10 minutes to remove DMSO. Cell pellets were resuspended in 7 mL medium, transferred to a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flask and cultured until confluent. Medium was exchanged the day after thawing.

#### 2.2.3 | Seeding cells for infection assays

For infection assays, cells were seeded into cell culture plates (Sarstedt and Greiner Bio-One) during the passage process. After resuspension of trypsinised cells in culture medium, approximately 50  $\mu$ L cell suspension was diluted 1:1 with trypan blue solution and 10  $\mu$ L of this mixture was loaded into a Neubauer cell counting chamber (Hawksley; depth 0.1 mm) and examined using an inverted light microscope (Zeiss Invertoskop ID03). The number of viable cells (distinguishable by their lack of blue staining) within each of the 4 counting areas of the cell counting chamber (Figure 2.1) was determined, and the number of cells per mL (x) was calculated using the following equation:

x = (average number of cells counted per counting area \* 2) \* 10<sup>4</sup>

The proportion of dead (blue) cells within the entire cell population was also calculated as an indication of the viability of the culture. A proportion of <10% dead cells was deemed acceptable for use in experiments. The amount of cell suspension needed for seeding (x) was then determined using the following equation:

x = total number of cells needed / cell count per mL

The necessary amount of cell suspension was then transferred into a fresh tube and culture medium was added in order to achieve the correct volume required for seeding. Cells were then administered into wells of a cell culture plate.

## 2.2.4 | T84 cell infection

T84 cells were used for experiments during passages 49-65. For infection assays on semi-polarised monolayers, cells were seeded out in 24-well plates containing sterile coverslips at a density of  $10^5$  cells/well and grown for 7 days until fully confluent. Cells were infected with 2 x  $10^7$  EPEC bacteria or 4 x  $10^7$  EHEC bacteria for 3 or 5 hours, respectively. To prevent bacterial overgrowth and acidification, media in EHEC-infected cells was exchanged after 3 hours.

For infection assays requiring a fully polarised cell monolayer, cells were seeded out into collagen-coated Transwell permeable filter inserts (12 mm diameter, polyester



**Figure 2.1. Layout of a Neubauer cell counting chamber.** Cell counting regions are indicated by red boxes. The volume of cell suspension that fits within each of these regions is 0.1 mm<sup>3</sup>, i.e. 10<sup>-4</sup> mL.

membrane, 0.4  $\mu$ m pore size, Corning) at a density of 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/insert. Rat tail collagen type I was stored as a stock solution at a concentration of 1.25 mg/mL in 0.1 M acetic acid and working solutions of 50 µg/mL were prepared by diluting the stock by a factor of 1:25 in 62.5% ethanol (in ddH<sub>2</sub>0). Transwell insert membranes were coated with 200 µL collagen working solution (i.e. 10 µg/insert) and left at room temperature in sterile conditions for 3-4 hours until the liquid had evaporated. Cells were cultured until the transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) of the monolayer exceeded 1500  $\Omega$  x cm<sup>2</sup> (7-10 days), which served as an indication that epithelial barrier function had been established. TER was measured using an EVOM2 resistance meter with an STX2 electrode (WPI). Culture medium was exchanged on day 4 post-seeding and every 2 days thereafter. For infection assays, cells were inoculated with 6 x  $10^7$  EHEC bacteria, 10 ng/ml interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , 25  $\mu$ M inflammatory signalling inhibitor (MG-132, SB203580, SP600125, PD98059; Calbiochem) or purified H7 flagellin monomers (various concentrations; David Gally, University of Edinburgh, UK) in DMEM/F12 medium without supplements and incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. For infection assays designed for analysis of bacterial colonisation or T84 mRNA expression, bacterial inocula were

left for 3 hours. To prevent bacterial overgrowth and acidification, media were then exchanged hourly for a further 3 hours (colonisation) or up to 9 hours (mRNA). For analysis of protein expression, bacteria were killed 1 hour post-infection by addition of gentamicin (200  $\mu$ g/ml) to the apical and basal medium and incubations were continued for a further 24 hours. For experiments using IL-1 $\beta$ , inflammatory signalling inhibitors and flagellin, treatments were left on the cells for the duration of the assay with no medium exchanges.

## 2.2.5 | Vero cell infection

Cells were seeded out into 24-well plates at a density of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well and cultured overnight. Cells were incubated for 4 hours with  $1 \times 10^7$  EHEC bacteria or 100 ng/ml purified Stx2 (Anne Kane, Tufts Medical Centre).

## 2.2.6 | Caco-2 cell infection

Cells cultured to passage 8-15 were seeded into 24-well plates containing sterile coverslips (microscopy) or 6-well-plates (protein quantification) at a density of 1.2 x  $10^5$  or 2 x  $10^5$  cells/well (respectively) and cultured for 7 days until fully confluent. Cells were then incubated for 24 hours with EHEC (1.2 x  $10^8$  bacteria in 24-well plates or 5.4 x  $10^8$  bacteria in 6-well plates) or IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/ml). Bacteria were killed 1 hour post-infection using gentamicin (200 µg/ml).

## 2.3 | In vitro organ culture (IVOC) of intestinal biopsies

## 2.3.1 | Preparation of IVOC medium

IVOC medium was prepared by mixing the following ingredients in 90 mL ddH<sub>2</sub>0: NCTC-135 (0.94 g), sodium bicarbonate (0.22 g) and D-(+)-Mannose (1 g). This solution was sterilised using a 0.45  $\mu$ m syringe filter (Sartorius Stedim), after which DMEM containing 4500 mg/L glucose and sodium bicarbonate (90 mL) and newborn calf serum (20 mL) were added. IVOC medium was stored at 4 °C.

## 2.3.2 | Collection of intestinal biopsies

Biopsy samples were supplied through the Partners in Cancer Research Human Tissue Bank (NRES reference number 10/H0310/21) in collaboration with the Gastroenterology Department, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital. The study was approved by the University of East Anglia Faculty of Medicine and Health Ethics Committee (reference number 2010/11-030). Recruited patients were undergoing routine colonoscopy for intestinal disorders and gave their written consent for donation of biopsies before the procedure (see Appendix 1 for a copy of The Norwich Biorepository Consent Form version 15).

Up to 8 biopsies were taken from the transverse colon and/or terminal ileum of 35 adult patients aged between 24-77 years and 2 paediatric patients (aged 9 and 13 years) by medically trained staff using grasp capture forceps. Biopsy collection was not pursued in patients who showed macroscopic pathology in the region of interest during colonoscopy. Biopsies were collected in 5 mL plastic bijoux (Ramboldi) containing 2 ml IVOC medium for transportation to the lab and were used immediately upon arrival. Biopsies were examined under a dissecting microscope (Zeiss Stem SV8) and cut in half to yield samples with a mucosal surface area of ~5 mm<sup>2</sup>.

## 2.3.3 | IVOC

IVOC was performed as described previously (Knutton *et al.*, 1987). Biopsies were mounted mucosal-side upwards onto a 1 cm<sup>2</sup> foam support (Simport) placed inside a 12-well culture plate. IVOC medium was added to a level that enabled saturation of the support without submerging the biopsy (~1 mL) to prevent epithelial shedding. For infection, 25  $\mu$ L bacterial overnight culture or LB alone (i.e. non-infected control) was applied directly to the mucosal surface of the biopsy and the culture plate was placed in a plastic box filled with a 5% CO<sub>2</sub>/air mixture (BOC). Samples were then incubated for 8 hours at 37°C on a rocking platform. For a small subset of experiments, samples were incubated with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in oxygen, rather than air. To prevent bacterial overgrowth, medium was exchanged at 4 and 6 hours postinoculation. At the end of infection, biopsies were washed vigorously in 2 mL PBS to remove mucus and non-adherent bacteria.

## 2.3.4 | Polarised IVOC of colonic biopsies

This protocol is based on the published method for small intestinal pIVOC (Schüller et al., 2009), amended for colonic biopsies. Biopsies were mounted mucosal-side upwards onto a circular Perspex disk (manufactured by the Faculty of Science Mechanical Workshop, University of East Anglia) lined with a nitrocellulose filter (3 µM pore, Whatman), as shown in Figure 2.2. The disks contain a small central aperture (measuring 2 mm in diameter) and the biopsy was positioned in alignment with this. A second 'apical' disk was placed on top of the first 'basal' disk, enclosing the biopsy in a sandwich-like arrangement with the epithelium exposed through the apical aperture. The apical disk was coated in Histoacryl tissue glue (Braun Medical) before placing onto the sandwich in order to fix it onto the biopsy and thereby prevent bacterial access to non-epithelial tissue. The sandwich was then mounted onto a Snapwell support (polycarbonate, Corning), with its apical side facing into the Snapwell chamber. The Snapwell was placed into a 6-well plate and IVOC medium was added to both the apical and basal compartments (180 µL and 3 mL, respectively). Biopsies were then inoculated with 20 µL bacterial overnight culture or LB alone (i.e. non-infected control) and incubated at 37 °C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>/air on a rocking platform.

To prevent bacterial overgrowth, the inoculum was removed after 2 hours and the apical compartment was rinsed once in 200  $\mu$ L IVOC medium. Two drops (~25  $\mu$ L) fresh IVOC medium were then added to the edge of the apical compartment, with care taken not to submerge the biopsy, and incubation was resumed for up to 5 hours.

## 2.4 | Quantification of bacterial colonisation

At the end of infection, cell monolayers were rinsed three times in PBS to remove non-adherent bacteria and lysed through incubation in Triton X-100 (1% in PBS) for 10 minutes. Lysates were then serially diluted in 1 mL PBS and 100  $\mu$ L of



**Figure 2.2. pIVOC system** (adapted from Schüller *et al.*, 2009). Biopsies were sandwiched between 2 perspex disks and installed into Snapwell supports, leaving only the epithelium accessible for experimental treatment.

appropriate dilutions (containing 50-500 colony forming units (CFU)) was plated onto LB agar plates. After overnight incubation at 37°C, the number of CFU was counted. This process was also performed on the bacterial inoculum immediately after inoculation. To calculate the percentage colonisation level, the CFU count for cell lysates was divided by that of the inoculum and multiplied by 100.

## 2.5 | Immunofluorescence staining

## 2.5.1 | Cell monolayers and whole biopsies

Cell monolayers and biopsies were rinsed twice in PBS and fixed with 3.7% formaldehyde (in PBS) for 20 minutes. Samples were then permeabilised and blocked by incubation in 1% Triton X-100 and 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS for 20 minutes.

When staining for occludin, cells were pre-extracted in 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS for 2 minutes on ice, fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde for 20 minutes, and permeabilised/ blocked in 0.05% Triton X-100 and BSA in PBS for 5 minutes on ice according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Ab name	<b>Host Species</b>	Working conc.	Source
E. coli	Goat	1:200	abcam
EspA	Rabbit	1:500	G. Frankel, Imperial College, UK
hBD2	Rabbit	1:200	abcam
Occludin	Rabbit	1:20	Life Technologies
Stx 204	Rabbit	1:1000	A. Kane, Tufts Medical Centre, USA
Tir	Mouse	1:500	J. Leong, Tufts University, USA

Table 2.2 | List of primary antibodies used for fluorescence microscopy in thisstudy. All antibodies are polyclonal.

Samples were rinsed in PBS before staining. All stains and antibodies were diluted in 0.5% BSA in PBS to reach their working concentrations.

A list of primary antibodies (Abs) used for immunofluorescence staining is presented in Table 2.2. All primary Ab incubations were conducted for 1 hour at room temperature except for anti-hBD2, which was incubated at 4°C overnight. Samples were washed in PBS on a seesaw rocker for 10 minutes between primary and secondary Ab incubation steps. All secondary Abs were Alexa Fluor-conjugated (Life Technologies) and were administered to cells for 30 minutes at a dilution of 1:400. To label cell nuclei, cells were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI; Roche), which was administered during the last secondary Ab incubation step at a dilution of 1:5000.

To visualise filamentous actin, samples were incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated phalloidin at a dilution of 1:200 for 20 minutes. If used in conjunction with fluorescent antibodies, FITC-phalloidin was administered after the last secondary Ab step.

Samples were washed for 2 x 30 minutes after the final staining step. Cells were mounted onto glass microscope slides (R & L Slaughter) in a drop of Vectashield mounting medium (Vector Laboratories) and covered with a cover slip (Agar Scientific). When mounting intestinal biopsies, cover slips were secured to the microscope slide by sealing the edges with transparent nail varnish. Samples were imaged using a standard fluorescence (Zeiss Axiovert 200M) or confocal (Zeiss LSM510 Meta) microscope.

#### 2.5.2 | Biopsy cryosections

Biopsies were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde in PBS for 30 minutes. After washing three times in 2 mL PBS, samples were submerged in 15% sucrose in PBS, chilled to 4°C. Samples were left until fully saturated (approximately 10 minutes), indicated by their sinking to the bottom of the tube. Samples were submerged in chilled 30% sucrose until saturated. After blotting on a paper towel to remove excess moisture, samples were transferred to cryotubes and submerged within a drop of OCT compound (Sakura). Samples were snap frozen by submerging cryotubes in ethanol chilled to -80°C using dry ice and transferred to a -80°C freezer. Frozen samples were cut into 7  $\mu$ m sections using a Microm HM550 cryostat (Thermo Scientific) and transferred onto poly L-lysine -coated glass slides (Agar Scientific). Sections were left for 30 minutes to adhere to the slide before transferring to a -80°C freezer.

For staining, sections were thawed at room temperature for ~10 minutes and blocked in 0.5% BSA in PBS for 20 minutes. Sections were then stained and imaged as described in section 2.5.1.

## 2.6 | Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

At the end of infection, samples were washed twice in 2 mL PBS and fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde (Agar Scientific) in PBS at 4°C for at least 12 hours. After 2 further washes in 2 mL PBS, samples were dehydrated through a series of 15 minute incubations in acetone of increasingly higher concentrations (30%, 50%, 70%, 90% and 2 x 100%) in ddH<sub>2</sub>0 on a rocker. Samples were then dried in tetramethylsilane for 10 minutes on a rocker and air-dried for approximately 10 minutes or until all liquid had disappeared from the sample.

Dried samples were mounted onto aluminium stubs (TAAB Laboratory Equipment Ltd.) under a dissecting microscope. For cell monolayers grown on cover slips or

Transwell membranes, these were placed cell-side up onto stubs lined with adhesive carbon conductive tabs (TAAB Laboratory Equipment Ltd.). Biopsies were mounted onto the stubs in a drop of silver paint (Agar Scientific), taking care not to submerge the epithelium. Mounted samples were then sputter-coated with gold (Polaron SC7640 sputter coater, Quorum Technologies) and imaged with a JEOL JSM 4900 LV or Zeiss Supra 55 VP FEG scanning electron microscope.

To quantify bacterial colonisation of biopsies by SEM, biopsy epithelia were apportioned into fields of view (~250 per sample), and the presence or absence of bacteria within each was noted. The number of bacteria-positive fields was divided by the total number fields counted to calculate the colonisation level, expressed as a percentage. Quantification was conducted at 2700x magnification.

## 2.7 | Transmission electron microscopy

Samples were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M PIPES buffer at 4°C for at least 12 hours and sent to Kathryn Cross (Electron Microscopy Facility, IFR) for processing and imaging, as described below. Samples were post-fixed in 1% aqueous osmium tetroxide for 1 hour and dehydrated through a graded ethanol series (10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 and 3 x 100% in ddH<sub>2</sub>0) with 15-minute incubations. Embedding then took place through incubation in increasing concentrations of LR White medium grade resin (1 hour in 50%, 66%, 75%, 100%; 2 x 8 hours in 100%) in ethanol. Samples were then mounted in embedding capsules with fresh resin and allowed to polymerise overnight at 60°C. Semi-thin tissue sections (1 µM) were cut using an ultramicrotome (Ultracut E, Reichert-Jung) with a glass knife and collected on glass slides. Sections were stained with toluidine blue and imaged using an Olympus BX60 light microscope to locate adherent bacteria. Areas of interest were cut into 90 nm ultra-thin sections, mounted onto film/carbon copper grids, and stained sequentially with uranyl acetate and lead citrate. Sections were imaged with a Tecnai G2 20 Twin transmission electron microscope (FEI) at 200 kV.

## 2.8 | Gene expression analysis

## 2.8.1 | RNA isolation and DNase treatment

Total RNA was isolated from cells and biopsies using the RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen). Cell and biopsies were lysed in buffer RLT supplemented with 1%  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol. To homogenise cell monolayers, buffer RLT was flushed over the monolayer until cells had detached from the membrane, transferred to an RNase-free microcentrifuge tube (Sarstedt) and vortexed for 10 seconds. To homogenise biopsies, samples were transferred into a microcentrifuge tube and broken down using a homogenising pestle (Kimble Chase) before being vortexed for 45 seconds. Samples were immediately frozen at -80°C for at least 12 hours. After thawing on ice, lysates were transferred into Qiagen spin columns, and RNA was isolated according to the manufacturer's instructions (section entitled 'Purification of Total RNA from Animal Cells using Spin Technology'). Genomic DNA was degraded by on-column digestion with RNase-free DNase (Qiagen), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RNA quantity and purity were determined using a Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Samples were considered pure within acceptable limits if the 260/230 nm ratio (measures presence of salt contaminants) ranged between 1.5 and 2.0, and the 260/280 nm ratio (measures presence of protein contaminants) was  $\geq$ 1.8.

RNA integrity was analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis. RNA was labelled with DNA nontox dye (PanReac AppliChem) and samples were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel in Tris-borate-EDTA (TBE). TBE stock solution (10x) was prepared by adding 108 g Tris, 55 g boric acid and 40 mL 0.5 M EDTA pH 8.0 and adjusting to a final volume of 1 L with ddH<sub>2</sub>0. A 1x working solution was prepared by diluting 1:10 in ddH<sub>2</sub>0. Gels were run at 100 V (constant) for ~45 minutes (Consort E863) and RNA was visualised under UV light using a U:Genius gel imager (Syngene). RNA integrity was considered acceptable if two distinct bands were visible (indicating the presence of 28S and 18S rRNA) with the former appearing stronger than the latter (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3. Representative image of intact RNA, as determined by agarose gel electrophoresis. Each column represents an individual sample.

## 2.8.2 | cDNA synthesis

RNA was converted to cDNA by using the qScript cDNA supermix (Quanta Biosciences). Reaction mixes were prepared by mixing 4  $\mu$ L supermix with 1  $\mu$ g RNA (volume dependent on concentration of RNA solution) and water up to a total volume of 20  $\mu$ L. To control for the presence of residual DNA in the RNA samples, which could interfere with downstream applications, a reaction mix was prepared without addition of qScript cDNA supermix (RT-control) for each cDNA synthesis procedure.

cDNA synthesis was conducted according to qScript instructions using a thermal cycler (Biometra Professional Trio) set to the following conditions: 5 minutes at 25°C, 30 minutes at 42°C, 5 minutes at 85°C. cDNA was diluted 1:2 in filter-sterilised milli-Q water and stored short-term at 4°C or long-term at -20°C.

## 2.8.3 | Quantitative PCR

Quantitative PCR (qPCR) reaction mixtures were prepared by mixing 5  $\mu$ L 2x SYBR Green Jumpstart Taq Readymix, 0.1  $\mu$ L internal reference dye, 1  $\mu$ L forward/reverse primer (10  $\mu$ M), cDNA (1  $\mu$ L for cells and 2  $\mu$ L for biopsies) and water (3  $\mu$ L for cells and 2  $\mu$ L for biopsies) and water (3  $\mu$ L for cells and 2  $\mu$ L for biopsies) up to a total volume of 10.1  $\mu$ L. For analysis of hBD2 or LL-37 mRNA levels, 4  $\mu$ L cDNA and no water was added to reaction mixes. Reaction mixes were also prepared using the RT-negative control sample. To ensure that none of the reagents were contaminated with DNA, no template (NT) control reaction mixes were prepared containing water in place of cDNA for each primer

pair. Reaction mixes were loaded in duplicate into 96-well PCR plates (Sarstedt) on ice. Cling film was placed beneath the plates whilst on ice to prevent accumulation of water and dirt. Plates were sealed with transparent sealing film (Sarstedt) and spun in a swing rotor centrifuge at 2000 x g for 1 minute to collect reagents at the base of the wells. Plates were loaded into an ABI 7500 qPCR machine and subjected to the following cycling program:

Stage 1: 2 minutes at 95°C

Stage 2: 30 seconds at 95°C, 30 seconds at 60°C, 35 seconds at

72°C (repeat for 40 cycles)

Stage 3: 5 minutes at 72°C

Dissociation stage: 15 seconds at 95°C, 60 seconds at 60°C,

15 seconds at 95°C, 15 seconds at 60°C

At the end of the run, cycle threshold (Ct) values and dissociation curves were generated using ABI7500 software and exported for further analysis.

#### 2.8.4 | Primer design and validation

Primers used are presented in Table 2.3. Primer sequences were either obtained from published studies or designed using PrimerBLAST software (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/). Whole gene sequences were obtained from ENSEMBL (http://www.ensembl.org/index.html). Primers were selected only if they met the following parameters: the GC content ranged between 30% and 70%, the self-complementarity score was <8, and the amplified sequence was 60-150 base pairs (bp) in length and spanned an intron. All primer melting temperatures were ~60°C. Lyophilised primers were purchased from Sigma-Genosys, reconstituted in 10 mM Tris (pH 8.0) to obtain a 100 µM stock solution, and stored at -20°C. Working solutions were prepared by diluting stock solution 1:10 in filter-sterilised milliQ water.

Target	Primer sequence	Product length (bp)	<b>Reference or source</b>
hBD1	Fw: 5'-CTGCTGTTTACTCTCTGCTTACTTTT-3' Rev: 5'-CCTCCACTGCTGACGCA-3'	107	Fahlgren et al., 2003
hBD2	Fw: 5'-CTCGTTCCTCTTCATATTCCTGA-3' Rev: 5'-CTAGGGCAAAAGACTGGATGAC-3'	111	Fahlgren et al., 2003
hBD3	Fw: 5'-TGAAGCCTAGCAGCTATGAGGATC-3' Rev: 5'-CCGCCTCTGACTCTGCAATAA-3'	128	Fahlgren et al., 2004
hBD4	Fw: 5'-CCCAGCATTATGCAGAGACTT-3' Rev: 5'-ACCACATATTCTGTCCAATTCAAAT-3'	102	Fahlgren et al., 2004
IL-8	Fw: 5'-TTGAGAGTGGACCACACTGC-3' Rev: 5'-TGCACCCAGTTTTCCTTGG-3'	86	Ou <i>et al.</i> , 2009
GAPDH	Fw: 5'-AGGTCGGAGTCAACGGATTT-3' Rev: 5'-TGGAAGATGGTGATGGGGATTT-3'	220	Schüller et al., 2009
LL-37	Fw: 5'-GTGCCCCAGGACGACACAGC-3' Rev: 5'-CCCCTGGCCTGGTTGAGGGT-3'	120	This study
Lysozyme	Fw: 5'-AAAACCCCAGGAGCAGTTAAT-3' Rev: 5'-CAACCCTCTTTGCACAAGCT-3'	94	Fahlgren et al., 2003
POLR2A	Fw: 5'-GATGGGCAAAAGAGTGGACTT-3' Rev: 5'-GGGTACTGACTGTTCCCCCCT-3'	180	Schüller et al., 2009

Table 2.3 | List of primers used in this study

To confirm primer specificity, dissociation curve analysis of qPCR products was performed (single peak) and qPCR product size was determined by agarose gel electrophoresis. To test amplification efficiency, two-fold serial dilutions of cDNA were prepared and run with each primer. After the run, the Ct values for each dilution were log transformed and plotted onto a scatter graph. The slope of the graph was used to calculate primer efficiency, according to the following formula: (10^(-1/slope)-1)\*100. Primer efficiencies ranging between 95 and 130% were considered acceptable.

## 2.8.5 | Relative quantification

To confirm that Ct values represented levels of converted mRNA (i.e cDNA) and not contaminant DNA, values for the NT- and RT-controls were compared with those for standard samples. The amount of contaminating DNA was considered acceptably low if control samples yielded Ct values that were >5 higher than standard samples (equivalent to a >32-fold difference in transcript levels).

Ct values for the gene of interest were normalised by subtracting the geometric mean Ct for two housekeeper genes, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and RNA polymerase II (POLR2A). Fold expression values for the gene of interest were calculated in treated samples relative to matched untreated samples using the formula  $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ , where  $\Delta Ct$  represents the product of subtracting the normalised Ct value of the untreated sample from that of the treated sample.

## 2.9 | Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

All ELISAs were performed in Nunc Maxisorb immunoassay 96-well plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Washes were conducted using 200  $\mu$ L PBS/0.05% Tween. Optical density (OD) readings were taken using a Benchmark Plus Microplate Spectrophotometer (BioRad) and standard curves generated using Microplate Manager 5.2.1 software.

## 2.9.1 | Sample collection

Culture medium was collected in pre-chilled microcentrifuge tubes and spun at 18,000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C to pellet cell debris and bacteria. To harvest protein located within cells, T84 monolayers or biopsies were lysed in 1% ice-cold Triton X-100 in PBS supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (0.5%). Cells were left to lyse for 5 minutes on ice before being disrupted with a pipette tip (T84 cells) or homogenizing pestle (biopsies), transferred to a microcentrifuge tube, and spun at 18,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C to pellet insoluble proteins. Supernatants were stored at -80°C until required.

When preparing samples for hBD2 ELISA, all centrifuge steps were conducted in LoBind microcentrifuge tubes (Eppendorf). To concentrate hBD2, samples were loaded into pre-chilled Amicon ultra centrifugal filter units with a molecular weight cut-off of 3 kDa (Millipore) and spun at 2,000 x g at 4 °C until sample volume had reduced to the desired amount.

## 2.9.2 | ELISA for Stx2

Plates were coated in 100  $\mu$ L Stx binding agent diluted in a coating buffer (1.59 g/L sodium carbonate, 2.93 g/L sodium bicarbonate and 0.2 g/L sodium azide in water) for 3 hours. Either P1 glycoprotein or polyclonal rabbit  $\alpha$ -Stx 204 (Anne Kane, Tufts Medical Centre), NIH, USA) was used as a binding agent at a dilution of 1:5000 or 1:500, respectively. This was followed by a 2-hour blocking step in 300  $\mu$ L powdered milk (5% in coating buffer). After 5 washes in PBS/Tween, duplicate wells were loaded with 100  $\mu$ L sample (diluted 1:5 in DMEM/F12) or DMEM/F12 alone (blank wells). Two-fold serial dilutions of purified Stx2 standard (Anne Kane, Tufts Medical Centre), ranging from 40 to 0.31 ng/ml, were also added to wells in triplicate. Wells were incubated for 1 hour, washed 5 times in PBS-Tween, and subjected to the following incubation steps (interspersed with 5x washing): 20 minutes in monoclonal mouse  $\alpha$ -Stx2 NR846 (1:2500 in PBS/Tween, BEI resources), 20 minutes in goat  $\alpha$ -mouse IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (1:2000 in PBS/Tween), and 30 minutes in phosphatase substrate dissolved in diethanolamine buffer (prepared in 11 mL batches by mixing 9.7 mL diethanolamine, 1 mL 50 mM

magnesium chloride, 0.2 g sodium azide and adjusted to pH 9.8 using concentrated hydrochloric acid). The OD at wavelength 405 nm (OD<sub>405</sub>) was then measured, with baseline wavelength set at 605 nm. To remove any signal caused by non-specific binding of antibodies, OD<sub>405</sub> readings from the blank wells were subtracted from those containing samples. Stx2 concentrations were calculated from the standard curve. Stx levels released by each bacterial strain were normalised according to the level of bacterial growth within the sample (measured by OD<sub>600</sub>) using the following formula: ng/ml  $\div$  OD<sub>600</sub> 0.1.

#### 2.9.3 | ELISA for IL-8 and hBD2

IL-8 and hBD2 were quantified using commercial human ELISA kits (PeproTech), according to the manufacturer's instructions. When using the hBD2 ELISA kit, the following amendments were made: the blocking step was increased to 2 hours, the sample incubation step was increased to 2.5 hours, and the detection antibody step was reduced to 1.5 hours. For biopsies, IL-8 levels were normalised against total tissue protein. Total tissue protein was measured using the DC protein assay (Bio-Rad). The DC protein assay was performed according to manufacturer's instructions, except that the volume of sample used was 40  $\mu$ l rather than 100  $\mu$ l. A 2-fold dilution of BSA (in lysis buffer) was used to construct the standard curve, ranging from 94 to 1500  $\mu$ g/ml.

## 2.10 | Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism Version 6 software. For comparison of two groups, parametric students *t*-test (cell line experiments) or non-parametric Mann-Whitney test (biopsy experiments) was used. Comparisons of three or more groups were performed using parametric analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey's post-hoc test (cell lines) or non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's post-hoc test (biopsies). All gene expression data were  $log_{10}$  transformed before statistical analysis was performed. A *P* value of <0.05 was considered significant. Degrees of statistical significance are presented as follows: \*=*P*<0.05, \*\*=*P*<0.01, \*\*\*=*P*<0.001.

**CHAPTER THREE** 

## EHEC COLONISATION AND A/E LESION FORMATION

**Based on publication:** 

Lewis, S.B., Cook, V., Tighe, R. and Schüller, S. (2015) Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* colonization of human colonic epithelium. *Infection and Immunity* **83**, 942-949 (see Appendix 2)

## **Collaborative work:**

Biopsies provided by Vivienne Cook, Richard Tighe and Graham Briars

TEM performed by Kathryn Cross

SEM support provided by Bertrand Lézé

## 3.1 | Introduction

EHEC colonisation of IECs is considered critical for pathogenesis in humans (Croxen et al., 2013). Colonisation is associated with the formation of attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions, which are characterised by intimate bacterial attachment to the IEC surface, localised microvillous effacement, and polymerised actin beneath the site of attachment (Lai et al., 2013). The mechanisms underlying EHEC adherence to IECs have been characterised in detail using in vitro infection models based on cultured epithelial cell lines, and the following sequence of events has been established (Figure 1.4). Initially, EHEC bacteria loosely adhere to the host cell surface using one or more adhesins, including fimbriae, pili and flagella (Table 1.1). Subsequently, the bacterium inserts a type III secretion system (T3SS) into the host cell (Ebel et al., 1998), through which effector proteins such as the translocated intimin receptor (Tir) are transported (DeVinney et al., 1999). Tir inserts into the host plasma membrane, where it binds to and clusters with intimin on the bacterial outer membrane, thereby conferring an intimate attachment (Touzé et al., 2004). Tir then triggers a signalling cascade that leads to recruitment of polymerised actin to the attachment site (DeVinney et al., 1999), which collects to form a pedestal-like structure beneath the bacterium (Knutton et al., 1989). The adherence process also leads to the localised effacement of microvilli, although the direct cause of this phenomenon remains unclear.

EHEC adherence to the intestinal epithelium has also been examined *in vivo* using animal models. Infection of gnotobiotic piglets, infant rabbits and neonatal calves leads to A/E lesion formation in the small intestine and the colon (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1997; Francis *et al.*, 1986; Pai *et al.*, 1986; Tzipori *et al.*, 1986). However, examination of intestinal biopsy tissue from EHEC-infected humans has revealed no signs of bacterial colonisation, despite showing damage to colonic mucosa (Griffin *et al.*, 1990; Kelly *et al.*, 1987; Malyukova *et al.*, 2009; Shigeno *et al.*, 2002). This has cast doubt on whether EHEC colonises the human intestinal epithelium *in vivo*, although clinical samples are generally taken at a progressed stage of disease at which point colonisation may have diminished or be obscured by damaged tissue. EHEC adherence to human intestinal tissue has been investigated experimentally using *in vitro* organ culture (IVOC), a model that involves *ex vivo* infection of human endoscopic biopsies. Human IVOC studies using Stx-negative EHEC strains have detected A/E lesions on terminal ileal but not colonic IECs (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, it remains unclear whether EHEC colonise human colonic epithelium and whether colonisation has any relevance for onset of colonic pathology during infection of humans.

In this study, we re-examined EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelium *ex vivo* using wild-type EHEC strains. Previous studies have shown that Shiga toxin (Stx) produced by EHEC enhances adherence to HeLa cells and colonisation in mice (Robinson *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, we hypothesised that Stx produced by wild-type EHEC strains may facilitate adherence to human colonic biopsy epithelium. In addition, we also characterised EHEC colonisation of T84 human colonic carcinoma cells, which are widely used as an *in vitro* model of EHEC infection.

The objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Determine whether EHEC colonise human colonic epithelium ex vivo
- 2. Characterise the adherence phenotype ex vivo (if any) and in vitro
- 3. Identify bacterial factors influencing colonisation ex vivo (if any) and in vitro

## 3.2 | Results

# 3.2.1 | EHEC adherence phenotype on T84 human colon carcinoma cells is dependent on polarisation status

T84 human colonic carcinoma cells were used to characterise EHEC adherence to colonic epithelial cells *in vitro*. These cells resemble colonic crypt cells and form a polarised cell monolayer in culture, evidenced by their columnar shape, apical brush border, high transepithelial electrical resistance (TER), and tight junctions between cells (Madara *et al.*, 1987; Tran *et al.*, 2014). Unlike most other carcinoma cell lines, T84 cells do not express the Shiga toxin (Stx) receptor globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) on their surface and are therefore resistant to Stx cytotoxicity, which mimics the situation in the human intestine (Björk *et al.*, 1987; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006; Philpott *et al.*, 1997; Schüller *et al.*, 2004). This makes T84 cells a suitable model for studying adherence of EHEC. Cells were seeded onto coverslips at a low cell density and cultured for 7 days to promote growth of a confluent monolayer (Gobert *et al.*, 2007). Monolayers were infected with Stx-negative EHEC strains TUV 93-0, 85-170 and Sakai for 5 hours, and cell morphology was visualised by immunofluorescence staining and scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

Upon examination of T84 monolayers, it was noted that cells exhibited two types of morphology: cells in central areas showed signs of polarisation such as an actin-rich brush border, whereas those in marginal areas appeared non-polarised with few microvilli (Figure 3.1; data shown for TUV 93-0). The majority of EHEC bacteria were found on non-polarised cells, with a relatively small number on polarised cells. EHEC bound to non-polarised cells were associated with polymerised actin beneath attachment sites (Figure 3.1A), indicating that actin recruitment had taken place. In contrast, actin was not observed beneath bacteria on polarised cells. Consistent with these findings, SEM analysis revealed formation of actin pedestals beneath bacteria attached to non-polarised, but not polarised, cells (Figure 3.1B). Interestingly, polarised cells displayed microvillous effacement around bacterial attachment sites, whilst microvillous effacement on non-polarised cells could not be examined due to the lack of a thick brush border on these cells (Figure 3.1B).



Figure 3.1. EHEC adherence phenotype differs on polarised vs. non-polarised T84 cells. Confluent cells on coverslips were infected with EHEC strain TUV 93-0 for 5 hours. (A) Immunofluorescence staining for actin (green) and *E. coli* (red). Top images show merged channels; bottom images show actin channel alone. Scale bars =  $10 \ \mu$ m. (B) Scanning electron micrographs showing EHEC-associated microvillous effacement (white arrows) on polarised cells and actin pedestal formation (black arrows) on non-polarised cells. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $2 \ \mu$ m



Figure 3.2. EPEC induce actin recruitment in polarised and non-polarised T84 cells. Confluent cells on coverslips were infected with EPEC strain E2348/69 for 3 hours and immunostained for actin (green) and *E. coli* (red). Top images show merged channels; bottom images show actin channel alone. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $10 \mu m$ .

To determine whether actin recruitment in polarised cells was impaired or obscured by the actin-rich brush border, infections were performed using the related A/E pathogen, EPEC. Flourescent actin staining (FAS) revealed the presence of polymerised actin beneath EPEC adhered to both polarised and non-polarised cells, as shown in Figure 3.2.

Put together, this data shows that confluent monolayers of T84 cells seeded out on coverslips were displaying different stages of polarisation. In cells that appeared polarised, EHEC triggered microvillous effacement but no actin polymerisation. This suggests that EHEC may not induce typical A/E lesions in polarised T84 cells.

## 3.2.2 | Establishment of fully polarised T84 cell culture

In order to obtain fully polarised T84 cell monolayers for EHEC adherence studies, a modified cell culture method was adopted using collagen-coated permeable Transwell inserts (Madara *et al.*, 1987). Cells were seeded onto inserts at a high cell density (5 x  $10^5$  cells/insert) and cultured for an extended period (up to 14 days), whilst monitoring the TER at regular intervals. By day 7-10 post-seeding, monolayers had developed a TER of above  $1500 \ \Omega x \ cm^2$  and displayed other hallmarks of polarisation when examined by microscopy, such as column-shaped morphology, apical brush border and tight junctions between adjacent cells (Figure 3.3). In addition, these cells appeared morphologically identical to the centrally-located cells previously grown on coverslips (Figure 3.4). These monolayers were considered fully polarised, and the Transwell culture method was used for all subsequent T84 cell experiments.




# 3.2.3 | EHEC do not induce typical A/E lesions on polarised T84 cells

In order to examine the adherence phenotype of EHEC on fully polarised T84 cells, infections were repeated using cells grown in Transwell inserts. Infection assays were extended to include wild-type strains EDL933 and Walla-1, as well as Stx-negative TUV 93-0. No signs of actin recruitment in polarised T84 cells were observed beneath adherent bacteria following infection for 5-9 hours with any of the three strains (Figure 3.4), indicating that neither wild-type nor Stx-negative EHEC strains recruit actin during colonisation of polarised T84 cells. However, actin recruitment was detected beneath bacteria bound to extruding cells that had lost polarity, and bacterial colonisation of these cells was high in comparison to non-extruding cells (data not shown).

Actin recruitment is mediated by Tir upon its translocation into the host cell *via* the T3SS (DeVinney *et al.*, 1999). Tir insertion into the plasma membrane and clustering by intimin is indicative of intimate bacterial attachment, another A/E lesion hallmark. To determine whether EHEC translocates Tir into polarised T84 cells, monolayers were immunostained for Tir and EspA (component of the T3S translocation tube) following infection with EDL933 and Walla-1 for 6 hours. Figure 3.5A shows that Tir was not detected beneath bacteria adhered to polarised T84 cells. This was not attributable to the absence of a functional T3SS, as EspA-rich translocation tubes were seen protruding the surface of adherent EHEC (Figure 3.5C). Furthermore, Tir translocation was evident beneath EHEC bound to extruding cells that appeared to undergo apoptotic cell death (Figure 3.5B). Put together, these findings indicate that EHEC adherence to polarised T84 cells does not involve actin recruitment or intimate attachment, and therefore does not lead to formation of typical A/E lesions.



Figure 3.4. EHEC do not induce actin recruitment in polarised T84 cells.

Polarised cells were infected with EHEC strains TUV 93-0, EDL933 and Walla-1 for 9 hours and immunostained for actin (green) and *E. coli* (red). Left images show merged channels; right images show actin channel alone. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $10 \mu m$ .



Figure 3.5. EHEC adhered to polarised T84 cells do not associate with translocated Tir. Cells were infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 6 hours and immunostained for Tir (top; green), EspA (bottom; green) and *E. coli* (red). (A) Bacteria adhered to polarised cells with no visible signs of Tir. (B) Bacteria adhered to extruding cell (indicated by fragmented nucleus shown after staining with DAPI (blue)) with Tir visible beneath attachment site. (C) Adherent bacteria with EspA filaments protruding from their surface. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars = 5  $\mu$ m.

# 3.2.4 | EHEC colonise human colonic biopsies and induce A/E lesions

*In vitro* organ culture (IVOC) enables the study of EHEC adherence to human intestinal epithelium *ex vivo*. Previous IVOC infection studies using Stx-negative EHEC strains have reported adherence to terminal ileal but not colonic biopsy epithelium (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000). We utilised the IVOC model in order to characterise adherence of wild-type EHEC strains to human intestinal epithelium. Biopsies taken from the terminal ileum and transverse colon of adults were infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 and H07184 for 8 hours and colonisation was examined by scanning electron microscopy (SEM).

All three EHEC strains extensively colonised both ileal and colonic biopsy epithelium (Figure 3.6; data shown for EDL933). In agreement with published



**Figure 3.6. EHEC colonise human ileal and colonic biopsies.** Endoscopic biopsies from the terminal ileum and transverse colon were infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 8 hours and adherence was examined by scanning electron microscopy. (Top) EHEC adhered to ileum were surrounded by elongated microvilli, whereas those bound to the colon were associated with a zone of microvillous effacement (white arrows). (Bottom) Bacteria on terminal ileal and colonic biopsies localised around villus tips and crypt openings, respectively (black arrows). Images represent those from three independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars = 2  $\mu$ m (Top) or 20  $\mu$ m (Bottom)

findings (Fitzhenry *et al.*, 2002; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), terminal ileal biopsies harboured elongated microvilli at sites of bacterial adherence. No signs of microvillous elongation were found on colonic biopsies but a zone of microvillous



Figure 3.7. EHEC form A/E lesions on human colonic biopsies. Biopsies were infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 8 hours. Immunostaining was performed for EspA (A) and Tir (B) in green and *E. coli* in red. (C) Transmission electron micrograph showing intimate attachment of bacteria to host cell membrane and microvillous effacement. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars = 2  $\mu$ m (A, B) and 0.5  $\mu$ m (C).

effacement was evident around adherent bacteria, similar to that observed in polarised T84 cells. Colonisation on ileal samples was predominantly localised towards the tips of villi, whilst bacteria on colonic biopsies were most often found on the surface epithelium located between crypts (Figure 3.6).

To further characterise the adherence phenotype of EHEC bound to colonic epithelium, biopsies were immunostained for Tir and EspA following infection with EDL933 and Walla-1 strains. In contrast to findings from T84 cell infections, EHEC on colonic biopsies were associated with translocated Tir beneath sites of attachment (Figure 3.7B; data shown for EDL933). EspA filaments were also detected on adherent bacteria (Figure 3.7A). Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) revealed adherent bacteria in close contact with the IEC membrane and surrounded by a zone of microvillous effacement (Figure 3.7C). Put together, these studies demonstrate that EHEC colonise the human colonic epithelium *ex vivo* and induce formation of



Figure 3.8. Stx-negative EHEC colonise human colonic biopsies. Colonic biopsies were infected with EHEC strains TUV 93-0 and 85-170 for 8 hours and colonisation was examined by scanning electron microscopy. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $2 \mu m$ .

typical A/E lesions, characterised by Tir translocation, intimate attachment and effacement of microvilli.

# 3.2.5 | EHEC colonisation of the human colonic epithelium is not affected by Stx production

Previous IVOC studies using Stx-negative EHEC strains have reported that EHEC is unable to colonise colonic epithelium (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000). As a previous study by Robinson *et al.* (2006) has shown that Stx enhances adherence to HeLa human cervical carcinoma cells and intestinal colonisation in mice, we decided to investigate whether Stx plays a role in EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelium. To determine whether Stx production is required for EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies, IVOC was performed using Stx-negative strains TUV 93-0 and 85-170 used in previous studies. As shown in Figure 3.8, both Stx-negative EHEC strains colonised colonic biopsies, displaying a similar adherence phenotype to that observed following wild-type infection. This indicates that Stx is not the determining factor for EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies during IVOC.



Figure 3.9. Stx production does not affect EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelial cells. (Left) Human colonic biopsies were infected with wild-type (WT) EHEC strain EDL933 or an isogenic Stx deletion mutant ( $\Delta stx$ ) for 8 hours. Samples were viewed by scanning electron microscopy and colonisation was quantified by recording the presence or absence of adherent bacteria in approximately 250 fields of view. Colonisation is expressed as the percentage of fields of view containing adherent bacteria. Data are shown as means ± standard error (SE) from two independent experiments performed in triplicate. (**Right**) Polarised T84 cells were infected with wild-type EDL933 or EDL933  $\Delta stx$  for 6 hours. Colonisation was quantified by plating serial dilutions of cell lysates and determining the numbers of colony-forming units. Colonisation is expressed as the percentage of adherent bacteria relative to the inoculum. Data are shown as means ± SE from five independent experiments performed in duplicate.

In addition, colonic biopsies and T84 cells were infected with a wild-type (WT) EHEC strain EDL933 or an isogenic Stx deletion mutant ( $\Delta stx$ ) for 8 and 6 hours, respectively. SEM-based analysis of biopsies revealed no significant difference in the proportion of epithelium colonised between the two strains (Figure 3.9). Similarly, both strains colonised polarised T84 cells to a similar degree. These data indicate that Stx does not have a significant effect on EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelium *in vitro* or *ex vivo*.

# 3.2.6 | Intimin and the T3SS are essential for EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies but not T84 cells

Intimin and the T3SS play essential roles in EHEC adherence to HeLa cervical carcinoma cells and colonic epithelium of some animals (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1998b; Donnenberg *et al.*, 1993; Ebel *et al.*, 1998; McKee *et al.*, 1995; Ritchie *et al.*, 2003). To investigate whether intimin and T3S are required for human colonic colonisation by EHEC, biopsies and polarised T84 cells were infected with EHEC strain EDL933 or isogenic mutant strains with deletions in intimin (*eae*), EspA (*espA*) or EscN (*escN*, cytoplasmic ATPase of T3SS). SEM analysis revealed no adherent bacteria on biopsies infected with any of the mutant strains, whilst the wild-type (WT) strain showed good colonisation (Figure 3.10A). Quantification analysis confirmed these observations, with WT colonising 26.0%  $\pm$  7.2% of biopsy epithelium, compared to 0% for each of the mutant strains (Figure 3.10B). In contrast, all deletion mutants colonised polarised T84 cells (Figure 3.11) to a level comparable with that of the WT strain. Put together, these data suggest that expression of intimin and T3S are essential for EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies but not T84 cells.



Figure 3.10. EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies is dependent on intimin and the T3SS. Colonic biopsies were infected with wild-type (WT) EHEC strain EDL933 or isogenic deletion mutants lacking EspA, EscN or intimin (*eae*) for 8 hours. (A) Biopsies were viewed by scanning electron microscopy and (B) colonisation was quantified by recording the presence or absence of adherent bacteria in approximately 250 fields of view. Colonisation is expressed as the percentage of fields of view containing adherent bacteria. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SE from four independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars = 10 µm.



Figure 3.11. EHEC colonisation of polarised T84 cells is not dependent on intimin or T3S. Polarised T84 cells were infected with wild-type EHEC strain EDL933 or isogenic deletion mutants lacking functional EspA, EscN or intimin (*eae*) for 6 hours. Colonisation was quantified by plating serial dilutions of cell lysates and determining the numbers of colony-forming units. Colonisation is expressed as the percentage of adherent bacteria relative to the inoculum. Data are shown as means  $\pm$ SE from four independent experiments performed in duplicate.

#### 3.2.7 | EHEC colonise human paediatric colonic biopsies

As our data showing EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies contrasted with those reported previously by Phillips and colleagues (Phillips *et al.*, 2000; Chong *et al.*, 2007), we compared the experimental methodology employed in each study. It was noted that previous studies had performed IVOC experiments using biopsies from paediatric patients, whilst our study used biopsies from adults. To determine whether EHEC colonic colonisation *ex vivo* was restricted to adult biopsies, a limited set of infections was performed using biopsies obtained from children aged 9 and 13 years. SEM analysis revealed that both EHEC strains EDL933 and Walla-1 colonised paediatric colonic biopsies and exhibited a similar adherence phenotype to bacteria bound to adult biopsies (Figure 3.12). This indicates that age is not a determining factor for EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelium during IVOC.



Figure 3.12. EHEC colonise human paediatric colonic biopsies. Paediatric colonic biopsies were infected with EHEC strains EDL933 and Walla-1 for 8 hours, and colonisation was examined by scanning electron microscopy. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $2 \mu m$ 

## 3.2.8 | High oxygen levels suppress EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies

Another difference between previously published IVOC studies and ours is the oxygen concentration used: whilst Phillips and colleagues performed IVOC at high oxygen concentrations (5%  $CO_2 + 95\% O_2$ ) (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), the IVOC experiments in our study were performed in atmospheric oxygen concentrations (5%  $CO_2$  + air). As it has recently been reported that EHEC colonisation of T84 cells is enhanced by microaerobiosis in a T3S-dependent manner (Schüller and Phillips, 2010), we decided to test the effect of oxygen on EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies during IVOC. Infections with EHEC strain EDL933 were performed under atmospheric (5%  $CO_2$  + air) or oxygen-rich (5%  $CO_2$  + 95%  $O_2$ ) conditions and colonisation was quantified by SEM. As shown in Figure 3.13, infections performed in 95% oxygen resulted in a significantly reduced level of EHEC colonic colonisation compared with those performed in air (3.1 ± 0.7% vs. 43.1 ± 8.0%), indicating that high oxygen levels suppress EHEC colonic colonisation during IVOC.





### 3.3 | Discussion

EHEC is considered a colonic pathogen (Croxen and Finlay, 2010). Disease is associated with haemorrhagic colitis (HC), with inflammation and ulcer-like lesions found predominantly in the ascending and transverse colon, respectively (Griffin *et al.*, 1990; Shigeno *et al.*, 2002). Studies using cultured cell lines and animal models have linked pathogenesis with EHEC adherence and A/E lesion formation on IECs (reviewed in Croxen *et al.*, 2013), and it is postulated that EHEC A/E lesions on colonic epithelium contribute to disease during infection of humans. However, clinical evidence of EHEC binding to human intestinal epithelium is lacking (Kelly *et al.*, 1987; Malyukova *et al.*, 2009), and an *ex vivo* model system using human intestinal tissue and Stx-negative EHEC has failed to demonstrate EHEC binding to the colon (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000). In this study, we conducted an in-depth assessment of EHEC adherence to colonic epithelium using physiologically relevant models of human intestinal infection, with the aim of improving our understanding of EHEC-IEC interactions in the colon.

#### 3.3.1 | A/E lesion formation in vitro

The T84 human colonic carcinoma cell line has been widely used in the study of EHEC as it forms a polarised monolayer of colonic crypt-like cells in culture (Madara *et al.*, 1987) that do not express the Stx receptor Gb3 on their surface, in line with the situation *in vivo* (Schüller et al., 2004). We used this cell line to examine EHEC adherence to human colonic epithelial cells *in vitro*.

In this study, we found that EHEC did not induce typical A/E lesions on polarised T84 cells. Although bacteria colonised these cells and induced microvillous effacement, adherence sites were not associated with actin pedestal formation or Tir translocation into the plasma membrane. This is consistent with previous studies, which have reported EHEC adherence to polarised T84 cells with no discernible recruitment of actin (Ismaili *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1999). Since actin recruitment is dependent on the action of Tir within the host cell (reviewed in Frankel and Phillips, 2008), it seems likely that the observed lack of pedestals occurs as a direct result of the failure of EHEC to translocate Tir and/or failure of Tir to insert into the host cell

membrane. Interestingly, previous studies have found that EHEC bacteria adhered to T84 cells are able to subvert host cell signal processes such as epithelial barrier function and ion transport (Ismaili *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1999; Philpott *et al.*, 1998). Modulation of barrier function and ion transport by EHEC and EPEC has been attributed to the action of bacterial effector proteins such as EspF, EspF<sub>U</sub>, Map, Tir and NleA (Dean *et al.*, 2006; Hodges *et al.*, 2008; McNamara *et al.*, 2001; Viswanathan *et al.*, 2004), suggesting that bacteria adhered to polarised T84 cells are able to secrete effectors into the host cytosol. In agreement with this, we found EspA filaments protruding from adherent bacteria, indicating expression of the T3SS. Put together, these findings suggest that EHEC are able to adhere to polarised T84 cells, translocate effector proteins and modulate host cell signal transduction pathways independently of actin pedestal formation and Tir insertion into the plasma membrane.

Despite their failure to translocate Tir or recruit actin, adherent EHEC bacteria did induce microvillous effacement. This is in agreement with transmission electron micrographs presented by Li *et al.* (1999), which show a lack of microvilli on T84 cells loosely associated with EHEC bacteria at the plasma membrane. Furthermore, studies on EPEC adherence to human biopsies *ex vivo* have reported the presence of partial A/E lesions displaying two or fewer of its hallmarks: *ex vivo* infection of human intestinal biopsies with an intimin-deficient EPEC mutant caused microvillous effacement with no signs of intimate adherence (Shaw *et al.*, 2005), and EPEC strains of the pathogenic serotype O125:H6 have been shown to induce microvillous effacement and Tir translocation on biopsies without recruiting actin (Bai *et al.*, 2008). Our findings, together with published data, suggest that microvillous effacement occurs as the result of a distinct subversive pathway from that conferring intimate attachment and actin pedestal formation, highlighting the multiplicity of subversive elements involved in A/E lesion formation.

The bacterial factors responsible for microvillous effacement during EHEC infection are unknown, and studies with EPEC Tir have yielded conflicting results depending on the model system used. Whilst EPEC-associated microvillous effacement appears to be dependent on the Tir-intimin interaction in Caco-2 cells (Dean *et al.*, 2006; Dean *et al.*, 2013), Tir was not required for the same phenotype following human or

porcine IVOC (Girard *et al.*, 2005; Shaw *et al.*, 2005). Our data on EHEC suggest that Tir insertion into the plasma membrane is not required for microvillous effacement, although we cannot rule out the possibility that Tir is present at low levels in the cytosol and able to induce microvillous effacement from this location. It would be necessary to confirm this by comparing microvillous effacement in T84 cells following infection with wild-type and Tir-deficient mutant EHEC strains. EspF, Map and EspH have also been implicated in EPEC-mediated microvillous effacement (Dean *et al.*, 2006; Shaw *et al.*, 2005), and so it would be interesting to examine the role of these proteins during EHEC infection.

In contrast to what was seen on polarised T84 cells, EHEC formed actin pedestals and translocated Tir on non-polarised cells located in marginal areas or extruding from monolayers. We also observed a greater number of adherent bacteria on these cells compared with polarised cells, suggesting that EHEC preferentially binds to non-polarised T84 cells. Consistent with our findings, Li et al. (1999) also observed actin recruitment by EHEC only on T84 cells in marginal areas of the monolayer that did not appear polarised. The reason for this polarisation-dependency may lie in differences in the availability of binding receptors on the plasma membrane. For example, EHEC has been shown to preferentially bind to the phospholipid phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) (Barnett Foster et al., 1999), which becomes available in epithelial (including T84) cell membranes during apoptosis and cell shedding (Barnett Foster et al., 2000; Cotton, 1972). It is therefore possible that PE acts as a receptor for EHEC adherence to non-polarised, but not polarised, T84 cells; thereby promoting formation of A/E lesions. This could be tested by infecting T84 cells with EHEC following treatment with a PE inhibitor and assessing bacterial adherence to non-polarised cells. It would also be useful to compare PE levels and distribution on the surface of polarised vs. non-polarised cells in our model system. To date, it is not known which EHEC protein is responsible for the observed interaction with PE, but it could be one of several putative adhesins that have been identified (see section 3.9.3).

Unlike EHEC, EPEC readily colonised polarised T84 cells and induced actin pedestals. This was also observed in Li *et al.*'s study (1999) and suggests that these two pathotypes use different receptors for initial binding. EPEC is known to produce

two adhesins not found in EHEC: bundle-forming pili (Bfp), which bind to PE; and type I fimbriae, which bind to D-mannose-containing glycoproteins (Girón *et al.*, 1993; Giron *et al.*, 1991; Roe *et al.*, 2001). As PE also acts as an EHEC adherence receptor (Barnett Foster *et al.*, 2000; Barnett Foster *et al.*, 1999), it is unlikely that Bfp is responsible for the difference in adherence phenotype observed between EPEC and EHEC. It has been postulated that EHEC may interact with D-mannose-containing glycolipids *via* its long polar fimbriae (Lpf) (Farfan *et al.*, 2011), which show some sequence homology to EPEC type I fimbriae (Torres *et al.*, 2005b). However, no effect of D-mannose on Lpf-mediated EHEC adherence to HeLa cells was demonstrated in a recent study (Torres *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, it is possible that EPEC may adhere to polarised T84 cells through binding of its type I fimbriae to D-mannose-containing glycolipids. Alternatively, adherence may be mediated by some as-yet unidentified adhesin-receptor interaction.

#### 3.3.2 | A/E lesion formation ex vivo

In vitro organ culture (IVOC) of human intestinal biopsies represents the current gold standard method for studying EHEC-IEC interactions. A major advantage of IVOC over cell lines is that the former uses healthy native epithelium comprising all of the major cell types (e.g. enterocytes, goblet cells, autoendocrine cells), together with an in-tact mucus layer and microbiota (reviewed in Fang et al., 2013). The IVOC model has been used by Phillips and colleagues to examine EHEC colonisation of paediatric intestinal epithelium using Stx-negative EHEC strains (Chong et al., 2007; Phillips et al., 2000). They reported EHEC adherence to IECs on terminal ileal but not colonic biopsies. Similarly, examination of intestinal tissue from EHEC-infected patients has not revealed evidence of bacterial adherence, despite finding severe colonic histopathology (Kelly et al., 1987). In contrast, in vivo and ex vivo infection of gnotobiotic piglets, infant rabbits and neonatal calves resulted in colonisation of the colonic epithelium as well as other intestinal sites (Dean-Nystrom et al., 1997; Francis et al., 1986; Pai et al., 1986; Tzipori et al., 1986), creating a disparity between studies using human and animal tissue. These studies have called into question the role of A/E lesion formation in inducing colonic pathology during EHEC infection of humans.

As previous IVOC studies were conducted using Stx-negative EHEC strains (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), and because Stx has been implicated in EHEC adherence (Robinson *et al.*, 2006), we decided to re-investigate EHEC adherence to human colonic epithelium using wild-type EHEC. All strains colonised both terminal ileal and colonic epithelia, indicating that EHEC is able to adhere to human colonic IECs and likely does so *in vivo*. The reason why clinical samples from infected patients have failed to show EHEC colonic adherence is unclear, but it may be due to the fact that infections have often reached an advanced stage by the time colonoscopy takes place, by which time colonisation may have diminished or become obscured by the damaged mucosa. Collection of biopsy samples from infected patients at earlier time-points would clarify this point; however, such studies are ethically unsound due to the risk of perforation associated with performing endoscopy on HC sufferers (Nataro and Kaper, 1998).

It was noted that the distribution of EHEC colonies on the epithelium was not equal. Bacteria appeared to be predominantly localised to the surface epithelium between crypt openings on colonic samples and at villus tips on ileal samples. Bacteria were rarely observed deep within colonic crypts or on the lower half of ileal villi. These more luminal regions may confer the advantage of being positioned furthest away from antimicrobial peptides, which are present at high concentrations in crypts (reviewed in Cunliffe and Mahida, 2004).

EHEC adhered to colonic biopsies were associated with typical A/E lesions, characterised by intimate attachment, microvillous effacement and Tir translocation. This contrasts with our *in vitro* data on polarised T84 cells (Section 3.9.1), indicating that distinct interactions between EHEC and colonic IECs are taking place in each model. A similar disparity between *in vitro* and *ex vivo* model systems was reported during an EPEC study, in which Tir phosphorylation mutants were able to recruit actin in human intestinal biopsies but not in HeLa cells (Schüller *et al.*, 2007). This data highlights the risk associated with relying on cell culture models only.

While terminal ileal IECs displayed elongated microvilli at EHEC adherence sites, as shown previously (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), colonic IECs did not harbour this phenotype. This has also been observed following colonic bovine IVOC with EHEC (Girard *et al.*, 2007) and porcine IVOC with EPEC (Mundy *et al.*, 2007),

and most likely reflects differences in brush border composition between intestinal sites. Put together, our data indicate that EHEC adhered to human colonic epithelium subvert host processes and form A/E lesions *ex vivo*, which likely leads to the onset of colonic pathology during infection of humans.

#### 3.3.3 | Role of bacterial proteins in colonisation

A previous study by Robinson and colleagues identified a role for Stx in EHEC colonisation (Robinson et al., 2006). EHEC adherence to HeLa cells and colonisation of mice was significantly lower following infection with Stx-negative EHEC compared with wild-type, which was attributed to Stx-mediated enhancement in expression of surface nucleolin, a host-derived intimin-receptor. As previous human IVOC studies using Stx-negative EHEC failed to demonstrate EHEC adherence to colonic biopsies (Chong et al., 2007; Phillips et al., 2000), we tested the hypothesis that Stx is required for EHEC adherence to human colonic epithelium. Infection of both colonic biopsies and polarised T84 cells with an Stx deletion mutant resulted in comparable colonisation to that of the wild-type strain, suggesting that Stx does not influence EHEC colonisation of colonic IECs in vitro or ex vivo. The reason why Stx appears to influence EHEC colonisation of mice and HeLa cells but not T84 cells or human biopsy epithelium is unclear, but it should be noted that an enhancing effect of Stx on intestinal epithelial nucleolin surface levels has not yet been reported. It would therefore be interesting to investigate the effect of Stx on nucleolin redistribution in HeLa vs. T84 cells and/or intestinal biopsies in order to clarify the role of this phenomenon in EHEC adherence.

Intimin was the first bacterial protein shown to play a role in A/E bacterial adherence, with the discovery that deletion of the gene encoding intimin (*eae*) inhibited EPEC attachment and pedestal formation on HeLa cells (Jerse *et al.*, 1990). Intimin mediates adherence *via* binding to Tir, which is translocated into the host cell through the T3SS (reviewed in Frankel and Phillips, 2008). EHEC adherence to HeLa cells has been shown to be dependent on expression of intimin, Tir and the T3SS (DeVinney *et al.*, 1999; Ebel *et al.*, 1998; McKee *et al.*, 1995), and an essential role for intimin during *in vivo* infection of infant rabbits, gnotobiotic piglets and neonatal calves has also been demonstrated (Dean-Nystrom *et al.*, 1998b;

Donnenberg *et al.*, 1993; Ritchie *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, human IVOC studies have shown that intimin and Tir are essential for EHEC binding to small intestinal epithelium (Fitzhenry *et al.*, 2002; Schüller *et al.*, 2007). We therefore determined the role of intimin and T3S in EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies and polarised T84 cells. Colonic biopsies infected with mutant EHEC strains carrying deletions in *eae*, *espA* or *escN* showed no evidence of bacterial adherence or A/E lesions, confirming that intimin and T3S are essential for EHEC colonisation of human colonic biopsies.

In addition to Tir, it has been shown that two host-derived receptors also interact with intimin *in vitro*. EPEC intimin binds  $\beta$ 1-integrin (Frankel *et al.*, 1996), which is usually restricted to the basolateral membrane of IECs but is redistributed apically in T84 cells during infection-mediated disruption of epithelial barrier function (Muza-Moons *et al.*, 2003). The second host molecule, nucleolin, has been shown to bind EHEC intimin, and competitive inhibition of nucleolin activity reduces EHEC adherence to HeLa cells (Sinclair and O'Brien, 2002). Although we did not look specifically at the role of host-derived intimin receptors in our IVOC model, the fact that the T3SS is required for adherence and that Tir is present beneath adherent bacteria suggests that intimin-dependent EHEC adherence occurs through binding to a translocated bacterial receptor (i.e. Tir) rather than a host receptor.

In contrast to what was found *ex vivo*, colonisation of polarised T84 cells was unaffected in EHEC strains lacking functional intimin and the T3SS apparatus, compared with that of the wild type. This suggests that EHEC adhere to polarised T84 cells *via* a different mechanism to that used during colonisation of colonic biopsies; one which does not involve intimin or T3S and does not lead to the formation of typical A/E lesions (see section 3.9.1). It is possible that T84 cells express a receptor on their surface that is not expressed on colonic IECs *in vivo* and confers adherence *via* an adhesin other than intimin. A number of putative adhesins have been described in EHEC O157:H7, which are listed in Table 1.1. Although the identity of host-derived receptors for most of these adhesins is currently unknown, binding to extracellular matrix proteins has been demonstrated for Lpf1, ELF, HCP, F9, EhaB and EhaJ (Easton *et al.*, 2011; Farfan *et al.*, 2011; Low *et al.*, 2009; Wells *et al.*, 2009; Xicohtencatl-Cortes *et al.*, 2009).

However, the role of these putative adhesins in EHEC adherence to polarised T84 cells has not been investigated.

#### 3.3.4 | Role of host age and oxygen on colonisation

Since the use of Stx-positive vs. Stx-negative EHEC strains did not explain the discrepancy in colonic colonisation seen between previous human IVOC studies (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000) and our own, we sought to ascertain which other factors might be responsible. Whereas Phillips and colleagues performed IVOC on biopsies from paediatric patients and in 95% oxygen, our IVOCs used adult biopsies and atmospheric oxygen concentrations. We first examined the role of host age on EHEC colonic colonisation during IVOC. Infection of paediatric colonic biopsies with strains EDL933 and Walla-1 resulted in colonisation, with an adherence phenotype indistinguishable from that observed following IVOC of adult biopsies. This is consistent with a published IVOC study using EPEC, which reported no difference in bacterial colonisation on adult vs. paediatric biopsies (Humphries *et al.*, 2009). Our findings indicate that host age was not the determining factor for EHEC colonisation in our model system.

IVOC is traditionally performed in an oxygen-rich atmosphere (95%) in order to facilitate gas exchange in the tissue and thereby maximise survival (Deschner *et al.*, 1963; Fang *et al.*, 2013). However, oxygen concentrations in the intestinal lumen are much lower, with levels estimated at 1.4% of atmospheric pressure in the mouse colon (He *et al.*, 1999). A recent bovine IVOC study found that EHEC infections performed at atmospheric oxygen concentrations (21%) yielded colonisation with no detrimental effects on tissue integrity, whilst no colonisation was observed following IVOC at 95% oxygen concentrations (Girard *et al.*, 2007). We tested the effect of oxygen in our human IVOC model by performing EHEC infections in either 95% oxygen or air and comparing the degree of colonisation. We found a significant reduction in colonisation during IVOCs performed in 95% oxygen compared with air, with the former condition almost completely suppressing colonisation. These data indicate that oxygen inhibits EHEC adherence to colonic biopsies, and implicate high oxygen levels as the inhibitory factor for EHEC colonisation in past IVOC studies (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000).

Oxygen has also been shown to affect EHEC adherence to colonic IECs in vitro. By performing infections in a vertical diffusion chamber system, which enables the generation of separate apical and basolateral environments, Schüller and Phillips (2010) demonstrated that microaerobiosis (1-1.7% oxygen) enhanced EHEC colonisation of T84 cells compared with aerobiosis. Adherent bacteria produced higher amounts of Tir and EspA under microaerobic conditions compared with aerobic. Similarly, Ando and colleagues (2007) have shown that EHEC grown in anaerobic conditions secrete higher levels of Tir and EspB compared with those grown in aerobic conditions. Therefore, it seems likely that microaerobic conditions in the gut favour EHEC colonisation of colonic IECs by promoting T3S and A/E lesion formation. Unfortunately, it is not possible to investigate EHEC adherence to colonic biopsies in microaerobic conditions as epithelial cell integrity is compromised by the lack of oxygenation (Schüller, personal communication). To date, the molecular mechanisms underlying oxygen-mediated inhibition of adherence have not been investigated. Expression of LEE genes (involved in A/E lesion formation) are known to be controlled by a number of regulatory systems, including the Pch proteins, QS signalling proteins, and the acid stress regulator GadE (Connolly et al., 2015; Figure 1.9). These systems are responsive to external conditions such as pH and the presence of host hormones and bacterial metabolites. Therefore, it would be interesting to determine whether any of these regulatory systems are involved in oxygen-mediated inhibition of EHEC adherence.

Interestingly, previous IVOC studies using high oxygen levels reported EHEC colonisation of distal small intestinal biopsies but not the colon (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), suggesting that the inhibitory effects of oxygen are not felt or are less potent in the former compared with the latter. Colonisation was largely restricted to the follicular associated epithelium (FAE) of Peyer's patches (Fitzhenry *et al.*, 2002; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), although additional colonisation of villi adjacent to Peyer's patches was seen in one study (Chong *et al.*, 2007). In contrast, our IVOC experiments using atmospheric oxygen levels resulted in extensive colonisation of villi regardless of their proximity to FAE, suggesting that oxygen does suppress adherence to small intestinal biopsies, albeit not as efficiently as to colonic biopsies. One possible explanation is that EHEC colonises FAE *via* a mechanism distinct from that used in other regions, one that is unaffected by oxygen. Alternatively, the small

intestinal epithelium may be easier to colonise than the colon, perhaps due to the thinner mucus layer and less microbiota, which may permit bacterial adherence even in the presence of inhibitory oxygen levels.

#### 3.3.5 | Summary

In this study, we have demonstrated for the first time that EHEC colonises human colonic biopsies *ex vivo* and forms A/E lesions, which likely contribute to colonic pathogenesis during *in vivo* infection. Colonisation was dependent on intimin and T3S, and was suppressed by high oxygen levels traditionally used in IVOC. In contrast, EHEC adherence to polarised T84 cells did not lead to Tir translocation into the host cell membrane and was mediated by factors other than T3S and intimin. Our findings highlight the disparities that can arise between experiments on cultured cell lines and human tissue, and emphasise the importance of using physiologically relevant model systems such as IVOC to study EHEC-IEC interactions.

## **CHAPTER FOUR**

## INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO EHEC INFECTION

**Collaborative work:** 

Biopsies provided by Alison Prior, Vivienne Cook, Simon Chan and William Gelson

qPCR support provided by Nigel Belshaw and Giles Elliott

SEM support provided by Bertrand Lézé

A manuscript containing work from this chapter is currently under revision with Infection and Immunity

#### 4.1 | Introduction

EHEC infection is associated with a moderate inflammatory response in the intestinal mucosa, characterised by recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection (Griffin *et al.*, 1990; Kelly *et al.*, 1990; Kelly *et al.*, 1987). In addition, infected patients suffering from haemolytic uraemic syndrome (HUS) have been shown to harbour elevated circulatory levels of neutrophil chemoattractant interleukin-8 (IL-8) compared with healthy controls (Fitzpatrick *et al.*, 1992; Murata *et al.*, 1998), suggesting that this cytokine plays an important role in the innate immune response to infection. Accordingly, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that intestinal carcinoma cells express IL-8 in response to EHEC infection (Berin *et al.*, 2002; Dahan *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2003), although other bacterial factors such as Shiga toxins (Stxs), long polar fimbriae (Lpf) and haemorrhagic coli pili (HCP) have also been implicated (Farfan *et al.*, 2013; Ledesma *et al.*, 2010; Thorpe *et al.*, 2001; Yamasaki *et al.*, 1999). To date, the IL-8 response to EHEC infection has been studied only in carcinoma cell lines and not in human colonic epithelium.

In addition to secretion of cytokines, intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) are also known to produce antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) and proteins (e.g. lysozyme). These short cationic peptides constitute an important part of the innate immune system, performing direct bactericidal functions as well as regulating various inflammatory processes (Muniz et al., 2012). AMPs known to be produced by colonic epithelium, the site of EHEC colonisation, include human  $\beta$ -defensins (hBDs) 1-4, the cathelicidin LL-37, and lysozyme (Fahlgren et al., 2003, 2004; Hase et al., 2002). Expression of several AMPs appears to be modulated during infection with enteric bacteria and/or inflammation. hBD2-4 and lysozyme expression is enhanced in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) sufferers compared with healthy controls, and hBD2 is also stimulated upon infection with invasive and non-invasive bacteria including Salmonella, Campylobacter, Shigella, and enteropathogenic and enteroinvasive E. coli (EPEC; EIEC) (Hase et al., 2002; Khan et al., 2008; O'Neil et al., 1999; Ogushi et al., 2001; Zilbauer et al., 2005). Conversely, expression of hBD1 and LL-37 has been shown to decrease following infection with Shigella spp., enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC) and *Vibrio cholerae*, which is thought to represent a

bacterial attempt to dampen the innate immune response and thereby increase the chance of survival (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008; Islam *et al.*, 2001; Sperandio *et al.*, 2008). As yet, the influence of EHEC infection on AMP expression in human colonic epithelium has not been examined.

In this study, we sought to characterise the innate immune response to EHEC infection in human colonic epithelium using physiologically relevant IEC models. In our previous study, we demonstrated that EHEC colonise human colonic epithelium during IVOC (Chapter 3; Lewis *et al.*, 2015). Schuller *et al.* (2009) have previously developed a polarised version of the IVOC model (pIVOC) to study the IL-8 response to enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) in human duodenal biopsy epithelium. pIVOC restricts bacterial access to the epithelium and away from immune cells in the lamina propria, thus allowing examination of the epithelial immune response in biopsies. Therefore, we adapted this model for use with EHEC and colonic biopsies. We also determined the innate immune response *in vitro* using polarised T84 human colonic carcinoma cells, which are widely used in EHEC infection studies.

The objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Determine whether EHEC infection affects expression of AMPs and IL-8 in human colonic epithelium *in vitro* and *ex vivo*
- 2. Identify which bacterial proteins influence the innate immune response
- 3. Ascertain which inflammatory signalling pathways are involved
- 4. Determine the direction of IL-8 and AMP secretion

### 4.2 | Results

#### 4.2.1 | Selection of EHEC strains

In order to obtain a representative overview of the innate immune response to EHEC, we included several EHEC strains in our study. To aid in the selection of suitable strains, eight wild-type EHEC strains were screened for their ability to colonise epithelial cells and produce Stx. This set of strains included the widely-used prototypes EDL933 and Walla-1, the enteroaggregative/enterohaemorrhagic hybrid strain (H1121) responsible for the 2011 German outbreak, and five other O157:H7 clinical isolates from cases in the UK (Table 2.1). All strains express Stx2(a) only except for EDL933, which also releases Stx1(a) but to a much lesser extent (Tran et al., 2014). Stx2-producing strains were selected due to the fact that Stx2 is more closely associated with severe disease in humans compared with Stx1 (Boerlin et al., 1999; Werber et al., 2003). Infections were performed on cultured Vero African green monkey kidney cells, as these are easily colonised by EHEC and readily internalise Stx (Konowalchuk et al., 1977). Following infection, Stx2 levels in culture medium were quantified by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), and cells were examined for internalised Stx2 and bacterial colonisation by immunofluorescence staining.

As shown in Figure 4.1A, the amount of Stx2 released into culture medium during infection varied between EHEC strains. Prototype strain EDL933 and H07184 released the highest levels of Stx2, while significantly lower levels were released by all other strains. Infection with H09374 resulted in an intermediate level of Stx2 release, significantly lower than EDL933 and H07184 but higher than other strains. The amount of internalised Stx2 in Vero cells mirrored this pattern, with Stx2 clearly visible inside cells that had been infected with EDL933 and H07184 but not with other strains (Figure 4.1B, data shown for E1353).

Colonisation levels also varied between strains. As shown in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.1, strain H1121 colonised most extensively and displayed an aggregative adherence phenotype distinct from the loose-localised pattern exhibited by the other strains. In addition, H1121 was not associated with polymerised actin beneath the site of attachment, in line with the fact that the genome of this strain is of primarily EAEC origin and does not contain genes necessary for A/E lesion formation (e.g. *eae*)



Figure 4.1. Level of Stx2 produced by EHEC differs between strains during infection of Vero cells. Cells on coverslips were infected with EHEC strains or exposed to purified Stx2 for 4 hours. (A) Stx protein levels in culture medium were measured by ELISA. Stx levels were normalised relative to bacterial growth, determined by measuring optical density ( $OD_{600}$ ) of culture medium. Data shown as means  $\pm$  SE from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Letters above bars indicate groups of significant differences. (B) Cells were immunostained for Stx2 (red), actin (green) and nuclei (blue). Images represent those from two independent experiment in duplicate. Scale bars = 5 µm.



**Figure 4.2. EHEC colonisation of Vero cells.** Cells on coverslips were infected with EHEC strains for 4 hours. Cells infected with Walla-1, EDL933 and H07184 were immunostained for *E. coli* (red), actin (green) and nuclei (blue), whilst those infected with H1121 were stained for nuclei (blue) only. Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars =  $10 \mu m$ .

(Bielaszewska *et al.*, 2011; Rasko *et al.*, 2011). Of the remaining EHEC strains, Walla-1 showed the highest level of colonisation, followed by EDL933. Intermediate levels of colonisation were observed following infection with E1353, H07184 and H07462, whilst very few adherent bacteria were found on cells infected with H10354 and H09374. Interestingly, the relative ability of strains to colonise epithelial cells did not appear to correlate with the ability to produce Stx2, indicating that expression of the two phenotypes is mutually exclusive.

Consequently, three strains were selected for further analysis that together encompassed the various extremes in phenotype expression: EDL933 as a high coloniser and high Stx producer; Walla-1 as a high coloniser and low Stx2 producer, and H07184 as an intermediate coloniser and high Stx2 producer.

Strain	<b>Relative colonisation</b>
H1121	+++++
Walla-1	+++++
EDL933	++++
E1353	+++
H07184	++
H07462	++
H10354	+
H09374	+

**Table 4.1. EHEC colonisation of Vero cells differs between strains.** Cells on coverslips were infected with EHEC strains for 4 hours. The relative colonisation level of each strain was determined by visually assessing the amount of adherent bacteria following immunostaining for *E. coli*, actin and nuclei (see Figure 4.2 for images). Number of + symbols indicates the extent of bacterial colonisation.

We next examined virulence trait expression during infection of human colonic epithelial cells, the primary target cells of EHEC. Polarised T84 cells grown in Transwell inserts (as described in section 3.2.2) were infected with EDL933, Walla-1 or H07184 for 9 hours. Bacterial overgrowth and loss of epithelial integrity was prevented by removal of the inoculum after 3 hours and subsequent hourly medium exchange. After infection, Stx2 release and colonisation levels were quantified. Release of Stx2 followed a similar pattern to that seen during infection of Vero cells, with EDL933 releasing the highest amount, followed by H07184, then Walla-1 (Figure 4.3A). The ability of strains to colonise T84 cells was also similar to that seen with Vero cell infections, with EDL933 and H07184 showing high and low levels (respectively) (Figure 4.3B). These data indicate that the virulence trait expression profile of each strain is distinct during infection of polarised T84 cells, and therefore these strains were used to investigate the effect of EHEC on AMP expression in human colonic epithelium.



Figure 4.3. Stx2 production and colonisation by EHEC strains during infection of polarised T84 cells. Cells were apically infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 and H07184 for 9 hours. (A) Stx2 protein levels in culture medium were measured by ELISA and normalised relative to bacterial growth in culture medium, determined by measuring OD600 after 1 hour. (B) Colonisation was quantified by plating serial dilutions of cell lysates and determining numbers of colony-forming units. Colonisation is expressed as the percentage of adherent bacteria relative to the inoculum. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SE of four (A) or five (B) independent experiments performed in duplicate. Asterisks denote significant differences. \* = P < 0.05

## 4.2.2 | Apical EHEC infection of polarised T84 cells induces hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression

To determine whether EHEC influences innate immune gene expression in human colonic epithelium, polarised T84 cells were infected for 9 hours with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 or H07184. To prevent loss of epithelial barrier function due to bacterial overgrowth and acidification of culture medium, medium was exchanged at 3 hours post-infection (PI) and hourly thereafter. Barrier function was monitored by measuring the TER at regular intervals. Following infection, total RNA was harvested and expression of hBD1-4, LL-37, lysozyme and IL-8 in infected monolayers was determined relative to non-infected (NI) controls by quantitative PCR (qPCR) analysis. Primers for each gene of interest (Table 2.3) were validated for specificity and amplification efficiency before use in qPCR assays (Figure 4.4). Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and RNA polymerase II (POLR2A) were used to normalise qPCR data, as expression of these genes in T84



**Figure 4.4. Validation of primer specificity and amplification efficiency.** (**A**) Dissociation curves were generated for each primer pair. Primers were deemed specific when curves consisted of only one peak. Curves are representative of those generated with every qPCR performed. (**B**) Agarose gel electrophoresis analysis of

qPCR product size. Image is representative of data from two independent experiments. (C) Amplification efficiency of each primer pair. Two-fold serial dilutions of cDNA were prepared and run in a qPCR assay with each primer. Cycle threshold (Ct) values were plotted onto a scatter graph and the slope was used to calculate the primer efficiency. Efficiencies ranging from ~95 to 130% were considered acceptable. Data are representative of those from 2 independent experiments.

cells was unaffected by EHEC infection (Figure 4.5B). Figure 4.5A shows that the TER of T84 cell monolayers was not significantly affected by infection with any of the EHEC strains compared with non-infected (NI) cells. As shown in Figure 4.5C, all three EHEC strains induced a significant increase in expression of hBD2 (21.5  $\pm$  9.1 fold for EDL933, 70.4  $\pm$  21.8 fold for Walla-1, and 31.5  $\pm$  2.0 fold for H07184) and IL-8 (6.0  $\pm$  1.6 fold for EDL933, 8.3  $\pm$  2.4 fold for Walla-1, and 8.2  $\pm$  3.9 fold for H07184) mRNA compared with NI controls, whereas no change was observed for hBD1, hBD3, LL-37 or lysozyme. No amplification product was detected for hBD4. No obvious correlation between IL-8/hBD2 expression and colonisation or Stx2 production was observed.

In order to determine the kinetics of hBD2 and IL-8 induction, T84 cells were infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 3-12 hours. Results in Figure 4.6 show that expression of both hBD2 and IL-8 was significantly induced from 6 hours PI, and this induction increased in magnitude up to 12 hours PI. Although induction levels were highest after 12-hour infections, practical factors favoured a shorter protocol, and so an infection time of 9 hours was selected for subsequent experiments.







Figure 4.6. Kinetics of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in EHEC-infected T84 cells. Cells were apically infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 3–12 hours, or left NI for 12 hours. Fold mRNA expression in infected cells was quantified relative to NI controls using qPCR. Data represents means  $\pm$  SE of duplicate samples from a single experiment. Asterisks denote significant differences from non-infected cells. \* = P < 0.05; \*\* = P < 0.01; \*\*\* = P < 0.001.

#### 4.2.3 | Development of human colonic polarised IVOC

To examine the IL-8 and AMP response to EHEC in human colonic epithelium *ex vivo*, we established a polarised *in vitro* organ culture (pIVOC) model for human colonic biopsy tissue. This method was based on a previously published pIVOC method used to investigate the IL-8 response to EPEC in paediatric duodenal biopsies (Schüller *et al.*, 2009), and is designed to restrict bacterial access to the mucosal surface and away from immune cells in the submucosa. Colonic biopsy samples were sandwiched between two perspex disks with part of the mucosal surface exposed through a central aperture. Samples were then mounted into Snapwell supports (Figure 2.2) and apically infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for either 5 or 7 hours. Samples showing bacterial leakage into the basolateral medium, indicated by increasing acidification and turbidity, were excluded from analysis. After infection, tissue integrity and bacterial colonisation were assessed by scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Figure 4.7 shows preserved epithelium on tissue located within the central aperture at 7 hours PI. Colonisation of epithelium was observed



**Figure 4.7. Development of colonic pIVOC.** Human colonic biopsies were sandwiched between two Perspex disks and mounted into Snapwell supports, restricting bacterial access to the mucosal side. Biopsies were infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 or H07184, or given LB alone, for 7 hours and examined by scanning electron microscopy (SEM). (A) Biopsy tissue exposed through the central aperture (area within white circle) showed preserved epithelium. Scale bar =  $200 \ \mu m$ . (B) Intact colonic surface epithelium at higher magnification. Scale bar =  $50 \ \mu m$  (C) EHEC strain EDL933 colonised epithelium. Scale bar =  $2 \ \mu m$ . Images represent those from three independent experiments performed in duplicate.

following infections lasting both 5 and 7 hours, but was most widespread after the latter time point (Figure 4.7C). Therefore, subsequent pIVOC infections were performed for 7 hours.
# 4.2.4 | Apical EHEC infection of human colonic biopsies results in increased hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression

The influence of EHEC on innate immune gene expression in human colonic epithelium *ex vivo* was investigated using pIVOC. Polarised biopsies were apically infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 and H07184 for 7 hours and gene expression was determined by qPCR. As shown in Figure 4.8, EHEC infection resulted in a significant increase in hBD2 (median fold increase = 8.1 for EDL933 and 5.7 for H07184) and IL-8 (median fold increase = 6.6 for EDL933, 5.2 for Walla-1, and 4.8 for H07184) mRNA expression compared with NI controls. Conversely, no effect of infection on hBD1, LL-37 or lysozyme expression was observed. Transcript levels of hBD3 and hBD4 were often below the detection threshold, which precluded analysis of these genes. However, transcripts of corresponding size were detected within some samples, thereby confirming functionality of the qPCR assay (data not shown). In line with results from T84 cell experiments, the level of hBD2 and IL-8 induction by all three EHEC strains was comparable.



Figure 4.8. Innate immune gene expression in human colonic biopsies following apical EHEC infection. Biopsies were infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1 and H07184, or given LB alone (NI control), for 7 hours. Fold mRNA expression of select innate immune genes in infected biopsies was quantified relative to NI controls using qPCR. Each data point represents an individual biopsy from a total of six patients. Medians are indicated by a line. Asterisks denote significant differences from NI controls. \* = P < 0.05, \*\* = P < 0.01.

# 4.2.5 | EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in human colonic IECs is dependent on flagellin

To ascertain which EHEC proteins were responsible for the observed induction of hBD2 and IL-8 in human colonic epithelium, polarised T84 cells were infected with wild-type (WT) EHEC strain EDL933 or isogenic deletion mutants unable to express either *fliC* (encoding flagellin, the main constituent of the flagellum), *escN* (EscN, ATPase of the T3SS) or stx (Stx). Infection for 9 hours with these strains did not affect epithelial barrier function, as determined by TER (data not shown). Expression of hBD2 and IL-8 mRNA was then quantified by qPCR. Whilst infection with WT,  $\Delta escN$  and  $\Delta stx$  resulted in significant induction of hBD2 (48.6 ± 12.3 fold for WT,  $60.5 \pm 15.6$  fold for  $\triangle escN$ , and  $41.5 \pm 8.3$  fold for  $\triangle stx$ ) and IL-8 ( $5.6 \pm 1.3$  fold for wt, 7.5  $\pm$  1.2 fold for  $\triangle escN$ , and 4.9  $\pm$  0.3 fold for  $\triangle stx$ ) expression relative to NI controls, no significant induction was observed following infection with the  $\Delta fliC$ mutant (Figure 4.9A). It has been shown that flagellin plays a role in EHEC binding to bovine intestinal epithelium and mucus (Erdem et al., 2007; Mahajan et al., 2009). To ascertain whether the lack of hBD2 and IL-8 gene induction in the  $\Delta fliC$  mutant was attributable to grossly impaired binding to IECs, immunofluorescence staining was performed on infected T84 cells. As shown in Figure 4.9B, colonisation of T84 cells by the  $\Delta fliC$  mutant was comparable to that of the WT strain.

We then determined the role of EHEC proteins on induction of colonic epithelial hBD2 and IL-8 expression *ex vivo*. Apical infection of human colonic biopsies with EDL933 WT,  $\Delta escN$  and  $\Delta stx$  strains resulted in a significant induction of hBD2 (median fold increase = 15.9 for wt, 14.3 for  $\Delta escN$ , and 17.8 for  $\Delta stx$ ) and IL-8 (median fold increase = 3.6 for wt, 3.1 for  $\Delta escN$ , and 4.9 for  $\Delta stx$ ) expression vs NI controls. In contrast, no change in hBD2 and IL-8 expression was observed in  $\Delta fliC$ -infected epithelium (Figure 4.10A). As seen with T84 cells, the  $\Delta fliC$  mutant displayed no marked impairment of colonisation to colonic biopsies when examined using SEM (Figure 4.10B).

As it has been reported that long polar fimbriae (Lpf) and the haemorrhagic coli pilus (HCP) trigger innate immune gene expression in T84 cells during EHEC infection (Farfan *et al.*, 2013; Ledesma *et al.*, 2010), we investigated whether these factors



Figure 4.9. EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in T84 cells is dependent on flagellin. (A) T84 cells were apically infected for 9 hours with wildtype (WT) EHEC strain EDL933 or isogenic mutants lacking either *fliC*, *escN* or *stx*; or left uninfected. Fold mRNA expression in infected monolayers was quantified relative to uninfected controls using qPCR. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SE from three independent experiments performed in duplicate. Asterisks denote significant differences from uninfected cells. \*\*\* = P < 0.001. (B) T84 cells were apically infected with WT EDL933 or an isogenic *fliC* deletion mutant for 6 hours. Colonisation was visualised by immunofluorescence staining for *E. coli* (red) and actin (green). Images represent those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Scale bars = 5 µm.







Figure 4.11. Lpf and HCP are not involved in EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in T84 cells. T84 cells were apically infected for 9 hours with wild-type (WT) EHEC strain 85-170 or isogenic mutants lacking either *lpfA1* or *hcp*; or left uninfected. Fold mRNA expression in infected monolayers was quantified relative to uninfected controls using qPCR. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SE from three independent experiments performed in duplicate. Asterisks denote significant differences from uninfected cells. \*\*\* = P < 0.001.

played a role in the IL-8 and hBD2 response to EHEC in our system. Polarised T84 cells were infected for 9 hours with wild-type (WT) EHEC strain 85-170 or isogenic deletion mutants unable to express either *lpfA1* or *hcp*. As shown in Figure 4.11, infection with wild type and both mutant strains induced a significant increase in expression of hBD2 (195.9 ± 50.1 fold for WT, 168.6 ± 40.4 fold for  $\Delta hcp$ , and 163.4 ± 26.8 fold for  $\Delta lpfA1$ ) and IL-8 (84.3 ± 21.8 fold for WT, 157.5 ± 45.7 fold for  $\Delta hcp$ , and 88.4 ± 28.0 fold for  $\Delta lpfA1$ ) compared with NI controls, suggesting that neither Lpf nor HCP are required for the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC in colonic IECs.

# 4.2.6 | Purified EHEC flagellin induces hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in human colonic IECs

To ascertain whether exposure of human colonic IECs to flagellin is sufficient to induce hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression, polarised T84 cells were incubated with EHEC strain EDL933 or various concentrations of purified LPS-free monomeric H7 flagellin (kindly donated by David Gally, University of Edinburgh, UK) for 9 hours. Epithelial barrier function was monitored by measuring TER throughout the procedure and no effect from any condition was observed (data not shown). Analysis of mRNA expression levels by qPCR revealed a dose-dependent hBD2 response to purified flagellin, with induction levels for 1 µg/ml flagellin approximating those observed for infection with EDL933 (101.5  $\pm$  24.0 fold for flagellin and 99.0  $\pm$  23.0 fold for EDL933). In contrast, induction of IL-8 by flagellin was not strictly dosedependent and did not reach levels observed following infection with EDL933 (Figure 4.12A). To determine whether the IL-8 response to flagellin peaked at an earlier time-point, a kinetic assay was performed whereby cells were incubated with flagellin for 1-9 hours. Results in Figure 4.12B show that, whilst expression of hBD2 was highest after 6-9 hours of exposure to flagellin, IL-8 expression levels peaked much earlier at 1-3 hours post-exposure. Subsequently, IL-8 induction by flagellin was re-examined at the revised time point of 2 hours post-exposure, and a dosesensitive response was observed with similar induction levels for 1  $\mu$ g/ml flagellin and EDL933 infection ( $62.6 \pm 8.9$  fold for flagellin and  $80.8 \pm 10.5$  fold for EDL933) (Figure 4.12C).







Figure 4.13. Purified flagellin induces hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in human colonic biopsies. Biopsies were apically exposed to 1 µg/ml purified H7 flagellin or given LB alone (NI control) for 7 hours. Fold mRNA expression in treated vs. NI control samples was determined by qPCR. Each data point represents an individual biopsy from a total of 4 patients. Medians are indicated by a line. Asterisks denote significant differences from untreated cells. \* = P < 0.05; \*\* = P < 0.01.

We next sought to determine whether flagellin had an effect on hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression in colonic biopsy epithelium *ex vivo*. Following exposure to 1  $\mu$ g/ml purified flagellin for 7 hours, colonic biopsies expressed significantly higher levels of hBD2 (median fold increase = 5.3) and IL-8 (median fold increase = 2.2) mRNA compared with NI controls (Figure 4.13).

### 4.2.7 | Involvement of NF-κB and MAPK signalling pathways in the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC

To elucidate the regulatory mechanisms underlying the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC in colonic IECs, NF- $\kappa$ B and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Figure 1.14) were inhibited in T84 cells prior to treatment with purified H7 flagellin. This was achieved by using chemical inhibitors targeting NF- $\kappa$ B (MG-132) and the MAPKs p38 (SB20358), JNK (SP600125), and ERK1/2 (PD98059). TER was measured before and after the procedure, and expression of hBD2 and IL-8 was quantified using qPCR. As shown in Figure 4.14A, cells treated with the NF- $\kappa$ B



Figure 4.14. Involvement of NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK signalling pathways in the hBD2 and IL-8 response to purified flagellin. T84 cells were apically and basolaterally exposed to 25  $\mu$ M MG-132 (NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor), SB203580 (p38 kinase inhibitor), SP600125 (JNK inhibitor) or PD98059 (ERK1/2 inhibitor), or left untreated (nontreated (NT) and control) for 1 hour. Purified H7 flagellin (0.1  $\mu$ g/mL) was then added apically to all wells except NT for 6 hours. (A) TER of cell monolayers following treatment, expressed as a percentage relative to TER before treatment. Asterisks denote significant differences before vs. after treatment. (B) Fold mRNA expression in treated monolayers was quantified relative to NT cells using qPCR. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  SE from three independent experiments performed in

duplicate. Asterisks denote significant differences from control cells. \*\*\* = P < 0.001.

inhibitor exhibited a significant reduction in TER, whilst the other inhibitors had no detectable effect. Figure 4.14B shows that flagellin-treated cells expressed significantly higher amounts of hBD2 (757.2  $\pm$  97.7% increase) and IL-8 (873.3  $\pm$  202.6% increase) mRNA when pre-exposed to the NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor compared with non-treated controls. In contrast, pre-exposure to p38 and JNK inhibitors significantly attenuated the hBD2 response to flagellin (73.5  $\pm$  3.5% decrease for p38, 76.3  $\pm$  3.4% decrease for JNK), and inhibition of ERK1/2 caused a less-pronounced suppressive effect (33.1  $\pm$  7.1% decrease). Similarly, IL-8 expression was markedly reduced in flagellin-treated cells pre-exposed to all three MAPK inhibitors (59.9  $\pm$  10.7% decrease for p38, 47.7  $\pm$  8.8% decrease for JNK, 63.6  $\pm$  5.2% decrease for ERK1/2), although this did not reach significance (Figure 4.14B). These data suggest that MAPK signalling, particularly the p38 and JNK pathways, is involved in the hBD2 response to EHEC infection.

#### 4.2.8 | Effect of EHEC on IL-8 protein expression in T84 cells

Having demonstrated EHEC induction of IL-8 mRNA expression, we next sought to determine whether this effect extended to the protein level. Polarised T84 cells were apically infected with EHEC strain EDL933 or incubated with the IL-8 inducer interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/ml) for 24 hours. To prevent cell death and loss of epithelial barrier function due to bacterial overgrowth and acidification of culture medium, gentamicin (200  $\mu$ g/ml) was added to the culture medium after 1 hour. This treatment reduced the rate of bacterial growth to a level that did not compromise epithelial barrier function after 24 hours, as determined by TER (data not shown). At the end of the incubation, IL-8 protein levels were determined in cell lysates and in apical and basolateral culture media by ELISA. As shown in Figure 4.15A, apical EDL933 infection was associated with a significant increase in IL-8 levels in apical media (240.9 ± 27.4 vs 32.0 ± 6.1 pg/well in NI controls) and to a lesser extent in cell lysates (88.9 ± 21.5 vs 16.6 ± 1.4 pg/well in NI controls) but not in basolateral



Figure 4.15. IL-8 protein secretion in T84 cells following EHEC infection. (A) Cells were apically exposed to EHEC strain EDL933, IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/ml), or left untreated (NI), for 24 hours. Protein levels in apical and basolateral media, and in cell lysates, were determined by ELISA. Data are shown as means ± SE of three independent experiments performed in duplicate. (B) Cells were exposed apically (AP) or basolaterally (BL) to EHEC strain EDL933, purified H7 flagellin (1 µg/ml), or left untreated (NI), for 24 hours. Protein levels in apical (white columns) and basolateral (black bars) media were determined by ELISA. Data are shown as means ± SE of two independent experiments performed in triplicate. Asterisks denote significance differences from NI samples. \*\* = P < 0.05; \*\*\* = P < 0.001.

media. IL-1 $\beta$  treatment also enhanced IL-8 levels in apical media (102.3 ± 14.8 vs 32 ± 6.1 pg/well in NI controls) but not in cell lysates or basolateral media.

As previous studies have reported basolateral IL-8 secretion by polarised T84 cells following basolateral stimulation (Ruchaud-Sparagano *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2003), our experiments were extended to include basolateral stimulation. Polarised monolayers were incubated with EDL933 or purified flagellin (1 µg/ml) on the apical or basolateral side for 24 hours and IL-8 protein levels in apical and basolateral media were quantified. Results in Figure 4.16B show that apical exposure of T84 monolayers to EDL933 and flagellin significantly induced IL-8 secretion into apical media (569.5 ± 46.2 or 7612 ± 8.5 vs 108.2 ± 16.8 pg/well in NI controls, respectively) but did not affect IL-8 secretion into basolateral media. Conversely, basolateral exposure to EDL933 and flagellin resulted in significantly enhanced secretion into basolateral media (506.6 ± 103.2 or 1119 ± 181.4 vs 128.6 ± 8.05 pg/well in NI controls, respectively) but not apical media. These data indicate that EHEC-induced secretion of IL-8 in polarised T84 cells is both vectorial and directed towards the side of exposure.

#### 4.2.9 | Effect of EHEC on hBD2 peptide expression in T84 cells

To determine the influence of EHEC on hBD2 peptide expression in vitro, polarised T84 monolayers were apically incubated with EDL933, purified flagellin (1 µg/ml) or the hBD2 inducer IL-1ß (Schlee *et al.*, 2007) (10 ng/ml) for 24 hours, and hBD2 peptide in cell lysates, apical and basolateral media was measured using ELISA. No hBD2 was detected in cell lysates or in culture media (data not shown). This lack of hBD2 detection was not attributable to low functionality of the ELISA, as hBD2 was detected in culture medium of Caco-2 cells following incubation with IL-1ß (Schlee et al., 2007) for 24 hours (Figure 4.16). Suspecting that hBD2 peptide secreted by T84 cells may have been below the level required for detection, larger-scale experiments were conducted using a 20-fold greater number of cells per sample. Cell monolayers cultured to confluency in 75cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks were incubated with IL-1β for 24 and 48 hours. Culture medium and cell lysates were then collected and proteins were concentrated 40-fold using Amicon ultra filtration units. No hBD2 was detected in any of the concentrated samples at either time-point tested (data not shown). We then changed the detection method to immunofluorescence staining in an attempt to visualise hBD2 protein within cells. Returning to the initial infection



Figure 4.16. hBD2 peptide secretion in Caco-2 cells. Cells grown in 6-well plates were incubated with IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/ml) or left untreated (control) for 24 hours and hBD2 peptide levels in culture medium and cell lysates were quantified by ELISA. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SE of duplicate samples. ND = none detected.

protocol, polarised T84 cells grown on permeable Transwell inserts were incubated with EDL933, purified flagellin or IL-1 $\beta$  for 24 hours. As shown in Figure 4.17, positive staining for hBD2 was detected in a subset of T84 cells. No difference in hBD2 levels within cells was observed between treatments, indicating that hBD2 protein expression was not influenced by EHEC infection or exposure to flagellin and IL-1 $\beta$ . In order to confirm specificity of the hBD2 antibody, immunofluorescence staining was also performed on Caco-2 cells following incubation with EDL933 and IL-1 $\beta$  for 24 hours. Images in Figure 4.18 show a marked induction of hBD2 protein within cells treated with IL-1 $\beta$  and to a lesser extent with EDL933, compared with NI control cells.





**infection.** Cells were apically exposed to EHEC strain EDL933, purified H7 flagellin  $(1\mu g/ml)$ , IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/ml), or left untreated (NI), for 24 hours. Immunofluorescence staining was performed to visualise hBD2 (red) and actin (green). Right images show merged channels; left and central images show hBD2 and actin channels, respectively. Images represent those from two independent experiments, performed in duplicate. Scale Bars = 10 µm.





# 4.2.10 | Effect of EHEC on hBD2 and IL-8 protein expression in human colonic biopsies

To determine the influence of EHEC on hBD2 and IL-8 protein expression *ex vivo*, pIVOC was performed on human colonic biopsies incubated with EDL933 or purified flagellin (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 7 hours. After the procedure, hBD2 peptide expression within cells was analysed by immunofluorescence staining. Images in Figure 4.19 show that, whilst hBD2 peptide expression was low in non-infected





biopsies, considerably higher hBD2 expression was evident in epithelium from biopsies treated with EDL933 or flagellin. This indicates that exposure to EHEC and flagellin enhances hBD2 peptide expression in human colonic biopsy epithelium, in contrast to T84 cells. IL-8 protein levels in biopsy lysates were also analysed by ELISA. As shown in Figure 4.20, no effect of EDL933 infection or flagellin on IL-8 protein levels was observed relative to NI controls, suggesting that EHEC does not enhance IL-8 protein expression in human colonic biopsies at this time point.



Figure 4.20. IL-8 protein expression in human colonic biopsies. Biopsies were apically exposed to EHEC strain EDL933, purified H7 flagellin (1  $\mu$ g/ml), or given LB alone (NI), for 7 hours. Protein levels in biopsy lysates were determined by ELISA. Each data point represents an individual biopsy from a total of 3 patients. Medians are indicated by a line.

### 4.3 | Discussion

The intestinal epithelium is the first line of defence against enteric pathogens, together with the mucus layer and resident microbiota. In addition to forming a physical barrier between the external environment and the internal milieu, IECs secrete antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), which directly kill bacteria and recruit various immune cells to the site of infection (Dommett et al., 2005; Muniz et al., 2012). Despite the important role for AMPs in epithelial defence, expression of these peptides by IECs during EHEC infection has not been examined. In addition to AMPs, IECs are also able to secrete cytokines that trigger inflammation. Studies using T84 and Caco-2 human intestinal carcinoma cell lines have shown that EHEC induces epithelial secretion of IL-8 (Berin et al., 2002; Dahan et al., 2002), a chemokine that promotes infiltration of neutrophils into the intestinal mucosa. However, the influence of EHEC on IL-8 expression by normal human colonic epithelium has not been investigated. In this study, we developed a polarised IVOC model for human colonic biopsies in order to determine the AMP and IL-8 response to EHEC infection in human colonic epithelium ex vivo. As previous studies of EHEC-immune interactions have been performed in vitro using intestinal carcinoma cell lines, we extended our investigation to include polarised T84 human colonic carcinoma cells.

#### 4.3.1 | Influence of EHEC infection on AMP expression

In the human colon, IECs have been shown to secrete hBD1-4, LL-37 and lysozyme (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003, 2004; Hase *et al.*, 2002; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010), and so we tested whether EHEC infection influences expression of these AMPs. Our results show that infection of both T84 cells and human colonic biopsies with EHEC resulted in increased expression of hBD2. The extent of hBD2 induction was comparable for all EHEC strains tested, despite these strains exhibiting differences in levels of Stx production and colonisation. This indicates that hBD2 expression in response to EHEC infection does not appear to be influenced by the amount of Stx produced or extent of colonisation. hBD2 is capable of directly killing *E. coli* by breaking down the bacterial cell membrane (Estrela *et al.*, 2013). In addition, hBD2 has pro-inflammatory properties, acting as a chemoattractant for neutrophils,

immature dendritic cells (DCs) and T cells *via* binding to CC-chemokine receptor 6 (CCR6) (Niyonsaba *et al.*, 2004; Vongsa *et al.*, 2009; Yang *et al.*, 1999); for monocytes by binding to CCL2 (Röhrl *et al.*, 2010); and for mast cells *via* an as-yet unidentified receptor (Niyonsaba *et al.*, 2002; Niyonsaba *et al.*, 2001). Accordingly, intestinal hBD2 expression is elevated in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients vs. healthy individuals (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003; Wehkamp *et al.*, 2002; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2010), and inflamed tissue contains higher levels of hBD2 compared with non-inflamed areas in ulcerative colitis (UC) sufferers (Wehkamp *et al.*, 2003). Thus, hBD2 is of great clinical relevance to intestinal health and may have the potential to influence the outcome of EHEC infection if used as a therapeutic agent. Future work in this area should include an analysis of whether EHEC colonisation and pathogenesis is reduced in the presence of hBD2, before assessing its potential contribution to therapies.

Several other enteric species have been shown to stimulate hBD2 expression by human intestinal epithelial cells. These include enteroinvasive Salmonella spp., S. flexneri and dysenterae, EIEC and C. jejuni (Hase et al., 2002; O'Neil et al., 1999; Ogushi et al., 2001; Zilbauer et al., 2005); non-invasive EPEC (Khan et al., 2008); and even probiotic E. coli Nissle 1917 (Schlee et al., 2007; Wehkamp et al., 2004). However, it should be noted that the majority of these findings were garnered by performing infections on human carcinoma cell lines such as Caco-2 and HT-29, with very few studies utilising native human intestinal tissue. Recently, a model for growing human intestinal xenografts in mice has been developed, enabling the study of the innate immune response in vivo. Using this model system, Sperandio and colleagues (2008) reported no change in hBD2 expression by human intestinal xenograft tissue inoculated with S. flexneri compared with NI controls, despite noting significant up-regulation of hBD2 in infected HT-29 and TC7 carcinoma cell lines. This suggests that the hBD2 response to infection may differ depending on the model system used. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to examine the AMP response to bacterial infection using IVOC of intestinal tissue explanted from humans. We found that, although both human colonic biopsies and polarised T84 cells showed enhanced hBD2 mRNA expression following EHEC infection, a concurrent increase in hBD2 peptide expression was detected only in the former model system and not the latter. It is unclear why hBD2 was induced at the mRNA

but not protein level in T84 cells. One possible explanation is that translation of hBD2 was inhibited in T84 cells, perhaps by the action of microRNAs, which target mRNA for degradation (Cai *et al.*, 2009). Alternatively, hBD2 may have undergone a post-translational modification, such as ubiquitylation, that resulted in its degradation or a change in its antigenic properties (Popovic *et al.*, 2014), thereby rendering it undetectable using antibody-based methods. In any case, the observed differences in results obtained from colonic biopsies vs. T84 cells highlights the importance of confirming findings in physiologically relevant model systems.

In addition to hBD2, we determined the influence of EHEC on colonic epithelial expression of several other AMPs: hBD1, 3 and 4; LL-37 and lysozyme. Whilst hBD1 is constitutively expressed by IECs and is largely unresponsive to bacterial or inflammatory stimuli (Fahlgren et al., 2003; O'Neil et al., 1999; Ou et al., 2009; Sperandio et al., 2008; Zilbauer et al., 2010), a few bacterial species such as Shigella ssp., ETEC and V. cholerae have been shown to down-regulate its expression. (Chakraborty et al., 2008; Islam et al., 2001; Sperandio et al., 2008). Inhibition of LL-37 expression by the same pathogens was also reported in these studies, although up-regulated expression has also been demonstrated following infection with Salmonella spp. (Chakraborty et al., 2008; Hase et al., 2002). Inhibition of AMP production by enteric pathogens likely represents a survival strategy to avoid direct harm or immunodetection. Expression of hBD3, hBD4 and lysozyme by colonic epithelium is thought to occur at low levels but is enhanced in IBD patients (Fahlgren et al., 2003, 2004; Zilbauer et al., 2010), suggesting inducible regulation that is linked with the inflammatory response. Little is known about the influence of pathogens on expression of these AMPs, although C. jejuni has been shown to enhance hBD3 production in Caco-2 and HT-29 cells (Zilbauer et al., 2005). We found no evidence for EHEC induction of hBD1, hBD3, LL-37 or lysozyme during infection of human colonic epithelium, suggesting that they are not involved in the immune response to EHEC. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that their induction is inhibited by EHEC, as several EHEC effector proteins have been shown to dampen host innate immune pathways (reviewed in Santos and Finlay, 2015). It would be interesting to determine human colonic epithelial expression of these AMPs during infection with a mutant EHEC strain deficient in T3S to ascertain whether EHEC subverts the AMP response.

During our study, we were unable to consistently detect hBD3 and hBD4 mRNA in human colonic biopsies, meaning that we could not determine whether EHEC affects expression of these AMPs *ex vivo*. This is likely due to the fact that hBD3 and 4 are expressed at low levels compared with other AMPs in the colon (Fahlgren *et al.*, 2003, 2004), which were likely below those required for detection by our qPCR assay. This highlights a limitation of the IVOC model system, which requires the use of biopsy tissue that may be insufficiently small for some applications. One possible way to increase the mRNA signal of poorly expressed genes may be to pool biopsy samples during analysis. However, this will impact on the size of experiments due to ethical restrictions on the number of biopsies available from any one patient. Another solution may be to use an alternative model system, such as intestinal xenografts grown on severe combined immuno-deficiency (SCID) mice (Golan *et al.*, 2011; Miyamoto *et al.*, 2006). This model is less restricted by sample size but has other disadvantages such as a lack of human commensal microflora and limited access to tissue, which derives from aborted foetuses.

#### 4.3.2 | Influence of EHEC infection on IL-8 expression

EHEC infection triggers a moderate inflammatory response in the human intestine, characterised by transmigration of neutrophils into the colonic mucosa (Griffin *et al.*, 1990; Kelly *et al.*, 1990; Kelly *et al.*, 1987). Since the discovery of IL-8 as the primary tissue-derived chemoattractant for neutrophils (Baggiolini and Clark-Lewis, 1992), expression of this cytokine in human colonic epithelium has been shown to be responsive to a range of enteric pathogens including *S. typhimurium, C. jejuni, Vibrio* spp., EPEC and EAEC (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008; Harrington *et al.*, 2005; McCormick *et al.*, 1993; Zhou *et al.*, 2003; Zilbauer *et al.*, 2005). In addition, studies on EHEC have demonstrated infection-mediated induction of IL-8 in cultured intestinal carcinoma cell lines Caco-2, HT-29 and T84 (Dahan *et al.*, 2002; Jung *et al.*, 1995). In our study, we examined the IL-8 response to EHEC in human colonic epithelium during pIVOC of human colonic biopsies and *in vitro* infection of polarised T84 cells. In line with published findings on non-polarised T84 cells, we found that EHEC stimulated expression of IL-8 by polarised T84 cells. Importantly, *ex vivo* infection of human colonic biopsies with EHEC yielded similar results,

demonstrating for the first time EHEC induction of IL-8 expression in explanted human colonic epithelium.

### 4.3.3 | Role of bacterial proteins in EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8

Several EHEC proteins have been shown the affect innate immune processes in human IECs. Studies examining the IL-8 response to EHEC in carcinoma cell lines and human colonic xenografts have identified flagellin, the main constituent of flagella, as the main factor responsible for induction (Bellmeyer et al., 2009; Berin et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2003). However, deletion of fliC, the gene encoding flagellin, did not completely abrogate IL-8 induction by EHEC in one study (Bellmeyer et al., 2009), suggesting that flagellin is not solely responsible for the observed response. Aside from flagellin, other factors such HCP and Lpf have been implicated in the IL-8 response to EHEC (Farfan et al., 2013; Ledesma et al., 2010). In particular, the role of Stx has been examined in some detail. Whilst some studies have found that Stx induces IL-8 expression in carcinoma cell lines (Bellmeyer et al., 2009; Thorpe et al., 2001; Yamasaki et al., 1999), others have found no evidence of a stimulatory role for the toxin (Berin et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2006). Conversely, a down-regulatory effect was demonstrated during EHEC infection of T84 cells (Gobert et al., 2007), and so the role of Stx in EHEC induction of IL-8 expression remains controversial. Interestingly, inhibiting the type III secretion system (T3SS) in EHEC and EPEC has been shown to enhance the IL-8 response to infection in HeLa and Caco-2 cells (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007; Sharma et al., 2006). Recent functional analysis of secreted effector proteins has revealed that many inhibit inflammatory signal transduction (NleE, NleB, NleH1, NleC, NleD and Tir) (Baruch et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2009; Nadler et al., 2010; Newton et al., 2010; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2011; Sham et al., 2011), whereas only two appear to stimulate it (EspT and NleH2) (Gao et al., 2009; Raymond et al., 2011). Whilst no studies have examined EHEC stimulation of hBD2 expression, it has been demonstrated that the hBD2 response to EPEC in Caco-2 cells can be abrogated or enhanced by deletion of *fliC* or T3S, respectively (Khan et al., 2008).

Based on this research, we sought to determine whether flagellin, T3S, Stx, HCP and Lpf were involved in EHEC stimulation of hBD2 and IL-8 in human colonic epithelium in vitro and ex vivo. We found that a *fliC*-negative EHEC deletion mutant was unable to stimulate expression of both hBD2 and IL-8 by polarised T84 cells and human colonic biopsies. In contrast, mutant strains deficient in T3S, Stx, HCP and Lpf were able to stimulate comparable hBD2 and IL-8 responses to those observed following infection with the wild-type strain. We also demonstrated that exposure to purified EHEC flagellin was sufficient to induce hBD2 and IL-8 expression in both of our model systems. These data suggest that flagellin is the primary factor responsible for the inflammatory response in human colonic epithelium during EHEC infection, and that T3S and Stx are not involved. Our results are the first to demonstrate a role for flagellin in the colonic epithelial hBD2 response to EHEC infection, and the first to show flagellin-mediated induction of IL-8 during IVOC of human colonic biopsies. Flagellin has also been implicated in the innate immune response to other enteric bacteria: flagellin-dependent hBD2 expression has been reported during infection with EPEC, S. serotype Enteritidis and E. coli Nissle (Khan et al., 2008; Ogushi et al., 2001; Schlee et al., 2007), whilst induction of IL-8 by EPEC, EAEC, Salmonella spp. and commensal E. coli has also been attributed to flagellin (Bambou et al., 2004; Gewirtz et al., 2001b; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2000; Zhou et al., 2003). Our data on EHEC infection, together with findings from other bacterial infection studies, implicates flagellin as a crucial microbe-associated molecular pattern (MAMP) used in innate immune recognition of a broad range of enteric bacteria.

In addition to triggering inflammation *via* flagellin, it has been shown that EHEC and EPEC dampen the IL-8 response through the action of T3S effector proteins (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Nadler *et al.*, 2010; Sharma *et al.*, 2006; Yen *et al.*, 2010). A similar suppressive effect of the T3SS on hBD2 expression during EPEC infection has also been demonstrated (Khan *et al.*, 2008). These studies were conducted on the cervical HeLa and/or the small intestinal Caco-2 cell line. Interestingly, we did not detect a significant inhibitory effect of the T3SS on IL-8 or hBD2 expression during EHEC infection of polarised T84 cells or human colonic biopsies. Whilst our study is the first to examine the role of the T3SS on innate immune responses in human intestinal tissue, Ruchaud-Sparagano and colleagues have also failed to detect an

inhibitory effect of T3SS on the IL-8 response in T84 but not Caco-2 cells (Ruchaud-Sparagano *et al.*, 2007). Put together, these results suggest that EHEC-mediated suppression of the innate immune response may be delayed or absent in colonic epithelium, in contrast to the small intestine. To clarify this issue, it would be necessary to examine the influence of the T3S on the colonic and small intestinal innate immune response over an extended period of time.

### 4.3.4 | Flagellin recognition by IECs

Flagellin is recognised by Toll-like receptor-5 (TLR5) on the IEC surface membrane, and blocking TLR5 activity in intestinal carcinoma cell lines inhibits the inflammatory response to flagellin from *S. dublin* and *E. coli* (Bambou *et al.*, 2004; Eaves-Pyles *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it is likely that the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC infection is triggered by binding of flagellin to TLR5 on the colonic IEC surface.

Given that flagella are a common feature of both pathogenic and commensal bacteria, there is uncertainty as to how detection of flagellin by IECs can serve as an indication of the presence of a pathogen. This problem was first addressed by Gewirtz and co-workers (2001a), who demonstrated that flagellin from Salmonella induced an IL-8 response in polarised T84 cells when administered basolaterally but not apically, and that TLR5 was expressed only on the basolateral surface of polarised T84 cells. Based on their findings, the authors postulated that IECs only detect flagellin that has crossed the epithelium and binds to TLR5 on their basolateral surface, which generally only occurs as a result of pathogen activity (i.e. invasion of the epithelium or subversion of epithelial barrier function). However, this hypothesis has been called into question by subsequent studies reporting apical TLR5 localisation and/or flagellin responsiveness in T84, Caco-2 and HCA-7 cells (Berin et al., 2002; Miyamoto et al., 2006; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2003). Furthermore, examination of human mucosal tissue by TLR5 immunofluorescence has shown positive staining on the apical and basolateral side of epithelium from duodenum and colon (Cario and Podolsky, 2000; Schüller et al., 2009).

In our study, we found that apical exposure of polarised T84 cells and human colonic biopsies to purified EHEC flagellin was sufficient to induce hBD2 and IL-8 expression. This is in line with a study on EPEC flagellin, which reported apical induction of IL-8 expression in human duodenal biopsies (Schüller *et al.*, 2009). Our attempts to determine TLR5 localisation in T84 cells and colonic biopsies were unsuccessful, hindered by the well-documented lack of high-affinity antibodies (Steiner, 2007). Nevertheless, our data support the theory that basolateral access to flagellin is not required for induction of the innate immune response in human colonic epithelium. It is worth noting that *C. jejuni* flagellin does not induce IL-8 expression in T84 cells (Johanesen and Dwinell, 2006), nor does flagellin from commensal *E. coli* strains ATCC 259922 and JM109 (Schlee *et al.*, 2007). This suggests that IECs do not respond to flagellin from all bacteria indiscriminately, and that variations in flagellar structure or composition may instead be important in distinguishing between pathogenic vs. non-pathogenic bacterial species.

# 4.3.5 | Regulation of the hBD2 and IL-8 response to EHEC infection

Stimulation of TLR5 on IECs triggers a regulatory cascade that involves both the NF- $\kappa$ B and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathways (Figure 1.14) (Steiner, 2007). Accordingly, the IL-8 response to EHEC infection in T84 and Caco-2 cells is abrogated by inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B and the MAPKs p38 and ERK1/2 (Berin *et al.*, 2002; Dahan *et al.*, 2002). Similarly, we found that inhibition of p38, ERK1/2 and JNK MAPKs in polarised T84 cells suppressed the IL-8 response to flagellin. In addition, the hBD2 response was significantly reduced by inhibition of p38 and JNK, and of ERK1/2 to a lesser extent. These data are in line with published studies showing that the hBD2 response to to *E. coli* Nissle 1917, *Lactobacillus* spp. and IL-1 $\alpha$  involves the same MAPK pathways, in addition to NF- $\kappa$ B (O'Neil *et al.*, 1999; Schlee *et al.*, 2008; Schlee *et al.*, 2007). Surprisingly, we found that inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B signalling using the inhibitor MG-132 resulted in a significant increase in the hBD2 and IL-8 response to flagellin compared with non-treated control cells. This might be explained by the loss of epithelial barrier function incurred after exposure to MG-132, which is likely to permit translocation of

flagellin from the apical to the basolateral surface of IECs and enhance its stimulatory effect on hBD2 and IL-8 expression. Different experimental approaches, such as DNA binding or nuclear translocation assays, would be necessary to determine NF- $\kappa$ B activity after apical flagellin exposure. In this study, we have shown for the first time that the hBD2 response to EHEC infection in human colonic T84 cells involves MAPK signalling. An important next step would be to confirm these findings in colonic pIVOC.

#### 4.3.6 | Vectorial IL-8 secretion

Whilst analysing the influence of EHEC on IL-8 protein expression in polarised T84 cells, we discovered that IL-8 secretion was vectorial: apical exposure to EHEC and flagellin led to secretion of IL-8 in an apical but not basolateral direction, whereas basolateral exposure triggered basolateral but not apical secretion. Whilst IL-8 secretion in polarised T84 cells during EHEC infection has not been examined before, studies using EPEC have reported an increase in basolateral IL-8 secretion when cells were stimulated basolaterally but not apically (Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2003). Very few studies consider apical IL-8 secretion by IECs during bacterial infection as it is generally assumed that IL-8 is secreted basolaterally into the lamina propria to mediate recruitment of neutrophils to the epithelium. In line with this theory, predominantly basolateral IL-8 secretion has been demonstrated in Caco-2 cells apically infected with EPEC and by HCA-7 cells stimulated with EHEC flagellin (Berin et al., 2002; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007). In contrast, our data showing apical IL-8 secretion by T84 cells contradict these findings, and indicate that IL-8 may be secreted apically during EHEC infection in vivo. This theory is supported by a recent study, which reported apical IL-8 secretion in Caco-2 cells following apical exposure to flagellin (Rossi et al., 2013). Moreover, IL-8 has been detected in luminal contents sampled from the colon of humans and IL-8 levels were higher in UC patients compared with healthy controls (Keshavarzian *et al.*, 1999), further suggesting that IL-8 is secreted into the lumen as part of the inflammatory response. The reason(s) why IL-8 may be secreted into the intestinal lumen is open to conjecture. One possible explanation is that apical IL-8 secretion promotes neutrophil migration across the epithelium and into the lumen

(Keshavarzian *et al.*, 1999). Neutrophils are often found in the lumen of patients suffering from colonic inflammation (Fournier and Parkos, 2012), and their presence at this site likely represents an immune strategy for killing pathogens before they colonise the epithelium. Alternatively, apical IL-8 secretion by IECs could serve a role other than neutrophil recruitment. IL-8 is a ligand for the G-protein-coupled receptor CXCR1, which is expressed on the apical surface of explanted human intestinal epithelium, and so it is possible that IL-8 may perform some as-yet unidentified autocrine function (Rossi *et al.*, 2013).

Unfortunately, it was not feasible to determine the direction of IL-8 secretion in colonic biopsies due to the mucus layer and mucosal tissue blocking cytokine diffusion into the medium. However, it was possible to analyse the influence of EHEC on intracellular IL-8 production by measuring protein levels in biopsy lysates. In order to prevent bacterial overinfection and detachment of the biopsy epithelium, the length of infection was restricted to 7 hours. We were unable to detect an effect of EHEC or flagellin on IL-8 production using this infection protocol. Given that protein production in IECs is generally analysed after 18+ hours of infection with A/E pathogens (Farfan et al., 2013; Gobert et al., 2007; Khan et al., 2008), it is probable that our ex vivo experiments were not conducted for long enough to allow adequate time for induction of protein expression to take place. Therefore, it is possible that EHEC infection does indeed trigger an increase in colonic biopsy IL-8 protein production, but this takes place at a time-point later than 7 hours. To test this theory, it would be necessary to develop a method for prolonged infection of colonic biopsies that does not compromise tissue integrity and enables analysis of IL-8 protein expression at later time-points. Alternatively, prolonged exposure of colonic biopsies to purified flagellin may be sufficient to induce IL-8 protein expression without affecting tissue preservation.

### 4.3.7 | Summary

In this study, we have demonstrated that EHEC infection triggers expression of hBD2 and IL-8 in polarised T84 cells and human colonic biopsies. Flagellin was found to be both necessary and sufficient for induction of both genes. Basolateral exposure to EHEC or flagellin was not necessary for induction of this response,

indicating that flagellin is recognised upon contact with the apical surface of IECs. The hBD2 and IL-8 response to flagellin was dependent on p38, JNK and ERK1/2 MAPK activity. Whilst EHEC induction of hBD2 expression extended from gene to protein level in human colonic biopsies, no effect of EHEC was seen on peptide expression in T84 cells. This highlights the importance of using native human tissue rather than cancer-derived cell lines when analysing the innate immune response in IECs. Finally, we found that apical exposure to EHEC and flagellin stimulated apical and not basolateral secretion of IL-8 by polarised T84 cells, suggesting that this cytokine may be secreted into the lumen during *in vivo* infection.

**CHAPTER FIVE** 

### CONCLUSION

The aim of this PhD project was to elucidate the interactions between EHEC and the human colonic epithelium. To this end, the first half of the study focussed on EHEC colonisation and attaching and effacing (A/E) lesion formation on intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), whilst the second half characterised the innate immune response to infection. In this section, the main findings from this thesis are summarised, and their contribution to current knowledge is discussed. In addition, important areas for future research are proposed.

### **5.1 | EHEC colonisation and A/E lesion formation**

Despite a wealth of *in vitro* studies indicating the importance of EHEC adherence to IECs in disease pathogenesis, its clinical relevance has been put into question by the lack of evidence for EHEC adherence to human intestinal tissue. Colonic biopsies from EHEC-infected individuals exhibit signs of mucosal damage but not bacterial adherence, and experimental infection of human colonic tissue with EHEC using the *in vitro* organ culture (IVOC) model has not resulted in adherence or A/E lesion formation. In this study, we revisited the IVOC model and successfully demonstrated for the first time that EHEC adhere to human colonic mucosa and form typical A/E lesions at this site. Accordingly, colonisation was dependent on expression of proteins involved in A/E lesion formation (i.e. intimin, EspA, EscN). These data verify the hypothesis that EHEC causes colonic pathology by forming A/E lesions on IECs, and thereby highlights A/E proteins as important therapeutic targets in the search for a treatment for EHEC infection.

Our discovery that EHEC colonises human colonic tissue during IVOC contrasted with previous reports (Chong *et al.*, 2007; Phillips *et al.*, 2000), and this prompted us to investigate the cause of this disparity. We found that IVOC conducted under high oxygen levels, as used in previous studies, severely reduced EHEC colonisation of colonic biopsies compared with atmospheric oxygen concentrations. Therefore, through modification of the existing IVOC protocol to incorporate reduced oxygen levels, we have established a reproducible *ex vivo* model for investigating EHEC interactions with the human colonic mucosa. This optimised IVOC method can now be used to examine other less well-defined aspects of the A/E process, such as the

molecular interactions underlying initial attachment and microvillous effacement, which have so far been confounded by contrasting data from cell line experiments.

Our IVOC data suggest that oxygen may negatively regulate EHEC adherence to human colonic epithelium *in vivo*, which complements a recent study showing that microaerobiosis enhances T3S and A/E lesion formation relative to aerobic conditions (Schüller and Phillips, 2010). Given that oxygen levels in the GI lumen are markedly lower than those in the external environment, it is likely that exposure to lower oxygen concentrations upon entry into the gut serves as an environmental cue for EHEC A/E genes expression and subsequent colonisation of the colonic epithelium. Several regulatory pathways have been shown to modulate A/E gene expression (e.g. quorum sensing, acid resistance, Pch signalling), and it would be interesting to ascertain whether any of these are influenced by oxygen. In addition, other environmental factors (e.g. butyrate, biotin, pH, adrenaline, noradrenaline, AI-3, host cell contact) have been shown to affect EHEC adherence to cultured epithelial cells *in vitro*, and IVOC can now be used to verify their influence *ex vivo*.

We also examined EHEC adherence to the widely-used T84 human colonic epithelial cell line. In contrast to human biopsy tissue, EHEC adherence to polarised T84 cells was not dependent on A/E genes and did not result in formation of typical A/E lesions. This suggests that EHEC adherence to T84 cells is conferred by an A/E-independent mechanism. There are a number of potential EHEC adhesins that may mediate adherence to T84 cells, and this would be an interesting area of research to pursue. It would also be interesting to investigate why Tir is not translocated in polarised T84 cells, as this may lead to development of a method for blocking A/E lesion formation during infection. Importantly, our data demonstrates that EHEC interacts differently with IECs depending on the intestinal model used, and therefore highlights the importance of using physiologically relevant experimental systems.

Whilst published results have indicated a role for Stx in EHEC adherence to HeLa cells and colonisation of mice (Robinson *et al.*, 2006), we did not detect a significant effect of Stx on adherence to polarised T84 cells or human colonic biopsies. This suggests that Stx is not required for EHEC colonisation of human colonic epithelium *in vivo*.

176

### 5.2 | Innate immune response to EHEC infection

EHEC infection is associated with moderate colonic inflammation characterised by infiltration of neutrophils. *In vitro* studies have attributed this to production of the neutrophil chemoattractant, interleukin-8 (IL-8), by IECs in response to detection of EHEC flagellin. In addition to recruitment of innate immune cells, IECs have been shown to produce a range of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) in response to pathogen attack, although this response has not been investigated during EHEC infection. In this part of our study, we developed a polarised colonic IVOC model (pIVOC) and used it to determine the influence of EHEC infection on expression of AMPs and IL-8. The advantage of pIVOC over IVOC is that it restricts bacterial access to the mucosal biopsy surface and thus prevents cross-stimulation of the immune cells in the lamina propria. We found that EHEC induced expression of human  $\beta$ -defensin-2 (hBD2) and IL-8 in a flagellin-dependent manner. This data provides the first example of EHEC regulation of innate immune gene expression in a human intestinal tissue model, and the first evidence of hBD2 induction by EHEC in any model.

Whilst the IL-8 response to EHEC is known to be mediated by the NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK signal transduction pathways, the mechanisms underlying the hBD2 response to EHEC are unknown. We have shown that EHEC induction of hBD2 in T84 cells is mediated by the p38 and JNK MAPK signalling pathways, and possibly the ERK1/2 MAPK pathway to a lesser extent. An important next step would be to confirm these findings using colonic pIVOC. Our investigation into the role of NF- $\kappa$ B signalling in the hBD2 response to EHEC was inconclusive due to compromised epithelial barrier function caused by the chemical inhibitor. Therefore, it would be necessary to explore this further using different experimental approaches before any conclusions can be made.

hBD2 has potent bactericidal capabilities and is produced in response to a range of bacterial species, indicating an important role for this AMP in innate immune defence. Accordingly, several research groups are investigating the feasibility of utilising hBD2 and other AMPs as therapeutic agents against intestinal pathogens (Mukherjee and Hooper, 2015). Based on our findings, it would seem possible that any such hBD2-based strategy has the potential to successfully combat EHEC infection. In addition to its ability to directly kill bacteria, hBD2 has been shown to act as a signalling molecule for lymphocytes. Given the prominent role of neutrophil recruitment in EHEC-induced inflammation, future work should focus on determining the influence of hBD2 on neutrophil migration during EHEC infection.

Whilst it has been shown that EHEC dampens the innate immune response in cervical HeLa and small intestinal Caco-2 cell lines (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Khan *et al.*, 2008), we did not observe a significant inhibitory effect of the T3SS on IL-8 or hBD2 expression in human colonic tissue or polarised T84 cells. Further work is needed in order to ascertain whether EHEC-mediated suppression of the innate immune response is delayed or absent during infection of human colonic epithelium.

Whilst examining protein production, we discovered that IL-8 is secreted apically by T84 cells following apical stimulation by EHEC or flagellin. This raises the possibility that the cytokine may be secreted into the lumen rather than the lamina propria, as generally assumed. Polarised secretion of cytokines by intestinal cell lines is well-documented in the literature, although most studies show that the direction is basolateral rather than apical. Therefore, at present we cannot rule out the possibility that the secretion pattern observed in T84 cells represents an artefact of the experimental system used, and it is necessary to verify this phenomenon using other intestinal models. Unfortunately, pIVOC could not be utilised for this purpose, as it is technically unfeasible to quantify IL-8 in the mucus and lamina propria. This was a major limitation of our study. Luminal secretion of IL-8 may mediate neutrophil migration across the epithelium, an event for which the causal factors have not been fully defined. In addition, the cellular mechanism for polarised secretion by IECs is currently unknown, and future research should focus on elucidating this process.

Development of the colonic pIVOC system has enabled the study of EHEC-IEC immune interactions *ex vivo*, and other interesting areas of research that may benefit from this model include the effect of EHEC infection on mucus production and the resident microflora.

### 5.3 | Evaluation of the IVOC model

IVOC/pIVOC can be considered a gold-standard model to study EHEC-IEC interactions, as it is the only human intestinal model that includes a preserved lamina propria, mucus layer and microbiota. However, IVOC does have some inescapable limitations. For example, it is not possible to simulate the microaerobic environment in the gut due to the need for tissue oxygenation. In addition, the use of explant material implies that only localised interactions between EHEC and the host can be studied, thus excluding the adaptive immune response and other systemic manifestations. The short lifespan of biopsy tissue limits the length of IVOC experiments, thus preventing the study of prolonged EHEC-IEC interactions. Finally, different genetic backgrounds of patients may result in high variation of results and require a higher number of experimental repeats compared with cell culture models. This can prove particularly challenging, as practical and ethical restrictions can hinder access to biopsy samples. Despite its limitations, and given the lack of a suitable alternative animal model, IVOC represents a major improvement over the use of cultured cell lines and has the potential to greatly inform our understanding of EHEC infection biology.

One of the most important findings from the colonic IVOC studies presented in this thesis is that, despite the range of adherence factors implicated in EHEC colonisation from studies using cell lines and other models, colonisation during IVOC was completely dependent on a very small set of genes found on the LEE – intimin and those encoding T3SS proteins. It is striking how dependent this bacterium is on a single genetic island for virulence, despite belonging to a species that has evolved to thrive in the human gastrointestinal environment for millions of years. Our findings raise the hope that it will soon be possible to develop a drug or vaccine capable of targeting EHEC-specific colonisation factors to combat infection without harming the gastrointestinal microbiota.

Secondly, our examination of IL-8 and AMP expression during colonic IVOC revealed that the innate immune response to EHEC infection was relatively weak. Although IL-8 and hBD2 expression was upregulated in response to EHEC infection, expression of the other four AMPs tested was unaffected. Furthermore, we saw no evidence for T3SS-mediated suppression of the innate immune response, in contrast

to previous published data showing enhanced responses to EHEC upon disablement of the T3SS (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Khan *et al.*, 2008). These findings suggest a less prominent role for the innate immune response than previously thought. It is possible that EHEC possess other non-T3SS-associated mechanisms for evading host immune detection, which could account for the relatively weak response. Alternatively, it may be that EHEC colonisation of the colonic epithelium *per se* does not stimulate a particularly pronounced response, perhaps due to the fact that the bacterium is non-invasive. Further investigation into the molecular interactions between EHEC and primary colonic tissue during IVOC would undoubtedly inform our understanding of the role of the host innate immune system in disease presentation and outcome.

### 5.4 | Summary

In summary, work from this PhD project has demonstrated for the first time that EHEC colonise the human colonic epithelium *ex vivo* and induces typical A/E lesions dependent on intimin and T3S. This process was inhibited by oxygen and not affected by Stx. In addition, apical EHEC infection induced expression of hBD2 and IL-8 *in vitro* and *ex vivo*, and flagellin was both necessary and sufficient for this response. We also present preliminary evidence of apical IL-8 secretion during infection. Marked differences in EHEC-IEC interactions were evident between the *in vitro* and *ex vivo* system used, which highlights the risks associated with relying solely on cell culture models. The development of the colonic IVOC and pIVOC systems in this study should help to accelerate the progression of EHEC research by providing a human intestinal experimental model that more closely resembles the *in vivo* situation.
## REFERENCES

- Abascal, F., Irisarri, I., and Zardoya, R. (2014). Diversity and evolution of membrane intrinsic proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects* **1840**, 1468-1481.
- Acheson, D.W., and Donohue-Rolfe, A. (1989). Cancer-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: a possible role of mitomycin in relation to Shiga-like toxins. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* **7**, 1943.
- Ahmed, R., Bopp, C., Borczyk, A. and Kasatiya, S. (1987). Phage-Typing Scheme for *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **155**, 806-809.
- Al-Jumaili, I., Burke, D.A., Scotland, S.M., Al-Mardini, H., and Record, C.O. (1992). A method of enhancing verocytotoxin production by *Escherichia coli*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **93**, 121-125.
- Alsharif, G., Ahmad, S., Islam, M.S., Shah, R., Busby, S.J., and Krachler, A.M. (2015). Host attachment and fluid shear are integrated into a mechanical signal regulating virulence in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **112**, 5503-5508.
- Ando, H., Abe, H., Sugimoto, N., and Tobe, T. (2007). Maturation of functional type III secretion machinery by activation of anaerobic respiration in Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiology* **153**, 464-473.
- Arbeloa, A., Bulgin, R.R., MacKenzie, G., Shaw, R.K., Pallen, M.J., Crepin, V.F., Berger, C.N., and Frankel, G. (2008). Subversion of actin dynamics by EspM effectors of attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Cellular Microbiology* **10**, 1429-1441.
- Arbeloa, A., Garnett, J., Lillington, J., Bulgin, R.R., Berger, C.N., Lea, S.M., Matthews, S., and Frankel, G. (2010). EspM2 is a RhoA guanine nucleotide exchange factor. *Cellular Microbiology* **12**, 654-664.
- Arbeloa, A., Oates, C.V., Marchès, O., Hartland, E.L., and Frankel, G. (2011). Enteropathogenic and Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* type III secretion effector EspV induces radical morphological changes in eukaryotic cells. *Infection and Immunity* **79**, 1067-1076.
- Baggiolini, M., and Clark-Lewis, I. (1992). Interleukin-8, a chemotactic and inflammatory cytokine. *FEBS Letters* **307**, 97-101.
- Bai, L., Schüller, S., Whale, A., Mousnier, A., Marches, O., Wang, L., Ooka, T., Heuschkel, R., Torrente, F., Kaper, J.B., Gomes, T.A.T., Xu, J., Phillips, A.D., and Frankel, G. (2008). Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* 0125 : H6 triggers attaching and effacing lesions on human intestinal biopsy specimens independently of nck and TccP/TccP2. *Infection and Immunity* 76, 361-368.

- Ball, H.J., Finlay, D., Burns, L., Mackie, D.P. (1994) Application of monoclonal antibody-based sandwich ELISAs to detect verotoxins in cattle feces. *Res Vet Sci* **57**, 225-232.
- Bambou, J.-C., Giraud, A., Menard, S., Begue, B., Rakotobe, S., Heyman, M., Taddei, F., Cerf-Bensussan, N., and Gaboriau-Routhiau, V. (2004). *In vitro* and *ex vivo* activation of the TLR5 signaling pathway in intestinal epithelial cells by a commensal *Escherichia coli* strain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 42984-42992.
- Bardoel, B.W. and Strijp, J.A. (2011). Molecular battle between host and bacterium: recognition in innate immunity. *J. Mol. Recognit.* **24**, 1077-1086.
- Barnett Foster, D., Abul-Milh, M., Huesca, M., and Lingwood, C.A. (2000). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* induces apoptosis which augments bacterial binding and phosphatidylethanolamine exposure on the plasma membrane outer leaflet. *Infection and Immunity* **68**, 3108-3115.
- Barnett Foster, D., Philpott, D., Abul-Milh, M., Huesca, M., Sherman, P.M., and Lingwood, C.A. (1999). Phosphatidylethanolamine recognition promotes Enteropathogenic *E. coli* and Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* host cell attachment. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 27, 289-301.
- Baruch, K., Gur-Arie, L., Nadler, C., Koby, S., Yerushalmi, G., Ben-Neriah, Y., Yogev, O., Shaulian, E., Guttman, C., Zarivach, R., and Rosenshine, I. (2011).
  Metalloprotease type III effectors that specifically cleave JNK and NF-kappa B. *Embo Journal* 30, 221-231.
- Batchelor, M., Prasannan, S., Daniell, S., Reece, S., Connerton, I., Bloomberg, G., Dougan, G., Frankel, G., and Matthews, S. (2000). Structural basis for recognition of the translocated intimin receptor (Tir) by intimin from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *The EMBO Journal* **19**, 2452-2464.
- Bellmeyer, A., Cotton, C., Kanteti, R., Koutsouris, A., Viswanathan, V.K., and Hecht, G. (2009). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* suppresses inflammatory response to cytokines and its own toxin. *American Journal* of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology **297**, G576-G581.
- Beltrametti, F., Kresse, A.U., and Guzmán, C.A. (1999). Transcriptional regulation of the esp genes of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **181**, 3409-3418.
- Bentancor, L.V., Bilen, M., Brando, R.J., Ramos, M.V., Ferreira, L.C., Ghiringhelli, P.D., and Palermo, M.S. (2009). A DNA vaccine encoding the Enterohemorragic *Escherichia coli* Shiga-like toxin 2 A2 and B subunits confers protective immunity to Shiga toxin challenge in the murine model. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology* 16, 712-718.

- Bentley, R., and Meganathan, R. (1982). Biosynthesis of vitamin K (menaquinone) in bacteria. *Microbiological Reviews* **46**, 241-280.
- Bergan, J., Dyve Lingelem, A.B., Simm, R., Skotland, T., and Sandvig, K. (2012). Shiga toxins. *Toxicon* **60**, 1085-1107.
- Berger, C.N., Crepin, V.F., Baruch, K., Mousnier, A., Rosenshine, I. and Frankel, G. (2012). EspZ of enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli regulates type III secretion system protein translocation. *MBio* 3.
- Bergstrom, K.S., Sham, H.P., Zarepour, M., and Vallance, B.A. (2012). Innate host responses to enteric bacterial pathogens: a balancing act between resistance and tolerance. *Cellular Microbiology* **14**, 475-484.
- Berin, M.C., Darfeuille-Michaud, A., Egan, L.J., Miyamoto, Y., and Kagnoff, M.F. (2002). Role of EHEC 0157:H7 virulence factors in the activation of intestinal epithelial cell NF-kappa B and MAP kinase pathways and the upregulated expression of interleukin 8. *Cellular Microbiology* 4, 635-647.
- Bertin, Y., Girardeau, J.P., Chaucheyras-Durand, F., Lyan, B., Pujos-Guillot, E., Harel, J., and Martin, C. (2011). Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* gains a competitive advantage by using ethanolamine as a nitrogen source in the bovine intestinal content. *Environmental Microbiology* 13, 365-377.
- Bielaszewska, M., Idelevich, E.A., Zhang, W., Bauwens, A., Schaumburg, F., Mellmann, A., Peters, G., and Karch, H. (2012). Effects of antibiotics on Shiga toxin 2 production and bacteriophage induction by epidemic *Escherichia coli* 0104:H4 strain. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 56, 3277-3282.
- Bielaszewska, M., Mellmann, A., Zhang, W., Kock, R., Fruth, A., Bauwens, A., Peters, G., and Karch, H. (2011). Characterisation of the *Escherichia coli* strain associated with an outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Germany, 2011: a microbiological study. *Lancet Infect Dis* **11**, 671-676.
- Birchenough, G.M., Johansson, M.E., Gustafsson, J.K., Bergstrom, J.H., and Hansson, G.C. (2015). New developments in goblet cell mucus secretion and function. *Mucosal Immunol*, doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.1032. [Epub ahead of print].
- Björk, S., Breimer, M.E., Hansson, G.C., Karlsson, K.A., and Leffler, H. (1987).
   Structures of blood group glycosphingolipids of human small intestine. A relation between the expression of fucolipids of epithelial cells and the ABO, Le and Se phenotype of the donor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 262, 6758-6765.
- Blanco, M., Blanco, J.E., Mora, A., Dahbi, G., Alonso, M.P., González, E.A., Bernárdez, M.I., and Blanco, J. (2004). Serotypes, Virulence Genes, and

Intimin Types of Shiga Toxin (Verotoxin)-Producing *Escherichia coli* Isolates from Cattle in Spain and Identification of a New Intimin Variant Gene (eae- $\xi$ ). *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* **42**, 645-651.

- Blasche, S., Mörtl, M., Steuber, H., Siszler, G., Nisa, S., Schwarz, F., Lavrik, I., Gronewold, T.M.A., Maskos, K., Donnenberg, M.S., Ullmann, D., Uetz, P., and Kögl, M. (2013). The *E. coli* Effector Protein NleF Is a Caspase Inhibitor. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e58937.
- Boerlin, P., McEwen, S.A., Boerlin-Petzold, F., Wilson, J.B., Johnson, R.P., and Gyles, C.L. (1999). Associations between virulence factors of Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* and disease in humans. *J Clin Microbiol* 37, 497-503.
- Branchu, P., Matrat, S., Vareille, M., Garrivier, A., Durand, A., Crepin, S., Harel, J., Jubelin, G., and Gobert, A.P. (2014). NsrR, GadE, and GadX interplay in repressing expression of the Escherichia coli 0157:H7 LEE pathogenicity island in response to nitric oxide. *PLoS Pathog* **10**, e1003874.
- Brandl, M.T. (2006). Fitness of human enteric pathogens on plants and implications for food safety. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol* **44**, 367-392.
- Bray, J. (1945). Isolation of antigenically homogeneous strains of Bact. coli neapolitanum from summer diarrhœa of infants. *The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology* **57**, 239-247.
- Brown, E.M., Sadarangani, M., and Finlay, B.B. (2013). The role of the immune system in governing host-microbe interactions in the intestine. *Nat Immunol* **14**, 660-667.
- Bugarel, M., Beutin, L., Martin, A., Gill, A., and Fach, P. (2010). Micro-array for the identification of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) seropathotypes associated with Hemorrhagic Colitis and Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome in humans. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 142, 318-329.
- Bürk, C., Dietrich, R., Acar, G., Moravek, M., Bulte, M., and Martlbauer, E. (2003).
   Identification and characterization of a new variant of Shiga toxin 1 in
   *Escherichia coli* ONT:H19 of bovine origin. *J Clin Microbiol* 41, 2106-2112.
- Bustamante, V.c.H., Santana, F.J., Calva, E., and Puente, J.L. (2001). Transcriptional regulation of type III secretion genes in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: Ler antagonizes H-NS-dependent repression. *Molecular Microbiology* **39**, 664-678.
- Byrne, L., Jenkins, C., Launders, N., Elson, R., and Adak, G.K. (2015). The epidemiology, microbiology and clinical impact of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in England, 2009–2012. *Epidemiology & Infection*, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0950268815000746 [epub ahead of print].

- Cai, Y., Yu, X., Hu, S., and Yu, J. (2009). A brief review on the mechanisms of miRNA regulation. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics* **7**, 147-154.
- Calderwood, S.B., Auclair, F., Donohue-Rolfe, A., Keusch, G.T., and Mekalanos, J.J. (1987). Nucleotide sequence of the Shiga-like toxin genes of *Escherichia coli*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**, 4364-4368.
- Calderwood, S.B., and Mekalanos, J.J. (1987). Iron regulation of shiga-like toxin expression in *Escherichia-coli* is mediated by the fur locus. *Journal of Bacteriology* **169**, 4759-4764.
- Callewaert, L., and Michiels, C.W. (2010). Lysozymes in the animal kingdom. *J Biosci* **35**, 127-160.
- Campellone, K.G., Robbins, D., and Leong, J.M. (2004). EspF(U) is a translocated EHEC effector that interacts with Tir and N-WASP and promotes nck-independent actin assembly. *Developmental Cell* **7**, 217-228.
- Cario, E., and Podolsky, D.K. (2000). Differential alteration in intestinal epithelial cell expression of toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TLR4 in inflammatory bowel disease. *Infect Immun* **68**, 7010-7017.
- Carreras, M.C., Poderoso, J.J., Cadenas, E., and Boveris, A. (1996). Measurement of nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide production from human neutrophils. *Methods Enzymol* **269**, 65-75.
- CDC (2015) *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC). Web Address: http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/general/index.html#what-are-shiga-toxin. [Accessed: 07.05.2015]
- Chakraborty, K., Ghosh, S., Koley, H., Mukhopadhyay, A.K., Ramamurthy, T., Saha, D.R., Mukhopadhyay, D., Roychowdhury, S., Hamabata, T., Takeda, Y., and Das, S. (2008). Bacterial exotoxins downregulate cathelicidin (hCAP-18/LL-37) and human beta-defensin 1 (HBD-1) expression in the intestinal epithelial cells. *Cellular Microbiology* 10, 2520-2537.
- Chase-Topping, M.E., McKendrick, I.J., Pearce, M.C., MacDonald, P., Matthews, L., Hallliday, J., Allison, L., Fenlon, D., Low, J.C., Gunn, G. and Woolhouse, M.E.J. (2007). Risk factors for the presence of high-level shedders of *Escherichia coli* 0157 on Scottish farms. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 45, 1594-1603.
- Chase-Topping, M., Gally, D., Low, C., Matthews, L. and Woolhouse, M. (2008). Super-shedding and the link between human infection and livestock carriage of *Escherichia coli* 0157. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **6**, 904-912.
- Chauret, C. (2011). Survival and control of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in foods, beverages, soil and water. *Virulence* **2**, 593-601.

- Chong, Y., Fitzhenry, R., Heuschkel, R., Torrente, F., Frankel, G., and Phillips, A.D. (2007). Human intestinal tissue tropism in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 – initial colonization of terminal ileum and Peyer's patches and minimal colonic adhesion ex vivo. *Microbiology* **153**, 794-802.
- Clarke, M.B., Hughes, D.T., Zhu, C., Boedeker, E.C., and Sperandio, V. (2006). The QseC sensor kinase: a bacterial adrenergic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**, 10420-10425.
- Clarke, M.B., and Sperandio, V. (2005). Transcriptional regulation of flhDC by QseBC and sigma (FliA) in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol Microbiol* **57**, 1734-1749.
- Cleary, J., Lai, L.-C., Shaw, R.K., Straatman-Iwanowska, A., Donnenberg, M.S., Frankel, G., and Knutton, S. (2004). Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) adhesion to intestinal epithelial cells: role of bundle-forming pili (BFP), EspA filaments and intimin. *Microbiology* **150**, 527-538.
- Conejo García, J.-R., Krause, A., Schulz, S., Rodríguez-Jiménez, F.-J., Klüver, E., Adermann, K., Forssmann, U., Frimpong-Boateng, A., Bals, R., and Forssmann, W.-G. (2001). Human b-defensin 4: a novel inducible peptide with a specific salt-sensitive spectrum of antimicrobial activity. *The FASEB Journal* **15**, 1819-1821.
- Connolly, J.P.R., Finlay, B., and Roe, A.J. (2015). From ingestion to colonization: the influence of the host environment on regulation of the LEE encoded type III secretion system in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Front Microbiol* **6**, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00568 [epub ahead of print].
- Cotton, P.B. (1972). Non-dietary lipid in the intestinal lumen. *Gut* **13**, 675-681.
- Croxen, M.A., and Finlay, B.B. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of *Escherichia coli* pathogenicity. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **8**, 26-38.
- Croxen, M.A., Law, R.J., Scholz, R., Keeney, K.M., Wlodarska, M., and Finlay, B.B. (2013). Recent Advances in Understanding Enteric Pathogenic *Escherichia coli. Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **26**, 822-880.
- Cummings, J.H., Pomare, E.W., Branch, W.J., Naylor, C.P., and Macfarlane, G.T. (1987). Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. *Gut* **28**, 1221-1227.
- Cunliffe, R.N., and Mahida, Y.R. (2004). Expression and regulation of antimicrobial peptides in the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* **75**, 49-58.
- Dahan, S., Busuttil, V., Imbert, V., Peyron, J.-F., Rampal, P., and Czerucka, D. (2002). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* Infection Induces Interleukin-8 Production via Activation of Mitogen-Activated Protein

Kinases and the Transcription Factors NF-κB and AP-1 in T84 Cells. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 2304-2310.

- Day, N.P., Scotland, S.M., Cheast, R., and Rowe, B. (1983). *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 associated with human infections in the United Kingdom. *Lancet* **321**, 825.
- Dean-Nystrom, E.A., Bosworth, B.T., Cray, W.C., and Moon, H.W. (1997). Pathogenicity of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in the intestines of neonatal calves. *Infection and Immunity* **65**, 1842-1848.
- Dean-Nystrom, E.A., Bosworth, B.T., Moon, H.W., and O'Brien, A.D. (1998a).
  Bovine infection with Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. In *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains (eds J. B. Kaper & A. D. O'Brien), pp. 261-267. Washington, DC: American Society for Microbiology.
- Dean-Nystrom, E.A., Bosworth, B.T., Moon, H.W., and O'Brien, A.D. (1998b). *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 requires intimin for enteropathogenicity in calves. *Infect Immun* **66**, 4560-4563.
- Dean, P., Maresca, M., Schüller, S., Phillips, A.D., and Kenny, B. (2006). Potent diarrheagenic mechanism mediated by the cooperative action of three enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*-injected effector proteins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **103**, 1876-1881.
- Dean, P., Young, L., Quitard, S., and Kenny, B. (2013). Insights into the Pathogenesis of Enteropathogenic *E. coli* Using an Improved Intestinal Enterocyte Model. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e55284.
- Deibel, C., Krämer, S., Chakraborty, T., and Ebel, F. (1998). EspE, a novel secreted protein of attaching and effacing bacteria, is directly translocated into infected host cells, where it appears as a tyrosine-phosphorylated 90 kDa protein. *Molecular Microbiology* **28**, 463-474.
- Deschner, E., Lewis, C.M., and Lipkin, M. (1963). *In vitro* study of human rectal epithelial cells. i. atypical zone of h(3) thymidine incorporation in mucosa of multiple polyposis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **42**, 1922-1928.
- DeVinney, R., Stein, M., Reinscheid, D., Abe, A., Ruschkowski, S., and Finlay, B.B. (1999). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 Produces Tir, Which Is Translocated to the Host Cell Membrane but Is Not Tyrosine Phosphorylated. *Infection and Immunity* 67, 2389-2398.
- Dhople, V., Krukemeyer, A., and Ramamoorthy, A. (2006). The human betadefensin-3, an antibacterial peptide with multiple biological functions. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* **1758**, 1499-1512.

- Dommett, R., Zilbauer, M., George, J.T., and Bajaj-Elliott, M. (2005). Innate immune defence in the human gastrointestinal tract. *Molecular Immunology* **42**, 903-912.
- Dong, N., Liu, L.P., and Shao, F. (2010). A bacterial effector targets host DH-PH domain RhoGEFs and antagonizes macrophage phagocytosis. *Embo Journal* **29**, 1363-1376.
- Donnenberg, M.S., Tzipori, S., McKee, M.L., O'Brien, A.D., Alroy, J., and Kaper, J.B. (1993). The role of the eae gene of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in intimate attachment in vitro and in a porcine model. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **92**, 1418-1424.
- Dziva, F., Mahajan, A., Cameron, P., Currie, C., McKendrick, I.J., Wallis, T.S., Smith, D.G.E., and Stevens, M.P. (2007). EspP, a Type V-secreted serine protease of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7, influences intestinal colonization of calves and adherence to bovine primary intestinal epithelial cells. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **271**, 258-264.
- Dziva, F., van Diemen, P.M., Stevens, M.P., Smith, A.J., and Wallis, T.S. (2004). Identification of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 genes influencing colonization of the bovine gastrointestinal tract using signature-tagged mutagenesis. *Microbiology* **150**, 3631-3645.
- Easton, D.M., Totsika, M., Allsopp, L.P., Phan, M.D., Idris, A., Wurpel, D.J., Sherlock, O., Zhang, B., Venturini, C., Beatson, S.A., Mahony, T.J., Cobbold, R.N., and Schembri, M.A. (2011). Characterization of EhaJ, a New Autotransporter Protein from Enterohemorrhagic and Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Front Microbiol* **2**, 120.
- Eaton, K.A., Friedman, D.I., Francis, G.J., Tyler, J.S., Young, V.B., Haeger, J., Abu-Ali, G., and Whittam, T.S. (2008). Pathogenesis of renal disease due to enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in germ-free mice. *Infection and Immunity* **76**, 3054-3063.
- Eaves-Pyles, T., Bu, H.-F., Tan, X.-d., Cong, Y., Patel, J., Davey, R.A., and Strasser, J.E. (2011). Luminal-Applied Flagellin Is Internalized by Polarized Intestinal Epithelial Cells and Elicits Immune Responses via the TLR5 Dependent Mechanism. *PLoS ONE* **6**, e24869.
- Ebel, F., Podzadel, T., Rohde, M., Kresse, A.U., Kramer, S., Deibel, C., Guzman, C.A., and Chakraborty, T. (1998). Initial binding of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* to host cells and subsequent induction of actin rearrangements depend on filamentous EspA-containing surface appendages. *Molecular Microbiology* **30**, 147-161.
- ECDC (2014) Annual epidemiological report 2014 food and waterborne diseases and zoonoses. Web Address: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/\_layouts/forms/Publication\_Dis

pForm.aspx?List=4f55ad51-4aed-4d32-b960-af70113dbb90&ID=1210. [Accessed: 07.05.2015]

- Elliott, S.J., Sperandio, V., Giron, J.A., Shin, S., Mellies, J.L., Wainwright, L., Hutcheson, S.W., McDaniel, T.K., and Kaper, J.B. (2000). The locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator controls expression of both LEE- and non-LEE-encoded virulence factors in enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **68**, 6115-6126.
- Elliott, S.J., Wainwright, L.A., McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Deng, Y.K., Lai, L.C., McNamara, B.P., Donnenberg, M.S., and Kaper, J.B. (1998). The complete sequence of the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* E2348/69. *Mol Microbiol* **28**, 1-4.
- Erdem, A.L., Avelino, F., Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., and Girón, J.A. (2007). Host Protein Binding and Adhesive Properties of H6 and H7 Flagella of Attaching and Effacing *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **189**, 7426-7435.
- Estrela, A.B., Rohde, M., Gutierrez, M.G., Molinari, G., and Abraham, W.-R. (2013). Human β-Defensin 2 Induces Extracellular Accumulation of Adenosine in *Escherichia coli. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **57**, 4387-4393.
- Fabich, A.J., Jones, S.A., Chowdhury, F.Z., Cernosek, A., Anderson, A., Smalley, D., McHargue, J.W., Hightower, G.A., Smith, J.T., Autieri, S.M., Leatham, M.P., Lins, J.J., Allen, R.L., Laux, D.C., Cohen, P.S., and Conway, T. (2008). Comparison of Carbon Nutrition for Pathogenic and Commensal *Escherichia coli* Strains in the Mouse Intestine. *Infection and Immunity* 76, 1143-1152.
- Fahlgren, A., Hammarström, S., Danielsson, Å., and Hammarström, M.L. (2003). Increased expression of antimicrobial peptides and lysozyme in colonic epithelial cells of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* **131**, 90-101.
- Fahlgren, A., Hammarström, S., Danielsson, Å., and Hammarström, M.L. (2004). β-Defensin-3 and -4 in intestinal epithelial cells display increased mRNA expression in ulcerative colitis. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* **137**, 379-385.
- Fang, S.-B., Schüller, S., and Phillips, A.D. (2013). Human Intestinal *In Vitro* Organ Culture as a Model for Investigation of Bacteria–Host Interactions. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Medicine* 5, 43-50.
- Farfan, M.J., Cantero, L., Vergara, A., Vidal, R., and Torres, A.G. (2013). The long polar fimbriae of STEC 0157:H7 induce expression of pro-inflammatory markers by intestinal epithelial cells. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 152, 126-131.

- Farfan, M.J., Cantero, L., Vidal, R., Botkin, D.J., and Torres, A.G. (2011). Long Polar Fimbriae of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 Bind to Extracellular Matrix Proteins. *Infection and Immunity* **79**, 3744-3750.
- Fischbach, M.A., and Sonnenburg, J.L. (2011). Eating for two: how metabolism establishes interspecies interactions in the gut. *Cell Host Microbe* **10**, 336-347.
- Fitzhenry, R., Dahan, S., Torres, A.G., Chong, Y., Heuschkel, R., Murch, S.H., Thomson, M., Kaper, J.B., Frankel, G., and Phillips, A.D. (2006). Long polar fimbriae and tissue tropism in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Microbes and Infection* 8, 1741-1749.
- Fitzhenry, R.J., Pickard, D.J., Hartland, E.L., Reece, S., Dougan, G., Phillips, A.D., and Frankel, G. (2002). Intimin type influences the site of human intestinal mucosal colonisation by enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Gut* **50**, 180-185.
- Fitzpatrick, M.M., Shah, V., Trompeter, R.S., Dillon, M.J., and Barratt, T.M. (1992). Interleukin-8 and polymorphoneutrophil leucocyte activation in hemolytic uremic syndrome of childhood. *Kidney Int* **42**, 951-956.
- Fogg, P.C.M., Saunders, J.R., McCarthy, A.J. Allison, H.E. (2012). Cumulative effect of prophage burden on Shiga toxin production in *Escherchia coli*. *Microbiology* **158**, 488-497.
- Fournier, B.M., and Parkos, C.A. (2012). The role of neutrophils during intestinal inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol* **5**, 354-366.
- Francis, D.H., Collins, J.E., and Duimstra, J.R. (1986). Infection of gnotobiotic pigs with an *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 strain associated with an outbreak of hemorrhagic colitis. *Infection and Immunity* **51**, 953-956.
- Frankel, G., Lider, O., Hershkoviz, R., Mould, A.P., Kachalsky, S.G., Candy, D.C.A., Cahalon, L., Humphries, M.J., and Dougan, G. (1996). The Cell-binding Domain of Intimin from Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* Binds to β1 Integrins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **271**, 20359-20364.
- Frankel, G., and Phillips, A.D. (2008). Attaching effacing *Escherichia coli* and paradigms of Tir-triggered actin polymerization: getting off the pedestal. *Cellular Microbiology* **10**, 549-556.
- Frankel, G., Phillips, A.D., Trabulsi, L.R., Knutton, S., Dougan, G., and Matthews, S. (2001). Intimin and the host cell — is it bound to end in Tir(s)? *Trends in Microbiology* 9, 214-218.
- Fraser, M.E., Chernaia, M.M., Kozlov, Y.V., and James, M.N.G. (1994). Crystalstructure of the holotoxin from *Shigella-dysenteriae* at 2.5-angstrom resolution. *Nature Structural Biology* **1**, 59-64.

- Furness, J.B. (2000). Types of neurons in the enteric nervous system. *J Auton Nerv Syst* **81**, 87-96.
- Gao, X.F., Wan, F.Y., Mateo, K., Callegari, E., Wang, D., Deng, W.Y., Puente, J., Li, F., Chaussee, M.S., Finlay, B.B., Lenardo, M.J., and Hardwidge, P.R. (2009).
   Bacterial Effector Binding to Ribosomal Protein S3 Subverts NF-kappa B Function. *PLoS Pathogens* 5, DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000708.
- Garmendia, J., Frankel, G., and Crepin, V.F. (2005). Enteropathogenic and Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* Infections: Translocation, Translocation, Translocation. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 2573-2585.
- Garmendia, J., Phillips, A.D., Carlier, M.F., Chong, Y.W., Schuller, S., Marches, O., Dahan, S., Oswald, E., Shaw, R.K., Knutton, S., and Frankel, G. (2004). TccP is an enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 type III effector protein that couples Tir to the actin-cytoskeleton. *Cellular Microbiology* 6, 1167-1183.
- Gewirtz, A.T., Navas, T.A., Lyons, S., Godowski, P.J., and Madara, J.L. (2001a). Cutting Edge: Bacterial Flagellin Activates Basolaterally Expressed TLR5 to Induce Epithelial Proinflammatory Gene Expression. *The Journal of Immunology* **167**, 1882-1885.
- Gewirtz, A.T., Simon, P.O., Jr., Schmitt, C.K., Taylor, L.J., Hagedorn, C.H., x, Brien, A.D., Neish, A.S., and Madara, J.L. (2001b). *Salmonella typhimurium* translocates flagellin across intestinal epithelia, inducing a proinflammatory response. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **107**, 99-109.
- Gill, R.K., Borthakur, A., Hodges, K., Turner, J.R., Clayburgh, D.R., Saksena, S.,
   Zaheer, A., Ramaswamy, K., Hecht, G., and Dudeja, P.K. (2007).
   Mechanism underlying inhibition of intestinal apical Cl-/OH- exchange following infection with enteropathogenic *E. coli*. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 117, 428-437.
- Girard, F., Batisson, I., Frankel, G.M., Harel, J., and Fairbrother, J.M. (2005). Interaction of Enteropathogenic and Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* and Porcine Intestinal Mucosa: Role of Intimin and Tir in Adherence. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 6005-6016.
- Girard, F., Dziva, F., van Diemen, P., Phillips, A.D., Stevens, M.P., and Frankel, G. (2007). Adherence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157, 026, and 0111 strains to bovine intestinal explants *ex vivo*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **73**, 3084-3090.
- Girón, J.A., Ho, A.S., and Schoolnik, G.K. (1993). Characterization of fimbriae produced by enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **175**, 7391-7403.

- Girón, J.A., Ho, A.S.Y., and Schoolnik, G.K. (1991). An inducible bundle-forming pilus of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Science* **254**, 710-713.
- Girón, J.A., Torres, A.G., Freer, E., and Kaper, J.B. (2002). The flagella of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* mediate adherence to epithelial cells. *Molecular Microbiology* **44**, 361-379.
- Gobert, A.P., Coste, A., Guzman, C.A., Vareille, M., Hindré, T., de Sablet, T., Girardeau, J.-P., and Martin, C. (2008). Modulation of chemokine gene expression by Shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* belonging to various origins and serotypes. *Microbes and Infection* **10**, 159-165.
- Gobert, A.P., Vareille, M., Glasser, A.-L., Hindré, T., de Sablet, T., and Martin, C. (2007). Shiga Toxin Produced by Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* Inhibits PI3K/NF-κB Signaling Pathway in Globotriaosylceramide-3-Negative Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *The Journal of Immunology* **178**, 8168-8174.
- Golan, L., Gonen, E., Yagel, S., Rosenshine, I., and Shpigel, N.Y. (2011).
   Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* induce attaching and effacing lesions and hemorrhagic colitis in human and bovine intestinal xenograft models. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 4, 86-94.
- Goldwater, P., and Bettelheim, K. (2012). Treatment of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC) infection and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). *BMC Med* **10**, 12.
- Griffin, P.M., Olmstead, L.C., and Petras, R.E. (1990). *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7associated colitis. A clinical and histological study of 11 cases. *Gastroenterology* **99**, 142-149.
- Gu, J., Liu, Y., Yu, S., Wang, H., Wang, Q., Yi, Y., Zhu, F., Yu, X.J., Zou, Q., and Mao, X. (2009). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* trivalent recombinant vaccine containing EspA, intimin and Stx2 induces strong humoral immune response and confers protection in mice. *Microbes Infect* 11, 835-841.
- Guttman, J.A., Samji, F.N., Li, Y., Deng, W., Lin, A., and Finlay, B.B. (2007). Aquaporins contribute to diarrhoea caused by attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Cellular Microbiology* **9**, 131-141.
- Gyles, C.L., De Grandis, S.A., MacKenzie, C., and Brunton, J.L. (1988). Cloning and nucleotide sequence analysis of the genes determining verocytotoxin production in a porcine edema disease isolate of *Escherichia coli*. *Microb Pathog* **5**, 419-426.
- Hamaguchi, M., Hamada, D., Suzuki, K.N., Sakata, I., and Yanagihara, I. (2008). Molecular basis of actin reorganization promoted by binding of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* EspB to alpha-catenin. *FEBS J* **275**, 6260-6267.

- Hamer, H.M., Jonkers, D., Venema, K., Vanhoutvin, S., Troost, F.J., and Brummer, R.J. (2008). Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* **27**, 104-119.
- Hancock, D.D., Besser, T.E. & Rice, D.H. (1998). Ecology of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in cattle and impact of management practices. In *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains (eds J. B. Kaper & A. D. O'Brien), pp. 261-267. Washington, DC: American Society for Microbiology.
- Harrington, S.M., Strauman, M.C., Abe, C.M., and Nataro, J.P. (2005). Aggregative adherence fimbriae contribute to the inflammatory response of epithelial cells infected with enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. *Cellular Microbiology* **7**, 1565-1578.
- Hase, K., Eckmann, L., Leopard, J.D., Varki, N., and Kagnoff, M.F. (2002). Cell differentiation is a key determinant of cathelicidin LL-37/human cationic antimicrobial protein 18 expression by human colon epithelium. *Infection and Immunity* **70**, 953-963.
- Hauf, N., and Chakraborty, T. (2003). Suppression of NF-κB Activation and Proinflammatory Cytokine Expression by Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli. The Journal of Immunology* **170**, 2074-2082.
- He, G., Shankar, R.A., Chzhan, M., Samouilov, A., Kuppusamy, P., and Zweier, J.L. (1999). Noninvasive measurement of anatomic structure and intraluminal oxygenation in the gastrointestinal tract of living mice with spatial and spectral EPR imaging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 4586-4591.
- Health Protection Scotland (2009). Surveillance Report: *Escherichia coli* 0157. HPS Weekly Report **43**, <u>http://www.hps.scot.nhs.uk/ewr/article.aspx</u>. Accessed 13/06/2016.
- Hecht, G., Hodges, K., Gill, R.K., Kear, F., Tyagi, S., Malakooti, J., Ramaswamy, K., and Dudeja, P.K. (2004). Differential regulation of Na+/H+ exchange isoform activities by enteropathogenic *E. coli* in human intestinal epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 287, G370-G378.
- Hemrajani, C., Berger, C.N., Robinson, K.S., Marches, O., Mousnier, A., and Frankel, G. (2010). NleH effectors interact with Bax inhibitor-1 to block apoptosis during enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 3129-3134.
- Henderson, I.R., Navarro-Garcia, F., Desvaux, M., Fernandez, R.C., and Ala'Aldeen, D. (2004). Type V protein secretion pathway: the autotransporter story. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 68, 692-744.

- Ho, S., Pothoulakis, C., and Koon, H.W. (2013). Antimicrobial peptides and colitis. *Curr Pharm Des* **19**, 40-47.
- Hodges, K., Alto, N.M., Ramaswamy, K., Dudeja, P.K., and Hecht, G. (2008). The enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* effector protein EspF decreases sodium hydrogen exchanger 3 activity. *Cellular Microbiology* **10**, 1735-1745.
- Hodges, K., and Gill, R. (2010). Infectious diarrhea: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Gut Microbes* **1**, 4-21.
- Holgersson, J., Jovall, P.A., and Breimer, M.E. (1991). Glycosphingolipids of human large intestine: detailed structural characterization with special reference to blood group compounds and bacterial receptor structures. J Biochem 110, 120-131.
- Horger, S., Schultheiss, G., and Diener, M. (1998). Segment-specific effects of epinephrine on ion transport in the colon of the rat. *Am J Physiol* **275**, G1367-1376.
- House, B., Kus, J.V., Prayitno, N., Mair, R., Que, L., Chingcuanco, F., Gannon, V., Cvitkovitch, D.G., and Barnett Foster, D. (2009). Acid-stress-induced changes in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157 : H7 virulence. *Microbiology* 155, 2907-2918.
- Hughes, D.T., Clarke, M.B., Yamamoto, K., Rasko, D.A., and Sperandio, V. (2009). The QseC Adrenergic Signaling Cascade in Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC). *PLoS Pathogens* **5**, e1000553.
- Humphries, M.J., Mould, A.P., and Tuckwell, D.S. (1993). Dynamic aspects of adhesion receptor function--integrins both twist and shout. *Bioessays* **15**, 391-397.
- Humphries, R.M., Waterhouse, C.C.M., Mulvey, G., Beck, P., and Armstrong, G.D. (2009). Interactions of Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* with Pediatric and Adult Intestinal Biopsy Specimens during Early Adherence. *Infection and Immunity* 77, 4463-4468.
- Hyatt, D.R., Galland, J.C., Gillespie, J.R. (2001) Usefulness of a commercially available enzyme immunoassay for Shiga toxins I and II as a presumptive test for the detection of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in cattle feces. *J. Vet. Diag. Invest.* **13**, 71-73.
- Iizumi, Y., Sagara, H., Kabe, Y., Azuma, M., Kume, K., Ogawa, M., Nagai, T., Gillespie, P.G., Sasakawa, C., and Handa, H. (2007). The enteropathogenic *E. coli* effector EspB facilitates microvillus effacing and antiphagocytosis by inhibiting myosin function. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 383-392.
- In, J., Lukyanenko, V., Foulke-Abel, J., Hubbard, A.L., Delannoy, M., Kaper, J.B., Chengru, Z., Boedeker, E.C., Girón, J.A. and Kovbasnjuk, O. (2013). Serine

Protease EspP from Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia Coli* Is Sufficient to Induce Shiga Toxin Macropinocytosis in Intestinal Epithelium. *PLoS One* **8**, e69196.

- Islam, D., Bandholtz, L., Nilsson, J., Wigzell, H., Christensson, B., Birgitta, A., and Gudmundsson, G.H. (2001). Downregulation of bacterial peptides in enteric infections: a novel immune escape mechanism with bacterial DNA as a potential regulator. *Nature Medicine* **7**, 180-185.
- Islam, M.S., and Stimson, W.H. (1990). Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies with therapeutic potential against Shiga toxin. *J Clin Lab Immunol* **33**, 11-16.
- Ismaili, A., Philpott, D.J., Dytoc, M.T., and Sherman, P.M. (1995). Signaltransduction responses following adhesion of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia-coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **63**, 3316-3326.
- Iyoda, S., Koizumi, N., Satou, H., Lu, Y., Saitoh, T., Ohnishi, M., and Watanabe, H. (2006). The GrlR-GrlA Regulatory System Coordinately Controls the Expression of Flagellar and LEE-Encoded Type III Protein Secretion Systems in Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* 188, 5682-5692.
- Iyoda, S., and Watanabe, H. (2004). Positive effects of multiple pch genes on expression of the locus of enterocyte effacement genes and adherence of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157 : H7 to HEp-2 cells. *Microbiology* 150, 2357-2571.
- Jacewicz, M.S., Acheson, D.W., Mobassaleh, M., Donohue-Rolfe, A., Balasubramanian, K.A., and Keusch, G.T. (1995). Maturational regulation of globotriaosylceramide, the Shiga-like toxin 1 receptor, in cultured human gut epithelial cells. *J Clin Invest* **96**, 1328-1335.
- Jackson, M.P., Neill, R.J., O'Brien, A.D., Holmes, R.K., and Newland, J.W. (1987a). Nucleotide sequence analysis and comparison of the structural genes for Shiga-like toxin I and Shiga-like toxin II encoded by bacteriophages from *Escherichia coli* 933. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **44**, 109-114.
- Jackson, M.P., Newland, J.W., Holmes, R.K., and O'Brien, A.D. (1987b). Nucleotide sequence analysis of the structural genes for Shiga-like toxin I encoded by bacteriophage 933J from *Escherichia coli*. *Microb Pathog* **2**, 147-153.
- Jarrel, K.F. and McBride, M.J. (2008) The surprisingly diverse ways that prokaryotes move. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **6**, 466-476
- Jarvis, K.G., and Kaper, J.B. (1996). Secretion of extracellular proteins by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* via a putative type III secretion system. *Infection and Immunity* **64**, 4826-4829.

- Jerse, A.E., Yu, J., Tall, B.D., and Kaper, J.B. (1990). A genetic locus of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* necessary for the production of attaching and effacing lesions on tissue culture cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **87**, 7839-7843.
- Johanesen, P.A., and Dwinell, M.B. (2006). Flagellin-Independent Regulation of Chemokine Host Defense in *Campylobacter jejuni*-Infected Intestinal Epithelium. *Infection and Immunity* **74**, 3437-3447.
- Johannes, L., and Römer, W. (2010). Shiga toxins from cell biology to biomedical applications. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **8**, 105-116.
- Johansen, B.K., Wasteson, Y., Granum, P.E., and Brynestad, S. (2001). Mosaic structure of Shiga-toxin-2-encoding phages isolated from *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 indicates frequent gene exchange between lambdoid phage genomes. *Microbiology* 147, 1929-1936.
- Johnson, W.M., Lior, H., and Bezanson, G.S. (1983). Cytotoxic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 associated with hemorrhagic colitis in Canada. *Lancet* **1**, letter.
- Juge, N. (2012). Microbial adhesins to gastrointestinal mucus. *Trends Microbiol* **20**, 30-39.
- Jung, H.C., Eckmann, L., Yang, S.K., Panja, A., Fierer, J., Morzycka-Wroblewska, E., and Kagnoff, M.F. (1995). A distinct array of proinflammatory cytokines is expressed in human colon epithelial cells in response to bacterial invasion. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **95**, 55-65.
- Kailasan Vanaja, S., Bergholz, T.M., and Whittam, T.S. (2009). Characterization of the *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Sakai GadE regulon. *J Bacteriol* **191**, 1868-1877.
- Karch, H., Friedrich, A.W., Gerber, A., Zimmerhackl, L.B., Schmidt, M.A., and Bielaszewska, M. (2006). New aspects in the pathogenesis of enteropathic hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 32, 105-112.
- Karmali, M.A., Petric, M., Lim, C., Fleming, P.C., and Steele, B.T. (1983). *Escherichia coli* cytotoxin, haemolytic-uraemic syndrome, and haemorrhagic colitis. *The Lancet* **322**, 1299-1300.
- Kavanagh, D., Raman, S., and Sheerin, N.S. (2014). Management of hemolytic uremic syndrome. *F1000Prime Reports* **6**, 119.
- Kelly, J., Oryshak, A., Wenetsek, M., Grabiec, J., and Handy, S. (1990). The colonic pathology of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 infection. *Am J Surg Pathol* 14, 87-92.

- Kelly, J., Pai, C., Jadusingh, I., Macinnis, M., Shaffer, E., and Hershfield, N. (1987). The histopathology of rectosigmoid biopsies from adults with bloody diarrhea due to verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *American journal of clinical pathology* **88**, 78-82.
- Kendall, M.M., Gruber, C.C., Parker, C.T., and Sperandio, V. (2012). Ethanolamine Controls Expression of Genes Encoding Components Involved in Interkingdom Signaling and Virulence in Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *mBio* 3, doi: 10.1128/mBio.00050-00012.
- Kenny, B. (1999). Phosphorylation of tyrosine 474 of the enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) Tir receptor molecule is essential for actin nucleating activity and is preceded by additional host modifications. *Molecular Microbiology* **31**, 1229-1241.
- Kenny, B., DeVinney, R., Stein, M., Reinscheid, D.J., Frey, E.A., and Finlay, B.B. (1997). Enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) Transfers Its Receptor for Intimate Adherence into Mammalian Cells. *Cell* **91**, 511-520.
- Kenny, B., Ellis, S., Leard, A.D., Warawa, J., Mellor, H., and Jepson, M.A. (2002). Co-ordinate regulation of distinct host cell signalling pathways by multifunctional enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* effector molecules. *Mol Microbiol* 44, 1095-1107.
- Keshavarzian, A., Fusunyan, R.D., Jacyno, M., Winship, D., MacDermott, R.P., and Sanderson, I.R. (1999). Increased interleukin-8 (IL-8) in rectal dialysate from patients with ulcerative colitis: evidence for a biological role for IL-8 in inflammation of the colon. *Am J Gastroenterol* **94**, 704-712.
- Khakhria, R., Duck, D. and Lior, H. (1990). Extended phage-typing scheme for *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Epidemiology and Infection* **105**, 511-520.
- Khan, M.A., Bouzari, S., Ma, C., Rosenberger, C.M., Bergstrom, K.S.B., Gibson, D.L., Steiner, T.S., and Vallance, B.A. (2008). Flagellin-dependent and independent inflammatory responses following infection by enteropathogenic *Eschetichia coli* and *Citrobacter rodentium*. *Infection and Immunity* **76**, 1410-1422.
- Knutton, S., Baldwin, T., Williams, P.H., and McNeish, A.S. (1989). Actin accumulation at sites of bacterial adhesion to tissue culture cells: basis of a new diagnostic test for enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. Infection and Immunity* **57**, 1290-1298.
- Knutton, S., Lloyd, D.R., and McNeish, A.S. (1987). Adhesion of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* to human intestinal enterocytes and cultured human intestinal mucosa. *Infection and Immunity* **55**, 69-77.
- Konowalchuk, J., Speirs, J.I., and Stavric, S. (1977). Vero response to a cytotoxin of *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **18**, 775-779.

- Koudelka, A.P., Hufnagel, L.A., and Koudelka, G.B. (2004). Purification and characterization of the repressor of the shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophage 933W: DNA binding, gene regulation, and autocleavage. *J Bacteriol* **186**, 7659-7669.
- Lai, Y., Rosenshine, I., Leong, J., and Frankel, G. (2013). Intimate host attachment: enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Cellular Microbiology* **15**, 1796-1808.
- Law, R.J., Gur-Arie, L., Rosenshine, I., and Finlay, B.B. (2013). In Vitro and In Vivo Model Systems for Studying Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Infections. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine 3, doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009977.
- Lawrence, T. (2009). The Nuclear Factor NF-κB Pathway in Inflammation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* **1**, a001651.
- Ledesma, M.A., Ochoa, S.A., Cruz, A., Rocha-Ramírez, L.M., Mas-Oliva, J., Eslava, C.A., Girón, J.A., and Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J. (2010). The Hemorrhagic Coli Pilus (HCP) of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 Is an Inducer of Proinflammatory Cytokine Secretion in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *PLoS ONE* 5, e12127.
- Lee, C.C., Sun, Y., Qian, S., and Huang, H.W. (2011). Transmembrane pores formed by human antimicrobial peptide LL-37. *Biophys J* **100**, 1688-1696.
- Leung, P.H.M., Peiris, J.S.M., Ng, W.W.S., Robins-Browne, R.M., Bettelheim, K.A., and Yam, W.C. (2003). A Newly Discovered Verotoxin Variant, VT2g, Produced by Bovine Verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, 7549-7553.
- Levine, M., Nalin, D., Hornick, R., Bergquist, E., Waterman, D., Young, C., Sotman, S., and Rowe, B. (1978). *Escherichia coli* strains that cause diarrhœa but do not produce heat-labile or heat-stable enterotoxins and are non-invasive. *The Lancet* **311**, 1119-1122.
- Lewis, S.B., Cook, V., Tighe, R., and Schüller, S. (2015). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* colonization of human colonic epithelium *in vitro* and *ex vivo*. *Infection and Immunity* **83**, 942-949.
- Li, Q., and Verma, I.M. (2002). NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2**, 725-734.
- Li, S., Zhang, L., Yao, Q., Li, L., Dong, N., Rong, J., Gao, W., Ding, X., Sun, L., Chen, X., Chen, S., and Shao, F. (2013). Pathogen blocks host death receptor signalling by arginine GlcNAcylation of death domains. *Nature* **501**, 242-246.
- Li, Z., Elliott, E., Payne, J., Isaacs, J., Gunning, P., and O'Loughlin, E.V. (1999). Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* can impair T84 cell structure and

function without inducing attaching/effacing lesions. *Infection and Immunity* **67**, 5938-5945.

- Lindberg, A.A., Brown, J.E., Strömberg, N., Westling-Ryd, M., Schultz, J.E., and Karlsson, K.A. (1987). Identification of the carbohydrate receptor for Shiga toxin produced by *Shigella dysenteriae* type 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **262**, 1779-1785.
- Linden, S.K., Sutton, P., Karlsson, N.G., Korolik, V., and McGuckin, M.A. (2008). Mucins in the mucosal barrier to infection. *Mucosal Immunol* **1**, 183-197.
- Little, J.W., and Mount, D.W. (1982). The SOS regulatory system of *Escherichia coli. Cell* **29**, 11-22.
- Los, J.M., Los, M., Wegrzyn, A., and Wegrzyn, G. (2010). Hydrogen peroxidemediated induction of the Shiga toxin-converting lambdoid prophage ST2-8624 in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 58, 322-329.
- Low, A.S., Dziva, F., Torres, A.G., Martinez, J.L., Rosser, T., Naylor, S., Spears, K., Holden, N., Mahajan, A., Findlay, J., Sales, J., Smith, D.G.E., Low, J.C., Stevens, M.P., and Gally, D.L. (2006). Cloning, Expression, and Characterization of Fimbrial Operon F9 from Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Infection and Immunity* 74, 2233-2244.
- Luo, Y., Frey, E.A., Pfuetzner, R.A., Creagh, A.L., Knoechel, D.G., Haynes, C.A., Finlay, B.B., and Strynadka, N.C. (2000). Crystal structure of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* intimin-receptor complex. *Nature* 405, 1073-1077.
- Lupp, C., Robertson, M.L., Wickham, M.E., Sekirov, I., Champion, O.L., Gaynor, E.C., and Finlay, B.B. (2007). Host-mediated inflammation disrupts the intestinal microbiota and promotes the Overgrowth of Enterobacteriaceae. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 119-129.
- Lynn, R.M., O'Brien, S.J., Taylor, C.M., Adak, G.K., Chart, H., Cheasty, T., Coia, J.E., Gillespie, I.A., Locking, M.E., Reilly, W.J., Smith, H.R., Waters, A., and Willshaw, G.A. (2005). Childhood hemolytic uremic syndrome, United Kingdom and Ireland. *Emerg Infect Dis* **11**, 590-596.
- Madara, J.L., Stafford, J., Dharmsathaphorn, K., and Carlson, S. (1987). Structural analysis of a human intestinal epithelial cell line. *Gastroenterology* **92**, 1133-1145.
- Mahajan, A., Currie, C.G., Mackie, S., Tree, J., McAteer, S., McKendrick, I., McNeilly, T.N., Roe, A., La Ragione, R.M., Woodward, M.J., Gally, D.L., and Smith, D.G. (2009). An investigation of the expression and adhesin function of H7 flagella in the interaction of *Escherichia coli* 0157 : H7 with bovine intestinal epithelium. *Cell Microbiol* **11**, 121-137.

- Makino, K., Yokoyama, K., Kubota, Y., Yutsudo, C.H., Kimura, S., Kurokawa, K., Ishii, K., Hattori, M., Tatsuno, I., Abe, H., Iida, T., Yamamoto, K., Onishi, M., Hayashi, T., Yasunaga, T., Honda, T., Sasakawa, C., and Shinagawa, H. (1999). Complete nucleotide sequence of the prophage VT2-Sakai carrying the verotoxin 2 genes of the enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 derived from the Sakai outbreak. *Genes Genet Syst* 74, 227-239.
- Mallick, E.M., Garber, J.J., Vanguri, V.K., Balasubramanian, S., Blood, T., Clark, S., Vingadassalom, D., Louissaint, C., McCormick, B., Snapper, S.B., and Leong, J.M. (2014). The ability of an attaching and effacing pathogen to trigger localized actin assembly contributes to virulence by promoting mucosal attachment. *Cellular Microbiology* 16, 1405-1424.
- Maluykova, I., Gutsal, O., Laiko, M., Kane, A., Donowitz, M., and Kovbasnjuk, O. (2008). Latrunculin B facilitates Shiga toxin 1 transcellular transcytosis across T84 intestinal epithelial cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1782**, 370-377.
- Malyukova, I., Murray, K.F., Zhu, C., Boedeker, E., Kane, A., Patterson, K., Peterson, J.R., Donowitz, M., and Kovbasnjuk, O. (2009).
   Macropinocytosis in Shiga toxin 1 uptake by human intestinal epithelial cells and transcellular transcytosis. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 296, G78-G92.
- Manning, S.D, Motiwala, A.S., Springman, A.C., Qi, W., Lacher, D.W., Ouellette, L.M., Mlaclonicky, J.M., Somsel, P., Rudrik, J. T., Dietrich, S.E., Zhang, W., Swaminathan, B., Alland, D. and Whittam, T. S. (2008). Variation in virulence among clades of *Escherichia coli* 03157 : H7, associated with disease outbreaks. *PNAS* **105**, 4868-4873.
- Marchès, O., Covarelli, V., Dahan, S., Cougoule, C., Bhatta, P., Frankel, G., and Caron, E. (2008). EspJ of enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* inhibits opsono-phagocytosis. *Cellular Microbiology* **10**, 1104-1115.
- Marchés, O., Wiles, S., Dziva, F., La Ragione, R.M., Schüller, S., Best, A., Phillips,
  A.D., Hartland, E.L., Woodward, M.J., Stevens, M.P., and Frankel, G. (2005).
  Characterization of Two Non-Locus of Enterocyte Effacement-Encoded
  Type III-Translocated Effectors, NleC and NleD, in Attaching and Effacing
  Pathogens. *Infection and Immunity* 73, 8411-8417.
- McCormick, B.A., Colgan, S.P., Delp-Archer, C., Miller, S.I., and Madara, J.L. (1993). Salmonella typhimurium attachment to human intestinal epithelial monolayers: transcellular signalling to subepithelial neutrophils. *The* Journal of Cell Biology **123**, 895-907.
- McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Donnenberg, M.S., and Kaper, J.B. (1995). A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **92**, 1664-1668.

- McGraw, E.A., Li, J., Selander, R.K., and Whittam, T.S. (1999). Molecular evolution and mosaic structure of alpha, beta, and gamma intimins of pathogenic *Escherichia coli. Mol Biol Evol* **16**, 12-22.
- McKee, M.L., Melton-Celsa, A.R., Moxley, R.A., Francis, D.H., and O'Brien, A.D. (1995). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 requires intimin to colonize the gnotobiotic pig intestine and to adhere to HEp-2 cells. *Infection and Immunity* 63, 3739-3744.
- McNamara, B.P., Koutsouris, A., O'Connell, C.B., Nougayrede, J.P., Donnenberg, M.S., and Hecht, G. (2001). Translocated EspF protein from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* disrupts host intestinal barrier function. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **107**, 621-629.
- McNeilly, T.N., Mitchell, M.C., Rosser, T., McAteer, S., Low, J.C., Smith, D.G., Huntley, J.F., Mahajan, A., and Gally, D.L. (2010). Immunization of cattle with a combination of purified intimin-531, EspA and Tir significantly reduces shedding of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 following oral challenge. *Vaccine* 28, 1422-1428.
- McNeilly, T.N., Naylor, S.W., Mahajan, A., Mitchell, M.C., McAteer, S., Deane, D., Smith, D.G., Low, J.C., Gally, D.L., and Huntley, J.F. (2008). *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 colonization in cattle following systemic and mucosal immunization with purified H7 flagellin. *Infect Immun* **76**, 2594-2602.
- Medellin-Pena, M.J., and Griffiths, M.W. (2009). Effect of molecules secreted by Lactobacillus acidophilus strain La-5 on *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 colonization. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **75**, 1165-1172.
- Mellies, J.L., Barron, A.M.S., and Carmona, A.M. (2007). Enteropathogenic and Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* Virulence Gene Regulation. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 4199-4210.
- Melton-Celsa, A.R., Darnell, S.C., and O'Brien, A.D. (1996). Activation of Shiga-like toxins by mouse and human intestinal mucus correlates with virulence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 091:H21 isolates in orally infected, streptomycin-treated mice. *Infect Immun* **64**, 1569-1576.
- Menge, C., Wieler, L.H., Schlapp, T. and Baljer, G. (1999). Shiga toxin 1 from Escherichia coli blocks activation and proliferation of bovine lymphocyte subpopulations in vitro. *Infection and Immunity* **67**, 2209-2217.
- Menge, C., Blessenohl, M., Eisenberg, T., Stamm, I. and Baljer, G. (2004). Bovine ileal intraepithelial lymphocytes represent target cells for Shiga toxin 1 from *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 1896-1905.
- Menge, C., Loos, D., Bridger, P.S., Barth, S., Werling, D. and Baljer, G. (2015). Bovine macrophages sense *Escherichia coli* shiga toxin 1. *Innate Immunity* **2**, 655-664.

- Miyamoto, Y., Iimura, M., Kaper, J.B., Torres, A.G., and Kagnoff, M.F. (2006). Role of Shiga toxin versus H7 flagellin in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* signalling of human colon epithelium in vivo. *Cellular Microbiology* **8**, 869-879.
- Mogna, L., Del Piano, M., Deidda, F., Nicola, S., Soattini, L., Debiaggi, R., Sforza, F., Strozzi, G., and Mogna, G. (2012). Assessment of the *in vitro* inhibitory activity of specific probiotic bacteria against different *Escherichia coli* strains. *J Clin Gastroenterol* **46 Suppl**, S29-32.
- Mohawk, K.L., and O'Brien, A.D. (2011). Mouse models of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 infection and shiga toxin injection. *J Biomed Biotechnol* **2011**, 258185.
- Morrison, D.K. (2012). MAP Kinase Pathways. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* **4**, doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011254.
- Moussay, E., Stamm, I., Taubert, A., Baljer, G. and Menge, C. (2006). *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxin 1 enhances il-4 transcripts in bovine ileal intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* **113**, 367-382.
- Muhldorfer, I., Hacker, J., Keusch, G.T., Acheson, D.W., Tschape, H., Kane, A.V., Ritter, A., Olschlager, T., and Donohue-Rolfe, A. (1996). Regulation of the Shiga-like toxin II operon in *Escherichia coli*. *Infect Immun* **64**, 495-502.
- Mühlen, S., Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.-H., and Kenny, B. (2011). Proteasomeindependent Degradation of Canonical NFκB Complex Components by the NleC Protein of Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **286**, 5100-5107.
- Mukherjee, S., and Hooper, Lora V. (2015). Antimicrobial Defense of the Intestine. *Immunity* **42**, 28-39.
- Mukherjee, S., Vaishnava, S., and Hooper, L.V. (2008). Multi-layered regulation of intestinal antimicrobial defense. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **65**, 3019-3027.
- Mukhopadhyay, S., and Linstedt, A.D. (2012). Manganese blocks intracellular trafficking of Shiga toxin and protects against Shiga toxicosis. *Science* **335**, 332-335.
- Mundy, R., Girard, F., FitzGerald, A.J., and Frankel, G. (2006). Comparison of colonization dynamics and pathology of mice infected with enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* and *Citrobacter rodentium*. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **265**, 126-132.
- Mundy, R., Schüller, S., Girard, F., Fairbrother, J.M., Phillips, A.D., and Frankel, G. (2007). Functional studies of intimin *in vivo* and *ex vivo*: implications for host specificity and tissue tropism. *Microbiology* **153**, 959-967.

- Munera, D., Martinez, E., Varyukhina, S., Mahajan, A., Ayala-Sanmartin, J., and Frankel, G. (2012). Recruitment and membrane interactions of host cell proteins during attachment of enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Biochem J* **445**, 383-392.
- Muniz, L.R., Knosp, C., and Yeretssian, G. (2012). Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection and disease. *Frontiers in Immunology* **3**, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310.
- Murata, A., Shimazu, T., Yamamoto, T., Taenaka, N., Nagayama, K., Honda, T., Sugimoto, H., Monden, M., Matsuura, N., and Okada, S. (1998). Profiles of circulating inflammatory- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome due to *E. coli* 0157 infection. *Cytokine* **10**, 544-548.
- Muza-Moons, M.M., Koutsouris, A., and Hecht, G. (2003). Disruption of Cell Polarity by Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* Enables Basolateral Membrane Proteins To Migrate Apically and To Potentiate Physiological Consequences. *Infection and Immunity* **71**, 7069-7078.
- Nadler, C., Baruch, K., Kobi, S., Mills, E., Haviv, G., Farago, M., Alkalay, I., Bartfeld, S., Meyer, T.F., Ben-Neriah, Y., and Rosenshine, I. (2010). The Type III Secretion Effector NIeE Inhibits NF-kappa B Activation. *PLoS Pathogens* 6, doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.100074.
- Nakanishi, N., Tashiro, K., Kuhara, S., Hayashi, T., Sugimoto, N., and Tobe, T. (2009). Regulation of virulence by butyrate sensing in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiology* **155**, 521-530.
- Nataro, J.P., and Kaper, J.B. (1998). Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* **11**, 142-201.
- Neely, M.N., and Friedman, D.I. (1998). Functional and genetic analysis of regulatory regions of coliphage H-19B: location of shiga-like toxin and lysis genes suggest a role for phage functions in toxin release. *Mol Microbiol* 28, 1255-1267.
- Newton, H.J., Pearson, J.S., Badea, L., Kelly, M., Lucas, M., Holloway, G., Wagstaff, K.M., Dunstone, M.A., Sloan, J., Whisstock, J.C., Kaper, J.B., Robins-Browne, R.M., Jans, D.A., Frankel, G., Phillips, A.D., Coulson, B.S., and Hartland, E.L. (2010). The Type III Effectors NleE and NleB from Enteropathogenic *E. col*i and OspZ from *Shigella* Block Nuclear Translocation of NF-kappa B p65. *PLoS Pathogens* 6, doi: e1000898.1000810.1001371/journal.ppat.1000898.
- Niyonsaba, F., Iwabuchi, K., Matsuda, H., Ogawa, H., and Nagaoka, I. (2002). Epithelial cell-derived human beta-defensin-2 acts as a chemotaxin for mast cells through a pertussis toxin-sensitive and phospholipase Cdependent pathway. *Int Immunol* **14**, 421-426.

- Niyonsaba, F., Ogawa, H., and Nagaoka, I. (2004). Human beta-defensin-2 functions as a chemotactic agent for tumour necrosis factor-alphatreated human neutrophils. *Immunology* **111**, 273-281.
- Niyonsaba, F., Someya, A., Hirata, M., Ogawa, H., and Nagaoka, I. (2001).
   Evaluation of the effects of peptide antibiotics human beta-defensins-1/-2 and LL-37 on histamine release and prostaglandin D(2) production from mast cells. *Eur J Immunol* **31**, 1066-1075.
- Nougayrède, J.-P., and Donnenberg, M.S. (2004). Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* EspF is targeted to mitochondria and is required to initiate the mitochondrial death pathway. *Cellular Microbiology* **6**, 1097-1111.
- O'Brien, A.D., LaVeck, G.D., Thompson, M.R., and Formal, S.B. (1982). Production of Shigella dysenteriae type 1-like cytotoxin by *Escherichia coli*. *J Infect Dis* **146**, 763-769.
- O'Brien, A.D., Lively, T.A., Chang, T.W., and Gorbach, S.L. (1983). Purification of *Shigella-dysenteriae*-1 (Shiga)-like toxin from *Escherichia-coli* 0157:H7 strain associated with hemorrhagic colitis. *Lancet* **2**, 573-573.
- O'Neil, D.A., Porter, E.M., Elewaut, D., Anderson, G.M., Eckmann, L., Ganz, T., and Kagnoff, M.F. (1999). Expression and Regulation of the Human ß-Defensins hBD-1 and hBD-2 in Intestinal Epithelium. *The Journal of Immunology* **163**, 6718-6724.
- Ogura, Y., Ooka, T., Whale, A., Garmendia, J., Beutin, L., Tennant, S., Krause, G., Morabito, S., Chinen, I., Tobe, T., Abe, H., Tozzoli, R., Caprioli, A., Rivas, M., Robins-Browne, R., Hayashi, T., and Frankel, G. (2007). TccP2 of 0157:H7 and Non-O157 Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC): Challenging the Dogma of EHEC-Induced Actin Polymerization. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 604-612.
- Ogushi, K.-i., Wada, A., Niidome, T., Mori, N., Oishi, K., Nagatake, T., Takahashi, A., Asakura, H., Makino, S.-i., Hojo, H., Nakahara, Y., Ohsaki, M., Hatakeyama, T., Aoyagi, H., Kurazono, H., Moss, J., and Hirayama, T. (2001). *Salmonella enteritidis* FliC (Flagella Filament Protein) Induces Human β-Defensin-2 mRNA Production by Caco-2 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**, 30521-30526.
- Olitsky, P.K., and Kligler, I.J. (1920). Toxins and antitoxins of *Bacillus dysenteriae* shiga. *J Exp Med* **31**, 19-33.
- Orth, D., Grif, K., Khan, A.B., Naim, A., Dierich, M.P., and Wurzner, R. (2007). The Shiga toxin genotype rather than the amount of Shiga toxin or the cytotoxicity of Shiga toxin *in vitro* correlates with the appearance of the hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* **59**, 235-242.
- Ostroff, S.M., Griffin, P.M., Tauxe, R.V., Shipman, L.D., Greene, K.D., Wells, J.G., Lewis, J.H., Blake, P.A., and Kobayashi, J.M. (1990). A statewide outbreak

of *Escherichia coli* 0157: H7 infections in Washington state. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **132**, 239-247.

- Ou, G., Baranov, V., Lundmark, E., Hammarström, S., and Hammarström, M.L. (2009). Contribution of Intestinal Epithelial Cells to Innate Immunity of the Human Gut - Studies on Polarized Monolayers of Colon Carcinoma Cells. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology 69, 150-161.
- Pacheco, A.R., Curtis, M.M., Ritchie, J.M., Munera, D., Waldor, M.K., Moreira, C.G., and Sperandio, V. (2012). Fucose sensing regulates bacterial intestinal colonization. *Nature* 492, 113-117.
- Pacheco, A.R., and Sperandio, V. (2012). Shiga toxin in enterohemorrhagic *E.coli*: regulation and novel anti-virulence strategies. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **2**, 81.
- Pai, C.H., Kelly, J.K., and Meyers, G.L. (1986). Experimental infection of infant rabbits with verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Infection and Immunity* 51, 16-23.
- Pallen, M.J., Beatson, S.A., and Bailey, C.M. (2005). Bioinformatics, genomics and evolution of non-flagellar type-III secretion systems: a Darwinian perpective. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews* **29**.
- Pazgier, M., Hoover, D.M., Yang, D., Lu, W., and Lubkowski, J. (2006). Human beta-defensins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* **63**, 1294-1313.
- Pearson, J.S., Giogha, C., Ong, S.Y., Kennedy, C.L., Kelly, M., Robinson, K.S., Lung, T.W.F., Mansell, A., Riedmaier, P., Oates, C.V.L., Zaid, A., Muhlen, S., Crepin, V.F., Marches, O., Ang, C.-S., Williamson, N.A., O/'Reilly, L.A., Bankovacki, A., Nachbur, U., Infusini, G., Webb, A.I., Silke, J., Strasser, A., Frankel, G., and Hartland, E.L. (2013). A type III effector antagonizes death receptor signalling during bacterial gut infection. *Nature* **501**, 247-251.
- Pearson, J.S., Riedmaier, P., Marchès, O., Frankel, G., and Hartland, E.L. (2011). A type III effector protease NleC from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* targets NF-κB for degradation. *Molecular Microbiology* **80**, 219-230.
- Peeters, T., and Vantrappen, G. (1975). The Paneth cell: a source of intestinal lysozyme. *Gut* **16**, 553-558.
- Perna, N.T., Plunkett, G., 3rd, Burland, V., Mau, B., Glasner, J.D., Rose, D.J., Mayhew, G.F., Evans, P.S., Gregor, J., Kirkpatrick, H.A., Posfai, G., Hackett, J., Klink, S., Boutin, A., Shao, Y., Miller, L., Grotbeck, E.J., Davis, N.W., Lim, A., Dimalanta, E.T., Potamousis, K.D., Apodaca, J., Anantharaman, T.S., Lin, J., Yen, G., Schwartz, D.C., Welch, R.A., and Blattner, F.R. (2001). Genome sequence of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Nature* 409, 529-533.

- Pham, T.H., Gao, X., Tsai, K., Olsen, R., Wan, F., and Hardwidge, P.R. (2012). Functional Differences and Interactions between the *Escherichia coli* Type III Secretion System Effectors NleH1 and NleH2. *Infection and Immunity* 80, 2133-2140.
- Phillips, A.D., Navabpour, S., Hicks, S., Dougan, G., Wallis, T., and Frankel, G. (2000). Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157 : H7 target Peyer's patches in humans and cause attaching/effacing lesions in both human and bovine intestine. *Gut* 47, 377-381.
- Philpott, D., McKay, D., Mak, W., Perdue, M., and Sherman, P. (1998). Signal Transduction Pathways Involved in Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli-Induced Alterations in T84 Epithelial Permeability. Infection and Immunity 66, 1680-1687.
- Philpott, D.J., Ackerley, C.A., Kiliaan, A.J., Karmali, M.A., Perdue, M.H., and Sherman, P.M. (1997). Translocation of verotoxin-1 across T84 monolayers: mechanism of bacterial toxin penetration of epithelium. *Am J Physiol* 273, G1349-1358.
- Piérard, D., Muyldermans, G., Moriau, L., Stevens, D., and Lauwers, S. (1998). Identification of new verocytotoxin type 2 variant B-subunit genes in human and animal *Escherichia coli* isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* **36**, 3317-3322.
- Popovic, D., Vucic, D., and Dikic, I. (2014). Ubiquitination in disease pathogenesis and treatment. *Nat Med* **20**, 1242-1253.
- Porter, M.E., Mitchell, P., Roe, A.J., Free, A., Smith, D.G., and Gally, D.L. (2004). Direct and indirect transcriptional activation of virulence genes by an AraC-like protein, PerA from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol Microbiol* 54, 1117-1133.
- Potter, A.A., Klashinsky, S., Li, Y., Frey, E., Townsend, H., Rogan, D., Erickson, G., Hinkley, S., Klopfenstein, T., Moxley, R.A., Smith, D.R., and Finlay, B.B. (2004). Decreased shedding of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 by cattle following vaccination with type III secreted proteins. *Vaccine* 22, 362-369.
- Pramanik, R., Qi, X., Borowicz, S., Choubey, D., Schultz, R.M., Han, J., and Chen, G. (2003). p38 Isoforms Have Opposite Effects on AP-1-dependent Transcription through Regulation of c-Jun: the determinant role of the isoforms in the p38 mapk signal specificity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **278**, 4831-4839.
- Puhar, A., and Sansonetti, P.J. (2014). Type III secretion system. *Curr Biol* **24**, R784-791.

- Putsep, K., Axelsson, L.G., Boman, A., Midtvedt, T., Normark, S., Boman, H.G., and Andersson, M. (2000). Germ-free and colonized mice generate the same products from enteric prodefensins. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 40478-40482.
- Puttamreddy, S., Cornick, N.A., and Minion, F.C. (2010). Genome-wide transposon mutagenesis reveals a role for pO157 genes in biofilm development in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 EDL933. *Infect Immun* **78**, 2377-2384.
- Quitard, S., Dean, P., Maresca, M., and Kenny, B. (2006). The enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* EspF effector molecule inhibits PI-3 kinase-mediated uptake independently of mitochondrial targeting. *Cellular Microbiology* **8**, 972-981.
- Rasko, D.A., Webster, D.R., Sahl, J.W., Bashir, A., Boisen, N., Scheutz, F., Paxinos, E.E., Sebra, R., Chin, C.S., Iliopoulos, D., Klammer, A., Peluso, P., Lee, L., Kislyuk, A.O., Bullard, J., Kasarskis, A., Wang, S., Eid, J., Rank, D., Redman, J.C., Steyert, S.R., Frimodt-Moller, J., Struve, C., Petersen, A.M., Krogfelt, K.A., Nataro, J.P., Schadt, E.E., and Waldor, M.K. (2011). Origins of the *E. coli* strain causing an outbreak of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in Germany. *N Engl J Med* 365, 709-717.
- Rasmussen, M.A., Carlson, S.A., Franklin, S.A., McCuddin, Z.P., Wu, M.T. and Sharma, V.K. (2005) Exposure to rumen protozoa leads to enhancement of pathogenicity of and invasion by multiple antibiotic-resistant *Salmonella* enterica bearing SG11. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 4668-4675.
- Raymond, B., Crepin, V.F., Collins, J.W., and Frankel, G. (2011). The WxxxE effector EspT triggers expression of immune mediators in an Erk/JNK and NF-κB-dependent manner. *Cellular Microbiology* **13**, 1881-1893.
- Reading, N.C., Torres, A.G., Kendall, M.M., Hughes, D.T., Yamamoto, K., and Sperandio, V. (2007). A novel two-component signaling system that activates transcription of an enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* effector involved in remodeling of host actin. *J Bacteriol* **189**, 2468-2476.
- Reid, G., Howard, J., and Gan, B.S. (2001). Can bacterial interference prevent infection? *Trends in Microbiology* **9**, 424-428.
- Reid, S.D., Herbelin, C.J., Bumbaugh, A.C., Selander, R.K., and Whittam, T.S. (2000). Parallel evolution of virulence in pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Nature* **406**, 64-67.
- Rendón, M.a.A., Saldaña, Z., Erdem, A.L., Monteiro-Neto, V., Vázquez, A., Kaper, J.B., Puente, J.L., and Girón, J.A. (2007). Commensal and pathogenic *Escherichia coli* use a common pilus adherence factor for epithelial cell

colonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **104**, 10637-10642.

- Riley, L.W., Remis, R.S., Helgerson, S.D., McGee, H.B., Wells, J.G., Davis, B.R., Hebert, R.J., Olcott, E.S., Johnson, L.M., Hargrett, N.T., Blake, P.A., and Cohen, M.L. (1983). Hemorrhagic Colitis Associated with a Rare *Escherichia coli* Serotype. *New England Journal of Medicine* **308**, 681-685.
- Ritchie, J.M., Brady, M.J., Riley, K.N., Ho, T.D., Campellone, K.G., Herman, I.M., Donohue-Rolfe, A., Tzipori, S., Waldor, M.K., and Leong, J.M. (2008). EspFU, a type III-translocated effector of actin assembly, fosters epithelial association and late-stage intestinal colonization by *E. coli* 0157:H7. *Cell Microbiol* **10**, 836-847.
- Ritchie, J.M., Thorpe, C.M., Rogers, A.B., and Waldor, M.K. (2003). Critical Roles for stx2, eae, and tir in Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*-Induced Diarrhea and Intestinal Inflammation in Infant Rabbits. *Infection and Immunity* **71**, 7129-7139.
- Robinson, C.M., Sinclair, J.F., Smith, M.J., and O'Brien, A.D. (2006). Shiga toxin of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* type 0157:H7 promotes intestinal colonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **103**, 9667-9672.
- Roe, A.J., Currie, C., Smith, D.G., and Gally, D.L. (2001). Analysis of type 1 fimbriae expression in verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: a comparison between serotypes 0157 and 026. *Microbiology* 147, 145-152.
- Roe, A.J., Naylor, S.W., Spears, K.J., Yull, H.M., Dransfield, T.A., Oxford, M., McKendrick, I.J., Porter, M., Woodward, M.J., Smith, D.G., and Gally, D.L. (2004). Co-ordinate single-cell expression of LEE4- and LEE5-encoded proteins of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Mol Microbiol* 54, 337-352.
- Röhrl, J., Yang, D., Oppenheim, J.J., and Hehlgans, T. (2010). Human β-Defensin 2 and 3 and Their Mouse Orthologs Induce Chemotaxis through Interaction with CCR2. *The Journal of Immunology* **184**, 6688-6694.
- Rosenshine, I., Donnenberg, M.S., Kaper, J.B., and Finlay, B.B. (1992). Signal transduction between enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) and epithelial cells: EPEC induces tyrosine phosphorylation of host cell proteins to initiate cytoskeletal rearrangement and bacterial uptake. *The EMBO Journal* **11**, 3551-3560.
- Rosenshine, I., Ruschkowski, S., Stein, M., Reinscheid, D.J., Mills, S.D., and Finlay, B.B. (1996). A pathogenic bacterium triggers epithelial signals to form a functional bacterial receptor that mediates actin pseudopod formation. *The EMBO Journal* **15**, 2613-2624.
- Rossi, O., Karczewski, J., Stolte, E.H., Brummer, R.J., van Nieuwenhoven, M.A., Meijerink, M., van Neerven, J.R., van Ijzendoorn, S.C., van Baarlen, P., and

Wells, J.M. (2013). Vectorial secretion of interleukin-8 mediates autocrine signalling in intestinal epithelial cells via apically located CXCR1. *BMC Res Notes* **6**, 431.

- Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.-H., Maresca, M., and Kenny, B. (2007). Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) inactivate innate immune responses prior to compromising epithelial barrier function. *Cellular Microbiology* 9, 1909-1921.
- Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.H., Muhlen, S., Dean, P., and Kenny, B. (2011). The enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) Tir effector inhibits NF-kappaB activity by targeting TNFalpha receptor-associated factors. *PLoS Pathog* **7**, e1002414.
- Saenz, J.B., Doggett, T.A., and Haslam, D.B. (2007). Identification and Characterization of Small Molecules That Inhibit Intracellular Toxin Transport. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 4552-4561.
- Safdar, N., Said, A., Gangnon, R.E., and Maki, D.G. (2002). Risk of hemolytic uremic syndrome after antibiotic treatment of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 enteritis: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* **288**, 996-1001.
- Said, H.M. (2009). Cell and molecular aspects of human intestinal biotin absorption. *J Nutr* **139**, 158-162.
- Samadder, P., Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Saldaña, Z., Jordan, D., Tarr, P.I., Kaper, J.B., and Girón, J.A. (2009). The *Escherichia coli* ycbQRST operon encodes fimbriae with laminin-binding and epithelial cell adherence properties in Shiga-toxigenic *E. coli* 0157:H7. *Environmental Microbiology* **11**, 1815-1826.
- Santos, A.S., and Finlay, B.B. (2015). Bringing down the host: enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* effector-mediated subversion of host innate immune pathways. *Cell Microbiol* **17**, 318-332.
- Savkovic, S.D., Koutsouris, A., and Hecht, G. (1996). Attachment of a noninvasive enteric pathogen, enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, to cultured human intestinal epithelial monolayers induces transmigration of neutrophils. *Infection and Immunity* **64**, 4480-4487.
- Schlee, M., Harder, J., Koten, B., Stange, E.F., Wehkamp, J., and Fellermann, K. (2008). Probiotic lactobacilli and VSL#3 induce enterocyte beta-defensin 2. *Clin Exp Immunol* 151, 528-535.
- Schlee, M., Wehkamp, J., Altenhoefer, A., Oelschlaeger, T.A., Stange, E.F., and Fellermann, K. (2007). Induction of Human β-Defensin 2 by the Probiotic *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917 Is Mediated through Flagellin. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 2399-2407.

- Schmidt, H., Scheef, J., Morabito, S., Caprioli, A., Wieler, L.H., and Karch, H. (2000). A New Shiga Toxin 2 Variant (Stx2f) from *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Pigeons. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66, 1205-1208.
- Schmitt, C.K., McKee, M.L., and O'Brien, A.D. (1991). Two copies of Shiga-like toxin II-related genes common in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* strains are responsible for the antigenic heterogeneity of the O157:Hstrain E32511. *Infect Immun* 59, 1065-1073.
- Schüller, S. (2011). Shiga toxin interaction with human intestinal epithelium. *Toxins* **3**, 626-639.
- Schüller, S., Chong, Y.W., Lewin, J., Kenny, B., Frankel, G., and Phillips, A.D. (2007). Tir phosphorylation and Nck/N-WASP recruitment by enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* during ex vivo colonization of human intestinal mucosa is different to cell culture models. *Cellular Microbiology* **9**, 1352-1364.
- Schüller, S., Frankel, G., and Phillips, A.D. (2004). Interaction of Shiga toxin from *Escherichia coli* with human intestinal epithelial cell lines and explants:
   Stx2 induces epithelial damage in organ culture. *Cellular Microbiology* 6, 289-301.
- Schüller, S., Lucas, M., Kaper, J.B., Giron, J.A., and Phillips, A.D. (2009). The exvivo response of human intestinal mucosa to enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection. *Cellular Microbiology* **11**, 521-530.
- Schüller, S., and Phillips, A.D. (2010). Microaerobic conditions enhance type III secretion and adherence of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* to polarized human intestinal epithelial cells. *Environmental Microbiology* 12, 2426-2435.
- Sedov, S.A., Belogurova, N.G., Shipovskov, S., Levashov, A.V., and Levashov, P.A. (2011). Lysis of *Escherichia coli* cells by lysozyme: discrimination between adsorption and enzyme action. *Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces* 88, 131-133.
- Selsted, M.E., and Ouellette, A.J. (2005). Mammalian defensins in the antimicrobial immune response. *Nat Immunol* **6**, 551-557.
- Sham, H.P., Shames, S.R., Croxen, M.A., Ma, C., Chan, J.M., Khan, M.A., Wickham, M.E., Deng, W., Finlay, B.B., and Vallance, B.A. (2011). Attaching and Effacing Bacterial Effector NleC Suppresses Epithelial Inflammatory Responses by Inhibiting NF-kappa B and p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Activation. *Infection and Immunity* **79**, 3552-3562.
- Shames, S.R., Deng, W., Guttman, J.A., De Hoog, C.L., Li, Y., Hardwidge, P.R., Sham, H.P., Vallance, B.A., Foster, L.J., and Finlay, B.B. (2010). The pathogenic *E*.

*coli* type III effector EspZ interacts with host CD98 and facilitates host cell prosurvival signalling. *Cellular Microbiology* **12**, 1322-1339.

- Sharma, R., Tesfay, S., Tomson, F.L., Kanteti, R.P., Viswanathan, V.K., and Hecht, G. (2006). Balance of bacterial pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators dictates net effect of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* on intestinal epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 290, G685-G694.
- Shaw, R.K., Cleary, J., Murphy, M.S., Frankel, G., and Knutton, S. (2005). Interaction of Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* with Human Intestinal Mucosa: Role of Effector Proteins in Brush Border Remodeling and Formation of Attaching and Effacing Lesions. *Infection and Immunity* 73, 1243-1251.
- Sherman, P.M., Johnson-Henry, K.C., Yeung, H.P., Ngo, P.S.C., Goulet, J., and Tompkins, T.A. (2005). Probiotics Reduce Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7- and Enteropathogenic *E. coli* 0127:H6-Induced Changes in Polarized T84 Epithelial Cell Monolayers by Reducing Bacterial Adhesion and Cytoskeletal Rearrangements. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 5183-5188.
- Sherman, P.M., and Soni, R. (1988). Adherence of Vero cytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* of serotype 0157:H7 to human epithelial cells in tissue culture: role of outer membranes as bacterial adhesins. *J Med Microbiol* 26, 11-17.
- Shigeno, T., Akamatsu, T., Fujimori, K., Nakatsuji, Y., and Nagata, A. (2002). The Clinical Significance of Colonoscopy in Hemorrhagic Colitis Due to Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157:H7 Infection. Endoscopy 34, 311-314.
- Shimizu, T., Ohta, Y., and Noda, M. (2009). Shiga Toxin 2 Is Specifically Released from Bacterial Cells by Two Different Mechanisms. *Infection and Immunity* **77**, 2813-2823.
- Simovitch, M., Sason, H., Cohen, S., Zahavi, E.E., Melamed-Book, N., Weiss, A., Aroeti, B., and Rosenshine, I. (2010). EspM inhibits pedestal formation by enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* and enteropathogenic *E. coli* and disrupts the architecture of a polarized epithelial monolayer. *Cellular Microbiology* **12**, 489-505.
- Sinclair, J.F., Dean-Nystrom, E.A., and O'Brien, A.D. (2006). The Established Intimin Receptor Tir and the Putative Eucaryotic Intimin Receptors Nucleolin and β1 Integrin Localize at or near the Site of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 Adherence to Enterocytes In Vivo. Infection and Immunity **74**, 1255-1265.
- Sinclair, J.F., and O'Brien, A.D. (2002). Cell surface-localized nucleolin is a eukaryotic receptor for the adhesin intimin-gamma of

enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **277**, 2876-2885.

- Skaar, E.P. (2010). The Battle for Iron between Bacterial Pathogens and Their Vertebrate Hosts. *PLoS Pathogens* **6**, e1000949.
- Smith, G.E., Naylor, S.W. and Gally, D. (2002). Consequences of EHEC colonisation in humans and cattle. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* **292**, 169-183.
- Smith, K.D., Andersen-Nissen, E. (2003). Toll-like receptor 5 recognizes a conserved site on flagellin required for protofilament formation and bacterial motility. *Nature Immunology* 4, 1247-53.
- Smith, K.E., Wilker, P.R., Reiter, P.L., Hedican, E.B., Bender, J.B., and Hedberg, C.W. (2012). Antibiotic treatment of *Escherichia coli* 0157 infection and the risk of hemolytic uremic syndrome, Minnesota. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 31, 37-41.
- Sperandio, B., Regnault, B., Guo, J., Zhang, Z., Stanley, S.L., Sansonetti, P.J., and Pédron, T. (2008). Virulent *Shigella flexneri* subverts the host innate immune response through manipulation of antimicrobial peptide gene expression. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* **205**, 1121-1132.
- Sperandio, V., Li, C.C., and Kaper, J.B. (2002). Quorum-Sensing Escherichia coli Regulator A: a Regulator of the LysR Family Involved in the Regulation of the Locus of Enterocyte Effacement Pathogenicity Island in Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli. Infection and Immunity* **70**, 3085-3093.
- Sperandio, V., Mellies, J.L., Nguyen, W., Shin, S., and Kaper, J.B. (1999). Quorum sensing controls expression of the type III secretion gene transcription and protein secretion in enterohemorrhagic and enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 15196-15201.
- Sperandio, V., Torres, A.G., Giron, J.A., and Kaper, J.B. (2001). Quorum sensing is a global regulatory mechanism in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *J Bacteriol* **183**, 5187-5197.
- Sperandio, V., Torres, A.G., Jarvis, B., Nataro, J.P., and Kaper, J.B. (2003). Bacteriahost communication: the language of hormones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 8951-8956.
- Spinale, J.M., Ruebner, R.L., Copelovitch, L., and Kaplan, B.S. (2013). Long-term outcomes of Shiga toxin hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* **28**, 2097-2105.
- Staley, T.E., Jones, E.W., and Corley, L.D. (1969). Attachment and penetration of *Escherichia coli* into intestinal epithelium of the ileum in newborn pigs. *American Journal of Pathology* **56**, 371-392.

- Stamm, I., Wuhrer, M., Geyer, R., Baljer, G. and Menge, Ch. (2002). Bovine lymphocytes express functional receptors for *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxin 1. *Microb. Patholog* 33, 251-264.
- Steiner, T.S. (2007). How Flagellin and Toll-Like Receptor 5 Contribute to Enteric Infection. *Infection and Immunity* **75**, 545-552.
- Steiner, T.S., Nataro, J.P., Poteet-Smith, C.E., Smith, J.A., and Guerrant, R.L. (2000). Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* expresses a novel flagellin that causes IL-8 release from intestinal epithelial cells. *J Clin Invest* **105**, 1769-1777.
- Stevens, M.P., Roe, A.J., Vlisidou, I., van Diemen, P.M., La Ragione, R.M., Best, A., Woodward, M.J., Gally, D.L., and Wallis, T.S. (2004). Mutation of toxB and a truncated version of the efa-1 gene in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 influences the expression and secretion of locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded proteins but not intestinal colonization in calves or sheep. *Infect Immun* 72, 5402-5411.
- Stolfa, G. and Koudelka, G.B. (2013). Entry and killing of *Tetrahymena thermophila* by bacterially produced shiga toxin. *MBio* **4**, e00416-12.
- Strober, W. (2011). Adherent-invasive *E. coli* in Crohn disease: bacterial "agent provocateur". *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **121**, 841-844.
- Strockbine, N.A., Jackson, M.P., Sung, L.M., Holmes, R.K., and O'Brien, A.D. (1988). Cloning and sequencing of the genes for Shiga toxin from *Shigella dysenteriae* type 1. *Journal of Bacteriology* **170**, 1116-1122.
- Strockbine, N.A., Marques, L.R., Newland, J.W., Smith, H.W., Holmes, R.K., and O'Brien, A.D. (1986). Two toxin-converting phages from *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 strain 933 encode antigenically distinct toxins with similar biologic activities. *Infect Immun* 53, 135-140.
- Sung, L.M., Jackson, M.P., O'Brien, A.D., and Holmes, R.K. (1990). Transcription of the Shiga-like toxin type II and Shiga-like toxin type II variant operons of *Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol* **172**, 6386-6395.
- Tahoun, A., Jensen, K., Corripio-Miyar, Y., McAteer, S.P., Corbishley, A., Mahajan,
  A., Brown, H., Frew, D., Aumeunier, A., Smith, D.G., McNeilly, T.N., Glass,
  E.J., and Gally, D.L. (2015). Functional analysis of bovine TLR5 and
  association with IgA responses of cattle following systemic immunisation
  with H7 flagella. *Vet Res* 46, 9.
- Tarr, P.I., Bilge, S.S., Vary, J.C., Jelacic, S., Habeeb, R.L., Ward, T.R., Baylor, M.R., and Besser, T.E. (2000). Iha: a novel *Escherichia coli* 0157 : H7 adherence-conferring molecule encoded on a recently acquired chromosomal island of conserved structure. *Infection and Immunity* 68, 1400-1407.

- Tarr, P.I., Gordon, C.A., and Chandler, W.L. (2005). Shiga-toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* and haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Lancet* 365, 1073-1086.
- Tatsuno, I., Horie, M., Abe, H., Miki, T., Makino, K., Shinagawa, H., Taguchi, H., Kamiya, S., Hayashi, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2001). toxB gene on p0157 of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 is required for full epithelial cell adherence phenotype. *Infect Immun* **69**, 6660-6669.
- Tatsuno, I., Nagano, K., Taguchi, K., Rong, L., Mori, H., and Sasakawa, C. (2003). Increased adherence to Caco-2 cells caused by disruption of the yhiE and yhiF genes in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Infect Immun* 71, 2598-2606.
- Teel, L.D., Melton-Celsa, A.R., Schmitt, C.K., and O'Brien, A.D. (2002). One of two copies of the gene for the activatable shiga toxin type 2d in *Escherichia coli* 091:H21 strain B2F1 is associated with an inducible bacteriophage. *Infect Immun* **70**, 4282-4291.
- Tesh, V.L., Burris, J.A., Owens, J.W., Gordon, V.M., Wadolkowski, E.A., O'Brien, A.D., and Samuel, J.E. (1993). Comparison of the relative toxicities of Shiga-like toxins type I and type II for mice. *Infection and Immunity* 61, 3392-3402.
- Thanabalasuriar, A., Koutsouris, A., Weflen, A., Mimee, M., Hecht, G., and Gruenheid, S. (2010). The bacterial virulence factor NleA is required for the disruption of intestinal tight junctions by enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Cellular Microbiology* **12**, 31-41.
- Thorpe, C.M., Smith, W.E., Hurley, B.P., and Acheson, D.W.K. (2001). Shiga toxins induce, superinduce, and stabilize a variety of C-X-C chemokine mRNAs in intestinal epithelial cells, resulting in increased chemokine expression. *Infection and Immunity* **69**, 6140-6147.
- Tobe, T., Beatson, S.A., Taniguchi, H., Abe, H., Bailey, C.M., Fivian, A., Younis, R., Matthews, S., Marches, O., Frankel, G., Hayashi, T., and Pallen, M.J. (2006). An extensive repertoire of type III secretion effectors in *Escherichia coli* 0157 and the role of lambdoid phages in their dissemination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 14941-14946.
- Tobe, T., Nakanishi, N., and Sugimoto, N. (2011). Activation of motility by sensing short-chain fatty acids via two steps in a flagellar gene regulatory cascade in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect Immun* **79**, 1016-1024.
- Torres, A.G., Jeter, C., Langley, W., and Matthysse, A.G. (2005a). Differential binding of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 to alfalfa, human epithelial cells, and plastic is mediated by a variety of surface structures. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **71**, 8008-8015.

- Torres, A.G., and Kaper, J.B. (2003). Multiple Elements Controlling Adherence of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 to HeLa Cells. *Infection and Immunity* **71**, 4985-4995.
- Torres, A.G., Perna, N.T., Burland, V., Ruknudin, A., Blattner, F.R., and Kaper, J.B. (2002). Characterization of Cah, a calcium-binding and heat-extractable autotransporter protein of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol Microbiol* 45, 951-966.
- Torres, A.G., Slater, T.M., Patel, S.D., Popov, V.L., and Arenas-Hernández, M.M.P. (2008). Contribution of the Ler- and H-NS-Regulated Long Polar Fimbriae of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 during Binding to Tissue-Cultured Cells. *Infection and Immunity* 76, 5062-5071.
- Torres, A.G., Zhou, X., and Kaper, J.B. (2005b). Adherence of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* strains to epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 18-29.
- Touzé, T., Hayward, R.D., Eswaran, J., Leong, J.M., and Koronakis, V. (2004). Selfassociation of EPEC intimin mediated by the β-barrel-containing anchor domain: a role in clustering of the Tir receptor. *Molecular Microbiology* **51**, 73-87.
- Trachtman, H., Austin, C., Lewinski, M., and Stahl, R.A.K. (2012). Renal and neurological involvement in typical Shiga toxin-associated HUS. *Nat Rev Nephrol* **8**, 658-669.
- Trachtman, H., Cnaan, A., Christen, E., Gibbs, K., Zhao, S., Acheson, D.W., Weiss, R., Kaskel, F.J., Spitzer, A., and Hirschman, G.H. (2003). Effect of an oral Shiga toxin-binding agent on diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome in children: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 290, 1337-1344.
- Tran, S.-L., Billoud, L., Lewis, S.B., Phillips, A.D., and Schüller, S. (2014). Shiga toxin production and translocation during microaerobic human colonic infection with Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* 0157:H7 and 0104:H4. *Cellular Microbiology* 16, 1255-1266.
- Tree, J.J., Roe, A.J., Flockhart, A., McAteer, S.P., Xu, X., Shaw, D., Mahajan, A., Beatson, S.A., Best, A., Lotz, S., Woodward, M.J., La Ragione, R., Murphy, K.C., Leong, J.M., and Gally, D.L. (2011). Transcriptional regulators of the GAD acid stress island are carried by effector protein-encoding prophages and indirectly control type III secretion in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Mol Microbiol* 80, 1349-1365.
- Tu, X., Nisan, I., Yona, C., Hanski, E., and Rosenshine, I. (2003). EspH, a new cytoskeleton-modulating effector of enterohaemorrhagic and enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol Microbiol* **47**, 595-606.

- Turner, J., Cho, Y., Dinh, N.-N., Waring, A.J., and Lehrer, R.I. (1998). Activities of LL-37, a Cathelin-Associated Antimicrobial Peptide of Human Neutrophils. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* **42**, 2206-2214.
- Turner, J.R. (2009). Intestinal mucosal barrier function in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* **9**, 799-809.
- Tuttle, J., Gomez, T., Doyle, M.P., Wells, J.G., Zhao, T., Tauxe, R.V., and Griffin, P.M. (1999). Lessons from a large outbreak of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 infections: insights into the infectious dose and method of widespread contamination of hamburger patties. *Epidemiol Infect* **122**, 185-192.
- Tyler, J.S., Mills, M.J., and Friedman, D.I. (2004). The operator and early promoter region of the Shiga toxin type 2-encoding bacteriophage 933W and control of toxin expression. *J Bacteriol* **186**, 7670-7679.
- Tzipori, S., Karch, H., Wachsmuth, K.I., Robins-Browne, R.M., O'Brien, A.D., Lior, H., Cohen, M.L., Smithers, J., and Levine, M.M. (1987). Role of a 60megadalton plasmid and Shiga-like toxins in the pathogenesis of infection caused by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in gnotobiotic piglets. *Infection and Immunity* 55, 3117-3125.
- Tzipori, S., Wachsmuth, I.K., Chapman, C., Birden, R., Brittingham, J., Jackson, C., and Hogg, J. (1986). The pathogenesis of hemorrhagic colitis caused by *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in gnotobiotic piglets. *J Infect Dis* **154**, 712-716.
- USDA (2012). Shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* in certain beef products. *Federal Register* **77**, 31975-31981.
- van Diemen, P.M., Dziva, F., Stevens, M.P., and Wallis, T.S. (2005). Identification of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O26:H- genes required for intestinal colonization in calves. *Infect Immun* **73**, 1735-1743.
- Vareille, M., de Sablet, T., Hindre, T., Martin, C., and Gobert, A.P. (2007). Nitric oxide inhibits Shiga-toxin synthesis by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**, 10199-10204.
- Vingadassalom, D., Kazlauskas, A., Skehan, B., Cheng, H.C., Magoun, L., Robbins, D., Rosen, M.K., Saksela, K., and Leong, J.M. (2009). Insulin receptor tyrosine kinase substrate links the *E. coli* 0157:H7 actin assembly effectors Tir and EspF(U) during pedestal formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 6754-6759.
- Viswanathan, V.K., Hodges, K., and Hecht, G. (2009). Enteric infection meets intestinal function: how bacterial pathogens cause diarrhoea. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* **7**, 1-10.
- Viswanathan, V.K., Koutsouris, A., Lukic, S., Pilkinton, M., Simonovic, I., Simonovic, M., and Hecht, G. (2004). Comparative analysis of EspF from
enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in alteration of epithelial barrier function. *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 3218-3227.

- Vongsa, R.A., Zimmerman, N.P., and Dwinell, M.B. (2009). CCR6 regulation of the actin cytoskeleton orchestrates human beta defensin-2- and CCL20mediated restitution of colonic epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* **284**, 10034-10045.
- Wadolkowski, E.A., Burris, J.A., and O'Brien, A.D. (1990). Mouse model for colonization and disease caused by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Infect Immun* **58**, 2438-2445.
- Wagner, P.L., Acheson, D.W., and Waldor, M.K. (2001a). Human neutrophils and their products induce Shiga toxin production by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. Infect Immun* **69**, 1934-1937.
- Wagner, P.L., Neely, M.N., Zhang, X.P., Acheson, D.W.K., Waldor, M.K., and Friedman, D.I. (2001b). Role for a phage promoter in Shiga toxin 2 expression from a pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain. *Journal of Bacteriology* 183, 2081-2085.
- Wagner, P.L., Livny, J., Neely, M.N., Acheson, D.W., Friedman, D.I. and Waldor, M.K. (2002). Bacteriophage control of Shiga toxin 1 production and release by *Escherichia coli*. *Molecular Microbiology* 44, 957-970.
- Waldor, M.K., and Friedman, D.I. (2005). Phage regulatory circuits and virulence gene expression. *Curr Opin Microbiol* **8**, 459-465.
- Walters, M., Sircili, M.P., and Sperandio, V. (2006). AI-3 Synthesis Is Not Dependent on luxS in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology* **188**, 5668-5681.
- Watanabe-Takahashi, M., Sato, T., Dohi, T., Noguchi, N., Kano, F., Murata, M., Hamabata, T., Natori, Y., and Nishikawa, K. (2010). An orally applicable Shiga toxin neutralizer functions in the intestine to inhibit the intracellular transport of the toxin. *Infect Immun* **78**, 177-183.
- Wehkamp, J., Fellermann, K., Herrlinger, K.R., Baxmann, S., Schmidt, K., Schwind, B., Duchrow, M., Wohlschlager, C., Feller, A.C., and Stange, E.F. (2002).
   Human beta-defensin 2 but not beta-defensin 1 is expressed preferentially in colonic mucosa of inflammatory bowel disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 14, 745-752.
- Wehkamp, J., Harder, J., Wehkamp, K., Meissner, B.W.-v., Schlee, M., Enders, C., Sonnenborn, U., Nuding, S., Bengmark, S., Fellermann, K., Schröder, J.M., and Stange, E.F. (2004). NF-κB- and AP-1-Mediated Induction of Human Beta Defensin-2 in Intestinal Epithelial Cells by *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917: a Novel Effect of a Probiotic Bacterium. *Infection and Immunity* **72**, 5750-5758.

- Wehkamp, J., Harder, J., Weichenthal, M., Mueller, O., Herrlinger, K.R., Fellermann, K., Schroeder, J.M., and Stange, E.F. (2003). Inducible and constitutive beta-defensins are differentially expressed in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* **9**, 215-223.
- Weinstein, D.L., Jackson, M.P., Samuel, J.E., Holmes, R.K., and O'Brien, A.D. (1988). Cloning and sequencing of a Shiga-like toxin type II variant from *Escherichia coli* strain responsible for edema disease of swine. *J Bacteriol* 170, 4223-4230.
- Weiss, S.M., Ladwein, M., Schmidt, D., Ehinger, J., Lornmel, S., Stading, K., Beutling, U., Disanza, A., Frank, R., Jansch, L., Scita, G., Gunzer, F., Rottner, K., and Stradal, T.E.B. (2009). IRSp53 Links the Enterohemorrhagic *E-coli* Effectors Tir and EspF(U) for Actin Pedestal Formation. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 244-258.
- Wells, T.J., McNeilly, T.N., Totsika, M., Mahajan, A., Gally, D.L., and Schembri, M.A. (2009). The *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 EhaB autotransporter protein binds to laminin and collagen I and induces a serum IgA response in 0157:H7 challenged cattle. *Environ Microbiol* 11, 1803-1814.
- Wells, T.J., Sherlock, O., Rivas, L., Mahajan, A., Beatson, S.A., Torpdahl, M., Webb, R.I., Allsopp, L.P., Gobius, K.S., Gally, D.L., and Schembri, M.A. (2008). EhaA is a novel autotransporter protein of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 that contributes to adhesion and biofilm formation. *Environ Microbiol* 10, 589-604.
- Werber, D., Fruth, A., Buchholz, U., Prager, R., Kramer, M.H., Ammon, A., and Tschape, H. (2003). Strong association between shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* 0157 and virulence genes stx2 and eae as possible explanation for predominance of serogroup 0157 in patients with haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 22, 726-730.
- Whittam, T.S., Wolfe, M.L., Wachsmuth, I.K., Orskov, F., Orskov, I., and Wilson, R.A. (1993). Clonal relationships among *Escherichia coli* strains that cause hemorrhagic colitis and infantile diarrhea. *Infect Immun* 61, 1619-1629.
- Wong, A.R.C., Clements, A., Raymond, B., Crepin, V.F., and Frankel, G. (2012). The Interplay between the *Escherichia coli* Rho Guanine Nucleotide Exchange Factor Effectors and the Mammalian RhoGEF Inhibitor EspH. *mBio* **3**, doi: 10.1128/mBio.00250-00211.
- Wong, A.R.C., Pearson, J.S., Bright, M.D., Munera, D., Robinson, K.S., Lee, S.F., Frankel, G., and Hartland, E.L. (2011). Enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: even more subversive elements. *Molecular Microbiology* 80, 1420-1438.

- Wong, C.S., Jelacic, S., Habeeb, R.L., Watkins, S.L., and Tarr, P.I. (2000). The Risk of the Hemolytic–Uremic Syndrome after Antibiotic Treatment of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 Infections. *New England Journal of Medicine* 342, 1930-1936.
- Wong Fok Lung, T., Pearson, J.S., Schuelein, R., and Hartland, E.L. (2014). The cell death response to enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection. *Cell Microbiol* **16**, 1736-1745.
- Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Monteiro-Neto, V., Saldaña, Z., Ledesma, M.A., Puente, J.L., and Girón, J.A. (2009). The Type 4 Pili of Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 Are Multipurpose Structures with Pathogenic Attributes. *Journal of Bacteriology* **191**, 411-421.
- Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Monteiro-Neto, V., xE, rio, Ledesma, M.A., Jordan, D.M., Francetic, O., Kaper, J.B., Puente, J., xE, Luis, Gir, xF, and n, J.A. (2007). Intestinal adherence associated with type IV pili of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **117**, 3519-3529.
- Xu, X., McAteer, S.P., Tree, J.J., Shaw, D.J., Wolfson, E.B.K., Beatson, S.A., Roe, A.J., Allison, L.J., Chase-Topping, M.E., Mahajan, A., Tozzoli, R., Woolhouse, M.E.J., Morabito, S., and Gally, D.L. (2012). Lysogeny with Shiga Toxin 2-Encoding Bacteriophages Represses Type III Secretion in Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS Pathog* 8, e1002672.
- Yamasaki, C., Natori, Y., Zeng, X.-T., Ohmura, M., Yamasaki, S., Takeda, Y., and Natori, Y. (1999). Induction of cytokines in a human colon epithelial cell line by Shiga toxin 1 (Stx1) and Stx2 but not by non-toxic mutant Stx1 which lacks N-glycosidase activity. *FEBS Letters* **442**, 231-234.
- Yan, H., and Hancock, R.E.W. (2001). Synergistic Interactions between Mammalian Antimicrobial Defense Peptides. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 45, 1558-1560.
- Yang, B., Feng, L., Wang, F., and Wang, L. (2015). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* senses low biotin status in the large intestine for colonization and infection. *Nat Commun* **6**, doi:10.1038/ncomms7592.
- Yang, D., Biragyn, A., Hoover, D.M., Lubkowski, J., and Oppenheim, J.J. (2004). Multiple roles of antimicrobial defensins, cathelicidins, and eosinophilderived neurotoxin in host defense. *Annu Rev Immunol* 22, 181-215.
- Yang, D., Chertov, O., Bykovskaia, S.N., Chen, Q., Buffo, M.J., Shogan, J., Anderson, M., Schroder, J.M., Wang, J.M., Howard, O.M., and Oppenheim, J.J. (1999). Beta-defensins: linking innate and adaptive immunity through dendritic and T cell CCR6. *Science* 286, 525-528.

- Yen, H., Ooka, T., Iguchi, A., Hayashi, T., Sugimoto, N., and Tobe, T. (2010). NleC, a Type III Secretion Protease, Compromises NF-κB Activation by Targeting p65/RelA. *PLoS Pathog* **6**, e1001231.
- Yokoyama, K., Makino, K., Kubota, Y., Watanabe, M., Kimura, S., Yutsudo, C.H., Kurokawa, K., Ishii, K., Hattori, M., Tatsuno, I., Abe, H., Yoh, M., Iida, T., Ohnishi, M., Hayashi, T., Yasunaga, T., Honda, T., Sasakawa, C., and Shinagawa, H. (2000). Complete nucleotide sequence of the prophage VT1-Sakai carrying the Shiga toxin 1 genes of the enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 strain derived from the Sakai outbreak. *Gene* 258, 127-139.
- Yonekura, K., Maki-Yonekura, S. and Namba, K. (2003) Complete atomic model of the bacterial flagellar filament by electron cryomicroscopy. *Nature* **424**, 643-650.
- Yu, J., and Kaper, J.B. (1992). Cloning and characterization of the eae gene of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7. *Mol Microbiol* **6**, 411-417.
- Yuhan, R., Koutsouris, A., Savkovic, S.D., and Hecht, G. (1997). Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*-induced myosin light chain phosphorylation alters intestinal epithelial permeability. *Gastroenterology* **113**, 1873-1882.
- Zanetti, M. (2004). Cathelicidins, multifunctional peptides of the innate immunity. *J Leukoc Biol* **75**, 39-48.
- Zhang, W., Bielaszewska, M., Kuczius, T., and Karch, H. (2002). Identification, characterization, and distribution of a Shiga toxin 1 gene variant (stx(1c)) in *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from humans. *J Clin Microbiol* 40, 1441-1446.
- Zhang, X., McDaniel, A.D., Wolf, L.E., Keusch, G.T., Waldor, M.K., and Acheson, D.W. (2000). Quinolone antibiotics induce Shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophages, toxin production, and death in mice. J Infect Dis 181, 664-670.
- Zhou, X., Giron, J.A., Torres, A.G., Crawford, J.A., Negrete, E., Vogel, S.N., and Kaper, J.B. (2003). Flagellin of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* stimulates interleukin-8 production in T84 cells. *Infection and Immunity* 71, 2120-2129.
- Zilbauer, M., Dorrell, N., Boughan, P.K., Harris, A., Wren, B.W., Klein, N.J., and Bajaj-Elliott, M. (2005). Intestinal Innate Immunity to *Campylobacter jejuni* Results in Induction of Bactericidal Human Beta-Defensins 2 and 3. *Infection and Immunity* **73**, 7281-7289.
- Zilbauer, M., Jenke, A., Wenzel, G., Postberg, J., Heusch, A., Phillips, A.D., Noble-Jamieson, G., Torrente, F., Salvestrini, C., Heuschkel, R., and Wirth, S. (2010). Expression of Human Beta-Defensins in Children with Chronic Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *PLoS ONE* 5, e15389.

**APPENDIX 1** 

# Partners in Cancer Research

# Human Tissue Bank consent form



## The Norwich Biorepository

## The donation, collection, storage and use of samples of tissue and/or fluids and/or other material from an adult for research

### Information sheet for patients - Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Thank you for considering giving a sample for biomedical research. This information sheet provides a brief summary to help you to understand what this means and involves.

There is a consent form after the information sheet. It is important that you complete and sign it, if you decide to give us a sample. Please complete all parts of the consent form.

Doctors and other health professionals often take samples (which may be blood, small biopsies, or something else) from patients to help tell us what is wrong and how best to treat it. Larger pieces of tissue or whole organs may be removed by surgeons from some patients as part of their treatment.

Quite often, some of the test sample or surgical tissue is left over at the end. The left-over sample can be used by other doctors or researchers in special experiments to learn more about illness, how it happens and how to treat it, and sometimes to help make new medicines.

We would like to do some experiments on any left-over sample or surgical tissue, once your tests are finished. To do that, we need your permission and signed consent.

#### Samples donated (given) to the Norwich Biorepository are not:

- Normally used in animal research. It will be made clear to you if animal research is an integral part of the project for which we are seeking a donation.
- Used in cloning experiments. However, the Biorepository would consider the use of donations in non-reproductive cloning experiments based on their scientific value and in the context of prevailing law and ethical standards. It will be made clear to you if
- cloning experiments are part of the research project for which we are seeking a donation.

If you want to help us, please sign the form at the end of this document.

Continued.....

Norwich Biorepository -- Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form -- Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Page 1 of 7

#### If you give permission for a sample to be taken -

- The Hospital will own the sample.
- The sample may be stored, usually in a deep freezer, until it is used. The freezer is referred to as a tissue bank in the consent form.
- Nobody involved in the research will know where the sample has come from.
- The sample will be used only in experiments that are ethical and to help other people. Please see the section entitled 'Scientific and ethical approval' below to understand what we mean by *ethical*.
- Your donated sample(s) and any genetic material derived from it (them) may be stored for an indefinite amount of time for future research projects, which may include whole genome sequencing. *Whole genome sequencing* means reading your total DNA code (your genetic blueprint) in a single assessment.
- We might give some of or all the sample to other doctors or researchers for their experiments, if they are ethical and to help other people. Some of these people might work in companies in this country or abroad.
- Data derived from your sample(s) may be placed anonymously in an international database to be used in future research. While we will take all possible steps to maintain your anonymity and protect your privacy, there is a very small risk that genetic information produced in the research and stored on databases could lead to your identification by being linked to other stored information.
- We will keep some facts about you on our Biorepository database.
- Although these facts might be given to the research doctors or scientists to help their experiments, we will NOT tell them your name or other details that would let them know who you are.
- Doctors in the Hospital might also read your hospital records to help them understand what the doctors or scientists find out in the experiments. This is possible because your hospital records can be linked to the anonymous research sample without loss of confidentiality as far as the researchers are concerned. If the research results are important for you, it might be possible using this linkage to feed back the information to your doctor, so that any appropriate action can be considered.

Your treatment will not be affected in any way, if you do not feel able to say yes to our request for a research sample.

The next sections give you some more detailed information. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to ask the person who is seeking your permission.

#### WHAT WILL HAPPEN

Tissue, blood or other samples taken from you for diagnosis and/or treatment of your condition will be sent to the Pathology Laboratories, where they will be tested to decide exactly what they are and whether any further treatment will be necessary. This is a standard part of treatment. **Only as much tissue or fluid as is needed will be removed.** 

Continued.....

Norwich Biorepository – Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form – Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014) Page 2 of 7

#### MEDICAL RESEARCH AND WHY THIS PROGRAMME IS IMPORTANT

When all the routine tests have been done, if any samples are left over, with your consent, they could be donated (given) for use in medical research. As part of a research programme which now includes the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, the University of East Anglia (UEA), and the Institute of Food Research (IFR), some of the sample or material extracted from it will be stored in the Norwich Biorepository (usually in a special deep freezer) for use by ourselves or by researchers from other centres at a later date. Some of this research may involve an assessment of genetic material (DNA and/or RNA) to help us understand the genetic basis of health and disease.

The purpose of this research is to understand more about human health and disease, and to develop new methods of prevention or new treatments for the benefit of future patient care. Some of these research programmes could lead to the development of new products and processes, which may be developed commercially for the improvement of patient care, in which case there would be no financial benefit to you.

Medically qualified doctors or other suitably qualified staff at the hospital may need to review your hospital records, including case notes, as part of this research in order to relate the research findings to the clinical outcome. It is important to be able see how you progress after the tissue or other samples you have donated (given) have been used in the research project(s). They will not give your name to those doing the research.

The research may also involve training doctors and researchers in scientific medicine, and may lead to higher qualifications for them (e.g., PhD or MD degrees). This is important for future research into diseases and for looking for new, more effective, treatments for them.

#### LINKS WITH OTHER ORGANISATIONS

If you agree, we may send stored material or products derived from it to other approved tissue banks or companies in this country or abroad to support their research programmes or the research programmes of those companies' clients. Such outside organisations will provide financial support for the Norwich Biorepository (our tissue bank), to help it recover its operating costs. We are not, however, allowed to sell tissue or other samples in order to make any financial profit from these commercial links.

#### SCIENTIFIC AND ETHICAL APPROVAL

The Norwich Biorepository acts as a custodian of the samples it holds. It releases them only to individuals or organisations that have an acceptable scientific background and work to high ethical standards. We require that all such medical research has been approved by a properly constituted Research Governance Committee before it starts. It must also be approved by a Research Ethics Committee or on behalf of the Research Ethics Committee that oversees the work of the Norwich Biorepository under the terms of the Biorepository's own Research Ethics Committee approval. That committee is the Cambridge East Research Ethics Committees look particularly at the purpose and validity of the research proposal, the welfare of any participants and issues of consent and confidentiality. We will release samples to commercial companies only if they work to appropriate ethical and scientific standards.

Continued.....

Norwich Biorepository -- Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form -- Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Page 3 of 7

#### DONATING EXTRA SAMPLES FOR RESEARCH

In certain circumstances you may be asked by the doctor treating you (or by a doctor, research nurse or nurse practitioner working with him/her) to consider donating (giving) tissue or other samples in addition to those to be removed as part of your diagnostic investigation or treatment. Such extra samples will be taken only if you give your consent and if their removal does not cause you any harmful effects now or in the future.

#### YOUR RIGHTS

If your samples are stored, information about your case will be kept on a computer in the Norwich Biorepository. This will help us understand what your illness was like and relate what we find in experiments to what happens to patients. Under the Data Protection Act, you are entitled to ask to see what is recorded about you by applying to the Chairman of the Norwich Biorepository Committee, Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital, c/o Dept. of Cellular Pathology, The Cotman Centre, Colney Lane, Norwich, NR4 7UB. No one other than you has the right to see these records and any information needed for research purposes will be made anonymous before it is given to the researcher.

# The researchers will not be able to find out your name or any personal details about you from the information that they receive.

You will have the opportunity to discuss with a doctor issues relating to the possible use of your samples for research purposes. He or she will answer any questions you may have.

#### MAKING A DONATION (GIFT) OF TISSUE AND/OR OTHER MATERIAL FOR RESEARCH

If you decide that you want your tissue, etc., to be stored in the Norwich Biorepository and used for research purposes, you will be asked to sign a special Consent Form confirming your decision and stating that you have read and understood this sheet. When you sign the form you will give the ownership of the tissue or other samples to the Norfolk & Norwich University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The tissue or other samples will then belong to the Trust, which will store it for an indefinite period of time and will able to decide how it should be used for research. It will also have the right to dispose of unused stored material in an appropriate legal and ethical manner following normal procedures.

If you do not want your tissue to be stored in the Norwich Biorepository, please tell us and do NOT sign the special Consent Form.

If you do not sign this form, the tissue or other samples will still be sent to the laboratory to undergo those tests that are necessary for your care but they will not be used for research purposes. All unused tissue from your procedure will be disposed of using normal hospital methods. We will respect your decision and it will not affect in any way the treatment you receive.

Continued.....

Norwich Biorepository – Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form – Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Page 4 of 7

Our Vision To provide every patient with the care we want for those we love the most	and Norv	vich University Hospita NHS Foundation Tru	Is Mass		
Affix an addressograph label here or complete the following details:		The Norwich Biorepository	 /		
Patient's name Date of birth Hospital no		Consent for the collec storage and release of samples for research	tion, f human		
<b>following tissue or other material may</b> and/or RNA) studies and for the possible improvement of patient care, from which	I agree (F be used fo developme I would reco	Please initial small box) that or research, including genetic ent of commercial products for eive no financial benefit:	t <b>he</b> (DNA the		
List samples for research:					
I also agree that (Please initial small b These samples become the property of t NHS Foundation Trust ("the Trust")	ooxes, as ar the Norfolk &	ppropriate): & Norwich University Hospital	s		
The Trust may store these samples in a	tissue bank	/ biorepository			
The Trust may use these samples at its discretion in properly approved research programmes					
The Trust may pass on these samples to other approved tissue banks and/or companies, which may be in this country or abroad, in properly approved No					
My genetic material and donated sample(s) may be stored for an indefinite amount of time for future research projects, which may include whole genome sequencing					
Information about my case may be kept on the Norwich Biorepository database					
Anonymous data derived from my sample(s) may be placed in an international database for future research					
Such information may be passed in an anonymous form to persons outside the Trust In connection with research and may be published with any research findings					
I agree that appropriately qualified staff employed by the Trust may review my hospital Medical records, including case notes, as appropriate, for the purposes of research using the donated samples					
These samples may be used in ethically	approved a	nimal research	Yes No		
These samples may be used in ethically	approved c	loning research	Yes No		
		Continu	<i>led</i>		
Norwich Biorepository – Information Sheet for Patients and (	Consent Form – A	dult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)	Page 5 of 7		

Our Vision To provide every patient with the care we want for those we love the most	Norfolk and Nor	wich University Hospitals
Affix an addressograph lak or complete the following o	oel here details:	The Norwich Biorepository
Patient's name		. ,
Date of birth		Consent for the collection,
Hospital no		samples for research

### The Norwich **Biorepository**

I confirm that:

- 1) I have read and understand the Information Sheet for Patients, Version 15, dated 21 February 2014
- 2) The issues have been explained to me, and that I have had the opportunity to ask questions.

Signed (Patient) Date
-----------------------

I have explained the request for tissue for research purposes and have answered such questions as the patient has asked.

Signed Medical / Nursing Practitioner

.

Print name

Date \_\_\_\_\_

Norwich Biorepository – Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form – Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Page 6 of 7



Medical / Nursing Practitioner

Date \_\_\_\_\_

#### CONSENT FOR TAKING EXTRA SAMPLES FOR RESEARCH

Please initial the appropriate box for each item:	YES	NO	
In addition to the removal of tissue, blood or other fluid samples as a necessary part of my procedure, I also consent to the removal of additional tissue, blood or other fluid samples from the operation site during my procedure PROVIDED THAT SUCH REMOVAL CAUSES ME NO HARM now or in the future, is limited to what I and the doctor treating me (or a research nurse or nurse practitioner delegated by him/her) have discussed and agreed, and which is specified below. *			
Please initial appropriate box			
*Please list additional samples for research:			
Signed (Patient) Date	, ( )		
I have explained the request for the donation (gift) of extra tissue and/or other samples for research purposes and have answered such questions as the patient has asked.			
Signed Print name			

Norwich Biorepository - Information Sheet for Patients and Consent Form - Adult; Version 15 (21 February 2014)

Page 7 of 7

**APPENDIX 2** 

# Publication containing work from Chapter 3



## Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli Colonization of Human Colonic Epithelium In Vitro and Ex Vivo

#### Steven B. Lewis, a,b Vivienne Cook, Richard Tighe, Stephanie Schüllera,b

Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom<sup>a</sup>; Gut Health and Food Safety Programme, Institute of Food Research, Norwich, United Kingdom<sup>b</sup>: Gastroenterology Department, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital, Norwich, United Kingdom<sup>6</sup>

Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC) is an important foodborne pathogen causing gastroenteritis and more severe complications, such as hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome. Pathology is most pronounced in the colon, but to date there is no direct clinical evidence showing EHEC binding to the colonic epithelium in patients. In this study, we investigated EHEC adherence to the human colon by using *in vitro* organ culture (IVOC) of colonic biopsy samples and polarized T84 colon carcinoma cells. We show for the first time that EHEC colonizes human colonic biopsy samples by forming typical attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions which are dependent on EHEC type III secretion (T3S) and binding of the outer membrane protein intimin to the translocated intimin receptor (Tir). A/E lesion formation was dependent on oxygen levels and suppressed under oxygenrich culture conditions routinely used for IVOC. In contrast, EHEC adherence to polarized T84 cells occurred independently of T3S and intimin and did not involve Tir translocation into the host cell membrane. Colonization of neither biopsy samples nor T84 cells was significantly affected by expression of Shiga toxins. Our study suggests that EHEC colonizes and forms stable A/E lesions on the human colon, which are likely to contribute to intestinal pathology during infection. Furthermore, care needs to be taken when using cell culture models, as they might not reflect the *in vivo* situation.

nterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC) is a major cause of bacterial diarrhea in the developed world, and infections can lead to acute gastroenteritis, hemorrhagic colitis (HC), and systemic hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) (1-3). HC and HUS are associated with the release of bacterial Shiga toxins (Stxs), which primarily affect the kidneys and central nervous system, which express large amounts of the Stx glycolipid receptor globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) (4, 5). In contrast, the development of diarrhea is linked to a type III secretion system (T3SS), which enables the bacteria to colonize human intestinal epithelium and modulate host cell signal transduction by injecting bacterial effector proteins (6, 7). Initial events of type III secretion (T3S) comprise the formation of the EspA translocation tube and delivery of the translocated intimin receptor (Tir) into the host cell membrane (8,9). This is followed by binding of the bacterial outer membrane adhesin intimin to Tir, which initiates formation of attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions (10). EHEC A/E lesion formation has been demonstrated in cultured cell lines and some animal models and is characterized by intimate attachment, microvillous effacement, and actin polymerization beneath adherent bacteria (11-14). Whereas microscopy has demonstrated adherent EHEC in the small intestine and the colon of gnotobiotic piglets, neonatal calves, and infant rabbits (12-14), similar direct evidence of EHEC binding to human colonic epithelium is lacking (15). This is surprising, as EHEC predominantly causes a colonic pathology in humans (15, 16), but the limited numbers of biopsy samples available in the early stages of EHEC disease, before the occurrence of extensive tissue damage, no doubt contribute to the lack of such evidence. In vitro organ culture (IVOC) of human endoscopic biopsy samples has been employed to investigate EHEC adherence, and these studies using Stx-negative EHEC strains and oxygen-rich culture conditions have demonstrated A/E lesion formation on the terminal ileum but not the colon (17, 18).

In the present study, we have reexamined EHEC adherence to

942 iai.asm.org

Infection and Immunity

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3

colonic epithelium using EHEC wild-type strains and atmospheric oxygen levels (i.e., 20% atmospheric pressure). As it has previously been shown that Stxs promote EHEC adherence to HeLa cells and intestinal colonization in mice (19), we sought to determine whether Stx expression would also enable EHEC binding to human colonic epithelium. In addition, IVOC experiments are usually performed under oxygen-rich culture conditions (95% atmospheric pressure) to allow oxygen penetration into deeper tissues, but our earlier studies have demonstrated that oxygen inhibits EHEC T3S and A/E lesion formation (20), which might explain the lack of colonic adherence observed in previous IVOC studies. In addition to investigating EHEC adherence to human colonic explants, we have also included T84 human colon carcinoma cells, which are widely used as an *in vitro* model for colonic EHEC infection.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

**Bacterial strains and culture conditions.** The bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Table 1. Bacteria were grown while they were standing in LB both overnight at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Deletion mutants (except EDL933  $\Delta espA$ ) were selected with kanamycin (50 µg/ml). Bacteria were spun down before infection and suspended in serum-free culture medium.

Received 17 November 2014 Returned for modification 12 December 2014 Accepted 19 December 2014

Accepted manuscript posted online 22 December 2014

Citation Lewis SB, Cook V, Tighe R, Schüller S. 2015. Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli coloitization of human colonic epithelium *in vitro* and ex vivo. Infect Immun 83:942–949. doi:10.1128/IAI.02928-14. Editor: B. A. McCornick

Address correspondence to Stephanie Schüller, stephanie.schuller@ifr.ac.uk. Copyright © 2015, Lewis et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported license. doi:10.1128/AL02928-14

TABLE	1	Ε.	coli	strains	used	in	the	stud	y
-------	---	----	------	---------	------	----	-----	------	---

Name	Description	Source or reference	
EDL933	Wild-type EHEC O157:H7	50	
EDL933 ∆eae	EDL933 eae deletion mutant	51	
EDL933 ∆escN	EDL933 escN deletion mutant	52	
EDL933 AespA	EDL933 espA deletion mutant	53	
EDL933 ∆stx	EDL933 stx <sub>1</sub> stx <sub>2</sub> deletion mutant	54	
TUV93-0	Stx-negative derivative of EDL933	A. Donohue-Rolfe, Tufts University, USA	
85-170	Stx-negative derivative of EHEC O157:H7 84-289	55	
Walla-1	EHEC O157:H7	56	
H0-7184-0336	EHEC O157:H7	G. Smith, Public Health England	
E2348/69	EPEC O127:H6	57	

Cell culture and infection. Human colon carcinoma T84 cells (ATCC CCL248) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium/F-12 nutrient mixture supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Sigma) and used between passages 49 and 65. Cells were seeded out in 24-well plates at a density of 105 cells/well and grown for 7 days for full confluence. For Transwell experiments,  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/insert were seeded on collagencoated Transwell filter inserts (diameter, 12 mm; pore size, 0.4 µm; Corning Costar). Transepithelial electrical resistance was monitored using an EVOM2 resistance meter with an STX2 electrode (World Precision Instruments), and values above 1,500  $\Omega \cdot cm^2$  after 7 to 10 days of differentiation indicated establishment of epithelial barrier function. Confluent or polarized T84 cells were infected with approximately  $2\times10^7$  or  $6\times10^7$ bacteria, respectively, and incubated for the time periods indicated below. Medium was exchanged at regular intervals to prevent bacterial overgrowth and acidification. Cells were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO2 atmosphere. At the end of the experiment, cells were washed twice in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) to remove nonadherent bacteria and processed according to the need for further analysis.

Quantification of adherent bacteria on polarized T84 cells. Cell monolayers on filters were lysed in 1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 10 min. Serial dilutions of lysates were plated out on LB agar plates, and the numbers of CFU were determined after overnight incubation at 37°C.

In vitro organ culture. This study was performed with approval from the University of East Anglia Faculty of Medicine and Health Ethics Committee (reference 2010/11-030). All samples were provided through the Norwich Biorepository, which has NRES approval (reference 10/H0310/ 21). Biopsy samples from the terminal ileum or transverse colon were obtained with informed consent during colonoscopy of 14 adult patients (27 to 74 years old) and 2 pediatric patients (9 and 13 years old). Samples were taken from macroscopically normal areas, transported to the laboratory in IVOC medium, and processed within the next hour. IVOC was performed as described previously (21). Briefly, biopsy samples were mounted on foam supports in 12-well plates and incubated with 25 µl of a bacterial overnight culture (approximately 10<sup>7</sup> bacteria). Samples were incubated in air-5% CO2 or 95% oxygen-5% CO2 at 37°C on a rocking platform for 8 h. At the end of the experiment, biopsy samples were washed twice in PBS to remove mucus and nonadherent bacteria and processed according to the need for further analysis.

Scanning electron microscopy. Samples were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde in PBS and dehydrated through a graded acetone series. Specimens were dried using tetramethylsilane (Sigma), mounted on aluminum stubs, sputter coated with gold (Polaron SC7640 sputter coater; Quorum Technologies), and viewed with a JEOL JSM 4900 LV or Zeiss Supra 55 VP FEG scanning electron microscope. Bacterial adherence to biopsy sample epithelium was quantified by recording the presence or absence of adherent bacteria within approximately 250 fields of view of 50 by 35 μm<sup>2</sup> covering the whole biopsy sample surface.

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3

EHEC Colonization of Human Colonic Epithelium

**Transmission electron microscopy.** Biopsy samples were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M PIPES [piperazine-*N*,*N'*-bis(2-ethanesulfonic acid)] buffer, postfixed in 1% aqueous osmium tetroxide, and dehydrated through a graded ethanol series. After embedding in LR White medium-grade resin, 1-µm semi-thin sections were cut with an ultramicrotome and stained with toluidine blue to locate adherent bacteria. Ultrathin sections (90 nm) were prepared from areas of interest, stained sequentially with uranyl acetate and lead citrate, and examined in an FEI Tecnai G2 20 Twin transmission electron microscope at 200 kV.

Immunofluorescence staining. Samples were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde in PBS for 20 min and blocked/permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.5% bovine serum albumin in PBS for 20 min. Samples were subsequently incubated in primary antibodies (goat anti-*E. coli* from Abcam; rabbit anti-EspA from Gad Frankel, Imperial College London; mouse anti-Tir from John Leong, Tufts University, USA) for 60 min, washed, and incubated in Alexa Fluor-conjugated secondary antibodies (Invitrogen) for 30 min. Filamentous actin was labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated phalloidin (Sigma). Samples were mounted in Vectashield medium (Vector Laboratories) and analyzed using a fluorescence light microscope (Axiovert 200M; Zeiss).

Statistics. All data are shown as means  $\pm$  standard errors of the means (SEMs). Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism (version 5) software. Student's t test or one-way analysis of variance with Tukey's multiple-comparison test was used to determine differences between two or multiple groups, respectively. A *P* value of <0.05 was considered significant.

#### RESULTS

The EHEC adherence phenotype to T84 human colon carcinoma cells is dependent on polarization status. To investigate the adherence of EHEC to T84 cells, confluent cell monolayers grown on coverslips were infected with Stx-negative strain TUV93-0 for 5 h, and the adherence phenotype was investigated by fluorescent actin staining and scanning electron microscopy. It was noted that T84 cells in the center of the monolaver showed signs of polarization, such as an actin-rich microvillous brush border, whereas cells at the margin of the coverslip appeared to be undifferentiated with few microvilli (Fig. 1). While EHEC bacteria adherent to marginal cells formed actin-rich pedestals, the bacteria on central polarized cells were not associated with polymerized actin but displayed signs of microvillous effacement (Fig. 1). Actin pedestal formation in polarized T84 cells was not impaired or obscured due to the high density of actin in the brush border, as T84 cells infected with the related A/E pathogen enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) showed actin recruitment on both polarized and nonpolarized cells (data not shown). Experiments were extended to EHEC wild-type strains EDL933 and Walla-1 using T84 cells grown on Transwell inserts. In this culture system, T84 cells reached full polarization status, as indicated by a high transepithelial electrical resistance, a column-shaped morphology, an actinrich microvillous brush border, and the formation of tight junctions (data not shown). Infections were performed for 5 to 9 h. and no actin recruitment was observed for any of the strains tested (Fig. 2)

EHEC colonizes human terminal ileal and colonic biopsy samples. Colonization of human intestinal mucosa by wild-type EHEC was investigated by infecting terminal ileal and transverse colonic biopsy samples, taken from adults during routine endoscopy, with strains EDL933, Walla-1, or H0-7184-0336 for 8 h. Similar to T84 cell infections, IVOC was performed under atmospheric oxygen concentrations (20%). Scanning electron microscopy analysis revealed colonization of ileal and colonic biopsy

Infection and Immunity

iai.asm.org 943

Lewis et al.



FIG 1 Different adherence phenotypes of EHEC on polarized and nonpolarized T84 cells. Confluent T84 cells on coverslips were infected with strain TUV93-0 for 5 h. Shown are representative images from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (A) Immunofluorescence staining for actin (green) and *E. coli* (red). (Top) Merged images; (bottom) actin staining as a separate channel. Bars = 10  $\mu$ m. (B) Scanning electron micrographs showing EHEC-associated microvillous effacement (white arrows) on polarized cells and actin pedestal formation (black arrows) on nonpolarized cells.

samples by all strains (Fig. 3A and B; representative images are shown for EDL933). Similar to previous IVOC studies, extensive elongation of microvilli adjacent to adherent EHEC was observed on ileal biopsy samples (Fig. 3A). On colonic biopsy samples, microvillous effacement was apparent next to adhering bacteria, and surrounding microvilli displayed a normal length, which was similar to the phenotype observed on polarized T84 cells (Fig. 3B).

Colonic EHEC colonization has not been observed in previous



FIG 2 EHEC bacteria do not recruit actin in polarized T84 cells. T84 cells differentiated on Transwell membranes were infected with strain EDL933 or Walla-1 for 5 to 9 h. Immunofluorescence staining for actin (green) and *E. coli* (red). (Right) Merged images; (left) actin staining as a separate channel. Representative images after 9 h of infection from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bars = 5  $\mu$ m.

944 iai.asm.org



FIG 3 EHEC bacteria colonize human ileal and colonic biopsy samples. Endoscopic biopsy samples from the terminal ileum or transverse colon were infected with EDL933 for 8 h. (A) Scanning electron micrograph showing EHEC bacteria adhering to the terminal ileum and surrounded by elongated microvilli. (B) On the colon, a zone of microvillous effacement (arrows) was evident around adhering bacteria, and adjacent microvilli displayed a normal length. (C) An adherence phenotype similar to that shown in panel B was evident on pediatric colonic biopsy samples. Images are representative of those from three (A and B) and two (C) independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bars = 2  $\mu$ m.

IVOC studies using pediatric samples (17, 18). To examine whether young donor age was the reason for the lack of EHEC adherence, we also performed IVOC experiments using pediatric biopsy samples. Scanning electron microscopy analysis of EDL933-infected colonic biopsy samples demonstrated EHEC adherence similar to that in adult tissue samples (Fig. 3C).

EHEC colonization of human colonic epithelium is not affected by Shiga toxin production. Previous IVOC studies on Stxnegative EHEC have failed to show the direct colonization of colonic biopsy samples (17, 18). As Stxs have been implicated in EHEC adherence to human epithelial cells and colonization of mouse intestine (19), we investigated whether Stx production was required for colonic binding. IVOC of colonic biopsy samples with Stx-negative strains TUV93-0 and 85-170 (used in previous studies) was performed. As shown in Fig. 4A, both strains showed good colonic colonization with a phenotype similar to that of wild-type EHEC strains.

In addition, a dherence of EDL933 and an isogenic Stx-deletion mutant to colonic biopsy samples and polarized T84 cells was quantified. Figures 4B and C show that there was no significant difference in the number of cell-associated bacteria between the two strains (P = 0.24 and P = 0.1236, respectively).

Involvement of EHEC T3S in colonic adherence. We next determined whether EHEC adherence to colonic epithelium was dependent on T3S or intimin. IVOC of colonic biopsy samples was performed using EDL933 mutants deficient in EspA (the translocation filament), EscN (the cytoplasmic ATPase of the T3SS), or intimin, and colonization was evaluated by scanning electron microscopy. As shown in Fig. 5, all mutants failed to colonize, whereas the wild type showed good adherence. Quantification of

Infection and Immunity

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3

EHEC Colonization of Human Colonic Epithelium



FIG 4 Colonization of colonic epithelium by EHEC is not affected by Stx production. (A) Scanning electron microscopy of biopsy samples from the transverse colon infected with Stx-negative strain TUV93-0 or 85-170 for 8 h. Images are representative of those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bar = 2  $\mu$ m. (B) Colonic biopsy samples were infected with wild-type (WT) EDL933 or an isogenic Stx deletion mutant ( $\Delta stx$ ) for 8 h. Samples were viewed by scanning electron microscopy, and epithelial colonization was quantified by recording the presence or absence of adherent bacteria in approximately 250 fields of view. Colonization is expressed as the percentage of the fields of view containing adherent bacteria. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEMs from two independent experiments performed in triplicate. (C) Polarized T84 cells were infected with wild-type EDL933 or EDL933  $\Delta stx$ for 6 h. The numbers of adherent bacteria were quantified by plating serial dilutions of cell lysates and determining the numbers of CFU. Colonization is expressed as the percentage of adherent bacteria relative to the inoculum. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEMs from five independent experiments performed in duplicate.

colonized sample areas yielded  $25.99\% \pm 7.19\%$  for the wild type, whereas no areas with adherent bacteria (0%) were detected for any of the mutant strains. Immunofluorescence staining and transmission electron microscopy were subsequently used to evaluate A/E lesion formation. As shown in Fig. 6, adherent EHEC bacteria were associated with EspA filaments and translocated Tir and demonstrated intimate attachment and microvillous effacement. In contrast, adherence of EDL933 to polarized T84 cells was not significantly affected by the absence of EspA, EscN, or intimin (Fig. 7A). Immunofluorescence staining of EDL933-infected polarized T84 cells demonstrated the formation of EspA filaments, but translocated Tir was absent in monolayer-associated cells (Fig. 7B) and detected only in detaching cells which had lost cell polarity (data not shown).

High levels of oxygen suppress EHEC adherence and A/E lesion formation on human colonic biopsy samples. Our previous studies have demonstrated inhibition of EHEC T3S and A/E lesion formation on polarized T84 cells by oxygen (20). To investigate whether oxygen also affected EHEC A/E lesion formation on colonic biopsy samples and might explain the lack of colonization observed in previous studies (17, 18), IVOC was performed under high (95%, as in previous studies [17, 18]) or atmospheric (20%,

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3



FIG 5 EHEC colonization of colonic biopsy samples is dependent on intimin and T3S. Scanning electron micrographs of biopsy samples from the transverse colon infected with wild-type (WT) EDL933 or isogenic EspA, EscN, or intimin (*eae*) mutants for 8 h. Images are representative of those from four independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bars = 10  $\mu$ m.

as in this study) oxygen levels. As shown in Fig. 8, colonization of EDL933 was significantly inhibited under oxygen-rich conditions.

We also performed IVOC under microaerobic (~1.5% oxygen) conditions similar to those in the environment in the human colon but observed severe epithelial cell extrusion even on noninfected samples after 5 h of incubation (data not shown).

#### DISCUSSION

EHEC is considered a colonic pathogen, and the clinical histopathology of HC is predominantly observed in the ascending and transverse colon (1, 22). However, the intestinal pathogenesis of EHEC has not been well explored, and this is partly due to the lack of suitable animal model systems. Major obstacles include the failure of EHEC to efficiently colonize the mouse or rabbit intes-



FIG 6 EHEC bacteria form typical A/E lesions on human colonic biopsy samples. Colonic biopsy samples were infected with EDL933 for 8 h. Immunofluorescence staining was performed for EspA (A) or Tir (B) in green and *E. coli* in red. (C) Transmission electron micrograph showing intimate EHEC adherence to host cell membrane and loss of microvilli. Images are representative of those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bars =  $2 \mu m (A, B)$  or  $0.5 \mu m (C)$ .

Infection and Immunity

iai.asm.org 945



FIG 7 Adherence of EHEC to polarized T84 cells is independent of intimin and T3S and does not involve Tir translocation. (A) Polarized T84 cells were infected with wild-type (WT) EDL933 or isogenic EspA, EscN, or intimin (*eae*) mutants for 6 h. The numbers of adherent bacteria were quantified by plating serial dilutions of cell lysates and determining the number of CFU. Colonization is expressed as the percentage of adherent bacteria relative to the inoculum. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEMs from four independent experiments performed in duplicate. (B) Immunofluorescence staining of polarized T84 cells infected with EDL933 for 6 h. Green, EspA and Tir; red, *E. coli*. Images are representative of those from two independent experiments performed in duplicate. Bars = 5  $\mu$ m.

tinal tract without prior removal of the resident microflora (23) and the expression of the Stx receptor Gb3 by mouse and rabbit intestinal epithelium, in contrast to the situation in humans (24– 26). Therefore, cell culture models have been widely applied, and the T84 human colon carcinoma cell line has been used in many EHEC studies, as it has the structural characteristics of colonic crypt cells (27) and, like human intestinal epithelium, does not express significant amounts of Gb3 and is resistant to Stx cytotoxicity (26).

In our study, we have found that EHEC bacteria adhering to polarized T84 cells do not form typical A/E lesions. While formation of the EspA filament and microvillous effacement were evident, no Tir translocation or actin polymerization was detected in association with adherent bacteria. In addition, EHEC colonization was not significantly affected by the absence of EspA, intimin, or T3S, which suggests the involvement of other adherence factors, such as fimbriae, autotransporters, or flagella (28). These findings are consistent with those of previous studies, which have failed to detect EHEC actin pedestals in confluent T84 cells (29, 30). Interestingly, EHEC bacteria were still able to modulate host cell signal transduction and function, such as intracellular calcium levels, epithelial barrier function, and ion transport, which suggests that T3S into polarized T84 cells can occur independently of the intimin-Tir interaction or actin polymerization (29–32).

It is currently unknown which bacterial factors cause microvillous effacement during EHEC infection, but findings on the related A/E pathogen EPEC appear to be dependent on the model system used, with adherence phenotypes even differing between Caco-2 cell subclones (33). Whereas microvillous effacement and bacterial sinking in Caco-2 cells have been reported to be dependent on intimin and Tir (34), EPEC mutants with mutations in intimin or Tir still cause microvillous effacement and effacing

946 lai.asm.org

Infection and Immunity

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3



FIG 8 EHEC A/E lesion formation on colonic biopsy samples is suppressed by oxygen-rich conditions. IVOC of colonic biopsy samples with EDL933 was performed for 8 h under high (oxygen) or atmospheric (air) oxygen levels. Samples were viewed by scanning electron microscopy, and epithelial colonization was quantified by recording the presence or absence of adherent bacteria in approximately 250 fields of view. Colonization is expressed as the percentage of fields of view containing adherent bacteria. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEMs from two independent experiments performed in triplicate. \*, P < 0.05.

footprints in pediatric duodenal IVOC (35). On the other hand, EPEC microvillous effacement in porcine ileal IVOC appears to be intimin dependent but independent of Tir (36). Our study on polarized T84 cells demonstrates that EHEC effacement can occur independently of Tir translocation into the host cell membrane.

A different EHEC adherence phenotype was apparent on nonpolarized T84 cells at monolayer margins or on detaching cells, where translocated Tir and actin pedestals were observed. This could be due to the availability of phosphatidylethanolamine or other receptors for EHEC binding which become exposed on the cell surface after apoptosis or cell shedding (37, 38). The ability of EPEC to form actin pedestals on polarized T84 cells suggests that this pathogen uses different receptors for initial binding than EHEC and that these receptors are readily expressed on the apical cell membrane. Another possibility for the failure of EHEC to form actin pedestals on polarized T84 cells might be related to particular properties of the apical T84 cell membrane which would prevent proper EHEC Tir insertion or clustering by intimin.

Despite the presence of colonic pathology, it has been controversial whether EHEC can colonize human colonic epithelium in vivo, as adherent bacteria have not been reported during clinical infections (15, 39). It has been argued that this may be because of the progressed stage of disease at the time of endoscopy, when bacterial adhesion may have diminished or be difficult to identify due to extensive tissue damage (1, 17). In contrast, EHEC infections in gnotobiotic piglets, infant rabbits, and neonatal calves have shown colonization of the terminal ileum, cecum, and colon (12-14, 40). Adherent bacteria were associated with characteristic A/E lesions accompanied by intimate attachment and loss of microvilli, and adherence was dependent on intimin-Tir interaction (12, 13, 41). Ileal and colonic A/E lesions have also been reproduced in bovine intestinal IVOC and shown to be dependent on Tir (42). In contrast, human IVOC studies using pediatric biopsy samples have demonstrated EHEC binding and A/E lesion formation on terminal ileum but not colon (17, 18). However, some minimal nonintimate adherence to colonic explants was observed after previous incubation of EHEC with terminal ileal biopsy samples (17). These findings have led to the hypothesis that EHEC initially colonizes the terminal ileum and Peyer's patches, where bacteria are primed for subsequent spread and infection of the colon. Similar colonization dynamics have been described for the mouse A/E pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium*, which demonstrates primary adherence to the lymphoid cecal patch before establishing colonization of the colon (43). Interestingly, a recent study using human intestinal xenografts in mice has reported T3S-dependent EHEC A/E lesion formation on human colon but not on small intestine (44).

In our study, we have found EHEC colonization of human terminal ileum and colon *ex vivo*. Typical A/E lesions similar to those previously described on terminal ileal biopsy samples were observed on colonic explants, demonstrating intimate attachment, microvillous effacement, and Tir translocation beneath adherent bacteria (18, 45). Interestingly, colonic A/E lesions were not accompanied by elongation of the surrounding microvilli, as observed on terminal ileum. This has also been observed on bovine IVOC and human intestinal xenografts and might reflect differences in the organization of the brush border cytoskeleton in the small intestine and colon (42, 44). Similar to previous human intestinal xenograft and animal studies, A/E lesion formation on human colonic explants was dependent on T3S and intimin (13, 41, 44).

In addition to Tir, the host cell protein nucleolin has been described to be a host receptor for intimin (46), and previous studies have shown that Stxs enhance EHEC adherence to HeLa cells and intestinal colonization of mice by inducing surface expression of nucleolin (19). As former human IVOC studies have been performed with Stx-negative EHEC strains (17, 18), we investigated whether Stxs could promote colonic adhesion. Our findings on Stx-negative mutants showed that Stx production did not significantly affect EHEC adherence to human colonic epithelium, which agrees with previous results in infant rabbits, where Stx expression did not alter colonization levels (13).

Other differences from earlier human IVOC studies by Phillips and colleagues (17, 18) which might explain the discrepancies in colonic colonization include the use of adult versus pediatric biopsy samples and lower oxygen concentrations during IVOC. Whereas the influence of age on EHEC colonic infection has not been investigated, IVOC studies with EPEC have demonstrated no significant difference in EPEC binding to adult versus pediatric biopsy samples (47). As we also observed EHEC colonization of pediatric colonic biopsy samples, age was not the determining factor for our findings.

In contrast, we found that the high oxygen levels (95%) commonly used in IVOC to ensure sufficient tissue oxygenation and survival (21, 48) suppressed EHEC adherence to colonic biopsy samples. This is in agreement with the findings of our previous study demonstrating that lower oxygen levels promote EHEC adherence and T3S on polarized T84 cells (20). Similar results have been reported for bovine intestinal IVOC, where the EHEC colonization observed with air (20% oxygen) was improved compared with that achieved with 95% oxygen without compromising tissue integrity (42). Lower oxygen levels are also likely to explain EHEC A/E lesion formation in human colonic xenografts (44). Interestingly, high oxygen levels did not abolish EHEC A/E lesion formation on terminal ileal biopsy samples (17, 18), suggesting higher levels of adherence to the small intestine than to the colon. This

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3

might be related to a thinner mucus layer with less microbiota and easier access to the epithelium (49).

In summary, our study demonstrates for the first time that EHEC forms typical A/E lesions on human colon *ex vivo* which are dependent on T3S and intimin. Importantly, A/E lesion formation is dependent on oxygen levels and suppressed by the oxygenrich culture conditions generally used in IVOC. In contrast, adherence to polarized T84 cells is mediated by factors other than EspA and intimin and does not involve Tir translocation into the host cell membrane. This study emphasizes the difference between cell culture experiments and more relevant model systems, such as IVOC, and suggests that during human infection EHEC forms stable A/E lesions which are likely to contribute to colonic pathology.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Grégory Jubelin and Christine Martin (INRA CR, Clermont-Ferrand/Theix, France) for strain EDL933 and the  $\Delta eae$  and  $\Delta stx$ mutants, Gad Frankel (Imperial College London) for strains E2348/69 and TUV93-0 and EspA antiserum, Jorge Girón (University of Florida, USA) for strains EDL933  $\Delta escN$  and 85-170, John Leong (Tufts University, USA) for Tir antiserum, Carlos Guzmán (Helmholtz Centre for Infection Research, Germany) for EDL933  $\Delta espA$ , Roberto La Ragione (University of Surrey) for strain Walla-1, and Geraldine Smith (Public Health England) for isolate H0-7184-0336. We thank Bertrand Lézé, Kathryn Cross, and Kim Findlay for support with electron microscopy. We are grateful to Graham Briars and Claudio Nicoletti for providing pediatric biopsy samples.

This work was supported by a Ph.D. studentship from the Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of East Anglia, and a grant from the Medical Research Council (MR/J002062/1).

#### REFERENCES

- Nataro JP, Kaper JB. 1998. Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Clin Microbiol Rev 11:142-201.
- Tarr PI, Gordon CA, Chandler WL. 2005. Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli and haemolytic uraemic syndrome. Lancet 365:1073-1086. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)71144-2.
- Croxen MA, Law RJ, Scholz R, Keeney KM, Wlodarska M, Finlay BB. 2013. Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Rev 26:822–880. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/CMR .00022-13.
- Karmali MA, Petric M, Lim C, Fleming PC, Arbus GS, Lior H. 1985. The association between idiopathic hemolytic uremic syndrome and infection by veroloxin-producing *Escherichia* coli. J Infect Dis 151:775–782. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/151.5.775.
- Bergan J, Dyve Lingelem AB, Simm R, Skotland T, Sandvig K. 2012. Shiga toxins. Toxicon 60:1085–1107. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.toxicon .2012.07.016.
- Viswanathan VK, Hodges K, Hecht G. 2009. Enteric infection meets intestinal function: how bacterial pathogens cause diarrhoea. Nat Rev Microbiol 7:110–119. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2053.
- Wong AR, Pearson JS, Bright MD, Munera D, Robinson KS, Lee SF, Frankel G, Hartland EL. 2011. Enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: even more subversive elements. Mol Microbiol 80:1420–1438. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07661.x.
- Deibel C, Kramer S, Chakraborty T, Ebel F. 1998. EspE, a novel secreted protein of attaching effacing bacteria, is directly translocated into infected host cells, where it appears as a tyrosine-phosphorylated 90 kDa protein. Mol Microbiol 28:463–474. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998 .00798.x.
- Ebel F, Podzadel T, Rohde M, Kresse AU, Kramer S, Deibel C, Guzmán CA, Chakraborty T. 1998. Initial binding of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* to host cells and subsequent induction of actin rearrangements depend on filamentous EspA-containing surface appendages. Mol Microbiol 30:147–161. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01046.x.
- 10. DeVinney R, Stein M, Reinscheid D, Abe A, Ruschkowski S, Finlay BB.

Infection and Immunity

iai.asm.org 947

1999. Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 produces Tir, which is translocated to the host cell membrane but is not tyrosine phosphorylated. Infect Immun 67:2389-2398.

- 11. Knutton S, Baldwin T, Williams PH, McNeish AS. 1989. Actin accumulation at sites of bacterial adhesion to tissue culture cells: basis of a new diagnostic test for enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli. Infect Immun 57:1290-1298. 12. Tzipori S, Wachsmuth IK, Chapman C, Birden R, Brittingham J,
- Jackson C, Hogg J. 1986. The pathogenesis of hemorrhagic colitis caused by Escherichia coli O157:H7 in gnotobiotic piglets. J Infect Dis 154:712-716. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/infdis/154.4.712
- 13. Ritchie JM, Thorpe CM, Rogers AB, Waldor MK. 2003. Critical roles for stx2, eae, and tir in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli-induced diarrhea and intestinal inflammation in infant rabbits. Infect Immun 71:7129-7139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.12.7129-7139.2003.
- Dean-Nystrom EA, Bosworth BT, Cray WC, Jr, Moon HW. 1997. Pathogenicity of Escherichia coli O157:H7 in the intestines of neonatal calves. Infect Immun 65:1842–1848.
- Kelly JK, Pai CH, Jadusingh IH, Macinnis ML, Shaffer EA, Hershfield NB. 1987. The histopathology of rectosigmoid biopsies from adults with bloody diarrhea due to verotoxin-producing Escherichia coli. Am J Clin Pathol 88:78-82.
- 16. Griffin PM, Olmstead LC, Petras RE. 1990. Escherichia coli O157:H7associated colitis. A clinical and histological study of 11 cases. Gastroenterology 99:142-149.
- Chong Y, Fitzhenry R, Heuschkel R, Torrente F, Frankel G, Phillips 17 AD. 2007. Human intestinal tissue tropism in O157:H7—initial coloni-zation of terminal ileum and Peyer's patches and minimal colonic adhesion ex vivo. Microbiology 153:794-802. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/mic.0 2006/003178-0.
- 18. Phillips AD, Navabpour S, Hicks S, Dougan G, Wallis T, Frankel G. 2000. Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 target Peyer's patches in humans and cause attaching/effacing lesions in both human and bovine intestine. Gut 47:377–381. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/gut.47.3.377.
- 19. Robinson CM, Sinclair JF, Smith MJ, O'Brien AD. 2006. Shiga toxin of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli type O157:H7 promotes intestinal col-onization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:9667–9672. http://dx.doi.org/10 1073/pnas.0602359103
- 20. Schüller S, Phillips AD. 2010. Microaerobic conditions enhance type III secretion and adherence of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli to polarized human intestinal epithelial cells. Environ Microbiol 12:2426-2435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02216.x.
- 21. Knutton S, Llovd DR, McNeish AS. 1987. Adhesion of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli to human intestinal enterocytes and cultured human intestinal mucosa. Infect Immun 55:69-77.
- 22. Shigeno T, Akamatsu T, Fujimori K, Nakatsuji Y, Nagata A. 2002. The clinical significance of colonoscopy in hemorrhagic colitis due to enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 infection. Endoscopy 34:311-314. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-23644
- 23. Law RJ, Gur-Arie L, Rosenshine I, Finlay BB. 2013. In vitro and in vivo model systems for studying enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infections. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3:a009977. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101 cshperspect.a009977
- 24. Imai Y, Fukui T, Kurohane K, Miyamoto D, Suzuki Y, Ishikawa T, Ono Y, Miyake M. 2003. Restricted expression of Shiga toxin binding sites on mucosal epithelium of mouse distal colon. Infect Immun 71:985-990. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.2.985-990.2003.
- 25. Keusch GT, Jacewicz M, Mobassaleh M, Donohue-Rolfe A. 1991. Shiga toxin: intestinal cell receptors and pathophysiology of enterotoxic effects. Rev Infect Dis 13(Suppl 4):S304-S310. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/clinids 3.Supplement\_4.S3
- 26. Schüller S, Frankel G, Phillips AD. 2004. Interaction of Shiga toxin from Escherichia coli with human intestinal epithelial cell lines and explants: Stx2 induces epithelial damage in organ culture. Cell Microbiol 6:289 301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-5822.2004.00370.x. 27. Madara JL, Stafford J, Dharmsathaphorn K, Carlson S. 1987. Structural
- analysis of a human intestinal epithelial cell line. Gastroenterology 92: 1133-1145.
- 28. Farfan MJ, Torres AG. 2012. Molecular mechanisms that mediate colonization of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli strains. Infect Immun 80:903-913. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.05907-11. 29. Li Z, Elliott E, Payne J, Isaacs J, Gunning P, O'Loughlin EV. 1999. Shiga
- toxin-producing Escherichia coli can impair T84 cell structure and func-

tion without inducing attaching/effacing lesions. Infect Immun 67:5938-5945.

- Ismaili A, Philpott DJ, Dytoc MT, Sherman PM. 1995. Signal transduc-30. tion responses following adhesion of verocytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli. Infect Immun 63:3316-3326.
- Viswanathan VK, Koutsouris A, Lukic S, Pilkinton M, Simonovic I, 31. Simonovic M, Hecht G. 2004. Comparative analysis of EspF from enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli in alteration of epithelial barrier function. Infect Immun 72:3218-3227. http://dx.doi.org 10.1128/IAI.72.6.3218-3227.2004.
- Philpott DJ, McKay DM, Mak W, Perdue MH, Sherman PM. 1998. 32 Signal transduction pathways involved in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli-induced alterations in T84 epithelial permeability. Infect Immun 66: 1680-1687
- Dean P, Young L, Quitard S, Kenny B. 2013. Insights into the pathogenesis of enteropathogenic E. coli using an improved intestinal 33. enterocyte model. PLoS One 8:e55284. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371 journal.pone.0055284.
- Dean P, Maresca M, Schüller S, Phillips AD, Kenny B. 2006. Potent diarrheagenic mechanism mediated by the cooperative action of three enteropathogenic Escherichia coli-injected effector proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:1876-1881. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0509451103.
- Shaw RK, Cleary J, Murphy MS, Frankel G, Knutton S. 2005. Interac-35. tion of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli with human intestinal mucosa: role of effector proteins in brush border remodeling and formation of attaching and effacing lesions. Infect Immun 73:1243-1251. http://dx.doi org/10.1128/IAI.73.2.1243-1251.2005.
- Girard F, Batisson I, Frankel GM, Harel J, Fairbrother JM. 2005. 36. Interaction of enteropathogenic and Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli and porcine intestinal mucosa: role of intimin and Tir in adherence. Infect Immun 73:6005-6016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.9 6005-6016.2005
- Barnett Foster D, Philpott D, Abul-Milh M, Huesca M, Sherman PM, 37. Lingwood CA. 1999. Phosphatidylethanolamine recognition promotes enteropathogenic *E. coli* and enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* host cell attach-ment. Microb Pathog 27:289–301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/mpat.1999 .0305.
- Barnett Foster D, Abul-Milh M, Huesca M, Lingwood CA. 2000. Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli induces apoptosis which augments bacterial binding and phosphatidylethanolamine exposure on the plasma membrane outer leaflet. Infect Immun 68:3108-3115. http://dx.doi.org /10.1128/IAI.68.6.3108-3115.2000.
- 39. Malyukova I, Murray KF, Zhu C, Boedeker E, Kane A, Patterson K, Peterson JR, Donowitz M, Kovbasnjuk O. 2009. Macropinocytosis in Shiga toxin 1 uptake by human intestinal epithelial cells and transcellular transcytosis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 296:G78-G92. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1152/ajpgi.90347.2008
- 40. Sherman P, Soni R, Karmali M. 1988. Attaching and effacing adherence of Vero cytotoxin-producing Escherichia coli to rabbit intestinal epithelium in vivo. Infect Immun 56:756-761.
- Tzipori S, Gunzer F, Donneberg MS, de Montigny L, Kaper JB, Donohue-Rolfe A. 1995. The role of the *eaeA* gene in diarrhea and neurological complications in a gnotobiotic piglet model of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli infection. Infect Immun 63:3621-3627
- 42 Girard F, Dziva F, van Diemen P, Phillips AD, Stevens MP, Frankel G. 2007. Adherence of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157, O26, and O111 strains to bovine intestinal explants ex vivo. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:3084-3090. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02893-06.
- Wiles S, Clare S, Harker J, Huett A, Young D, Dougan G, Frankel G. 2004. Organ specificity, colonization and clearance dynamics in vivo following oral challenges with the murine pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. Cell Microbiol 6:963-972. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2004 .00414.x.
- 44. Golan L, Gonen E, Yagel S, Rosenshine I, Shpigel NY. 2011. Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli induce attaching and effacing lesions and hemorrhagic colitis in human and bovine intestinal xenograft models. Dis Model Mech 4:86-94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/dmm.005777.
- Schüller S, Chong Y, Lewin J, Kenny B, Frankel G, Phillips AD. 2007. Tir phosphorylation and Nck/N-WASP recruitment by enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli during ex vivo colonization of human intestinal mucosa is different to cell culture models. Cell Microbiol 9:1352–1364. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00879.x. 46. Sinclair JF, O'Brien AD. 2002. Cell surface-localized nucleolin is a eu-

Infection and Immunity

EHEC Colonization of Human Colonic Epithelium

karyotic receptor for the adhesin intimin-gamma of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7. J Biol Chem 277:2876-2885. http://dx.doi.org /10.1074/jbc.M110230200.

- Humphries RM, Waterhouse CC, Mulvey G, Beck P, Armstrong GD. 2009. Interactions of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* with pediatric and adult intestinal biopsy samples during early adherence. Infect Immun 77: 4463–4468. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00686-09.
- Browning TH, Trier JS. 1969. Organ culture of mucosal biopsies of human small intestine. J Clin Invest 48:1423-1432. http://dx.doi.org/10 .1172/JCI106108.
- 49. Johansson ME, Larsson JM, Hansson GC. 2011. The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(Suppl 1):S4659-S4665. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1006451107.
- 108(Suppl 1):S4659-S4665. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1006451107.
   50. Riley LW, Remis RS, Helgerson SD, McGee HB, Wells JG, Davis BR, Hebert RJ, Olcott ES, Johnson LM, Hargrett NT, Blake PA, Cohen ML. 1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. N Engl J Med 308:681-685. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198303243081203.
   51. Gobert AP, Coste A, Guzmán CA, Vareille M, Hindré T, de Sablet T,
- Gobert AP, Coste A, Guzmán CA, Vareille M, Hindré T, de Sablet T, Girardeau JP, Martin C. 2008. Modulation of chemokine gene expression by Shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* belonging to various origins and serotypes. Microbes Infect 10:159–165. http://dx.doi.org/10 .1016/j.micinf.2007.10.018.
- 52. Jarvis KG, Kaper JB. 1996. Secretion of extracellular proteins by entero-

hemorrhagic Escherichia coli via a putative type III secretion system. Infect Immun 64:4826–4829.

- Beltrametti F, Kresse AU, Guzmán CA. 1999. Transcriptional regulation of the *esp* genes of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 181: 3409-3418.
- Gobert AP, Vareille M, Glasser AL, Hindré T, de Sablet T, Martin C. 2007. Shiga toxin produced by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* inhibits PI3K/NF-kappaB signaling pathway in globotriaosylceramide-3-negative human intestinal epithelial cells. J Immunol 178:8168-8174. http://dx.doi .org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.8168.
- 55. Tzipori S, Karch H, Wachsmuth IK, Robins-Browne RM, O'Brien AD, Lior H, Cohen ML, Smithers J, Levine MM. 1987. Role of a 60megadalton plasmid and Shiga-like toxins in the pathogenesis of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gnotobiotic piglets. Infect Immun 55:3117-3125.
- Ostroff SM, Griffin PM, Tauxe RV, Shipman LD, Greene KD, Wells JG, Lewis JH, Blake PA, Kobayashi JM. 1990. A statewide outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections in Washington State. Am J Epidemiol 132: 239–247.
- Levine MM, Berquist EJ, Nalin DR, Waterman DH, Hornick RB, Young CR, Scotman S, Rowe B. 1978. Escherichia coli strains that cause diarrhoea but do not produce heat-labile or heat-stable enterotoxins and are noninvasive. Lancet i:1119-1122.

March 2015 Volume 83 Number 3

## **APPENDIX 3**

# Publication containing work from Chapter 4

ORIGINAL RESEARCH published: 21 June 2016 doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00068



## Flagellin Induces β-Defensin 2 in Human Colonic *Ex vivo* Infection with Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*

Steven B. Lewis<sup>1,2†</sup>, Alison Prior<sup>3</sup>, Samuel J. Ellis<sup>1,2</sup>, Vivienne Cook<sup>3</sup>, Simon S. M. Chan<sup>1,3</sup>, William Gelson<sup>3†</sup> and Stephanie Schüller<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Norwich Medical School, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK, <sup>2</sup> Gut Health and Food Safety Programme, Institute of Food Research, Norwich, UK, <sup>3</sup> Gastroenterology Department, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital, Norwich, UK

Enterohemorrhagic E.coli (EHEC) is an important foodborne pathogen in the developed world and can cause life-threatening disease particularly in children. EHEC persists in the human gut by adhering intimately to colonic epithelium and forming characteristic attaching/effacing lesions. In this study, we investigated the innate immune response to EHEC infection with particular focus on antimicrobial peptide and protein expression by colonic epithelium. Using a novel human colonic biopsy model and polarized T84 colon carcinoma cells, we found that EHEC infection induced expression of human β-defensin 2 (hBD2), whereas hBD1, hBD3, LL-37, and lysozyme remained unchanged. Infection with specific EHEC deletion mutants demonstrated that this was dependent on flagellin, and apical exposure to purified flagellin was sufficient to stimulate hBD2 and also interleukin (IL)-8 expression ex vivo and in vitro. Flagellin-mediated hBD2 induction was significantly reduced by inhibitors of NF-κB, MAP kinase p38 and JNK but not ERK1/2. Interestingly, IL-8 secretion by polarized T84 cells was vectorial depending on the side of stimulation, and apical exposure to EHEC or flagellin resulted in apical IL-8 release. Our results demonstrate that EHEC only induces a modest immune response in human colonic epithelium characterized by flagellin-dependent induction of hBD2 and low levels of IL-8.

Keywords: EHEC, flagellin, colon, β-defensin, interleukin-8, inflammation

1

#### INTRODUCTION

Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) is a foodborne pathogen of worldwide importance (Groxen et al., 2013). Although infections with EHEC are rare compared with *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*, they can lead to severe systemic hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) resulting in kidney failure and death (Tarr et al., 2005). EHEC mainly affects young children and the elderly, and the predominant serotype in most parts of the world is O157:H7 (Groxen and Finlay, 2010).

EHEC causes diarrhea by adhering to human intestinal epithelium, particularly the colon, and forming attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions (Golan et al., 2011; Lewis et al., 2015). These are characterized by intimate bacterial attachment to the host cell membrane and effacement of underlying microvilli. A/E lesion formation is dependent on a bacterial type III secretion system (T3SS) which enables EHEC to inject effector proteins into the host cell (Jarvis and Kaper, 1996). Around 50 EHEC effector proteins have been identified so far (Tobe et al., 2006), affecting many different host cell functions such as maintenance of epithelial barrier integrity, water and ion transport, and immune response to infection (Viswanathan et al., 2009). In addition to the T3SS, EHEC also produces Shiga

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

June 2016 | Volume 6 | Article 68

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

Reviewed by: Bastian Opitz, Charite University Medicine Berlin, Germany Jennifer Ritchie,

> University of Surrey, UK \*Correspondence:

> Stephanie Schüller stephanie.schuller@lfr.ac.uk

<sup>†</sup>Present Address: Steven B. Lewis, Sir William Dun School of Pathology, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, William Gelson, Cambridge Transplant Centre, Addenbrooke's Hospital, Cambridge, UK

> Received: 04 February 2016 Accepted: 07 June 2016 Published: 21 June 2016

#### Citation: Lewis SB, Prior A, Ellis SJ, Cook V,

Chan SSM, Gelson W and Schüller S (2016) Flagellin Induces β-Defensin 2 in Human Colonic Ex vivo Infection with Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 6:68. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00068 toxins (Stxs) which are linked to HUS and strongly cytotoxic to kidney cells (Obrig and Karpman, 2012). After release into the gut lumen, Stxs transverse the intestinal epithelium and are transported to the kidneys via the bloodstream (Schüller, 2011).

EHEC infection in the human gut is accompanied by neutrophil recruitment to the intestinal mucosa (Griffin et al., 1990; Kelly et al., 1990), and high levels of the neutrophil chemoattractant interleukin (IL)-8 have been detected in HUS patients (Fitzpatrick et al., 1992; Murata et al., 1998) indicating a key role of this cytokine in the innate immune response to EHEC infection. In addition to cytokine production which recruits phagocytes to the site of infection, secretion of antimicrobial peptides and proteins (AMPs) such as defensins, cathelicidins, and lysozyme by intestinal epithelium constitutes an important part in the innate immune defense against intestinal pathogens. Pore-forming AMPs directly kill bacteria and also promote an inflammatory immune response by acting as chemoattractants (Wassing et al., 2014). Human colonic epithelium, the primary target site of EHEC, produces lysozyme and LL-37, which is the only cathelicidin in humans and expressed by upper crypt epithelial cells. In addition, four types of defensins are secreted by human colonic epithelium: While human β-defensin (hBD)1 is constitutively expressed, hBD2-4 are induced by infection and inflammation (Eckmann and Kagnoff, 2005; Muniz et al., 2012).

Previous studies have demonstrated that infection with intestinal pathogens can modulate expression of AMPs and cytokines by the host epithelium, thereby resulting in an induced or suppressed immune response (Islam et al., 2001; Zilbauer et al., 2005; Sharma et al., 2006; Sperandio et al., 2008). In this study, we have investigated the influence of EHEC infection on AMP and IL-8 expression in physiologically relevant colonic biopsy and polarized cell culture models.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Bacterial Strains and Flagellin**

Bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Table 1. Bacteria were grown standing in LB broth overnight at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Deletion mutants were selected with kanamycin ( $50 \,\mu$ g/ml) or chloramphenicol ( $30 \,\mu$ g/ml). Bacteria were spun down before

Name	Description	Source or references
EDL933	Wild-type EHEC 0157:H7	Riley et al., 1983
EDL933 ∆escN	EDL933 escN deletion mutant	Jarvis and Kaper, 1996
EDL933 ∆fliC	EDL933 fliC deletion mutant	Gobert et al., 2008
EDL933 Astx	EDL933 stx1 stx2 deletion mutant	Gobert et al., 2007
85-170	Stx-negative EHEC 0157:H7	Tzipori et al., 1987
85–170 ∆hcpA	85–170 hcpA deletion mutant	Xicohtencatl-Cortes et al., 2007
85-170 ∆lpfA1	85-170 lpfA1 deletion mutant	Fitzhenry et al., 2006
Walla-1	EHEC 0157:H7	Ostroff et al., 1990
H0-7184-0336	EHEC 0157:H7	G. Smith, Public Health

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

2

June 2016 | Volume 6 | Article 68

infection and suspended in serum-free culture medium. LPS-free purified H7 monomeric flagellin was kindly provided by David Gally, Roslin Institute, Edinburgh.

#### **Cell Culture and Infection**

Human colon carcinoma T84 cells (ATCC CCL-248) were cultured in DMEM/F-12 mixture supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Sigma) and used between passage 45 and 65. To obtain polarized monolayers, cells were seeded out on collagencoated Transwell filter inserts (12 mm diameter, 0.4 µm pore; Corning Costar) at a density of 5×10<sup>5</sup> cells/insert. Transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) was monitored using an EVOM2 resistance meter with an STX2 electrode (World Precision Instruments), and values above 1500  $\Omega \times cm^2$  after 7-10 d of differentiation indicated establishment of epithelial barrier function. Polarized T84 cells were infected with approximately  $6 \times 10^7$  bacteria in plain DMEM/F-12 medium and incubated for 3h. After that, medium was exchanged every hour to prevent bacterial overgrowth and acidification of the medium. For 24 h infections, gentamicin (200 µg/ml, Sigma) was added 1 h after infection to slow down bacterial growth, and incubations were continued without medium exchange for up to 24 h. For incubations with flagellin and IL-18 (Sigma), no medium exchange was performed. For signal transduction studies, cells were incubated with the chemical inhibitors quinazoline (NF-kB) (28 µM, Sigma), SB203580 (p38), SP600125 (JNK), or PD98059 (ERK 1/2) (25 µM, Merck Millipore) for 1 h before flagellin (0.1 µg/ml) was added for 6 h. Cells were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO2 atmosphere. At the end of the experiment, cells were washed twice in PBS to remove non-adherent bacteria and processed according to further analysis.

#### Polarized In vitro Organ Culture (pIVOC)

This study was performed with approval from the University of East Anglia Faculty of Medicine and Health Ethics Committee (ref 2010/11-030). All samples were provided through the Norwich Biorepository, which has NRES approval (ref 08/h0304/85+5). Up to four biopsy samples from the transverse colon were obtained with informed consent during colonoscopy of 23 adult patients (24-77 years old) during routine investigation of potential intestinal disorders. Samples were taken from macroscopically normal areas, transported to the laboratory in IVOC medium and processed within the next hour. Polarized IVOC was performed as described previously (Schüller et al., 2009). Briefly, biopsies were mounted mucosal side upwards on a circular cellulose nitrate filter and sandwiched between two Perspex disks with a 2 mm central aperture (manufactured by the School of Environmental Sciences workshop, University of East Anglia). To prevent bacterial leakage, the apical disk was sealed to the mucosal side of the biopsy with Histoacryl tissue glue (Braun Medical). The sandwich holding the biopsy was then mounted in a Snapwell support (Corning Costar) and inserted in a six-well culture plate. Apical and basal compartments were filled with IVOC medium, and 20 µl of bacterial overnight culture (~107 bacteria), purified monomeric H7 flagellin or IL-1ß were added apically. A specimen inoculated with medium only was included with each experiment to exclude in vivo bacterial colonization.

Samples were incubated in a 5%  $CO_2$  atmosphere at 37°C on a rocking platform for 7 h. Bacterial leakage into the basolateral compartment was assessed by bacterial growth and turbidity of the medium, and respective samples were excluded from analysis. At the end of the experiment, biopsies were removed from the Snapwell support, washed in PBS to remove mucus and non-adherent bacteria and processed for further analysis.

# RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qPCR) Analysis

Total RNA from cells and biopsies was isolated using the RNeasy Mini kit with on-column DNase digestion (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Biopsy tissue was homogenized with a pestle (Kimble Chase) before extraction. RNA quality was assessed by gel electrophoresis and OD<sub>260/280</sub> determination. RNA was quantified using a Nanodrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer, and 1 µg RNA was converted to cDNA using the qScript cDNA supermix (Quanta Biosciences) in a 20 µl reaction. Quantitative real-time PCR was performed using an ABI 7500 PCR system (Applied Biosystems). Primers were purchased from Sigma-Genosys. Gene-specific sequences (Table 2) were obtained from published studies or designed using PrimerBLAST software (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ tools/primer-blast/). Up to 4 µl cDNA were amplified in a 10 µl reaction containing 0.5  $\mu$ M of each primer and 5  $\mu$ l of 2  $\times$  SYBR Green JumpStart Taq ReadyMix (Sigma). Cycling parameters were as follows: 2 min at 95°C (initial denaturation); 30 s at 95°C, 30s at 60°C, 35s at 72°C (40 cycles); 5 min at 72°C (final elongation); 15 s at 95°C, 60 s at 60°C, 15 s at 95°C, 15 s at 60°C (dissociation for melt curve analysis). PCR product specificity was confirmed by melt curve analysis and agarose gel electrophoresis. Relative quantification of gene expression was performed using the comparative Ct method. Ct values for genes of interest were normalized using the geometric mean Ct of two housekeeper genes, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and RNA polymerase II polypeptide A (POLR2A). Fold expression levels in treated samples were calculated relative to matched non-treated controls using the formula  $2^{-\Delta \Delta Ct}$ .

#### Scanning Electron Microscopy

Samples were fixed with 2.5% glutaraldehyde in PBS and dehydrated through graded acetone series. Specimens were dried using tetramethylsilane (Sigma), mounted on aluminum stubs, sputter-coated with gold (Polaron SC7640 sputter coater, Quorum Technologies), and viewed with a JEOL JSM 4900 LV scanning electron microscope.

#### Immunofluorescence Staining

Biopsy samples were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde in PBS for 30 min, cryoprotected in 15 and 30% sucrose in PBS for 10 min, embedded in OCT compound (Sakura), snap-frozen in a dry ice/ethanol bath and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until use. Serial sections of 7  $\mu$ m were cut with a Microm HM550 cryostat (Thermo Scientific), picked up on poly L-lysine-coated slides and air-dried. Tissue sections were blocked with 0.5% BSA in PBS for 20 min. Cryosections were subsequently incubated in rabbit anti-hBD2 (abcam) overnight at 4°C, washed and incubated in Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated secondary antibody (Life Technologies) for 30 min. Cell nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (Roche).

TABLE 2   Primer sequences used in this study.				
Target	Primer sequence	References		
hBD1	F 5'-CTGCTGTTTACTCTCTGCTTACTTTT-3'	Fahigren et al., 2003		
	R 5'-CCTCCACTGCTGACGCA-3'			
hBD2	F 5'-CTCGTTCCTCTTCATATTCCTGA-3'	Fahigren et al., 2003		
	R 5'-CTAGGGCAAAAGACTGGATGAC-3'			
hBD3	F 5'-TGAAGCCTAGCAGCTATGAGGATC-3'	Fahigren et al., 2004		
	R 5'-CCGCCTCTGACTCTGCAATAA-3'			
hBD4	F 5'-CCCAGCATTATGCAGAGACTT-3'	Fahigren et al., 2004		
	R 5'-ACCACATATTCTGTCCAATTCAAAT-3'			
IL-8	F 5'-TTGAGAGTGGACCACACTGC-3'	Ou et al., 2009		
	R 5'-TGCACCCAGTTTTCCTTGG-3'			
GAPDH	F 5'-AGGTCGGAGTCAACGGATTT-3'	Schüller et al., 2009		
	R 5'-TGGAAGATGGTGATGGGATTT-3'			
LL-37	F 5'-GTGCCCCAGGACGACACAGC-3'	This study		
	R 5'-CCCCTGGCCTGGTTGAGGGT-3'			
Lysozyme	F 5'-AAAACCCCAGGAGCAGTTAAT-3'	Fahlgren et al., 2003		
	R 5'-CAACCCTCTTTGCACAAGCT-3'			
POLR2A	F 5'-GATGGGCAAAAGAGTGGACTT-3'	Schüller et al., 2009		
	R 5'-GGGTACTGACTGTTCCCCCT-3'			



expressed as percentage of TER before infection. (B) AMP and IL-8 mRNA levels were quantified by qPCR and expressed as fold changes relative to NI controls. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  standard errors of the means (SEM) of four independent experiments performed in duplicate. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01,

Forward (F) and reverse (R) primer sequences.

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

3

"P < 0.001 vs. NI control.



FIGURE 2 | EHEC induction of hBD2 and IL-8 in a polarized human colonic biopsy model. Human colonic biopsy samples were sandwiched between two Perspex disks with a central aperture and mounted in Snapwell supports as described in Experimental Procedures. Mucosal sides of matched biopsies were infected with EHEC strains EDL933, Walla-1, H07184, or left NI for 7 h. (A) Scanning electron micrograph of colonic biopsy after 7 h of incubation. The white circle indicates the central aperture of the disk. Bar = 20  $\mu$ m. (B) Intact colonic surface epithelium at higher magnification. Bar = 50  $\mu$ m. (C) EDL933 intimately adhering to colonic biopsy epithelium, Bar = 2  $\mu$ m. Images are representative of three experiments performed in duplicate. (D) AMP and IL-8 mRNA levels were quantified by qPCR and expressed as fold changes relative to matched NI controls. Data points represent individual biopsies from a total of six patients. Medians are indicated by a line. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01 vs. NI control.

4

Samples were mounted in Vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and analyzed using a fluorescence light microscope (Axiovert 200 M, Zeiss).

#### **IL-8 ELISA**

Polarized T84 cells were lysed on ice in 1% Triton X-100 and  $1\mu$ l/200  $\mu$ l protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma) in PBS, and Triton-insoluble proteins were removed by centrifugation. IL-8 concentrations in lysates and supernatants were determined using a human IL-8 ELISA kit (PeproTech) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

#### Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software (version 5). qPCR data were log transformed before

analysis. For parametric T84 cell data, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used to determine differences between multiple groups. For non-parametric biopsy data, Wilcoxon's signed-rank test or Kruskall–Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test was used to determine differences between two or multiple groups, respectively. A P < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Apical EHEC Infection of Polarized T84 Cells Induces hBD2 and IL-8 Expression

To determine the influence of EHEC infection on AMP and IL-8 expression by human colonic epithelium, polarized T84 human colon carcinoma cells were infected with EHEC 0157:H7

β-Defensin 2 Induction in EHEC Infection



strains EDL933, Walla-1, and H0-7184-0336 (H07184) on the apical side. Bacterial overgrowth and loss of epithelial integrity was prevented by removal of bacteria after 3 h and subsequent medium exchange at hourly intervals. As shown in Figure 1A, this protocol resulted in maintenance of epithelial barrier function for up to 9h as determined by TER. Expression of hBD1-4, LL-37, lysozyme, and IL-8 was determined by qPCR analysis. Results in Figure 1B show that apical EHEC infection resulted in a significant induction of hBD2 (21.5  $\pm$  9.1 fold for EDL933, 70.4  $\pm$  21.8 fold for Walla-1, and 31.5  $\pm$  2.0 fold for H07184) and IL-8 (6.0  $\pm$  1.6 fold for EDL933, 8.3  $\pm$  2.4 fold for Walla-1, and 8.2  $\pm$  3.9 fold for H07184) mRNA expression compared with non-infected (NI) controls whereas no significant change was observed for hBD1, hBD3, LL-37, and lysozyme. No specific amplification product was detected for hBD4. Subsequent kinetic analysis of hBD2 and IL-8 mRNA expression indicated that levels of both transcripts were first significantly induced at 6 h post-infection and showed a continuous increase during a 12h period of infection (Supplementary Figure 1). For practical reasons, infections of polarized T84 cells were performed for 9 h in subsequent experiments.

#### Apical EHEC Infection Results in hBD2 and IL-8 Induction in a Polarized Human Colonic Biopsy Model

Our recent studies have demonstrated EHEC adherence to human colonic biopsy epithelium by forming typical A/E lesions

(Lewis et al., 2015). To investigate the effect of EHEC infection on AMP and IL-8 expression ex vivo, a pIVOC model, which restricts bacterial access to the mucosal side of the biopsy, was developed. This was based on the pIVOC system established earlier to investigate the inflammatory response in duodenal biopsies (Schüller et al., 2009). Colonic biopsy samples were mounted in Snapwell supports, infected with EDL933, Walla-1, or H07184 on the mucosal side and incubated for up to 7 h. Tissue preservation and EHEC adherence were evaluated by scanning electron microscopy. As shown in Figure 2A, good tissue morphology was observed within the area of the central aperture (white circle) with intact surface epithelium visible at higher magnifications (Figure 2B). In addition, EHEC adhered intimately to colonic epithelium as described previously (Figure 2C; Lewis et al., 2015). Analysis of AMP and IL-8 expression by qPCR demonstrated a significant increase in hBD2 (median fold increase = 8.1 for EDL933 and 5.7 for H07184) and IL-8 expression (median fold increase = 6.6 for EDL933, 5.2 for Walla-1, and 4.8 for H07184) in EHEC-infected samples compared with non-infected controls. In contrast, transcript levels of hBD1, LL-37, and lysozyme were not significantly affected by EHEC infection (Figure 2D). Amplification levels for hBD3 and hBD4 were generally below detection threshold levels. However, amplification products of corresponding sizes were detected in some experiments, thereby confirming primer specificity and functionality of the qPCR assay (data not shown).

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org



#### EHEC Induction of Colonic Epithelial hBD2 and IL-8 Expression Is Dependent on Flagellin

We next determined which EHEC proteins were involved in hBD2 and IL-8 induction in colonic epithelium. Polarized T84 cells were apically infected with wild-type (wt) EDL933 or isogenic deletion mutants in *fliC* (flagellin, main component of EHEC flagellum), escN (cytoplasmic ATPase of T3SS), or stx (Stxs) for 9h. In addition, the contribution of long polar fimbriae (Lpf) and hemorrhagic coli pili (HCP) was examined by using isogenic deletion mutants in lpfA1 and hcp of EHEC strain 85-170. None of the strains significantly compromised epithelial barrier function as determined by TER (Supplementary Figure 2A). Expression levels of hBD2 and IL-8 were determined by qPCR. Whereas, infection with EDL933 wt,  $\Delta escN$ , and  $\Delta stx$  showed a significant induction of hBD2 (48.6  $\pm$ 12.3 fold for wt, 60.5  $\pm$  15.6 fold for  $\triangle \textit{escN},$  and 41.5  $\pm$  8.3 fold for  $\Delta stx$ ) and IL-8 (5.6  $\pm$  1.3 fold for wt, 7.5  $\pm$  1.2 fold for  $\Delta escN$ , and 4.9  $\pm$  0.3 fold for  $\Delta stx$ ) expression vs. NI controls, no significant effect was observed in EDL933 \[ AfliC-infected cells (Figure 3A). For infections with 85-170, all strains significantly increased expression of hBD2 (195.9  $\pm$  50.1 fold for wt, 168.6  $\pm$  40.4 fold for  $\Delta hcp$ , and 163.4  $\pm$  26.8 fold for  $\Delta lpfA1$ ) and IL-8 (84.3  $\pm$ 21.8 fold for wt, 157.5  $\pm$  45.7 fold for  $\Delta hcp$ , and 88.4  $\pm$  28.0



FIGURE 5 | EHEC flagellin is sufficient to induce hBD2 and IL-8 expression in polarized T84 cells. Polarized T84 cells were incubated with EDL933, purified flagellin or left NI on the apical side. IL-8 and hBD2 mRNA levels were quantified by qPCR and expressed as fold changes relative to NI controls. (A) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in hBD2 mRNA expression after 9h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments performed in duplicate. (B) Kinetics of IL-8 and hBD2 induction by purified flagellin (0.1 µg/ml). Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (C) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 mRNA expression after 2h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (C) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 mRNA expression after 2h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 mRNA expression after 2h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 mRNA expression after 2h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced a dose-dependent increase in IL-8 mRNA expression after 2h. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) the prime flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) Purified flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) the prime flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) the prime flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) the prime flagellin induced experiments performed in duplicate. (E) the prime flagellin (E) the prime

6

β-Defensin 2 Induction in EHEC Infection



fold for  $\Delta lpfA1$  vs. NI controls (Figure 3B). Notably, induction levels of hBD2 and IL-8 expression by EHEC strain 85–170 were considerably higher compared with EDL933 (Figure 3).

We also determined the effect of flagellin, T3S and Stxs on hBD2 and IL-8 expression in colonic pIVOC. As shown in Figure 4, EDL933 wt,  $\Delta escN$ , and  $\Delta stx$  significantly enhanced hBD2 (median fold increase = 15.9 for wt, 14.3 for  $\Delta escN$ , and 17.8 for  $\Delta stx$ ) and IL-8 (median fold increase = 3.6 for wt, 3.1 for  $\Delta escN$ , and 4.9 for  $\Delta stx$ ) expression in colonic biopsies whereas no significant effect was observed for the  $\Delta flic$  mutant.

#### Purified Flagellin Induces hBD2 and IL-8 Expression in Colonic Epithelium

To examine whether EHEC flagellin alone was sufficient to increase hBD2 and IL-8 expression, polarized T84 cells were infected with EDL933 or incubated with different concentrations of purified LPS-free monomeric H7 flagellin on the apical side for 9 h. No significant effect on TER was observed under any of the conditions tested (Supplementary Figure 2A). As demonstrated in Figure 5A, a dose-dependent increase in hBD2 mRNA expression was observed after 9h of incubation with similar induction levels for  $1\,\mu\text{g/ml}$  flagellin and infection with EDL933 (101.5  $\pm$  24.0 fold for flagellin and 99.0  $\pm$  23.0 fold for EDL933). In contrast, only very low induction levels were noted for IL-8 (Figure 5B, data shown for 0.1 µg/ml flagellin). Therefore, kinetic analyses were performed, and cells were apically exposed to flagellin for 1-9 h. Whereas, highest induction levels for hBD2 were observed after 6-9 h of flagellin exposure, IL-8 mRNA expression was induced much earlier and peaked at 1-3 h of exposure (Figure 5B). IL-8 induction was subsequently examined after 2 h of flagellin exposure, and a dose-dependent response was noted with induction levels for 1 µg/ml flagellin approximating those observed during infection with EDL933 (62.6  $\pm$  8.9 fold for flagellin and 80.8  $\pm$  10.5 fold for EDL933; Figure 5C).

Similar to findings in polarized T84 cells, purified flagellin was also sufficient to induce hBD2 (median fold increase = 5.3) and

7





IL-8 (median fold increase = 2.2) expression in colonic pIVOC (Figure 6).

#### Flagellin-Induced hBD2 Expression Is Mediated by NF-kB, Map Kinases p38 and JNK

We further characterized the signaling pathways involved in flagellin-induced hBD2 and IL-8 expression. To this aim, polarized T84 cells were treated with specific chemical inhibitors before flagellin  $(0.1 \,\mu g/ml)$  was added. Gene expression was quantified by qPCR. None of the chemical inhibitors



compromised epithelial barrier function (Figure 7A). While inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B or the MAPKs p38 and JNK significantly reduced hBD2 gene expression, treatment with the ERK1/2 inhibitor did not have any significant effect (Figure 7B). For IL-8, all inhibitors reduced gene expression, but this did not reach significance (Figure 7B).

#### EHEC Infection Induces Epithelial hBD2 Peptide Expression in Colonic Biopsies

Having shown that EHEC flagellin induced hBD2 mRNA expression, we investigated whether this also affected hBD2 peptide levels. Colonic biopsies were infected with EDL933 or incubated with purified flagellin  $(1 \mu g/ml)$  on the mucosal side, and hBD-2 peptide expression was assessed by immunofluorescence staining. As shown in Figure 8, elevated hBD2 peptide expression was observed in epithelial cells of colonic biopsies incubated with EDL933 or flagellin vs. NI controls.

#### EHEC-Induced IL-8 Protein Secretion in Polarized T84 Cells Is Directional and Depends on the Side of Exposure

We further investigated EHEC-induced IL-8 expression at the protein level. Polarized T84 cells were apically infected with EDL933 or incubated with the potent IL-8 inducer IL-1 $\beta$ 

8

(10 ng/ml) for 24 h. This time point was chosen according to previous IL-8 secretion studies on EHEC and enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Baruch et al., 2011; Sham et al., 2011). To prevent cell damage and breach of barrier function due to bacterial overgrowth and acidification, EHECinfected monolayers were treated with gentamicin (200 µg/ml) after 1 h. This treatment did not result in complete killing, but reduced bacterial growth so that infections could be continued for up to 24 h. TER was not significantly affected by any of the treatments (Supplementary Figure 2B) indicating maintenance of epithelial barrier function. At the end of the incubation, IL-8 protein levels were determined in cell lysates and apical and basolateral supernatants. As shown in Figure 9A, apical EHEC infection significantly increased IL-8 protein levels in apical supernatants (240.9  $\pm$  27.5 vs. 32.0  $\pm$  6.2 pg/well in NI controls) and to a lesser extent in cell lysates (88.9  $\pm$  21.5 vs. 16.6  $\pm$  1.4 pg/well in NI controls) but not in basolateral media. Similarly, apical IL-1 $\beta$  exposure resulted in significantly enhanced amounts of IL-8 in apical supernatants (102.3  $\pm$  14.9 vs. 32.0  $\pm$  6.2 pg/well in NI controls) but not in cell lysates or basolateral media. We further extended these studies and investigated the influence of the side of exposure on the direction of IL-8 release into the media. To this aim, polarized T84 cells were incubated with EDL933 or purified flagellin (1 µg/ml) on the apical or basolateral side for 24 h, and IL-8 levels were evaluated in apical and basolateral supernatants. None of the treatments significantly affected the TER (Supplementary Figure 2B). As demonstrated in Figure 9B, apical exposure to EDL933 or flagellin led to a significant increase of IL-8 secretion into apical supernatants (569.5  $\pm$  46.2 or 761.2  $\pm$  8.5 vs. 108.2  $\pm$ 16.9 pg/well in NI controls, respectively) whereas IL-8 levels in basolateral media were not significantly affected. On the other hand, basolateral exposure of polarized T84 cells to EDL933 or flagellin significantly stimulated IL-8 protein release into basolateral compartments (506.6  $\pm$  103.2 or 1119.0  $\pm$  181.4 vs. 128.6  $\pm$  8.1 pg/well in NI controls, respectively) whereas IL-8 levels in apical media were not significantly affected (Figure 9B).

#### DISCUSSION

The intestinal epithelium is the first line of defense against enteric pathogens, and the expression and release of AMPs represents an important part of the innate immune response during intestinal infections. In the colon, the main target site of EHEC, epithelial cells express hBD1-4, LL-37, and lysozyme. In this study, we have investigated the effect of EHEC infection on AMP expression in two physiologically relevant infection models: human colonic biopsies and polarized T84 cells. As demonstrated by our recent studies, IVOC of human colonic biopsies supports EHEC A/E lesion formation (Lewis et al., 2015). However, standard IVOC is not suitable to study the host immune response as it allows bacterial access and stimulation of the submucosal tissue surface. Therefore, we adopted a polarized IVOC method developed previously for small intestinal biopsy samples (Schüller et al., 2009). In addition to IVOC, we used T84 human colon carcinoma



directional and depends on the side of exposure. Polarized T84 cells were incubated with EDL933, IL-1ß (10 ng/m), flagellin (1 µg/m), or left NI on the apical (**A**,**B**) or basolateral side (**B**) for 24 h. IL-8 protein levels in cell lysates, apical and basolateral supernatants were determined by ELISA. (**A**) Apical exposure to EDL933 or IL-1ß stimulated apical IL-8 release. Data are shown as means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in duplicate. (**B**) Apical (AP) exposure to EDL933 or flagellin induced apical IL-8 release (white columns), whereas basolateral (BL) exposure to EDL933 or flagellin induced basolateral IL-8 release (black columns). Data are shown as means ± SEM of two independent experiments performed in triplicate. "P < 0.01, ""P < 0.001 vs. NI control.

cells which lack expression of the Stx receptor Gb3 similar to human colonic epithelium (Schüller et al., 2004) and form highly polarized epithelia with high TER when grown on membrane supports (Madara et al., 1987).

Our results show that apical EHEC infection induced hBD2 expression in both colonic biopsies and polarized T84 cells whereas all other AMPs remained unaffected. This is of relevance as hBD2 has been demonstrated to directly kill *E. coli* and also promote the release of immuno-modulating adenosine (Estrela et al., 2013). In contrast to hBD1 which is constitutively expressed in human colonic epithelium and thus confers a baseline protection against bacterial pathogens, hBD2 is undetectable or only expressed at very low levels in healthy children and adults, but elevated in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (Fahlgren et al., 2003; Zilbauer et al., 2010). This might be

9

β-Defensin 2 Induction in EHEC Infection

due to enhanced contact of the gut microbiota with intestinal epithelium, and previous studies have demonstrated induction of hBD2 by both commensal and pathogenic bacteria. Most of these studies were performed using intestinal epithelial cell lines (e.g., Caco-2 and HT-29) and have demonstrated stimulation of hBD2 expression by enteroinvasive pathogens such as Salmonella spp., Shigella flexneri and dysenteriae, enteroinvasive E. coli, and Campylobacter jejuni (O'Neil et al., 1999; Ogushi et al., 2001; Hase et al., 2002; Zilbauer et al., 2005). In addition, non-invasive EPEC and probiotic E. coli Nissle 1917 have also been shown to induce hBD2 expression (Schlee et al., 2007; Khan et al., 2008). In contrast, very few studies have been carried out on human intestinal tissue so far. Whereas experiments using human intestinal xenografts in mice have confirmed hBD2 induction by Salmonella typhi (O'Neil et al., 1999), no change in expression was observed after infection with S. flexneri (Sperandio et al., 2008). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study using IVOC of human intestinal biopsies to investigate the AMP response to bacterial infection.

We further investigated the bacterial factors involved in hBD2 induction and found that EHEC flagellin was both necessary and sufficient to stimulate a response ex vivo and in vitro. This is in agreement with studies on EPEC and Salmonella enterica serotype Enteritidis which also demonstrated hBD2 induction mediated by flagellin (Ogushi et al., 2001; Schlee et al., 2007; Khan et al., 2008). Interestingly, the hBD2 response to flagellin from non-pathogenic E. coli such as ATCC 259922, JM109, and Nissle 1917 is strain-dependent suggesting differences in binding to a potential receptor (Schlee et al., 2007). We further tested which signal transduction pathways were involved in flagellinmediated hBD2 induction by using chemical inhibitors of NF-KB and MAPKs. These studies showed that flagellin-induced hBD2 expression was dependent on NF-kB, MAPK p38, and JNK but not ERK1/2. NF-kB dependency of hBD2 induction has been described before in LPS-stimulated macrophages (Tsutsumi-Ishii and Nagaoka, 2002) and intestinal epithelial cells treated with flagellin from E coli Nissle (Wehkamp et al., 2004). The latter study also demonstrated involvement of the MAPKs INK but not p38 or ERK 1/2. In addition, Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin induced hBD2 by p38 activation (Yoon et al., 2010), and inhibitors of p38, JNK and ERK 1/2 reduced hBD2 induction by probiotic lactobacilli, although this did not reach significance (Schlee et al., 2008).

In addition to studying the AMP response to EHEC infection, we also examined expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-8 which acts as a chemoattractant and recruits neutrophils to the site of infection (Baggiolini and Clark-Lewis, 1992). Previous studies using non-polarized cells have shown that EHEC infection induces IL-8 release, and that this is dependent on NF- $\kappa$ B and MAP kinases (Dahan et al., 2002; Gobert et al., 2007). While several bacterial factors including long polar fimbriae, hemorrhagic coli pili, and Shiga toxins (Thorpe et al., 2001; Ledesma et al., 2010; Farfan et al., 2013) have been implicated in this response, many studies suggest that flagellin is the principal inducer of IL-8 production during EHEC infection (Berin et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2003; Miyamoto et al., 2006). This is confirmed by our results on human colonic biopsies and polarized T84

cells and agrees with earlier *ex vivo* studies using human colonic xenografts in mice (Miyamoto et al., 2006).

While flagellin provides the initial stimulus for a proinflammatory response, it has been shown that T3S effectors encoded outside the locus of enterocyte effacement dampen down NF-KB activation and IL-8 release at later stages of EHEC and EPEC infection (Hauf and Chakraborty, 2003; Nadler et al., 2010; Baruch et al., 2011). In addition, a similar T3S-dependent suppressive effect has been observed in EPEC-dependent hBD2 expression (Khan et al., 2008). Notably, all of these studies have been performed using cervical HeLa cells or undifferentiated Caco-2 cells. Interestingly, we did not detect any significant inhibitory effect of the T3SS on hBD2 and IL-8 expression during EHEC infection of colonic biopsies and polarized T84 cells. A similar observation has been reported by Ruchaud-Sparagano and colleagues who demonstrated T3S-dependent suppression of IL-8 induction in EPEC-infected polarized Caco-2 but not T84 cells (Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007). As fully differentiated Caco-2 cells display a small intestinal rather than colonic phenotype (Engle et al., 1998), these results might suggest a delayed or absent immunosuppressive effect of EHEC infection in human colonic vs. small intestinal epithelium.

As it was technically not feasible to accurately quantify epithelial IL-8 secretion in colonic biopsies due to the presence and varying thickness of the submucosal tissue, polarized T84 cells were employed for this part of the study. Unexpectedly, we found that IL-8 secretion was vectorial and depended on the direction of the stimulus: Whereas, apical exposure to EHEC or flagellin induced apical IL-8 release, basolateral exposure resulted in IL-8 secretion to the basolateral side. Whilst EHECinduced IL-8 secretion has not been examined in polarized T84 cells, studies on EPEC and EPEC flagellin have reported increased basolateral IL-8 secretion after basolateral but not apical stimulation (Zhou et al., 2003; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007). Very few studies have examined apical IL-8 secretion as it is generally assumed that IL-8 is mainly secreted basolaterally to mediate neutrophil recruitment to the epithelium. In line with this theory, predominantly basolateral IL-8 secretion has been shown in polarized HCA-7 cells stimulated with EHEC flagellin and polarized Caco-2 cells apically exposed to EPEC (Berin et al., 2002; Ruchaud-Sparagano et al., 2007). However, similar to our results, stimulation of polarized HT 29/19A or Caco-2 cells with IL-1 or TNF-a resulted in polarized IL-8 secretion dependent on the side of exposure (Lammers et al., 1994; Sonnier et al., 2010). In addition, vectorial IL-8 release has been shown in flagellinstimulated polarized Caco-2 cells (Rossi et al., 2013). While luminal IL-8 could aid neutrophil transmigration across the epithelium as demonstrated in urinary tract infections (Godaly et al., 2001), autocrine epithelial signaling via apically expressed IL-8 receptors (CXCR1) has also been suggested (Rossi et al., 2013).

#### REFERENCES

Baggiolini, M., and Clark-Lewis, I. (1992). Interleukin-8, a chemotactic and inflammatory cytokine. FEBS Lett. 307, 97-101. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(92)80909-Z

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

Taken together, our study demonstrates that colonic EHEC infection elicits a weak innate immune response with induction of hBD2 but no other AMPs and low levels of IL-8. These results suggest that inflammation plays a minor role in intestinal EHEC pathogenesis.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SL and SS designed the study, analyzed the data, and prepared the manuscript. SL and SE performed the experimental work. AP, VC, SC, and WG selected suitable patients, obtained informed consent, and provided human biopsy samples.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Grégory Jubelin and Christine Martin (INRA CR Clermont-Ferrand/Theix, France) for strain EDL933 and  $\Delta fliC$  and  $\Delta stx$  mutants, Amin Tahoun and David Gally (Roslin Institute, Edinburgh) for purified H7 flagellin, Jorge Girón (University of Florida, US) for strains EDL933  $\Delta escN$  and 85–170  $\Delta hcpA$ , Alfredo Torres (University of Texas, US) for mutant 85-170 △lpfA1, Roberto La Ragione (University of Surrey) for strain Walla-1, and Geraldine Smith (Public Health England) for isolate H0-7184-0336. We are grateful to Nigel Belshaw and Giles Elliott (Institute of Food Research, Norwich) for support with qPCR, Bertrand Lézé (University of East Anglia, Norwich) for help with electron microscopy and Mark Lucas (University College London) for helpful discussions. This work was supported by the University of East Anglia (FMH studentship to SL), the BBSRC (DTP studentship to SE), the NIHR (SC), and the MRC (MR/J002062/1, SS).

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fcimb. 2016.00068

Supplementary Figure 1 | Kinetics of hBD2 and IL-8 gene expression during EHEC infection. Polarized T84 cells were apically infected with EHEC strain EDL933 for 3-12 h, or laft NI for 12 h. hBD2 and IL-8 mRNA levels were quantified by qPCR and expressed as fold changes relative to NI controls. Data represent means  $\pm$  SEM of two independent experiments. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001 vs. NI control.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Influence of different treatments on T84 cell barrier function. Polarized T84 cells were apically inoculated with EHEC wild-type EDL933 or 85–170 (WT), deletion mutants ( $\Delta fliC$ , escN, stx, hcp, or pfA1), purified flagellin (1  $\mu$ g/mI) or left non-infected (NI) for 9 h (A) or incubated with EDL933, IL-1 $\beta$  (10 ng/mI), flagellin (1  $\mu$ g/mI), or left NI on the apical (AP) or basolateral side (BL) for 24 h (B). TER after treatment is expressed as percentage of TER before treatment. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments performed in duplicate.

Baruch, K., Gur-Arie, L., Nadler, C., Koby, S., Yerushalmi, G., Ben-Neriah, Y., et al. (2011). Metalloprotease type III effectors that specifically cleave JNK and NF-kappaB. *EMBO J.* 30, 221–231. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.297

Berin, M. C., Darfeulle-Michaud, A., Egan, L. J., Miyamoto, Y., and Kagnoff, M. F. (2002). Role of EHEC O157:H7 virulence factors in the activation of intestinal

10

epithelial cell NF-kappaB and MAP kinase pathways and the upregulated expression of interleukin 8. *Cell. Microbiol.* 4, 635–648. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2002.00218.x

Croxen, M. A., and Finlay, B. B. (2010). Molecular mechanisms of Escherichia coli pathogenicity. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 8, 26–38. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2265

- Croxen, M. A., Law, R. J., Scholz, R., Keeney, K. M., Wlodarska, M., and Finlay, B. B. (2013). Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *Escherichia* coli. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 26, 822–880. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00022-13
- Dahan, S., Busuttil, V., Imbert, V., Peyron, J. F., Rampal, P., and Czerucka, D. (2002). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection induces interleukin-8 production via activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and the transcription factors NF-kappaB and AP-1 in T84 cells. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 2304-2310. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.5.2304-2310.2002
- Eckmann, L., and Kagnoff, M. F. (2005). Intestinal mucosal responses to microbial infection. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 27, 181–196. doi: 10.1007/s00281-005-0207-5
- Engle, M. J., Goetz, G. S., and Alpers, D. H. (1998). Caco-2 cells express a combination of colonocyte and enterocyte phenotypes. J. Cell. Physiol. 174, 362–369.
- Estrela, A. B., Rohde, M., Gutierrez, M. G., Molinari, G., and Abraham, W. R. (2013). Human beta-defensin 2 induces extracellular accumulation of adenosine in *Escherichia coli. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 57, 4387–4393. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00820-13
- Fahlgren, A., Hammarström, S., Danielsson, A., and Hammarström, M. L. (2003). Increased expression of antimicrobial peptides and lysozyme in colonic epithelial cells of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 131, 90-101. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2003.02035.x
- Fahlgren, A., Hammarström, S., Danielsson, A., and Hammarström, M. L. (2004). beta-Defensin-3 and -4 in intestinal epithelial cells display increased mRNA expression in ulcerative colitis. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 137, 379–385. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02543.x
- Farfan, M. J., Cantero, L., Vergara, A., Vidal, R., and Torres, A. G. (2013). The long polar fimbriae of STEC 0157:H7 induce expression of pro-inflammatory markers by intestinal epithelial cells. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 152, 126–131. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2012.09.017
- Fitzhenry, R., Dahan, S., Torres, A. G., Chong, Y., Heuschkel, R., Murch, S. H., et al. (2006). Long polar fimbriae and tissue tropism in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Microbes. Infect.* 8, 1741–1749. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2006.02.012
- Fitzpatrick, M. M., Shah, V., Trompeter, R. S., Dillon, M. J., and Barratt, T. M. (1992). Interleukin-8 and polymorphoneutrophil leucocyte activation in hemolytic uremic syndrome of childhood. *Kidney Int.* 42, 951–956. doi: 10.1038/ki.1992.372
- Gobert, A. P., Coste, A., Guzman, C. A., Vareille, M., Hindré, T., De Sablet, T., et al. (2008). Modulation of chemokine gene expression by Shiga-toxin producing *Escherichia coli* belonging to various origins and serotypes. *Microbes Infect.* 10, 159–165. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2007.10.018
- Gobert, A. P., Vareille, M., Glasser, A. L., Hindré, T., De, S. T., and Martin, C. (2007). Shiga toxin produced by enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli inhibits PI3K/NF-kappaB signaling pathway in globotriaosylceramide-3negative human intestinal epithelial cells. J. Immunol. 178, 8168–8174. doi: 10.4049/iimmunol.178.12.8168
- Godaly, G., Bergsten, G., Hang, L., Fischer, H., Frendeus, B., Lundstedt, A. C., et al. (2001). Neutrophil recruitment, chemokine receptors, and resistance to mucosal infection. J. Leukoc. Biol. 69, 899–906.
- Golan, L., Gonen, E., Yagel, S., Rosenshine, I., and Shpigel, N. Y. (2011). Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli induce attaching and effacing lesions and hemorrhagic colitis in human and bovine intestinal xenograft models. Dis. Model. Mech. 4, 86-94. doi: 10.1242/dmm.005777
- Griffin, P. M., Olmstead, L. C., and Petras, R. E. (1990). Escherichia coli O157:H7associated colitis. A clinical and histological study of 11 cases. Gastroenterology 99, 142–149.
- Hase, K., Eckmann, L., Leopard, J. D., Varki, N., and Kagnoff, M. F. (2002). Cell differentiation is a key determinant of cathelicidin LL-37/human cationic antimicrobial protein 18 expression by human colon epithelium. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 953–963. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.2.953-963.2002
- Hauf, N., and Chakraborty, T. (2003). Suppression of NF-kappa B activation and proinflammatory cytokine expression by Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia* coli. J. Immunol. 170, 2074–2082. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.4.2074

Islam, D., Bandholtz, L., Nilsson, J., Wigzell, H., Christensson, B., Agerberth, B., et al. (2001). Downregulation of bactericidal peptides in enteric infections: a novel immune escape mechanism with bacterial DNA as a potential regulator.

- Nat. Med. 7, 180-185. doi: 10.1038/84627
  Jarvis, K. G., and Kaper, J. B. (1996). Secretion of extracellular proteins by enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli via a putative type III secretion system. Infect. Immun. 64, 4826-4829.
- Kelly, J., Oryshak, A., Wenetsek, M., Grabiec, J., and Handy, S. (1990). The colonic pathology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection. Am. J. Surg. Pathol. 14, 87–92. doi: 10.1097/00000478-199001000-00010
- Khan, M. A., Bouzari, S., Ma, C., Rosenberger, C. M., Bergstrom, K. S., Gibson, D. L., et al. (2008). Hagellin-dependent and -independent inflammatory responses following infection by enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* and *Citrobacter rodentium*. Infect. Immun. 76, 1410–1422. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01141-07
- Lammers, K. M., Japsen, J., Bijlsma, P. B., Ceska, M., Tytgat, G. N., Laboisse, C. L., et al. (1994). Polarised interleukin 8 secretion by HT 29/19A cells. *Gut* 35, 338–342. doi: 10 1136/gut.35.3.338
- Ledesma, M. A., Ochoa, S. A., Cruz, A., Rocha-Ramírez, L. M., Mas-Oliva, J., Eslava, C. A., et al. (2010). The hemorrhagic coli pilus (HCP) of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 is an inducer of proinflammatory cytokine secretion in intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12127. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 012127
- Lewis, S. B., Cook, V., Tighe, R., and Schüller, S. (2015). Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli colonization of human colonic epithelium in vitro and ex vivo. Infect. Immun. 83, 942–949. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02928-14
- Madara, J. L., Stafford, J., Dharmsathaphorn, K., and Carlson, S. (1987). Structural analysis of a human intestinal epithelial cell line. *Gastroenterology* 92, 1133-1145.
- Miyamoto, Y., Iimura, M., Kaper, J. B., Torres, A. G., and Kagnoff, M. F. (2006). Role of Shiga toxin versus H7 flagellin in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* signalling of human colon epithelium *in vivo. Cell. Microbiol.* 8, 869–879. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00673.x
- Muniz, L. R., Knosp, C., and Yeretssian, G. (2012). Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection, and disease. *Front. Immunol*, 3:310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310
- Murata, A., Shimazu, T., Yamamoto, T., Taenaka, N., Nagayama, K., Honda, T., et al. (1998). Profiles of circulating inflammatory- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome due to *E. coli* O157 infection. *Cytokine* 10, 544–548. doi: 10.1006/cyto.1997.0329
- Nadler, C., Baruch, K., Kobi, S., Mills, E., Haviv, G., Farago, M., et al. (2010). The type III secretion effector NleE inhibits NF-kappaB activation. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000743. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000743
- Obrig, T. G., and Karpman, D. (2012). Shiga toxin pathogenesis: kidney complications and renal failure. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 357, 105–136. doi: 10.1007/82\_2011\_172
- Ogushi, K., Wada, A., Niidome, T., Mori, N., Oishi, K., Nagatake, T., et al. (2001). Salmonella enteritidis FliC (flagella filament protein) induces human betadefensin-2 mRNA production by Caco-2 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 30521–30526. doi: 10.1074/jbc. 4011618200
- O'Neil, D. A., Porter, E. M., Elewaut, D., Anderson, G. M., Eckmann, L., Ganz, T., et al. (1999). Expression and regulation of the human beta-defensins hBD-1 and hBD-2 in intestinal epithelium. J. Immunol. 163, 6718–6724.
- Ostroff, S. M., Griffin, P. M., Tauxe, R. V., Shipman, L. D., Greene, K. D., Wells, J. G., et al. (1990). A statewide outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections in Washington State. Am. J. Epidemiol. 132, 239-247.
- Ou, G., Baranov, V., Lundmark, E., Hammarström, S., and Hammarström, M. L. (2009). Contribution of intestinal epithelial cells to innate immunity of the human gut-studies on polarized monolayers of colon carcinoma cells. Scand. J. Immunol. 69, 150-161. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2008.02208.x
- Riley, L. W., Remis, R. S., Helgerson, S. D., McGee, H. B., Wells, J. G., Davis, B. R., et al. (1983). Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. N. Engl. J. Med. 308, 681-685. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198303243081203
- Rossi, O., Karczewski, J., Stolte, E. H., Brummer, R. J., Van Nieuwenhoven, M. A., Meijerink, M., et al. (2013). Vectorial secretion of interleukin-8 mediates autocrine signalling in intestinal epithelial cells via apically located CXCR1. BMC Res. Notes 6:431. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-431
- Ruchaud-Sparagano, M. H., Maresca, M., and Kenny, B. (2007). Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) inactivate innate immune responses prior to

June 2016 | Volume 6 | Article 68

11

compromising epithelial barrier function. Cell. Microbiol. 9, 1909-1921. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00923.x

- Schlee, M., Harder, J., Koten, B., Stange, E. F., Wehkamp, J., and Fellermann, K. (2008). Probiotic lactobacilli and VSL#3 induce enterocyte beta-defensin 2. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 151, 528–535. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03587.x
- Schlee, M., Wehkamp, J., Altenhoefer, A., Oelschlaeger, T. A., Stange, E. F., and Fellermann, K. (2007). Induction of human beta-defensin 2 by the probiotic *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917 is mediated through flagellin. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 2399–2407. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01563-06
- Schüller, S. (2011). Shiga toxin interaction with human intestinal epithelium. Toxins (Basel) 3, 626–639. doi: 10.3390/toxins3060626
- Schüller, S., Frankel, G., and Phillips, A. D. (2004). Interaction of Shiga toxin from Escherichia coli with human intestinal epithelial cell lines and explants: Stx2 induces epithelial damage in organ culture. *Cell. Microbiol.* 6, 289–301. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2004.00370.x
- Schüller, S., Lucas, M., Kaper, J. B., Girón, J. A., and Phillips, A. D. (2009). The ex vivo response of human intestinal mucosa to enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection. Cell. Microbiol. 11, 521–530. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01275.x
- Sham, H. P., Shames, S. R., Croxen, M. A., Ma, C., Chan, J. M., Khan, M. A., et al. (2011). Attaching and effacing bacterial effector NIeC suppresses epithelial inflammatory responses by inhibiting NF-kappaB and p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase activation. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 3552–3562. doi: 10.1128/IAL05033-11
- Sharma, R., Tesfay, S., Tomson, F. L., Kanteti, R. P., Viswanathan, V. K., and Hecht, G. (2006). Balance of bacterial pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators dictates net effect of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* on intestinal epithelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 290, G685–G694. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00404.2005
- Sonnier, D. I., Bailey, S. R., Schuster, R. M., Lentsch, A. B., and Pritts, T. A. (2010). TNF-alpha induces vectorial secretion of IL-8 in Caco-2 cells. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 14, 1592–1599. doi: 10.1007/s11605-010-1321-9
- Sperandio, B., Regnault, B., Guo, J., Zhang, Z., Stanley, S. L. Jr., Sansonetti, P. J., et al. (2008). Virulent Shigella flexneri subverts the host innate immune response through manipulation of antimicrobial peptide gene expression. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1121-1132. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071698
- Tarr, P. I., Gordon, C. A., and Chandler, W. L. (2005). Shiga-toxin-producing Escherichia coli and haemolytic uraemic syndrome. Lancet 365, 1073-1086. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(05)71144-2
- Thorpe, C. M., Smith, W. E., Hurley, B. P., and Acheson, D. W. (2001). Shiga toxins induce, superinduce, and stabilize a variety of C-X-C chemokine mRNAs in intestinal epithelial cells, resulting in increased chemokine expression. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 6140–6147. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.10.6140-6147.2001
- Tobe, T., Beatson, S. A., Taniguchi, H., Abe, H., Bailey, C. M., Fivian, A., et al. (2006). An extensive repertoire of type III secretion effectors in *Escherichia coli* O157 and the role of lambdoid phages in their dissemination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 14941–14946. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0604891103
- Tsutsumi-Ishii, Y., and Nagaoka, I. (2002). NF-kappa B-mediated transcriptional regulation of human beta-defensin-2 gene following lipopolysaccharide stimulation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 71, 154–162.

β-Defensin 2 induction in EHEC Infection

- Tzipori, S., Karch, H., Wachsmuth, I. K., Robins-Browne, R. M., O'brien, A. D., Lior, H., et al. (1987). Role of a 60-megadalton plasmid and shiga-like toxins in the pathogenesis of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gnotobiotic piglets. *Infect. Immun.* 55, 3117–3125.
- Viswanathan, V. K., Hodges, K., and Hecht, G. (2009). Enteric infection meets intestinal function: how bacterial pathogens cause diarrhoea. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 7, 110–119. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2053
- Wassing, G. M., Bergman, P., Lindbom, L., and Van Der Does, A. M. (2014). Complexity of antimicrobial peptide regulation during pathogen-host interactions. Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 45, 447-454. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimi.cag.2014.11.003
- Wehkamp, J., Harder, J., Wehkamp, K., Wehkamp-Von Meissner, B., Schlee, M., Enders, C., et al. (2004). NF-kappaB- and AP-1-mediated induction of human beta defensin-2 in intestinal epithelial cells by *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917: a novel effect of a probiotic bacterium. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 5750-5758. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.10.5750-5758.2004
- Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Monteiro-Neto, V., Ledesma, M. A., Jordan, D. M., Francetic, O., Kaper, J. B., et al. (2007). Intestinal adherence associated with type IV pili of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 3519–3529. doi: 10.1172/JCI30727
- Yoon, Y. M., Lee, J. Y., Yoo, D., Sim, Y. S., Kim, Y. J., Oh, Y. K., et al. (2010). Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin induces human beta-defensin-2 expression in intestinal epithelial cells via a mitogen-activated protein kinase/I kappaB kinase/NF-kappaB-dependent pathway. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 2024–2033. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00118-10
- Zhou, X., Girón, J. A., Torres, A. G., Crawford, J. A., Negrete, E., Vogel, S. N., et al. (2003). Flagellin of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* stimulates interleukin-8 production in T84 cells. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 2120–2129. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.4.2120-2129.2003
- Zilbauer, M., Dorrell, N., Boughan, P. K., Harris, A., Wren, B. W., Klein, N. J., et al. (2005). Intestinal innate immunity to *Campylobacter jejuni* results in induction of bactericidal human beta-defensins 2 and 3. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 7281–7289. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.11.7281-7289.2005
- Zilbauer, M., Jenke, A., Wenzel, G., Postberg, J., Heusch, A., Phillips, A. D., et al. (2010). Expression of human beta-defensins in children with chronic inflammatory bowel disease. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15389. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015389

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Lewis, Prior, Ellis, Cook, Chan, Gelson and Schüller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.